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Fosler Wh?eier Lid. is a global company olfering, through its subsidiaries, a bread range of engineering, procuremeni,
construction, manufacturing, prolacl devetopment and management, research and plant operation services. Foster Wheelar
serves thelupswaam oil and gas, LNG and gas-to-liquids. refining, petrochemicals, chemicals, power, pharmaceuticals,

ogy and healthcare industries. The company is based in Hamilton, Bermuda, and its operational headquarlers

biotechnol
are in Clinton, New Jersey, USA. For more information about Foster Wheeler, please visil our Web site at www.iwe.com,




FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

When I wrote to you one year ago, ] expressed our pride

in what we had accomplished at Foster Wheeler and high-
lighted the fact that 2006 was an all-time record year in the
117-year history of our company.

I'm very pleased to report to you that our 2007 perfor-
mance: significantly exceeded our 2006 all-time records by
every material measure. We set new all-time marks in net
income, EBITDA, market capitalization, and backlog while
providing excellent and technically advanced products and
services for our clients worldwide,

Clearly, the various financial, operational, commercial,
and organizational initiatives that we have driven very metic-
ulously and systernically into the fabric of the Foster Wheeler
culture have transformed our company’s ability to perform in
an industry-leading manner. In particular we have:

» Delivered upon our reputation as a pre-eminent global
supplier of high-quality services and equipment to our
target markets, where we differentiate ourselves through our
tccEnical capabilities, product capabilities and our ability to
execute large complex projects successfully and safely;

Reymond ). Milchovich | » Significantly improved the consistency and discipline of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer our commercial practices across both business groups: our
! Global Engineering and Construction (E&C) Group and our
Global Power Group (GPG);

» Dramatically increased our capacity to execute contracts -
through the continued addition of engineers and other
technical staff and the expansion of low-cost fabrication
facilities and engineering centers around the world;

in cash and cash equivalents and a multi-year effort to
reduce deby;

|

|

‘ » Strengthened our balance sheet through an increase

I » Tapped into a wealth of fresh ideas and talent through the
l promotion of long-tenured employees into senior positions;

| » Bouosted our credit rating, achieving an investment-grade
rating on our domestic credit facility by Standard & Poor’s
and Moody's; and

» Sharply reduced overhead expenses as a percent of
revenues, in part by maintaining an unusually lean corporate
center and senior leadership infrastructure.




WITH PASSION AND DETERMINATION,

WE PURSUE EXCELLENCE AND “BEST IN

CLASS" PERFORMANCE FOR THE CLIENTS WE SERVE AND THE RETURNS WE

PROVIDE TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS.

OUR KEY MARKETS

This transformation is not yet complete. We pursue
continuous improvement in everything we do, and we
continue to seek internal and external growth opportuni-
ties. We are fortunate to be on this journey at a time when
our served markets have given new definition to the word
“robust” Three examples:

» The 2007 World Oil Outlook published by the Orga-
nization of Petroleum Exporting Countries estimated that
there would be a total of $2.4 trillion invested to build
and expand upstream facilities from 2006 to 2030;

» 'The same report estimated that $455 billion would
be invested to increase refinery processing capacity from
2006 10 2020; and

» Ina May 2007 report, the US. Energy Information
Agency estimated that world net electricity generation is
expected to grow by 85% from 2004 (16 billion kilowatt
hours) to 2030 (30 billion kilowatt hours).

OUR STRATEGY

Our objective has been and continues 1o be painfully
simple. With passion and determination, we pursue excel-
lence and “best in class” performance for the clients we
serve and the returns we provide to our shareholders. We
do this by creating and constantly enhancing a culture
where nearly 14,000 very talented and committed Foster
Wheeler employees worldwide enjoy their work and can
focus on superior performance for our clients. In pursuit
of this strategy, we will continue to:

» Grow both of our business groups organically through
the addition of engineers and other technical personnel;

» Seek highly selective strategic acquisitions that comple-
ment our existing strengths, as evidenced by our early 2008
acquisition of Biokinetics, a recognized industry leader in

process systems design for the biopharmaceutical industry;

» Further leverage our well-established position in key
technologies, such as: circulating fluidized-bed (CFB)
steam generators, residue upgrading, including delayed
coking; the execution of large, technically challenging
projects using established and emerging technologies in
upstream oil and gas, liquefaction of natural gas (LNG), oil
refining and petrochemicals; and pursue the development
and implementation of clean-coal and clean power/renewable
technologies; and

» Ensure cost-effectiveness and cost-competitiveness in
all aspects of company operations.

RECOGHITION

The work we have done to build value for our sharehold-
ers was recognized in February of 2008 when The Wall
Street Journal cited Foster Wheeler as the best three-year
performer and among the top ten one-year performers in
that periodical’s annual “shareholder scorecard” The article
mentioned a number of factors that have contributed to
our success, including the key points I have outlined here.
We were especially pleased to be recognized in this way
because we believe it reflects on the outstanding efforts of
the entire organization.

LOOKING TO THE FUTURE

1 have never been more optimistic about the future of
Foster Wheeler. With the continued strength of our key
markets in 2008, with the clearly defined strategy outlined
above, and with the continuous improvement in our
operational and organizational capabilities, I believe the
company is poised to remain the top performer in the sector.

In closing, I want to thank the employees of Foster Wheeler
for their skill and dedication. They have worked very hard to
deliver value 1o clients, shareholders and other stakeholders.

Raymond ], Milchovich
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 14, 2008
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Wo are working on the EPC phoso of the North West Shell Phase V project in Austrafio, where we are leoding the joint
venture that is odding a fifh LNG troin at this Woodside-oparoted ING complex. This is the werd's first onshora UNG train
1 be constructed using modulas, ane of which is shown cbove. The use of modular construction is helping ensure that the
project is completad within requited lime frames in 2008. tmage: Courtesy of Woodside Energy Lid.
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FOSTER WHEELER AT A GLANCE

GLOBAL E&C GROUP

Qur E&C Group accounted for roughly 60% of the
company's scope revenues in 2007. It performs front-end
design (FEED); engineering, procurement, construction
(EPC); and project management for the following key
markets:

Upstream oil and gas

LNG liquefaction and gas-to-liquids

Oil refining (including delayed coking)
Chemicals and petrochemicals
Pharmaceuticals, biotechnology and healthcare

v Vv ¥ v v

The E&C Group is also involved in power project
development and environmental remediation.

Major engineering centers: Reading (UX.), Milan,
Houston, Singapore, Paris, Madrid, India

Global E&C Backlog by Industry
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GLOBAL POWER GROUP

Our GPG business accounted for roughly 40% of the
company’s scope revenues in 2007. It designs and manu-
factures steam generating and auxiliary equipment for
eleciric power generating stations and industrial facilities.
Areas of expertise:

» Circulating fluidized-bed (CFB) steam generators that
burn a wide range of fuels

» World leader in the combustion of biomass and
hard-to-burn fuels

» Pulverized-coal boilers

» Supercritical once-through technology

GPG also provides related boiler service, construction and
maintenance engineering as well as major plant upgrades.
GPG is developing oxy-fuel technology that has the
potential to virtually eliminate carbon dioxide power
plant emissions.

Major engineering centers: Perryville (New Jersey),
Shanghai, Finland, Madrid, Poland

Fabrication facilities: China, Poland, Spain

GPG Backlog by Industry

= Power Generation
=== (peration & Maintenance

GPG Backlog by Geography

N. America
Europe
Asia

S. America

Backiog data expressad in tarmg of fuiure revenues.
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PART 1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

Foster Wheeler Ltd. is incorporated under the laws of Berinuda and is a holding company that owns the
stock of its various subsidiary companies. Except as the context otherwise requires, the terms “Foster
Wheeler,” “us” and “we," as used herein, include Foster Wheeler Ltd. and its direct and indirect subsidiaries.
Amounts in Part [, Item ) are presented in thousands, except for number of employees.

Business

We gperate through two business groups: our Global Engineering and Construction Group, which we
refer to as our Global E&C Group, and our Global Power Group,

Our Global E&C Group, which operates worldwide, designs, engineers and construcis onshore and
offshore upstream oil and gas processing facilities, nawral gas liquefaction facilities and receiving terminals,
gas-to-liquids facilities, oil refining, chemical and petrochemical, pharmaceutical and biotechnology facilities
and related infrastructure, including power generation and distribution facilities, and gasification facilities. Qur
Global E&C Group provides engineering, project management and construction management services, and
purchases equipment, materials and services from third-party suppliers and contractors.

Our Global E&C Group is also involved in the design of facilities in new or developing market sectors,
including carbon capture and storage, solid fuel-fired integrated gasification combined-cycle power plants,
coal-to-liquids and biofuels. Our Global E&C Group owns one of the leading refinery residue upgrading
technologies and a hydrogen production process used in oil refineries and petrochemical plants. Additionally, our
Global E&C Group has experience with, and is able 1o work with, a wide range of processes owned by others, Our
Global E&C Group performs environmental remediation services, together with related technical, engineering,
design and regulatory services,

Qur Giobal E&C Group is also invelved in the development, engineering, construction, ownership and
operation of power generation facilities, from conventional and renewable sources, and of waste-to-energy
facilities in Europe. Our Global E&C Group generates revenues from engineering and construction activities
pursuant to contracls spanning up to approximately four years in duration and from returns on its equity
investments in various production facilities.

Qur Global Power Group designs, manufactures and erects steam generating and auxiliary equipment for
electric power generating stations and industrial facilities worldwide. Our steam generating equipment includes a
full range of technologies, offering independent power producer, utility and industrial clients high-value
technology solutions for economically converting a wide range of fuels, including coal, petroleum coke, oil, gas,
biomass and municipal solid waste, into steam and power. Qur circulating fluidized-bed boiler technology, which
we refer 1o as CFB, is ideally suited to burning a very wide range of fuels, including low-quality fuels, fuels
with high moisture conlent and “waste-type” fuels, and we believe is generally recognized as one of the
environmentally cleanest solid-fuel steam generating technologies available in the world today. For both our CFB
and pulvenzed ceal, which we refer to as PC, beilers, we offer supercritical once-through-unit designs to further
improve the energy efficiency and, therefore, the environmental performance of these units. Once-through
supercritical boilers operate at higher steam pressures than traditional plants, which results in higher efficiencies
and lower emissions, including emissions of carbon dioxide, or CO;, which is considered a greenhouse gas.

Further, for the longer term, we are actively developing oxy-combustion technology for both our CFB and
PC boilers. We believe that oxy-combustion is one part of a practical solution for capturing and storing the
majority of the CO; from coal power plants. This technology produces a concentrated stream of CQ; as pant
of the boiler combustion process avoiding the need for large and expensive post-combustion CO, separation
equipment. We also design, manufacture and install auxiliary equipment, which includes feedwater heaters,
steam condensers and heat-recovery equipment. Qur Global Power Group also offers a full line of new and
retrofit nitrogen-oxide, which we refer to as NOx, reduction systems such as selective non-catalytic and
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catalytic NOx reduction systems as well as complete low-NOx combustion systems. We provide a broad range
of sile services relating to these products, including construction and erection services, maintenance engineer-
ing, plant upgrading and life extensions.

_ Our Global PowerGroup also provides research analysis and experimental work in fluid dynamics, heat
transfer, combustion and fuel technology, materials engincering and solid mechanics. In addition, our Global Power
Group owns and operatés cogeneration, independent power production and waste-to-cnergy facilities, as well as
power generation famlmes for the process and petrochemical industries. Our Global Power Group generates
revenues from engmeenng activities, equipment supply and construction contracts, operating aclivities pursuani to
the long-term sale of prbject outputs, such as electricity and sicam, operating and maintenance agreements, rayallics
from licensing our technology, and from retumns on its equity investments in various power production facilities.

In addition to these two business groups, which also represent operating segments for financial reporting
purposes, we report corporate center expenses and expenses related 1o cenain legacy liabilities, such as
asbestos, in the Corporate und Finance Group, which we also treat as an operating segment for financial
reporting purposes and}which we refer 10 as the C&F Group.

Please refer to Note 17 10 the consolidated financial statements in this annual report on Form 10-K fora
discussion of our operqting segments and geographic financial information relating to cur domestic and foreign
operations. \

Products and Services

Our Global E&C Group's services include:

|
® Consulting — Qur Global E&C Group provides technical and economic analyses and study reports 10
OWRETS, mvesmfs developers, operators and governments. These services include concept and feasibil-
ity studies, market studies, asset assessments, product demand and supply modeling, and iechnology
evaluations.

® Design and Engineering — Our Global E&C Group provides a broad range of engineering and design-
related services., Our design and engineering capabilities include process, civil, structural, architectural,
mechanical, instrumentation, electrical, and health, safety and environmental management. For each
project, we idemtify the project requirements and then integrate and coordinate the various design
elements. Otherfcritical tasks in the desipgn process may include value engineering to optimize costs,
risk and hazard reviews, and the assessment of construction, maintenance and operational requirements. I

® Project Managerinem and Project Control — Qur Global E&C Group offers a wide range of project
management and project contro) services for overseeing engineering, procurement and construction
activilies. These services include estimating costs, project planning and project cost control, The provision
of these services is an integral part of the planning, design and consiruction phases of projects that we
execule directly | for clients. We also provide these services to our clients in the role of project
management or program management consuliani, where we oversee, on our client’s behalf, the execution
by other contractors of all or some of the planning, design and construction phases of a project.

¢ Procurement — Qur procurement activities focus on those projects where we also execute the design
and engineering|work. We manage the procurement of materials, subcontractors and craft Jabor. Often,
we purchase materials, equipment or services on behalf of our client, where the client will pay for the
materials at cost and reimburse us the cost of our services plus a margin or fee.

o Construction/Cammissioning and Start-up — Qur Global E&C Group provides construction and con-
struction management services on a worldwide basis. Our construction, commissioning and start-up
activities focus gn those projects where we have performed most of the associated design and
engineering work. Depending on he project, we may function as the primary contractor or as a
subcontractor tolanother firm. On some projects, we function as the construction manager, engaged by
the customer (o bversee another contractor’s compliance with design specifications and contracting




terms. In some instances, we have responsibility for commissioning and plant start-up, or, where the
client has responsibility for these activities, we provide expents to work as part of our client’s team.

& Operations and Maintenance — We provide project management, plant operations and maintenance
services, such as repair, renovation, predictive and preventative services and other afiermarket services.
In some instances, our CONLracts may require us lo operate a plant, which we have designed and buih,
for an initial period that may vary from a very short period to up lo approximately two years.

The principal products of our Global Power Group are sleam generalors, commonly refesred to as boilers.
Our boilers produce steam in a range of conditions and qualities, from low-pressure saturated steam to high
quality superheated steam at either sub-critical or supercritical conditions (sieam pressures above 3,600
pounds-force per square inch absolute). The steam produced by our boilers can be used to produce electricity
in power plants, heat buildings and in the production of many manufactured goods and products, such as
paper, chemicals and food products. Our boilers convert the energy of a wide range of solid and liquid fucls,
as well as hot process gases, into stcam and can be classified into several types: circulating fluidized-bed,
pulverized coal, oi] and natural gas, grate, heat recovery steam generators and fully assembled package boilers.
The two most significant elements of our preduct portfolio are our CFB and PC boilers.

e Circulating Fluidized-Bed Boilers — Our Global Power Group designs, manufactures and supplies
boilers that utilize proprietary CFB technology. We believe that CFB combustion is generally
recognized as one of the most efficient, environmentally friendly and versatile ways to generate steam
from coal and many other solid fuels and waste products with reduced environmental pollutants. A
CFB boiler utilizes air jets at the base of the boiler to blow the fuel particles as they burn, resulting in
a very efficient combustion and heal transfer process. The fuel and other added solid materials, such as
limestone, are continuously recycled through the furnace to maximize combustion efficiency and
capture pollutants, such as the oxides of sulfur, which we refer to as SOx. Due to the efficient mixing
of the fuel with the air and other solid materials and the long period of time the fuel remains in the
combustion process, the temperature of the process can be greatly reduced below that of a conventional
burning process. This has the added benefit of reducing the formation of NOx, which is another
pollutant formed in the combustion process. Due to these benefits, additional SOx and NOx control
systems are frequently not needed. The application of supercritical steam technology to CFB technol-
ogy is the latest technical development. By dramatically raising the pressure of the watcr as it is
converted 1o steam, supercritical steam technology aliows the steam to absorb more heat from the
combustion process, resulting in a substantial improvement of approximately 5-10% in the efficiency of
an electric power ptant. We sell our CFB boilers o clients worldwide.

o Pulverized Coal Boilers — Our Global Power Group designs, manufactures and supplies PC boilers. PC
boilers are commonly used in large electric coal-fired power plant applications. The coal is pulverized
into fine particles and injected through specially designed low emission burners. Our PC boilers control
NOx by utilizing advanced low-NOx combustion technology and selective catalytic reduction technol-
ogy, which we refer 1o as SCR. PC technology requires pollution control equipment to be installed
along with the boiler to capture SOx. We offer our PC boilers with either conventional sub-critical
steam technology or more efficient supercritical steam technology for electric power plant applications.
We sell our PC boilers to clients worldwide.

o Auxiliary Equipment and Aftenmnarket Services — Our Global Power Group also manufactures and
installs integral components for natural gas, oil and solid fuel-fired power generation facilities,
including surface condensers, feedwater heaters, coal pulverizers and NOx reduction systems. The NOx
reduction systems inctude selective catalytic reduction, or SCR, equipment and low NOx combustion
systems, and can significantly reduce NOx emissions, These products can be used with a wide range of
boilers. Our Global Power Group also supplies replacement components, repair parts, boiler modifica-
tions and engineered solutions for boilers worldwide,

We provide a broad range of site services relating to these products, including construction and erection
services, maintenance engineering, plant upgrading and life extension, and plant repowering. Qur Global
Power Group also provides research analysis and experimental work in fluid dynamics, heat transfer,
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combustion and fuel technology, materials engineering and solid mechanics. In addition, our Global Power
Group licenses technolagy to a limited number of third-parties in select countries.

Industries We Serve
We serve the follm'ving industries:
® (il and gas;

o Oil refining; |

# Chemical/petrochemical;

® Pharmaceutical;
* Environmental;
¢ Power generation; and

# Power plant operation and maintenance.

Customers and Marketing

We market our services and products through a worldwide staff of sales and marketing personnel, and
through a network of sales representatives and through partnership or joint venture arrangements with
unrelated third-parties. Our businesses are not seasonal and are not dependent on a limited group of clients.
Except for one client lhat accounted for approximately 12% and 13% of our consolidated revenues (inclusive
of flow-through revenues) in fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively, no other single client accounted for ten
percent or more of our consolidated revenues (inclusive of flow-through revenues) in fiscal years 2007, 2006
or 2005. Representative !cliems include state-owned and multinational oil and gas companies, major petro-
chemical, chemical, and pharmaceutical companies, national and independent electric power generation
companies, and government agencies throughout the world. The majority of our revenues and new business
originates outside of the| United States.

|
Licenses, Patents and Trademarks

We own and Iicensg: patents, trademarks and know-how, which are used in each of our business groups.
The life cycles of the patents and trademarks are of varying durations. We are not materially dependent on any
particular patent or tradémark, although we depend on our ability to protect our intellectual property rights to
the technologies and know-how used in our proprietary products. As noted above, we have granted licenses to
a limited number of conllpanies in select countries to manufacture stationary boilers and related equipment and
certain of our other products. Our principal licensees are located in China, India, Italy, Japan and South Korea.
Recurring royalty revenues have historically ranged from approximately $5,000 to $10,000 per year.

Unfilled Orders

We execute our cont'racts on lump-sum turnkey, fixed-price, target-price with incentives and cost-reimbursable
bases. Generally, contracts are awarded on the basis of price, delivery schedule, technical capability and service.
On certain contracts our ci'hents may make a down payment at the time a contract is executed and continue to
make progress payments I.lll[ll the contract is completed and the work has been accepted as meeting contract
guarantees. Qur Global Power Group’s products are custom designed and manufactured, and are not produced for
inventory. Qur Gilobal E&,C Group frequently purchases materials, equipment, and third-party services at cost for
clients on a cash neutral/reimbursable basis when providing engineering specification or procurement services. Such
“flow-through” amounts Are recorded both as revenuves and cost of operating revenues with no profit recognized.
Qur Global E&C Group does not purchase such materials and equipment for inventory.

We measure our unklled orders in terms of expected future revenues. Included in future revenues are
flow-through revenues, which result when we are performing an engineering or construction contract and
purchase malerials, equipment or subcontractor services on behalf of our cusiomers on a reimbursable basis
with no profit added to the cost of the materials, equipment or subcontractor services. We also measure our
unfilled orders in terms Tf Foster Wheeler scope, which excludes flow-through revenues. As such, Foster
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Wheeler scope measures the component of backlog with profit potential und represents our services plus fees
for reimbursable contracts and total selling price for lump-sum or fixed-price contracts.

Please refer 10 ltem 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulis of
Operations,” for a discussion of the changes in unfilled orders, both in terms of expected future revenues and
Foster Wheeler scope. See also Item 1A, “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Operations — Projecis
included in our backlog may be delayed or canceled, which could materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.”

Use of Raw Materials .

We obtain the materials used in cur manufacturing and consiruction operations from both domestic and
foreign sources. The procurement of materials, consisting mainly of steel products and manufactured items, is
heavily dependent on unrelated third-party foreign sources.

Compliance with Government Regulations

We are subject to certain foreign, federal, state and local environmental, occupational health and product
safety laws arising from the couniries where we operate. We also purchase materials and equipmen from
third-parties, and engage subcontractors, who are also subject 1o these laws and regulations. We believe that
all our operations are in material compliance with those laws and we do not anticipate any material capital
expenditures or material adverse effect on earnings or cash flows as a result of complying with those laws.

Employees
The following table indicates the number of full-time, temporary and agency personnel in each of our
business groups. We believe that our relationship with our employees is satisfactory.
As of
December 28,  December 29,
2007 2006
Global B&EC GroUp. .. .t i vt a it tae et cat e e e e 10,498 8,887
Global Power Group. . . ... .. i e 3,278 3,027
CEF Group . .o e e e e 83 78
13.859 11,992

Competition
Many companies compete with us in the engineering and construction business. Neither we nor any other |
single company has a dominant market share of the 10tal design, engineering and construction business
servicing the global businesses previously described. Many companies also compete in the global energy
business and neither we nor any other single competitor has a dominate market share. Companies that compete
with our Global E&C Group include but are not limited 1o the following: Bechtel Corporation; Chicago
Bridge & Iron Company N.V,; Chiyoda Corporation; Fluor Corporation; Jacobs Engineering Group Inc.; JGC
Corporation; KBR, Inc.; McDermoit International; Saipem S.p.A_; Shaw Group, Inc.; Technip; and Worley
Parsons Lid. Companies that compete with our Global Power Group include but are not limited to the
following: Aker Kvaemer ASA; Alstom Power, Austrian Energy & Environment AG.; The Babcock & Wilcox
Company; Babcock Power Inc.; Doosan-Babcock; Hitachi, Ltd.; and Mitsubishi Heavy Industries Lid.

Available Information

You may obtain free electronic copies of our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterty reports on
Form 10-Q, current reponts on Form 8-K, proxy statements and all amendments to these documents at our \
website, www fwc.com, under the heading “Investor Relations™ by selecting the heading “SEC Filings.” We
make these documents available on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file
them with or furnish them to the SEC. The information disclosed on our website is not incorporated herein
and does not form a part of this annual report on Form 10-K.

You may also read and copy any materials that we file with or furnish to the SEC at the SEC’s Pubtic
Reference Room located at 100 F Street NE, Room 1580, Washington, DC 20549. You may obtain information
on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also
maintains electronic versions of our filings on its website at www.sec.gov.
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ITEM lA. RISK FACTORS (amounts in thousands of dollars)

Our business is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including those described below. If any of
these events occur, our Husiness could be harmed and the trading price of our securities could decline. The
following discussion of risks relating to our business should be read carefully in connection with evaluating
our business and the forward-looking statements contained in this annual report on Form 10-K. For additional
information regarding forward-looking statements, see Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and lResuhs of Operations — Safe Harbor Statement.”

The categorization {)f risks set forth below is meant to help you better understand the risks facing our
business and is not imenlded to limit consideration of the possible effects of these risks to the listed categories.
Any adverse effects related 1o the risks discussed below may, and likely will, adversely affect many aspects of
our business,

Risks Related to Qur Operations

[
Our current and future lump-sum or fixed-price contracts and other shared risk contracts may result in sig-
nificant losses if costs aJire greater than anticipated.

Some of our contradts are fixed-price contracts and other shared-risk contracts that are inherently risky
becausc we agree 1o the lsc:iling price of the project at the time we enter into the contract. The selling price is
based on estimates of the ultimate cost of the contract and we assume substantially all of the risks associated
with completing the projl’.cl, as well as the posi-completion warranty obligations, Cerntain of these contracts are
lump-sum turnkey projedts where we are responsible for al} aspects of the work from engineering through
construction, as well as commissioning, all for a fixed selling price. As of December 28, 2007, our backlog
included $1,950,400 auributed to lump-sum turnkey and other fixed-price contracts, which represented 21% of
our total backlog. f

We assume the projj:cl‘s technical risk and associated warranty obligations, meaning that we must tailor
products and systems to .L.nlisfy the technical requirements of a project even though, at the time the project is
awarded, we may not haye previously produced such a product or system. We also assume the risks related to
revenue, cosl and gross profit realized on such contracts that can vary, sometimes substantially, from the
original projections due to changes in a variety of other factors, including but not limited to:

® engineering dcsig!n changes;

® unanticipated tectinical problems with the equipment being supplied or developed by us, which may
require that we spend our own money to remedy the problem;

® changes in the costs of components, materials or labor;

e difficulties in obtaining required governmental permits or approvals;
® chaniges in local Ipws and regulations;

® changes in local I' bor conditions;

® project modificatibns creating unanticipated costs;

* delays caused by Jocal weather conditions; and

® our project owners’, suppliers’ or subcontractors’ failure to perform.

I

These risks may be exacerbated by the fength of time between signing a contract and completing the
project because most lumip-sum or fixed-price projects are long-term. The term of our contracts can be as long
as approximately four yesrs. In addition, we sometlimes bear the risk of delays caused by uncxpected
conditions or events. Long-term, fixed-price projects often make us subject to penalties if portions of the
project are not completed in accordance with agreed-upon time limits. Therefore, significant losses can result
from performing large. long-term projects on a fixed-price or lump-sum basis. These losses may be material,
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including in some cases up to or exceeding the full contract value in certain events of non-performance, and
could negatively impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows,

We may increase the size and number of fixed-price or lump-sum turnkey contracts, sometimes in
countries where or with clients with whom we have limited previous experience,

We may bid for and enter into such contracts through partnerships or joint ventures with third-parties.
This may increase our ability and willingness to bid for increased numbers of contracts and/or increased size
of contracts. In addition, in some cases, applicable law and joint venture or other agreements may provide that
each joint venture partner is jointly and severally liable for all liabilities of the venture. Entering into these
partnerships or joint ventures will expose us to credit and performance risks of those third-pany partners,
which could have a negative impact on our business and our results of operations if these parties fail to
perform under the arrangements.

Because we recognize operating revenues and costs of operaling revenues on a percentage-of-completion
basis on long-term fixed-price contracts, revisions to estimated revenues and estimated costs could result in
changes to revenues, costs and profits. For further information on our revenue recognition methodology, please
refer 10 Note [, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Revenue Recognition on Long-Term
Contracts,” to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Failure by us to successfully defend against claims made against us by project owners, suppliers or project
subcontractors, or failure by us to recover adequately on claims made against project owners, suppliers or
subcontractors, could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows.

In the ordinary course of business, claims involving project owners, suppliers and subcontractors are
brought against us and by us in connection with our project contracts. Claims brought against us include back
charges for alleged defective or incomplete work, breaches of warranty and/or late completion of the project
work and claims for canceled projects. The claims and back charges can involve actual damages, as well as
contractually agreed upon liguidated sums. Claims brought by us against project owners include claims for
additional costs incurred in excess of current contract provisions arising out of project delays and changes in
the previously agreed scope of work. Claims between us and our suppliers, subcontractors and vendors include
claims like any of those described above. These project claims, if not resolved through negotiation, are often
subject to lengthy and expensive litigation or arbitration proceedings, Charges associated with claims could
materially adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. For further
information on project claims, please refer to Note 19, “Litigation and Uncertainties™ to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Projects included in our backlog may be delayed or canceled, which could materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The dollar amount of backlog does not necessarily indicate future earnings related to the performance of
that work. Backlog refers to expected future revenues under signed contracts and legally binding letters of
itent that we have determined are likely to be performed. Backlog represents only business that is considered
firm, although cancellations or scope adjustments may and do occur. Because of changes in project scope and
schedule, we cannot predict with certainty when or if backlog will be performed or the associated revenue will
be recognized. In addition, even where a project proceeds as scheduled, it is possible that contracted parties
may default and fail to pay amounts owed to us. Material delays, cancellations or payment defaults could
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, resulis of operations and cash flows,

Because our aperations are concentrated in four particular industries, we may be adversely impacted by
economic or other developments in these industries.

We derive a significant amount of revenues from services provided to clients that are concentrated in four
industries: oil and gas, oil refining, chemical/petrochemical and power. Unfavorable economic or other
developments in one or more of these industries could adversely affect our clients and could materially
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adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Our business has not

been impacted to date by the U.S. credit crunch resulting from the sub-prime montgage crisis. However, the

full impact of the credit [cnmch on the U.S. and global economy has yet to be fully established and therefore
the possibility remains that credit conditions, as well as a slowdown or recession in cconomic growth, could
adversely affect the industries in which our clients operate.

We may lose business to competitors.

We are engaged in highly competitive businesses in which customer contracts are often awarded through
bidding processes based [on price and the acceptance of certain risks. We compete with other general and
specialty contractors, bo}h foreign and domestic, including large international contractors and small local
contractors. The strong competition in our markets requires maintaining skilled personnel, investing in
technology and also puts pressure on profit margins. Because of this, we could be prevented from obtaining
contracts for which we have bid duc to price, greater perceived financial strength and resources of our
competitors and/or pcrcc'ivcd technology advantages.

A failure by us to amac'r and retain qualified personnel, joint venture partners, advisors and subcontractors
could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Qur ablhly to attract and retain qualified engineers and other professional personnel. as well as joint
venture partners, advisors and subcontractors, will be an important factor in determining our future success.
The market for these professionals is competitive and we may not be successful in efforts to attract and retain
these professionals. Fm!urc 10 attract or retain these professionals, joint venturc partners, advisors and
subcontractors could matenally adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows.

Our worldwide opemtimlu involve risks that may limit or disrupt operations, limit repatriation of cash,
increase foreign laxation or otherwise materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows.

We have worldwide' operations that are conducted through foreign and domestic subsidiarics, as well as
through agreements wilhl joint venture partners. Our non-U.S. subsidiaries, which accounted for approximately
80% of our operating revenues and substantially all of our operating cash flows in fiscal year 2007, have
operations located in Europe, Asia, Australia, the Middle East, South Africa and South America. Operating
cash flow of our U.S. subsidiaries also includes expenses associated with our corporale center. Additionally,
we purchase materials and equipment on a worldwide basis and are heavily dependent on unrelated third-party
foreign sources for thcse: materials and equipment. Our worldwide operations are subject to risks that could
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, including:

® uncertain polilica!, legal and economic environments;

® potential incompaltibilily wilh foreign joint venture partners;

® foreign currency controls and fluctuations;

® energy prices and availability;

® (errorist attacks: |

® the imposition of [additional governmental controls and regulations;
® war and civil dist}lrbanccs;

® labor problems; ahd

® interruption or delays in intemational shipping.

Because of these risks, our worldwide operations and our execution of projects may be limited, or
disrupted; our comractuag rights may not be enforced fully or at all; our foreign taxation may be increased; or
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we may be limited in repatriating earnings. These potential events and liabilities could materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In addition, many of the countries in which we transact business have laws that restrict the offer or
payment of anything of value 10 government officials or other persons with the intent of gaining business or
favorable government action. We are subject to these laws in addition to being governed by U.S. Federal laws
restricting these types of activities. In addition to prohibiting certain bribery-related activity with foreign
officials and other persons, these laws provide for recordkeeping and reporting obligations. Any failure to
comply with these legal and regulatory obligations could impact us in a variety of ways that include, but are
not limited to, significant criminal, civil and administrative penalties. The failure to comply with these legal
and regulatory obligations could also result in the disruption of our business activities.

Qur business may be materially adversely impacted by regional, national and/or global requirements to sig-
nificantly limit or reduce greenhouse gas emissions in the future.

Greenhouse gases that result from human activities, including burning of fossil fuels, have been the focus
of increased scientific and political scrutiny and are being subjected to various legal requiremenis. International
agreements, national laws, state Jaws and various regulatory schemes limit or otherwise regulate emissions of
greenhouse gases, and additional restrictions are under consideration by different governmental entities. We
derive a significant amount of revenues and contract profits from engineering and construction services to
clients that own and/or operate a wide range of process plants and from the supply of our manufactured
equipment o clients that own and/or operate electric power generaling plants. Additionally, we own or
partially own plants that generate electricity from burning natural gas or various types of solid fuels. These
plants emit greenhouse gases as part of the process to generate electricity or other products. Compliance with
the existing greenhouse gas regulation may prove costly or difficult. It is possible that owners and operators of
existing or future process plants and electric generating planis could be subject to new or changed
environmenta) regulations that result in significantly limiting or reducing the amounts of greenhouse gas
emissions, increasing the cost of emitting such gases or requiring emissions allowances. The costs of
controlling such emissions or obtaining required emissions allowances could be significant. [t also is possible
that necessary controls or allowances may not be available. Such regulations could negatively impact client
investments in capital projects in our markets, which could negatively impact the market for our manufactured
products and certain of our services, and also could negatively affect the operations and profitability of our
own electric power plants. This could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

We are subject to various environmental laws and regulations in the countries in which we operate. If we
fail to comply with these laws and regulations, we may incur significant costs and penalties that could mate-
rially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Cur operations are subject 1o U.S., European and other laws and regulations governing the generation,
management and use of regulated materials, the discharge of materials into the environment, the remediation
of environmental contamination, or otherwise relating to environmental protection. Both our Global E&C
Group and our Global Power Group make use of and produce as wastes or byproducts substances that are
considered to be hazardous under these environmental laws and regulations. We may be subject to liabilities
for environmental contamination as an owner or operator (or former owner or operator) of a facility or as a
generator of hazardous substances without regard 1o negligence or fault, and we are subject to additional
liabilities if we do not comply with applicable laws regulating such hazardous substances, and, in either case,
such liabilities can be substantial. These laws and regulations could expose us to liability arising out of the
conduct of current and past operations or conditicns, including those associated with formerly owned or
operated properties caused by us or others, or for acts by us or others which were in compliance with all
applicable laws at the time the acts were performed. In some cases, we have assumed contractual indemnifi-
cation obligations for environmental liabilities associated with some formerly owned properties. The ongoing
costs of complying with exisling environmental laws and regulations could be substantial. Additionally, we
may be subject to claims alleging personal injury, property damage or natural resource damages as a result of
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alleged exposure 1o or contamination by hazardous substances. Changes in the environmental laws and
regulations, remediation, obligations, enforcement actions, stricter interpretations of existing requirements,
future discovery of conllaminalion ot claims for damages to persons, property, natural resources or the
environment could result in material costs and liabilities that we currently do not anticipate.

We may lose future business to our competitors and be unable to operate our business profitably if our pat-
ents and ather intellectual property rights do not adequately protect our proprietary products.

Our success depends significantly on our ability te protect our intellectual property rights to the
technologies and know-how used in our proprietary products. We rely on patent protection, as well as a
combination of trade seéret, unfair competition and similar laws and nondisclosure, confidentiglity and other
contractual restrictions to protect our proprietary technology. However, these legal means afford only limited
protection and may not Fdequalc!y protect our rights or permil us 10 gain or keep any competitive advantage.
We also rely on unpatented proprietary technology. We cannet provide assurance that we can meaningfully
protect all our rights in cur unpatented proprietary technelogy or that others will not independently develop
substantially equivalent proprietary products or processes or otherwise gain access to our unpatented
proprictary technology. We also hold licenses from third-partics that are necessary to utilize certain technolo-
gies used n the design and manufacturing of some of our products. The loss of such licenses would prevent us
from manufaciuring and|selling these products, which could harm our business.

We rely on our information systems in our operations. Failure to protect these systems againsi security
breaches could adversely affect our business and results of operations. Additionally, if these systems fail or
become unavailable for\any significant period of time, our business could be harmed.

The efficient operation of our business is dependent on computer hardware and software systems.
Information systems are{vulnerable to security breaches by computer hackers and cyber terrorists. The
unavailability of the information systems, the failure of these systems to perform as anticipated for any reason
or any significant breach of securily could disrupt our business and could result in decreased performance and
increased overhead costy, causing our business and results of operations to suffer.

Risks Related to Asbestos Claims

The number and cost of our current and future asbestos claims in the United States could be substantially
higher than we have estimated and the timing of payment of claims could be sooner than we have esti-
mated, which could ma!enhlly adversely affect vur business, financial condition, resulls of operations and
cash flows.

Some of our subsidiaries are named as defendants in numerous lawsuits and out-of-court administrative
claims pending in the Upited States in which the plaintiffs claim damages for alleged bodily injury or death
arising from exposure to asbestos in connection with work performed, or heat exchange devices assembled,
installed and/or sold, by !our subsidiarics. We expect these subsidiarics to be named as defendants in similar
suits and that claims will be brought in the future. For purposes of our financial statements, we have estimated
the indemnity and defente costs to be incurred in resolving pending and forecasted domestic claims through
year-end 2022, Although we believe our estimates are reasonable, the actual number of future ¢laims brought
against us and the cost 0|f resolving these claims could be substantially higher than our estimates. Some of the
factors that may result in the costs of asbestos claims being higher than our current estimates include:

® the rate at which inew claims are filed;
® the number of nc'w claimants;

® changes in the m':x of diseases alleged 10 be suffered by the claimants, such as type of cancer,
asbestosis or other illness;

® increases in lcgallfces or other defense costs associated with asbestos claims;

® increases in indcljnnily payments;




decreases in the proportion of claims dismissed with zero indemnity payments;
® indemnity payments being required to be made sooner than expected;

* bankruptcics of other asbestos defendants, causing a reduction in the number of available solvent
defendants and thereby increasing the number of claims and the size of demands against our
subsidiaries;

¢ adverse jury verdicts requiring us to pay damages in amounts greater than we expect to pay in
settlements;

® changes in legislative or judicial standards that make successful defense of claims against our
subsidiaries more difficult; or

® enactment of federal legislation requiring us o contribute amounts (o a national settlement trust in
excess of our expected net liability, afier insurance, in the tort system.

The total liability recorded on our balance sheet is based on estimated indemnity and defense costs
expected to be incurred through year-end 2022. We believe that it is likely that there will be new claims filed
after 2022, but in light of uncenainties inherent in long-term forecasts, we do not believe that we can
reasonably estimate the indemnity and defense costs that might be incurred after 2022. Qur forecast
contemplates that the number of new claims requiring indemnity will decline from year to year, If future
claims fail 10 decline as we expect, our aggregate liability for asbestos claims will be higher than estimated.

Since year-end 2004. we have worked with Analysis Research Planning Corporation, or ARPC, nationally
recognized consultants in projecting asbestos liabilities, to estimate the amount of asbestos-related indemnity
and defense costs. ARPC reviews our asbestos indemnity payments, defense costs and claims activity and
compares them to our |5-year forecast prepared at the previous year-end, Based on its review, ARPC may
recommend that the assumptions used to estimate our future asbestos liability be updated, as appropriate.

Our forecast of the number of future claims is based, in part, on a regression model, which employs the
statistical analysis of our historicai claims data to generate a trend line for future claims and, in part, on an
analysis of future disease incidence. Although we believe this forecast method is reasonable, other forecast
methods that attempt to estimate the population of living persons who could claim they were exposed 1o
asbestos at worksites where our subsidiaries performed work or sold equipment could also be used and might
project higher numbers of future claims than our forecast.

The actual number of future claims, the mix of disease types and the amounts of indemnity and defense
costs may exceed our current estimates. We update our forecasts at leasi annually to take into consideration
recent claims experience and other developments, such as legislation and litigation outcomes, that may affect
our estimates of future asbestos-telated costs. The announcement of increases to asbestos liabilities as a result
of revised forecasts, adverse jury verdicts or other negative developments involving asbestos litigation or
insurance recoveries may cause the value or trading prices of our securities (0 decrease significantly. These
negative developments could also negatively impact our liquidity, cause us to default under covenants, in our
indebtedness, cause our credit ratings to be downgraded, restrict our access to capital markets or otherwise
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The adequacy and timing of insurance recoveries of our asbestos-related costs in the United States is uncer-
tain. The failure to obtain insurance recoveries could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Although we believe that a significant portion of our subsidiaries’ Hability and defense costs for asbestos
claims will be covered by insurance, the adequacy and timing of insurance recoveries is uncertain. Since year-
end 2005, we have worked with Peterson Risk Consulting, nationally recognized experts in the estimation of
insurance recoveries, to review our estimate of the value of the settled insurance asset and assist in the
estimation of our unsettled asbestos insurance assct. Based on insurance policy data. historical claims data,
future liability estimates including the expected timing of payments and allocation methodology assumptions
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we provided them, Peterson Risk Consulting provided an analysis of the unseitled insurance asset as of year-
end 2007. We utilized that analysis to determine our estimate of the value of the unsettled insurance asset.

The assel recorded |on our consolidated balance sheet represents our best estimate of setiled and probable
future insurance settleménts relaling to our domestic liability for pending and estimated future asbestos claims
through year-end 2022. The estimate of recoveries from unsettled insurers in the insurance litigation discussed
below is based upon the resolution of certain insurance coverage issues and the application of certain
assumptions relating 10 cost allocation and other factors, The insurance asset also includes an estimate of the
amount of recoveries ungder existing seitlements with other insurers. On February 13, 2001, litigation was
commenced against certgin of our subsidiaries by certain of our insurers seeking to recover from other insurers
amounts previously paid by them and to adjudicate their rights and responsibilities under our subsidiaries’
insurance policies. As oi‘ December 28, 2007, we estimated the value of our asbestos insurance asset contested
by our subsidiaries’ insurers in this litigation at $27,600. While this litigation has been pending, we have had
to cover a substantial pulnion of our settlement payments and defense costs out of our cash flows.

Certain of our subsidiaries have entered into settlement agreements calling for certain insurers to make
lump-sum payments, as well as payments over time, for use by our subsidiaries to fund asbestos-related
indemnity and defense costs and, in cenain cases, for reimbursement for portions of out-of-pocket costs that
we previously have incurred. We entered into four additional setilements in 2007 and we intend to conlinuc to
attempt 1o negotiate add:ilional setilements where achievable on a reasonable basis in order to minimize the
amount of future costs that we would be required to fund out of the cash flows generated from our operations.
Unless we settle the rcrr{aining unsettled insurance asset at amounts significantly in excess of our current
estimates, it is likely lha't the amoum of our insurance settlements will not cover all future asbestos-related
costs and we will continue to fund a portion of such future costs, which will reduce our cash flows and our
waorking capital. Additio'nully. certain of the settlements with insurance companies during the past several years
were for fixed dollar amounts that do not change as the fiability changes. Accordingly, increases in the
asbestos liability will not result in an equal increase in the insurance asset.

An adverse outcome in the pending insurance litigation described above could limit our remaining
insurance recoveries. However, a favorable outcome in all or pant of the litigation could increase remaining
insurance recoveries abclve our current estimate.

Even if the coverage litigation is resolved in a manner favorable to us, our insurance recoveries (both
from the litigation and from settlements) may be limited by fulure insolvencies among our insurers. We have
not assumed recovery in the estimate of our asbestos insurance asset from any of our currently insotvent
insurers. Other insurers may become insolvent in the future and our insurers may fail to reimburse amounts
owed to us on a timely basis. If we fail to realize expected insurance recoveries, or experience delays in
receiving material amounts from our insurers, otr business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows could be marerially adversely affected.

A number of asbestos-related claims have been received by our subsidiaries in the United Kingdom. To date,
these claims have been 'covered by insurance policies and proceeds from the policies have been paid directly
to the plaintiffs. The timing and amount of asbestos claims that may be made in the future, the financial
solvency of the l'nsarers: and the amount that may be paid to resolve the claims, are uncertain. The insur-
ance carriers’ failure ta make payments due under the policies could materially adversely affect our busi-
ness, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Some of our subsic‘inries in the United Kingdom have received claims alleging personal injury arising
from exposure to asbestps in connection with wark performed, or heal exchange devices assembled, installed
and/or sold, by our subsidiaries. We expect these subsidiaries to be named as defendants in additional suits
and claims brought in the future. To date, insurance policies have provided coverage for substantially ail of the
costs incurred in connection with resolving asbestos claims in the United Kingdom. In our consolidated
balance sheet, we have recorded U.K. asbestos-related insurance recoveries equal to the U.K. asbestos-related
liabilities, which are comprised of an estimated liability relating to open {oulstanding) claims and an estimated
liability relating to futuni'e unasserted claims through year-end 2022. Our ability to continue to recover under
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these insurance policies is dependent upon, among other things, the timing and amount of asbestos claims that
may be made in the future, the financial solvency of our insurers and the amount that may be paid to resolve
the claims. These factors could significantly limit our insurance recoveries, which could materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Risks Related to Our Liquidity and Capital Resources

We require cash repatriations from our non-U.S, subsidiaries to meet our domestic cash needs related to
our asbestos-related and other liabilities and corporate overhead expenses. Qur ability to repatriate funds
Jrom our non-U.S. subsidiaries is limited by a number of factors.

As a holding company, we are dependent on cash inflows from our subsidiaries in order to fund our
asbestos-related and other liabilities and corporate overhead expenses. To the extent that our U.S. subsidiaries
do not generate enough cash flows 10 cover our holding company payments and expenses, we are dependent
on cash repatriations from our non-U.S. subsidiaries. There can be no assurance that the forecasted foreign
cash repatriation will occur as our non-U.S. subsidiaries need to keep certain amounts available for working
capital purposes, to pay known liabilities, to comply with covenants and for other general corporate purposes.
The repatriation of funds may also subject those funds to taxation, The inability to repatriate cash could
negatively impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Certain of our various debt agreements impose financial covenants, which may prevent us from capitelizing
on business opportunities, which could negatively impact our business.

Our senior domestic credit agreement imposes financial covenants on us. These covenants limit our
ability to incur indebtedness, pay dividends or make other distributions, make investments and sell assets.
These limitations may restrict our ability to pursue business opportunities, which could negatively impact our
business.

We may have high working capital requirements, which could negatively impact our business, financial con-
dition, and cash flows,

In some cases, we may require significant amounts of working capital to finance the purchase of materials
and in the performance of engineering, construction and other work on cenain of our projects before we
receive payment from our customers. In some cases, we are contractually obligated 10 our customers to fund
working capital on our projects. Increases in working capital requirements could nregatively impact our
business, financial condition and cash flows, In addition, as described below, we may in the future make
acquisitions of other entities or operations. To the extent we vse cash 10 make acquisitions, the amount of cash
available for the working capital needs described above would be reduced.

We may invest in longer-term investment opportunities, such as the acquisition of other entities or opera-
tions in the engineering and construction industry or power industry. Acquisitions of other entities or opera-
tions have risks that could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows.

Since 2007, we have been exploring possible strategic acquisitions within the engineering and construc-
tion indusiry to complemcnt or expand on our technical capabilitics or access to new market segments. We
may also decide to explore small size acquisitions within the power industry to complement our product
offering. The acquisition of companies and assets in the engineering and construction and power industries are
subject to substantial risks, including the failure to identify material problems during due diligence, the risk of
over-paying for assets and the inability to arrange financing for an acquisition as may be required or desired.
Further, the integration and consolidation of acquisitions requires substantial human, financial and other
resources including management time and attention, and ultimately, our acquisitions may not be successfully
integrated and our resources may be diverted. There can be no assurances that we will consummate any such
acquisitions, that any future acquisitions will perform as expected or that the returns from such acquisitions
will support the investment required to acquire them or the capital expenditures needed to develop them.
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Risk Factors Related to Our Financial Reporting and Corporate Governance

If we have a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, our ability to report our
financial results on a timely and accurate basis may be adversely affected.

Although we had n]L material weaknesses as of December 28, 2007, we have reported material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting in the past. We cannot assure that we will avoid a
material weakness in lhé future. If we have another material weakness in our internal control over financial
reporting in the future, it could adversely impact our ability to report our financial results in a timely and
accurale manner. |

I
We have anti-takeover provisions in our bye-laws that may discourage a change of control.

Our bye-laws comgin provisions that could make it more difficult for a third-party to acquire us without
the consent of our board of directors. These provisions provide for:

¢ The board of di tetors o be divided into three classes serving staggered three-year terms and the
reservation for t}'e board of directors, not the shareholders, of the right to increase the size of the board
of directors. In addition, directors may be removed from office only for cause, by the affirmative vote
of the holders oftwo-thirds of the issued shares generally entitled to vote and vacancies on the board
of directors may|only be filled by the remaining directors. These provisions of our bye-laws may delay

or limit the abili}y of a shareholder 10 obtain majority representation on the board of directors.

|
* Any amendment lo the bye-law limiting the removal of directors 10 be approved by the board of
directors and the' affirmative vote of the holders of three-quarters of the issued shares entitled to vote at
general meetings.

® Restrictions on the time period in which directors may be nominated or sharcholder proposals may be
submitted. A shareholder notice to nominate an individual for election as a director or a sharcholder
proposal must be received no less than 120 calendar days prior to the anniversary of the date on which
we first mailed our proxy materials for the preceding year's annual meeting. To be timely for
consideration at (Lhe annual meeting of shareholders, a shareholder proposal must be received no less
than 45 days prior to the anniversary of the date on which we first mailed our proxy materials for the
preceding year's [annual meeting.

e The board of directors 1o determine the powers, preferences and rights of preference shares and to issue
preference share§ without shareholder approval.

* A general prohibition on “business combinations” between Foster Wheeler Lid. and an “interested
member." Specifically, “business combinations” between an interested member, which is generally
defined as a person or group of persons that owns, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of the issued
voting shares of Foster Wheeler Lid., and Foster Wheeler Lid, are prohibited for a period of five years
aftter the time e interested member acquires 20% or more of our outstanding voting shares, unless the
business combin:alion or the transaction resulting in the person becoming an interested member is
approved by the board of directors prior to the date the interested member acquires 20% or more of the
outstanding voting shares.

t
® Any matter subniitted 1o the shareholders al a meeting called on the requisition of shareholders holding

not less than one-tenth of our paid-up voling shares 1o be approved by the affirmative vote of all of the
shares eligible td vote at such meelting.

!

These provisions could make it more difficult for a third-party to acquire us, even if the third-party’s
offer may be considered beneficial by many shareholders. As a result, shareholders may be limited in their
ability to obtain & premf:um for their shares.
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We are a Bermuda company and it may be difficult to enforce judgments against us or our directors and
executive officers.

We are a Bermuda exempted company, As a result, the rights of our shareholders will be governed by
Bermuda law and by our memorandum of asseciation and bye-laws. The rights of shareholders under Bermuda
law may differ from the rights of shareholders of companies incorporated in other jurisdictions. A substantial
portion of our assets are located outside the United States. It may be difficult for investors to enforce in the
United States judgments obtained in U.S. courts against us or our directors based on the civil liability
provisions of the U.S. securities laws. Uncertainty exists as to whether courts in Bermuda will enforce
judgments obtained in other jurisdictions, including the United States, under the secutities laws of those
junisdictions or entertain actions in Bermuda under the securities laws of other jurisdictions.

Our bye-laws restrict shareholders from bringing legal action against our officers and directors.

Our bye-laws contain a broad waiver by our shareholders of any claim or right of action, bath
individuzally and on our behalf, against any of our officers or directors. The waiver applies to any action taken
by an officer or dircetor, or the failure of an officer or director to take any action, in the performance of his or
her duties, except with respect to any matter involving any fraud or dishonesty on the pant of the officer or
director. This waiver limits the right of shareholders to assert claims against our officers and directors unless
the act or failure to act involves fraud or dishonesty.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The following table provides the name of each subsidiary that owns or leases materially important
physical properties, along with the location and general use of each of our properties as of December 28,
2007, and the business |segmcm in which each property is grouped. All or pant of the listed properties may be
leased or subleased to tl)lhcr affiliates. All properties are in good condition and adequate for their intended use.

Company (Business Segmerll‘) Building Lease
and Location I Use Land Area  Square Feet  Expires'
Faster Wheeler Realtq Sevvices, Inc. (C&F)
Union Township, New Jersey Investment in undeveloped land 203.8 acres —
| General office & engineering 294 acres 294,000 2022
Storage and repreduction facilities  10.8 acres 30,400
Livingston, New Jerse Research center 6.7 acres 51,355
Foster Wheeler Energy Services, Inc. (GPG)
San Diego, Califoria | Office — 11015 2008
|
Foster Wheeler USA Corporation (E&C)
Houston, Texas Office & engineering — 107890 2008
Houston, Texas Office & engineering — 59,671 2009
Houston, Texas Office & engineering — 74,025 2009
Foster Wheeler ITberia, S.A. (E&CW(GPG)
Madrid, Spain Office & engineering 5.5 acres 110,000 2015
Santiago, Chile Office & engineering — 16,071 2011
Foster Wheeler Energ]ia, S5.A. (GPG)
Tarragona, Spain Manufacturing & office 25.6 acres 77,794
Foster Wheeler France, S.A. (E&C)
Paris, France Office & engineering — 64,584 2013
Foster Wheeler International Corporation (Thailand Branch) (E&C)
Sriracha, Thailand | Office & engineering — 59944 2008
Sriracha, Thailand Office & engineering - 49,199 2008
Foster Wheeler Internationa) Engineering & Consulting (Shanghai)
Company Limited (GPG and E&C)
Shanghai, China Office & engineering — 3579 2008
Shanghai, China Office & engineering — 21,083 2009
Shanghai, China Office & engineering — 21,031 2010
Foster Wheeler Constructors, Inc. (GPG)
McGregor, Texas | Storage facilities 150 acres 24,000
Foster Wheeler Limited (England) (E&C)
Glasgow, Scotland Office & engineering 2.3 acres 28,798
Reading, England Office & engineering — 76,711 2011
Reading, England Office & engineering 14.0 acres 365,521 2024
Reading, England Office & engineering — 30,000 2009
Reading, England Investment in undeveloped land 12.0 acres —
Teesside, England Office & engineering — 18,001 2014
Foster Wheeler Limited (Nigeria) (E&C) .
Lagos, Nigeria Office & engineering — 13,000 2008
Foster Wheeler Saudi|Arabia Company Limited (E&C)
Al-Khobar, Saudi Arabia Office —_ 45,000 2008
I
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Company (Business Segment*) Buflding Lease

and Location Use Land Area  Square Feet  Expires'”
Foster Wheeler South Africa (PTY) Limited (E&C)
Midrand, South Africa Office & engineering — 55294 2011
Foster Wheeler India Private Limited (E&C)
Chennay, India Office & engineering — 101,150 2011
Kolkatta, India Office & engineering — 14907 2016
Foster Wheeler Canada Ltd. (GPG and E&C)
Niagara-On-The-Lake, Ontario Office & engineering — 29066 2008
Foster Wheeler Power Machinery Company Limited (GPG) .
Xinhui, Guangdong, China Manufacturing & office 29.2 acres 362,257 2045
Xinhui, Guangdong, China Manufacturing 2.6 acres — 2008
Xinhui, Guangdong, China Manufacturing 3.2 acres — 2012
Xinhui, Guangdong, China Storage facilities — 48,141 2008
Foster Wheeler I[taliana, S.p.A. (E&C)
Milan, ltaly Office & engineering — (42,000 2012
Milan, lualy Office & engineering — 21,8709 2008
Milan, lialy Office & engincering — 10,764 201)
Milan, Italy Office & engineering — 10,764 2012
Milan, ltaly Office & engineering — 15.210 2009
i Foster Wheeler Pyropower, Inc. (GPG)
Ridgecrest, California Office & storage facilities — 10,000 month to
| month

Foster Wheeler Bimas Birlesik Insaat ve Muhendislik A.S. (E&C)

Istanbul, Turkey Office & engineering — 25,833 2010

Foster Wheeler Eastern Private Limited (E&C)

Singapore Office & engineering — 85,428 2008

Foster Wheeler Power Systems, Inc. (GPG)

Martinez, California Cogeneration plant 6.4 acres —

Camden, New Jersey Waste-to-energy plant 18.0 acres — 2011

Talcahuano, Chile Cogeneration plant-facility site 21.0 acres — 2028

Foster Wheeler Energia Oy (GPG)

Varkaus, Finland Manufacturing & office 222 acres 366,716 .
Varkaus, Finland Office — 100,750 2031 |
Espoo, Finland Office — 14,639 2011 |
Foster Wheeler Energi Aktiebolag (GPG) f
Normrkoping, Sweden Manufacturing & office — 37,990 2014 !
Foster Wheeler Service (Thailand) Limited (GPG) '
Rayong, Thailand Manufaciuring & office 3.15 acres 41916 2017

Foster Wheeler Energy FAKOP Sp. z 0.0, (GPG)

Sosnowiec, Poland Manufacturing & office 19.5 acres  271,152% 2089

*  Designation of Business Segments: E&C - Global Engineering & Construction Group

GPG - Global Power Group
C&F - Corporate & Finance Group
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(1) Represents leases in which Foster Wheeler is the lessee. Properties for which a lease expiration is not indi-
cated arc owned.

(2) Foster Wheeler USIA Corporation has provided notice to terminate the lease in July 2008 and to move to a
new 332,000 square foot facility with a lease expiration of 2018,

(3) Pontion or entire facility leased or subleased to third parties.
(4) 52% ownership interest.
(5) 53% ownership intérest.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For information on asbestos claims and other material litigation affecting vs, see Item 1A, “Risk Factors,”
Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financtal Condition and Results of Operations —
Application of Critical lAccoun(ing Estimates” and Note 19, “Litigation and Uncertainties,” to our consolidated
financial statements in this annual report on Form 10-K,

ITEM 4. SUBMISSI(?N OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

On January 8, ZOOES. our shareholders approved an increase in our authorized share capital at a special
general meeting of common shareholders. The voting results of the special general meeting of common
shareholders were as fgllows:

Against or Broker
For Withheld Absientions  Non-Votes
Increase in authorized share capital . . ................ 63,448,418 354870 50,270 0

The increase in authorized share capital was necessary in order to effect a two-for-one stock split of our
common shares which was approved by our Board of Directors on November 6, 2007. The stock split was
effected on January 22] 2008 in the form of a stock dividend to common shareholders of record at the close of
business on January 8, 2008 in the ratio of one additional Foster Wheeler common share in respect of each
common share outstanJ.ing.




PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MAT-
TERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common shares are listed and traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol
“FWLT".

On January 8, 2008, our shareholders approved an increase in our authorized share capital a1 a special
general meeting of common shareholders. The increase in authorized share capital was necessary in order to
effect a two-for-one stock split of our common shares which was approved by our Board of Directors on
November 6, 2007. The stock split was effected on January 22. 2008 in the form of a stock dividend to the
common shareholders of record at the close of business on January 8, 2008 in the ratio of one additional
Foster Wheeler common share in respect of each common share outstanding. As a result of these capital
alterations, all references to common share prices, share capital, the number of shares, stock options, restricted
awards, per share amounts, cash dividends, and any other reference 1o shares in this annual repont on
Form 10-K, unless otherwise noted, have been adjusted to reflect the stock split on a retroactive basis.

On November 29, 2004, our shareholders approved a series of capital alierations including the consolida-
tion of our authorized common share capital at a ratio of one-for-twenty and a reduction in the par value of
our common shares and preferred shares. As a result of these capital alterations, all references to common
share prices, share capital, the number of shares, stock options, restricted awards, per share amounts, cash
dividends, and any other reference to shares in this annual report on Form 10-K, unless otherwise noted, have
been adjusted to reflect such capital alterations on a retroactive basis.

The following chart lists the quarterly high and low sales prices of our common shares on the NASDAQ
Global Select Market duning our fiscal years 2006 and 2007.
For the three months ended
March 30,  June 29,  September 28,  December 28,
2007 2007 2007 2007

Common share prices:
High ... e $29.80 $£55.19 $68.40 $84.24

LW, . e $23.25 $28.97 $42.17 363.24

For the three months ended

Morch 31, June 30,  Seplember 19,  December 29,
2006 2006 2006 2006

High....... . .. $26.85 $26.44 $22.43 $28.47
LOW. .t e e e e 31799 51743 $16.01 $19.03

We had 5,506 common shareholders of record and 144,113,515 common shares outstanding as of
February 15, 2008.

We have not declared or paid a cash dividend since July 2001 and we do not have any plans 1o declare or
pay any cash dividends. Qur current domestic senior credit agreement contains limitations on our ability to
pay cash dividends.




Performance Graph

The stock performance graph below shows how an initial investment of $100 in our commeon shares would
have compared over a five-year period with an equal investment in (1) the S&P 500 Index and (2) industry peer
group indices that each ‘consist of several peer companies (referred to as the “Peer Group™ and the “Old Peer
Group™), as defined bcl}Jw. Due to the acquisition of one company included in the Old Peer Group, and in an
effort o include a rangé of companies that more accurately reflects the indusiry sectors in which we compete as
well as companies of sitilar size to Foster Wheeler, we changed our industry peer group index. Accordingly, for
the fiscal year ended Décember 28, 2007, we are replacing the Old Peer Group with the Peer Group. The
companies included in éach of the Old Peer Group and the Peer Group are stated below.

Comparision of Cumulative Total Return
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In the preparation bf the line graph, we used the following assumptions: (i) $100 was invested in each of
the common shares of l’-'oster Wheeler Ltd., the $S&P 500 Index, the Peer Group and the Old Peer Group on
December 27, 2002, {iii dividends, if any, were reinvested, and (iii) the investments were weighted on the
basis of market capilalilhation.

For the Year Ended
‘ December 27, December 26, December 31,  December 30, December 29,  December 28,
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Foster Wheeler Lid. . . | $100.00 $ 91.06 $ 64.51 $149.51 $224.15 $635.24
S&P 500 Index. . .. .. | 100.00 127.47 143.41 150.45 174.21 185.05
Peer Group™ ... .. .. | 100.00 148.19 192.11 293.73 358.18 722.82
Old Peer Group™?. . . ll 100.00 154.71 195.28 31041 395.29 893.98

(1) The following companies comprise the Peer Group: Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V., Fluor Corpora-
tion, Jacobs Enginebring Group Inc., KBR, Inc., McDermott International, Inc. and Shaw Group, Inc. The
Peer Group consists of companies that were compiled by us beginning this year for benchmarking the per-
formance of our common shares.

(2) The following comll?anics comprise the Old Peer Group: Fluor Corporation, Foster Wheeler Ltd., Jacobs
Engineering Group |Inc., Washington Group I[nternational, Inc. (formerly Morrison Knudsen and acquired
by URS on November 15, 2007} and McDermott International, Inc. On January 25, 2003, Washington
Group International} Inc. emerged from Chapter 11 Bankruptcy protection and under the Plan of Reorgani-
zation Washington Group's old common stock (WNGXQ) was canceled and new common stock was
issued and distributéd to lenders and creditors in accordance with the Plan. Washington Group Intema-
tional, Inc. is not included in the Old Peer Group for the year ended December 28, 2007 as Washington
Group International; Inc. was acquired by another company on November 15, 2007. The Old Peer Group
consists of companies that were compiled by us in 1996 for benchmarking the performance of our com-
mon shares; we hav]e used this peer index since 1996 until adopting the Peer Group noted above.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL STATISTICS
(amounts in thousands of dollars, except share data and per share amounts)
' For the Year Ended

December 28, December 29, December 30, December 31,  December 26,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Statement of Operations Data: :
Operating revenues ... ............ $ 5107243 % 3495048 § 2199955  $2,661,324 $3,723.815

Income/(loss) before income taxes . . . . . 530,294" 343,693 (70,180 (232,172 (109.637)%
Provision for income taxes . .. ..... .. {136,420) (81,709) {39,568} (53.122) (47,426)
Net income{loss). . . . ............. $ 393874 $ 261984 § (109,749) $ (285294)  § (157.063)
Eamings/(foss) per common share:*®
Basic ............. i, $ 278 8§ .82 § (1.J8) S (2891 § (3827
DAed ..o $ 2712 8 1R s (198 § (2892) § (382D

Shares outstanding:*®’
Weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding for basic
carnings/{loss) per common share. . .. 141,661,046 132,996,384 93,140,176 9,864,740 4,104,458

Effect of dilutive securities . .. .. ... .. 3,082,176 8,221,592 * * *

Weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding for diluted

eamings/(loss) per common share. . .. 144,748,222 141,217,976 93.140,176 9.864,740 4,104,458
As of
December 28, December 29, December 30, December 31, December 26,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Balance Sheet Data:
Cumentassets . ..........oovvennnn $2,044,383 $1.389.628 $ 851523 $1.039.458 $1,174,376
Current liabilities. . . ............... 1,523,773 1,247,603 997,564 1,251,581 1.350.359
Working capital. . ................. 520610 142,025 (146,041) (212,123) (175.983)
Land, buildings and equipment, net . . . . . 337,485 302,488 258,672 280,305 309,615
Totalassets. . . ................... 3,248,988 2,565.549 1,894,706 2.177.69% 2,506,530
Long-term debt (including current

installments) .. ................. 205,346 202,969 315412 570.073 1,033.072
Total temporary equity .. ............ 2,728 983 — - -
Total sharcholders’ equity/(deficit). . . . . . 571,041 62,727 (341,158) (525,565) (872,440}
Other Data:
Unfilled orders (in terms of future

revenues), end of year. .. .. .. ... ... $9,420,400 $5,431.400 $3.692,300 $2,048,100 $2,285,400
New orders booked (in terms of future

FEVENLES) .. v evvv v ier e 8,882,800 4,892,200 4,163,000 2,437,100 2,163,500

(1) Includes in fiscal year 2007: increased contract profit of $35,100 from the regular re-evaluation of contract
profit estimates; gains of $13,500 on the settlement of coverage litigation with certain asbestos insurance
carriers; and a net charge of $(7,400) on the revaluation of our asbestos liability and related asset resulting
primarily from increased asbestos defense costs projected through year-end 2022 and for the addition of
another year to our relling 15-year asbestos liability estimate.

(2) Includes in fiscal year 2006: decreased contract profit of $(5,700) from the regular re-evaluation of con-
tract profil estimates; a charge of ${15,600) on the revaluation of our asbestos liability and related asset;
asbestos-related gains of $115,700 primarily from seitlement of coverage litigation with certain asbestos
insurance carriers; an aggregate charge of $(15,000) recorded in conjunction with the voluntary termination
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of our prior domestic senior credit agreement; and a net charge of $(12,500} recorded in conjunction with
the debt reduction initiatives completed in April and May 2006.

Includes in fiscal year 2005: increased contract profit of $99,600 from the regular re-evaluation of contract
profit estimates; a charge of $(113,700} on the revatuation of our estimated asbestos liability and asbestos
insurance receivabld; credit agreement costs associated with our prior domestic senior credit facility of
$(3,500); and an aggregate charge of $(58,300) recorded in conjunction with the exchange offers for our
trust preferred securities and our senior notes due 2011, which we refer to as our 2011 senior notes.
Includes in fiscal year 2004: increased contract profit of $37,600 from the regular re-evaluation of contract
profit estimates; a g'ain of $19,200 on the sales of minority equity interests in special-purpose companies
established 1o develpp power plant projects in Europe; a loss of $(3,300) on the sale of 10% of our equity
interest in a waste-tp-cnergy project in ltaly; a charge of $(75,800) on the revaluation of asbestos insurance
assets as a result offan adverse court decision in asbestos coverage allocation litigation; a net gain of
$15.200 on the settlement of coverage litigation with certain asbestos insurance carriers; restructuring and
credit agreement co!sls of ${17,200); a net charge of $(175,100) recorded in conjunction with the 2004
equity-for-debt exchange; and charges for severance cost of $(5,700).

Includes in fiscal year 2003: a $(15,100) impairment loss on the anticipated sale of a domestic corporate
office building; a $16,700 gain on the sale of certain assets of Foster Wheeler Environmental Corporation
and a gain of $4,300 on the sale of a wasic-to-energy plant; a gain on revisions to project claim estimates
and related cost of $1,500; a charge related to revisions of project estimates and related receivable allow-
ances of $(32,300); |a provision for asbestos claims of $(68,100); restructuring and credit agreement costs
of $(43,600); and charges for severance cost of $(15,900).

Amounts give retroactive effect to the two-for-one stock split that was effective January 22, 2008 and the
one-for-twenty reverse stock split that was effective November 29, 2004,

As described furthet in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report on

Form 10-K, we coniple:ed two common share purchase warrant offer transactions in January 2006. The
fair value of the additional shares issued as part of the wamant offer transactions reduced net income
aitributable to our common shareholders when calculating eamings/(loss) per common share. The fair
value of the additiohal shares issued was $19,445.

The impact of potentially dilutive securities such as outstanding stock options, warrants 1o purchuse com-
mon shares, and the non-vested portion of restricted common shares and restricted common share units
were not included i the calculation of diluted loss per common share in loss periods due to their antidilu-
tive effect.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (amounts in thousands of dollars)

The following is managemen1’s discussion and analysis of certain significant factors that have affected
our financial condition and results of operations for the periods indicated below. This discussion and analysis
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in this
annual report on Form 10-K.

Safe Harbor Statement

This management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations, other sections
of this annual report on Form 10-K and other reports and oral statements made by our represemiatives from
time 10 time may contain forward-looking statements that are based on our assumptions, expectations and
projections about Foster Wheeler and the various industries within which we operate. These include stalements
regarding our expectation about revenues (including as expressed by our backlog), our liquidity, the outcome
of litigation and legal proceedings and recoveries from customers for claims, and the costs of current and
future asbestos claims and the amount and timing of related insurance recoveries. Such forward-looking
statements by their nature involve a degree of risk and uncertainty. We caution that a variety of factors,
including but not limited to the factors described under Item 1A, “Risk Factors” and the following, could
cause business conditions and our results to differ materially from what is contained in forward-looking
stalements:

® changes in the rate of economic growth in the United States and other major intemnational economies;
® changes in investment by the oil and gas, oil refining. chemical/petrochemical, and power industries;
® changes in the financial cendition of our customers;
® changes in regulatory environments;
¢ changes in project design or schedules;
! ® coniract canceliations;
¢ changes in our estimates of costs 1o complete projects;
® changes in trade, monetary and fiscal policies worldwide;
® compliance with laws and regulations relating to our global operations;
¢ currency fluctuations;

® war and/or terrorist attacks on facilities either owned or where equipment or services are or may be
provided;

® interruptions to shipping lanes or other methods of transit; !

® outcomes of pending and future litigation, including litigation regarding our liability for damages and
insurance coverage for asbestos exposure;

¢ protection and validity of our patents and other intellectual property rights;
*® increasing competition by foreign and domestic companies;
| ® compliance with our debl covenants;

| ® recoverability of claims against our customers and others by us and claims by third-panties against
us:; and

® changes in estimates used in our critical accounting policies.

‘ Other factors and assumptions not identified above were also involved in the formation of these forward-
looking staternents and the failure of such other assumptions to be realized, as well as other factors, may also
cause actual results 1o differ materially from those projected. Most of these factors are difficuli to predict

| accurately and are generally beyond our control. You should consider the areas of risk described above in
connection with any forward-looking statements that may be made by us.
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We undentake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of
new information, future ‘events or otherwise. You are advised, however, to consult any additional disclosures
we make in proxy statements, guarterly reports on Form 10-Q, annual reports on Form 10-K and currem
reports on Form 8-K ﬁlf]‘d with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Overview

We operate through 1wo business groups — the Global Engineering & Construction Group, which we
refer to as our Global E&C Group, and our Global Power Group. In addition to these two business groups. we
also report corporate center expenses and expenses related to certain legacy liabilities, such as asbestos, in the
Corporate and Finance (*jroup, which we refer to as the C&F Group.

Since 2007, we have been exploring strategic acquisitions within the engineering and construction
industry 1o complement lor expand on our technical capabilities or access to new marker segments. We may
also decide 1o explore stnall size acquisitions within the power industry to complement our product offering.
However, there is no assurance that we will consummate any acquisitions.

|
Fiscal Year 2007 Results

We earned record n!et income in fiscal year 2007, driven primanily by the strong operating performance
from both our Global E&C Group and our Global Power Group. Our net income for fiscal year 2007 was
$393,900, which included the following after-tax amounts: gains of $13,500 on the settlement of coverage
litigarion with certain asbestos insurance carriers and a net charge of $7,400 reflecting the revaluation of our
asbestos liability and related asset resulting primarily from increased asbestos defense costs projected through
year-end 2022 and for the addition of another year to our rolling |5-year asbestos liability estimate,

Highlights for ﬁscnll year 2007 included the following:

® Our consolidated operating revenues increased 46.1% to $5,107,200, as compared to fiscal year 2006,
reflecting gl'calcri business activily in both our Global E&C Group and our Giobal Power Group.

¢ Our conso_lid:uedI new orders, measured in lerms of future revenues, increased 81.6% to $8,882,800, as
compared to fiscal year 2006.

s Our consolidated backlog of unfilled orders. measured in future revenues, as of December 28, 2007
increased 73.4% ‘IO $9.420,400, as compared 1o December 29, 2006.

® Our consolidalcd; backlog, measured in terms of Foster Wheeler scope (as defined below), as of
December 28, 2007 increased 30.3% to $3,294.600. as compared to December 29, 2006.

® We generated ne! cash from operations of $425,200 and ended the year with record total cash,
restricted cash and shori-term investments of $1,069,500.

e E&C man-hours lin backlog (in thousands) as of December 28, 2007 were 13,400, as compared to
11,600 as of December 29, 2006.

Challenges and Drivers

Our primary operating focus continues to be booking quality new business and executing our contracts
well, The global marketk in which we operate are largely dependent on overall economic growth and the
resultant demand for oilland gas, electric power, petrochemicals and refined products. These markets continued
to be strong in 2007, which in turn continued to stimulate investment in new and expanded plants by our
clients, We expect sustained market demand in 2008. Therefore, attracting and retaining qualified technical
personnel to exccute th ‘existing backlog of unfilled orders and future bookings will continue to be a
management priority.

The Global E&C droup's new orders increased 86.0% 1o $6,874.600 in fiscal year 2007, compared to
fiscal year 2006, We cx;'x:cl that capital investments in the markets served by our Global E&C Group.
including the chemical, petrochemical, oil refining, liquefied natural gas, which we refer to as LNG, and
upstream ol and gas industries, will remain strong in 2008. As a result, we also expect the demand for the
services and equipment isupplicd by engineering and construction centractors such as us to remain strong in
2008.
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The Global Power Group's new orders increased 67.8% to $2,008,200 in fiscal year 2007, compared to
fiscal year 2006. We belicve that the global power markets have strengthened and that there are significant
growth opportunities in 2008 in the power markets we serve, such as solid fuel-fired boilers, boiler services,
boiler environmental products and boiler-related construction services.

We betieve that we are well positioned to compete in both our Global E&C Group and Global Power
Group markets during 2008. The challenges and drivers for each of our Global E&C Group and our Global
Power Group are discussed in more detail in the section entitled, “Business Segments,” within this [tem 7.

Results of Operations:

Operating Revenues:

For the Year Ended
December 28,  December 29,  December 30,
2007 2006

2005
AMOUDL ... .ttt i i e e e $5,107,243  $3,495,048  $2,199,955
$Change . ... ... ... i 1,612,195 1,295,093
Blhange. .. ... i 46.1% 58.9%

The increase in operating revenues in fiscal year 2007, compared to fiscal year 2006, reflects our success
in meeting the strong market demand in both our Global E&C Group and our Global Power Group (please
refer to the section entitled, “Business Segments,” within this Item 7 and in Note 17 1o the consolidated
financial staiements included in this annual report on Form 10-K for further information). However, $848,300
of the fiscal year 2007 increase results from an increase, versus fiscal year 2006, in flow-through revenues and
costs on projects executed by our Global E&C Group. Flow-through revenues and costs result when we are
performing an engineering or construction contract and purchase materials, equipment or subcontractor
services on behalf of our customer on a reimbursable basis with no profit added 1o the cost of the materials,
equipment or subcontractor services. Flow-through revenues and costs do not impact contract profit or net
earnings, but increased amounts of flow-through revenues have the effect of reducing our reported profit
margins as a percent of operating revenues.

Operating revenues increased in fiscal year 2006, versus fiscal year 2005, driven by our ability to address
the strong market activity in both the Global E&C Group and Global Power Group. Included in the increase of
fiscal year 2006 operating revenues, compared to fiscal year 2005, are flow-through revenues of $289,400
from our Global E&C Group.

Contract Profit:

For the Year Ended
December 28, December 29, December 30,
2007 2006

2005
AMOURL . ... $744,321 $507,187 $346,342
$Change .......... ... . il 236,534 161,445
% Change. ... ..............oaiin 46.6% 46.6%

Contract profit is computed as operating revenues less cost of operating revenues. The increase in contract
profit in fiscal year 2007, compared to fiscal year 2006, primarily reflects a significant increase in the volume
of revenues, excluding the flow-through revenues described above, and increased margins earned in both our
Global E&C Group and our Global Power Group, partially offset by a $30,000 charge on a Global Power
Group legacy project.

The increase in contract profit for fiscal year 2006, compared 1o fiscal year 2005, primarily reftects the
significant increase in volume of revenues described above in both our Global E&C Group and our Global
Power Group, and from increased margins earned by our Global E&C Group, partially offset by certain project
write-downs in the Global Power Group.

Piease refer to the section entitled, “Business Segments,” within this lItem 7 for further information.
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Selling, General, a:!td Administrative (SG&A) Expenses:

Amount . ...
$ Change
% Change. . .

For the Year Ended

December 28, December 29, December 30,
2007 06 2005
......................... $246,237 $225,330 $216,691
L 20,907 8,639
l ......................... 9.3% 4.0%

SG&A expenses inLIude the costs associated with general management, sales pursuit, including proposal
expenses, and research and development costs. The increase in SG&A expenses in fiscal year 2007, compared
to fiscal year 2006, results primarily from increases in sales pursuit costs of $10,300, general overhead costs

of $7.400 and research

and development costs of $3,200. The increases result primarily from the increased

. el . . . .
volume of business in fiscal year 2007, which drove an increase in the number of technical personnel as well

as non-technical suppo

stafi and related costs.

The increase in SG&A expenses in fiscal year 2006, compared to fiscal year 2005, results primarily from

increases in general ovef

partially offset by a dec

head costs of $23,800 and research and development costs of $100, which were
ease in sales pursuit costs of $15,300. The increase in general overhead results

primarily from $3,200 of severance costs in fiscal year 2006 in our domestic and European Global Power

Group businesses, $7,

of additional non-cash equity-based compensation expense in fiscal year 2006

resulting primarily fromJ. the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard, or SFAS, No. 123R,

“Share-Based Payment,
incentive expense, and
decline in sales pursuit

| a $6,200 increase in personnel costs including an increase in related short-term
2.800 from costs associated with the wind down of our Canadian operations. The
vosts reflects, in part, a reduction in the number of major [ump-sum turnkey proposals

during fiscal year 2006]

Other Income:

Amount . . ..
$ Change . ..
% Change. ..

For the Year Ended

December 28, December 29, December 30,
2007 2006 2005
......................... $61,410 $48,610 $54,847
......................... 12,800 (6,.237)
......................... 26.3% (11.4)%

Other income in fiscal year 2007 consists primarily of $37,300 in equity method earnings generated {rom

our investments, primar
and Chile (as described
Form 10-K), a $6,600 g
waste-to-energy facility
income.

Other income in fis
our investments, primari

ly from cur minority ownership interests in build, own, and operate projects in ltaly
further in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report on

ain on a real estate investment, & $9,400 gain recognized at our Camden, New Jersey
from the State of New Jersey’s payment on the project’s debt and $1,500 of investment

cal year 2006 consists primarily of $29,300 in equity method earnings generated from
ly from minority ownership interests in build, own, and operate projects in ltaly and

Chile (as described furth

er in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report on Form 10-K),

a $1,000 gain on the sale of a previously closed manufacturing facility in Dansville, New York, a $9,200 gain
recognized at our Camden, New Jersey waste-to-energy facility from the State of New Jersey's payment on the

project’s debt and $600 of investment income. In the third quarter of 2006, the majority owners of certain of the
Ttalian projects sold their interests to another third-party. Prior to this sale, our equity in the net eamings of these
projects was reported ol a pretax basis in other income and the associated taxes were reported in the provision

for income 1axes because we and the other partners elected pass-through taxation treatment of the projects under
local law. As a direct result of the ownership change arising from the sale, the subject entities are now precluded

from electing pass-through taxation treatment. As a result, commencing in fiscal year 2006, our equity in the
after-tax earnings of these projects is reported in other income. This change reduced other income and the
provision for taxes by $'8.600 in fiscal year 2006.

27




Other income in fiscal ycar 2005 consists primarily of $30,600 in equity method carnings generated from
our investments, primarily from minority ownership interests in build, own, and operate projects in laly and
Chile (as described further in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report on
Form 10-K), a $1,500 gain recognized in the United Kingdom on the sale of an investment, a $92,000 gain
recognized at our Camden, New Jersey waste-to-energy facility from the Staie of New Jersey's payment on the
project’s debt and $1,300 of investment income.

Other Deductions:
For the Year Ended
December 28, December 29, December 30,
2007 2006 005
AMOUNL .. ... et c e, $45,540 $45,453 $£36,529
SChange .............. ... .. Ll 87 8,924
% Change. ......... ... .. ... i 0.2% 24.4%

Other deductions in fiscal year 2007 consists primarily of $3,600 of bank fees, $20,500 of legal fees,
$800 of consulting fees, $2,600 of foreign exchange losses, $1,500 of tax penalties and accrued penalties on
unrecognized tax benefits and a $10,100 provision for dispute resolution and environmental remediation costs.

Other deductions in fiscal year 2006 consists primartly of $7,200 of bank fees, $17,300 of legal fees,
$4,800 of consulting fees, $1,700 of foreign exchange losses, a $6,400 provision for dispute resolution and
environmental remediation costs and a $4,100 charge for tax penaltics, partially offset by $(1,300) of bad debt
rCCOVny.

Other deductions in fiscal year 2005 consists primarily of $8,800 of bank fees, $3,500 of which was
associated with a prior senior credit facility, $12,800 of legal fees, $2,700 of foreign exchange losses, $4,200
of environmenial costs and $1,400 in charges related 10 the common share purchase warrants offers that we
commenced in December 2005, partially offset by $(6,700) of bad debt recovery.

Interest Income:

For the Year Ended
Decetnber 28, December 29, December 30,

2007 2006 2005
Amount .. ... ... $35,627 $15,119 $8,876
$Change .. ... ... .. i 20,508 6,243
GChange. . ........cciviieiiira. 135.6% 70.3%

The increase in interest income in fiscal year 2007, compared to fiscal year 2006, resulted primarily from
a higher average cash and cash equivalents balance with additional benefits from higher interest rates and
investment yields.

The increase in interest income in fiscal year 2006, compared to fiscal year 2005, resulted primarily from
a higher average cash and cash equivalents balance.

Interest Expense:
For the Year Ended
December 28, December 29, December 30,

2007 2006 2008
Amount ...... ... ... ..., $19,855 $ 24944 $50618
$Change ........ .o, (5,089) (25.674)
FoChange. .. ..., (20.4)% (50.7)%

The decrease in interest expense in fiscal year 2007, compared to fiscal year 2000, reflects the benefits of
our debt reduction initiatives completed in the second quarter of 2006.

The decrease in interest expense in fiscal year 2006, compared to fiscal year 2005, reflects the bcncﬁts of
our debt reduction initiatives completed in the second quarter of 2006 and the latter haif of fiscal year 2005,
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Please refer to Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report on Form 10-K for
more information,

Minority Interest in Income of Consolidated Affiliates:

For the Year Ended
December 28,  December 29, December 30,
006 2005

2007 2
Amount . .. | ......................... $5.577 $4,789 $4,382
SChange .. .)..... ... ... o 788 407
% Change. . . ... .. ... 16.5% 9.3%

Minority interest in income of consolidated affiliates reflects third-party ownership interests in the results
of our Global Power Group’s Martinez, Califomia gas-fired cogeneration facility and ovr manufacturing
facilities in Poland and |the People’s Republic of China. The change in minority interest in income of
consolidated affiliates i$ based upon changes in the underlying earnings of the subsidiarics. The increase in
minority interest in inc?me of consolidated affiliates for 2007 primarily reflects higher plant availability in
2007 at the Martinez facility. This facility was shut down for two repair outages during 2006.

Net Asbestos-Related Gains/{Provision):

For the Year Ended
December 28, December 29, December 30,

2007 2006 1005
Amount ...l $ 6,145 $100,131 $(113,680)
$Change .. b oo (93986) 213811
G Change. . ........ ... ... iiiiinainn (93.9% N/iM

N/M — not meaningful,

In fiscal year 200'}. the net asbestos-related gain results from gains of $13,500 on the settlement of
coverage litigation withI certain asbestos insurance carriers, which were partially offset by a net charge of
$7.400 on the revaluation of our asbestos liability and related asset resulting primarily from increased asbestos
defense costs projectethhrough year-end 2022 and for the addition of ancther year to our rolling 15-year
asbestos liability estimate.

The nel asbestos-related gain in fiscal year 2006 results primarily from asbestos-related insurance
settlement gains of $96,200 and a gain of $19,500 on our successful appeal of a New York state trial count
decision that previously had held that New York, rather than New Jersey, law applies in the coverage litigation
with our subsidiaries’ insurers, partially reduced by a charge of $15,600 reflecting the revaluation of our
asbestos liability and related asset resulting from increased asbestos defense costs projected through year-end
2021 and for the additibn of another year to our rolling 15-year asbestos liability estimate.

The net ashestos-related provision in fiscal year 2005 results from the revaluation of our estimated
asbestos indemnity and|defense costs liability and our estimated asbestos insurance receivable.

Please refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial stalements in this annual report on Form 10-K for
mere information.

Prior Domestic SeniPr Credit Agreement Fees and Expenses:

For the Year Ended
December 28,  December 29,  December 30,
2006 2005

2007
AMOURL ... e e $ —_ $14,955 3} -
$Change .. |...... ... .. L. (14,955) 14,955
GoChange. . ). ... (100.0)% N/M

NM — not meaningful.
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Our prior domestic senior credit agreement fees and expenses resulted from the voluntary replacement of
our prior domestic senior credit agreement with a new domestic senior credit agreement in October 2006, We
were required to pay a prepayment fee of $5,000 as a result of the early termination of our prior agreement
along with $500 in other termination fees and expenses. The early termination also resulted in the impairment
of $9,500 of unamortized fees and expenses paid in 2005 associated with this agreement. In otal, we recorded
a charge of $15,000 in fiscal year 2006 in connection with the termination of our prior domestic senior credit
agreement.

Loss on Debt Reduction Initigtives:

For the Year Ended
December 28,  Decomber 29,  December 30,
2007 2006

2005
Amount ... ... .. $ —_ $ 12,483 $58,346
$Change ....... .. ... ... . ... .. ... .. (12,483 (45.863)
PBChange. ..... ... .. (100.0)% (78.6)%

The loss on debt reduction initiatives in fiscal year 2006 results from the debt reduction activities
completed in the second quarter of 2006. The charge 10 income reflects a Joss of $8.200 on the exchange
transaction for our 2011 senior notes resulting primarily from the difference between the fair market value of
the common shares issued and the carrying value of our 2011 senior notes exchanged, a loss of $3,900 on the
redemption of our 2011 senior notes resulting primarily from a make-whole premium payment, and a loss of
$200 on the redemptions of our trust preferred securities and our convenible notes resulting primanly from the
write-off of deferred charges. The loss on the debt reduction initiatives for fiscal 2006 was offset by an
improvement in shareholders’ equity/(deficit) of $58,800, resulting from the issuance of our common shares.

The loss on debt reduction initiatives in fiscal year 2005 results from our trust preferred securities
exchange offer consummated in August 2005 and our 2011 senior notes exchange offer consurnmated in
November 2005, which resulted in charges to income of $41,500 and $16,800, respectively. The charges were
offset by an aggregate improvement in shareholders’ equity/(deficit) of $297,000. The charges, which were
substantially non-cash, reflect the differences between the carrying values of the debt and the market prices of
the common shares on the closing dates of the exchanges.

Please refer to Note 6 10 the consolidated financial statements in this annual report on Form 10-K for
more informalion.

Provision for Income Taxes:

For the Year Ended
December 28,  December 29,  December 36,
007 2006

2005
Amount ... L $136,420 $81,709 $39.568
SChange . ........ .o 54,711 42,141
FChange. . .......................... 67.0% 106.5%

Our effective tax rate can fluctuate significantly from period to period and may differ significantly from
the U.S. federal statutory rate as a result of the fact that most of our operating units are profitable and are
recording 2 provision for non-U.S., national and/or local income taxes, while others are unprofitable and are
unable 1o recognize a tax benefit for losses. SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” requires us 10
reduce our deferred tax benefits by a valuation allowance when, based upon available evidence, it is more
likely than not that the tax benefit of losses (or other deferred tax assets) will not be realized in the future. In
periods when operating units subject to a valuation allowance generate pretax earnings, the corresponding
reduction in the valuation allowance favorably impacts our effective tax rate.

Our effective tax rate is, therefore, dependent on the location and amoumnt of our taxable eamings and the
effects of changes in valuation allowances, Compared 10 the U.S. statulory rate of 35%, our effective tax rate
for fiscal year 2007 was lower because of non-U.S. eamings being taxed at rates lower than the U.S. statutory
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rate and because of eamnings in jurisdictions where we have previously recorded a full vajuation allowance.
These variances were partially offset by losses in certain other jurisdictions for which no benefit is recognized
(a valuation allowance is established) and other permanent differences.

Compared 1o the U.S. statutory rate of 35%, our effective tax rate for fiscal year 2006 was lower because
of non-U.S. eamnings being taxed at rates lower than the U.S. statulory rate and because of eamings in
jurisdictions where we, have previously recorded a full valuation allowance (primarily the United States). These
variances were paniul‘y offset by losses in certain other non-U.S. jurisdictions for which no benefit is
recognized (a valualiop allowance is established) and because of other permanent differences. We monitor
valuation allowances against deferred tax assets in jurisdictions where valuation allowances were established in
previous years. As we| currently have positive eamings in most jurisdictions, we evaluate on a quarterly basis
the need for the valuajion allowances against deferved tax assets in those jurisdictions. Such evaluation
includes a review of all available evidence, both positive and negative, in determining whether a valuation
allowance is necessary.

For statutory pur]laoses, the majorily of the U.S. federal tax benefits, against which valuation allowances

have been cslablishcdl' do not expire until fiscal year 2024 and beyond, based on current tax laws.

As described further under “Application of Critical Accounting Estimates” within this Item 7, we adopted
the provisions of Finalncial Accounting Standurds Board, or FASB, Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes,”
on December 30, 2006, the first day of fiscal vear 2007.

EBITDA:
| For the Year Ended
I December 28, December 29, December 30,
' 2007 2006 2005
Amount . . I ........................... $591,840 $399.514 $8.652
$ Change e 192,326 390,862
BChange.' . ... o 48.1% 4517.6%

EBITDA for ﬁsc.!al year 2007 reflects increased volumes of business, sustained margins and the overall
strong operating perférmances by our Global E&C Group and our Global Power Group, along with $14,400 of
income related to the! favorable resolution of project claims and gains of $13,500 on the setlement of coverage
litigation with certain asbestos insvrance carriers, which were partially offset by a $30,000 charge on 2 Global
Power Group legacy 'projccl and a net charge of $7,400 reflecting the revaluation of our asbestos liability and
related asset resulting primarily from increased asbestos defense costs projected through year-end 2022 and for
the addition of another year to our rolling |15-year asbestos liability estimate.

EBITDA for ﬁsJ:aI year 2006 includes the impact of the increased margins and volume of work being
executed by our Glol al E&C Group and the net asbestos gains of $100,100 described above, partially offset
by a $25,000 charge on the aforementioned Global Power Group legacy project, the impact of our debt
reduction initiatives and the costs associated with the voluntary replacement of our prior domestic senior credit
agreement,

EBITDA for fiscal year 2005 includes charges related to asbestos and to the completed equity-for-debt
exchange offers. The, strong operating performance in our Global E&C Group was partially offset by $50,200
of write-downs on Global Power Group projects in Europe and North America.

Please refer to the section entitled, “Business Segments,” within this ltem 7 for further information.

EBITDA is a sypplemenial financial measure not defined in generally accepted accounting principles. or
GAAP. We define EBITDA as income before interest expense, income laxes, depreciation and amortization.
We have presented EBITDA because we believe it is an important supplemental measure of operating
performance. EBITDA, after adjustment for certain unusual and infrequent items specifically excluded in the
terms of our current 'and prior senior credit agreements, is used for cenain covenants under our current and
prior senior credit ag'recmcms. We believe that the line item on the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive incor'pcl(loss) entitled “net income/(loss)” is the most directly comparable GAAP financial

R
y




measure to EBITDA. Since EBITDA is not a measure of performance calculated in accordance with GAAP, it
should not be considered in isolation of, or as a substitute for, net income/(loss) as an indicator of operating
performance or any other GAAP financial measure. EBITDA, as calculated by us, may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures employed by other companies. In addition, this measure does not necessarily
represent funds available for discretionary use and is not necessarily a measure of our ability to fund our cash
needs, As EBITDA excludes certain financial information that is included in net income/(loss), users of this
financial information should consider the type of events and transactions that are excluded. Our non-GAAP
performance measure, EBITDA, has certain material limitations as follows:

= |t does not include interest expense. Because we have borrowed money to finance some of our
operations, interesl is a necessary and ongoing part of our costs and has assisted us in generating
revenue. Therefore, any measure that excludes interest expense has material limitations;

[t does not include taxes. Because the payment of taxes is a necessary and ongoing part of our
operations, any measure that excludes taxes has material limitations; and

® ]t does not include depreciation and amortization. Because we must utilize property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets in order to generate revenues in our operations, depreciation and
amortizalion are necessary and ongoing costs of our operations. Therefore, any measure that excludes
depreciation and amortization has material limitations.

A reconciliation of EBITDA to net income/(loss) is shown below.

Glaba) Glubal C&F
Total E&C Group  Power Group Group'"
For the Year Ended December 28, 2007
EBITDA® ... . i, $591.840 8505647  $139,177  $ (52,984)
Less: [nterest expi:nse ......................... (19.855)
Less: Depreciation and amontization. . .. ........... (41,691)
Income before income taxes. . . .................. 530,294
Provision forincome taxes. .. ................... (136,420)
Netincome ... ... . ... i it ien e 3 393,874
For the Year Ended December 29, 2006
EBITDA® ... .. . . $399,514  $323297  $ 95039  $ (18,822
Less; Inlerest eXpense . ... .....cvveourennnrans (24,944)
Less: Depreciation and amortization, ., ............ (30,877)
Income before income taxes. . . .......... .. ..... .. 343,693
Provision forincome taxes. .. ................... (81,709)
NEelinCOME . .. ... . it $ 261,984
For the Year Ended December 30, 2005
EBITDA™ ... . $ 8652 3165629  $107,266  $(264,243)
Less: INtErest eXPense . . .. ..o ove e e e ee s (50,618) ‘
Less: Depreciation and amortization . . ... .......... {28,215)
Loss before income taxes. . ......coiv i innnnnen.s (70,181)
Provision for income taxes. . ... ......ovvvurrunnn (39,568)
Net10SS. .o oveenennennn. B $(109,749)

(1) Includes general corporate income and expense, our caplive insurance operation and climinations.
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(2) Includes in fiscal Jear 2007: increased/(decreased) contract profit of $35,100 from the regular re-evaluation
of contract profit estimates: $54,500 in our Global E&C Group and $(19,400) in our Global Power Group;
a charge of $(7.406) in our C&F Group reflecting the revaluation of our asbestos liability and related asset
resulting primarilyjfrom increased asbestos defense costs projected through year-end 2022 and for the
addition of another year to our roiling I5-year asbestos liability estimate; and gains of $13,500 on the set-
tlement of coverage litigation with certain asbestos insurance carriers recorded in our C&F Group.

(3) Includes in fiscal year 2006: (decreased)/increased contract profit of $(5,700) from the regular re-evalua-
tion of contract profit estimates: $14,700 in our Global E&C Group and $(20,400) in our Global Power
Group; a charge of $(15,600) in our C&F Group reflccting the revaluation of our asbestos liability and
related asset; net dsbestos-related gains of $115,700 recorded in our C&F Group primarily from seitiement
of coverage liligation with certain asbestos insurance carriers; an aggregate charge of $(15,000) recorded
in our C&F Groupr in conjunction with the voluntary termination of our prior domestic senior credit agree-
ment; and a net charge of $(12.500) recorded in our C&F Group in conjunction with the debt reduction
initiatives completed in April and May 2006.

{4) Includes in fiscal year 2005: increased contract profit of $99,600 from the regular re-evaluation of contract
profit estimates: $66 300 in our Global E&C Group and $33,300 in our Global Power Group; a charge of
$(113,700) in our C&F Group on the revaluation of our estimated asbestos liability and asbestos insurance
receivable; credit Lgrecmem costs in our C&F Group associaled with our prior senior credil facility of
$(3,500); and an dggregate charge of $(58,300) in our C&F Group recorded in conjunction with the
exchange offers f(%r our trust preferred securities and our 2011 senior notes.

Business Segments

We use several financial metrics to measure the performance of our business segments. EBITDA, as
discussed and defined) above, is the primary eamings measure used by our chief operating decision maker.

Global E&C Grou;’)
| For the Year Ended
December 28,  December 29,  December 30,
] 2007 2006 2005
Operating revenues .I .................................. $3,681,259  $2,219,104  §1,471,948
$Change......... ’ .................................. 1,462,155 747,156
o Change . ... .o e e e 65.9% 50.8%
EBITDA .........0 $ 505647 § 323297 § 165,629
SChange. . ... ... oo e 182,350 157,668
ToChange . ... ..o ee i i e e et 56.4% 95.2%
Results
The increase in aperaung revenues in fiscal year 2007, compared to fiscal year 2006, reflects increased

volumes of work at all of our Global E&C Group operating units. Major projects in North America, South
America, Asia, Aus ; lasia, Europe and the Middle East in the oil and gas, refining, chemical/petrochemical
and LNG industries led the increase in activities,

The increase in EBITDA in fiscal year 2007, compared to fiscal yeur 2006, results primarily from the
increased velumes of work at our Global E&C Group operating units and sustained margins, excluding the
fmpact of flow- !hrough revenues. We increased our direct technical manpower, which includes agency
workforce, by 21% i m fiscal year 2007, primarily in our Asian, North American and United Kingdom offices,
o continue to address growing market opportunities. We plan to continue to expand our operational capacity
in 2008 through the tombination of organic growth and selective acquisitions.

The increase mlopcraung revenues in fiscal year 2006, compared to fiscal year 2005, reflects increased
volumes of work at all of our Global E&C Group operaling units. Major projects in Australasia, Europe, the
Middle East and Sodth America in the oil and gas, refining, and chemical/petrochemical industries led the

increase in :1(:li\.'itiesi
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The increase in EBITDA in fiscal year 2006 results primarily from the increased volumes of work and
improved margins a1 al! of our Global E&C operations. We increased our direct technical manpower, which
includes agency workforce, by 47% in fiscal year 2006, primarily in our Asian, North American, and United
Kingdom offices, to help capiure the market growth,

Overview of Segment

We expect sustained demand for oil and gas, petrochemicals and refined products that stimulated
investment in new and expanded plants over the last 12 to 24 months to continue in 2008. While our business
has not been impacted to date by the U.S. credit crunch resulting from the sub-prime mortgage crisis, the full
impact on the U.S. and global economy has yet to be fully established and therefore the possibility remains
that credit conditions, as well as a slowdown or recession in economic growth, could adversely affect the
industries in which our clients operate and as a result, our business. However, the overall proportion of the
U.S. in terms of global gross domestic product has reduced over time, with the emergence of China and India
as increasingly significant contributors to global gross domestic product. While global gross domestic product
growth is expected to decrease in 2008 relative to 2007, the emerging markets continue to show few signs of
any growth impact from recent financial and economic volatility and we believe that the downside risks may
be mitigated, in whole or in part, by the forecasi for continued strong economic growth in emerging markets,
such as China and India.

We anticipate that historically high oil prices and continued strong demand for oil will susiuin the high
levels of client investment in upstream oil and gas facilities that we are currently witnessing in most regions,
particularly in West Africa, the Middle East, Russia and the Caspian states. We believe that rising demand for
natural gas in Europe, Asia and the United States, combined with a shonfall in indigenous production, will
continue to act as a stimulant to the LNG business. Although LNG demand continues 10 grow strongly, the
pace at which new liquefaction train construction projects have received approval to proceed has slowed over
the last two or three years. We believe this indicates that significant additional liquefaction capacity over and
above the approved projects will need to be developed.

We believe that the global refining system is currently running at very high utilization rates and that
global demand for transportation fuels will be sustained, especially jet fuelfkerosene and middle distillates
(primarily diesel), Additionally, the price differential between heavier, higher-sulfur crude oil and lighter,
sweeler crudes remains higher than the historic average. All of these factors are continuing to stimulate
refinery investment, particularly to cnable refiners to process the higher-sulfur crudes and to upgrade lower-
value refinery residue to higher-value transportation fuels and we expect 1o see continued investment in these
projects. We have considerable experience and expertise in this area, including our proprietary delayed coking
technology, which enables refineries to upgrade lower quality crude oil or refinery residue to high value
refined products such as transponation fuels. We are currently executing a significant number of delayed
coking projects, including feasibility studies, front-end engineering and design, or FEED, contracts, delayed
coking techrology license agreements, engineering, procurement and construction supervision contracts and
full engineering, procurement and construction contracts. These projects are located in North America, South
America, Asia, Europe, and the Middle East. The subsequent phases of some of these projects offer us further
opportunitics. We believe that the majority of new investment in coking will take place in regions such as Asia
where investment in residue upgrading has not previously been a prime focus for refiners.

We believe that refining capacity will continue to be added through the development of grassroots
refineries, notably in the Middle Easl, India and China. Significant upgrades and expansions continue to be
planned or are underway at existing refineries in many regions, Clean fucl programs are also being
implemented o meet new fuel specifications for refiners’ production to domestic and/or expornt markets. We
are currently working on refining projects in the Americas, Europe, Asia and the Middle East.

In order 1o add value to their refinery streams and therefore improve margins, we believe that refiners are
also investing in refinery/petrochemical integration. We are working on a number of integrated projects in Asia
and the Middle East.

Investment in petrochemical plants began to rise sharply in 2004 in response to strong growth in demand.
The majority of this investment has been centered in Asia and the Middle East. We are seeing continued
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strong demand supporILng further new investment in these regions, which we expect 1o continue throughout
2008. We are also seeing investment in specialty chemicals, panticularly in the Middle East, stimulated by
governmental desire 6 further diversify their economies 10 lessen their dependence on crude oil exports and 10
provide sustained employment for their growing young populations. We continue (o execute several major
petrochemical contracls and expect to secure new petrochemicals business throughout 2008.

While the oullooi( for oil and gas, refining and petrochemicals in 2008 remains positive, we are seeing
that, as the demand and cost for engineering and construction services, materials and equipment and
commodities continues 1o rise, some companies are electing to commit to only partial or staged investments,
to reduce the scope of their investments, or to postpone or cancel investments, until the market slows. As we
work with our clients!in the early study and front-end design phases of their projects, we are helping some of
them develop a revised project that meets their investment parameters, develop a staged investment plan, or
revise the scope of or configuration of their original project so that they are able to obtain approval to procesd
with their investmem.’ In addition, as discussed above, we believe the full impact of the U.S. credit crunch
resulting from the sull)-primc morigage crisis has yet to be fully realized. There are a number of substantial
downside risks to the|global economic growth forecasts for 2008.

Investment in ngw pharmaceutical produciion facilities has slowed since 2003. We believe this is
attributable to a range of factors including industry cost pressure. Invesiment has focused on plant rationaliza-
tion, upgrading and improvement projects rather than on major new greenfield production facilities and on
biotechnology facilities. There are now indications of some renewed interest in more significant plant
investment in the key pharmaceutical investment hubs — Singapore, the U.S., Ireland and Puerto Rico.

Global Power Group
I For the Year Ended
December 28,  December 29,  December 30,

| 2007 2006 2005
Operating fevenues . . ................... $1,425984  $1,275,944 $728,024
$Change !.... ... .. 150,040 547,920
BChange. ........coiiiiiiiiiann... 11.8% 75.3%
EBITDA. | § 139,177 § 95030  $107.266
$Change }...... .. ...l 44,138 (12.227)
% Change‘[ ........................... 46.4% (11.4)%

Results l

The increase inj operating revenues in fiscal year 2007, as compared to fiscal year 2006, results from the
volume of business in our operations in North America, Europe and China.

Our Global Power Group experienced higher levels of EBITDA in fiscal year 2007, as compared 1o fiscal
year 2006, as a result of increased volumes of business and increased margins experienced by our contracts
executed in North ﬁimerica. Europe and China. In addition, EBITDA in fiscal year 2007 included $14,400
related to the favorable resolution of project claims. The $14,400 impacted contract profit by $9,600, interest
income by $4,000 and reduced other deductions by $800. EBITDA was also adversely impacted by a $30,000
contingency taken ih fiscal year 2007 on a legacy engineering, procurement and construction project in
Europe. The $30,000 comingency was in addition 1o a $25,000 contingency established during the founh
quarter of 2006 and other write-downs and profit reversals in 2004. This project was bid in 200¢ and awarded
in 2002, prior 10 the implementation of our currem system of risk management controls and our Project Risk
Management Group'. The two plants invelved in this project are completed and have been operating, but have
experienced a ss:rietI of technical issues, which largely involve corrosion in the front-end of the plant, which
we believe is causet by the client’s use of fuel that is not within the contract specifications, as well as back-
end corrosion of subcontractor-provided emissions control equipment and induction fans. The cause of the
back-end corrosion! which we discovered during the second quarter of 2007 to be more extensive than
previously determined, is under investigation, We have identified a technical solution to ameliorate the
corrosive effects of| the out-of-specification fuel, and the client is in the process of evaluating the proposed
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solution for the front-end corrosion. Disavowing responsibility for the fuel specification, the client has refused
to pay for the cost of the corrective work and has reserved its rights against us under the contract, which could
include repairing or rejecting the plants and recovering consequential damages in'the event we are determined
to be grossly negligent. We have advised the client that we are not responsible for the cost of corvective work
to address comrosion resulting from out-of-specification fuel and anticipate having discussions with the client
in the near future regarding our claim. For further information, please see Note 19 to the consolidated financial
siatements in this annual report on Form 10-K.

The increase in operating revenues in fiscal year 2006 over fiscal year 2005 results from exccution on
increased bookings that occurred largely in the latter half of 2005 and the early part of 2006 in our operations
in Europe and North America,

Our Global Power Group experienced lower levels of EBITDA in fiscal year 2006, compared to fiscal
year 2005. The Global Power Group's EBITDA was adversely impacted by poor performance on eight
contracts resulting in approximately $54,200 of charges and lost profit opportunity in Europe and Nerth
America in fiscal year 2006: net gains of approximately $2,600 on contract dispute settlements with clients in
North America that occurred in fiscal year 2005 that were not repeated in fiscal year 2006; a charge of
approximately $7,100 in fiscal year 2006 associated with the wind down of our Canadian operations; and from
reduced margins on projects currently being executed in Europe and North America versus several high margin
contracts executed in Asia during fiscal year 2005. Included in the $54,200 of charges and lost profit
opportunity is the aforementioned contingency of $25,000.

Overview of Segment

Although the solid fuel-fired boiler market remains highly competitive, we believe that there are several
continuing global market forces that will positively impact our Global Power Group over the next two to three
years. We believe that continued worldwide economic growth is driving power demand growth in most world
regions. [n addition, continued tight globa!l natural gas and oil supplies have driven gas and oil prices upwards
to historically high levels. We expect natural gas fuel price volatility to remain high over the next two to three
years duc to declining domestic supplies in Europe and the United States. Due to further tightening of
environmental regulations, including the development and growing acceptance of global greenhouse gas
regulation, we expect continued growth in demand for products and services in the area of environmental
retrofitting, such as selective non-catalytic and catalytic NOx reduction systems, over-fire air systems, coal/air
balancing systems and coal mill upgrade equipment. We believe that the combined effect of these factors will
have a positive impact on the demand for our products and services, such as new utility and industrial solid
fuel boilers, boiler services, boiler environmental products and boiler-related construction services.

While our Global Power Group has not been impacted to date by the U.S. credit crunch resulting from
the sub-prime mortgage crisis, the full impact on the U.S. and global economy has yet 1o be fully established
and therefore the possibility remains that credit conditions, as well as a slowdown or recession in economic
growth, could adversely affect the industries in which our clients operate and as a result, our business. Our
Global Power Group is dependant on the U.S. market as U.S. clients represent a significant portion of our
Global Power Group business. In addition, although we believe that our Global Power Group is well-positioned
to offer our clients solutions, such as supercritical PC boilers and CFB boilers capable of utilizing bio-mass
and recycled fuels, which can help address increasing greenhouse gas regulations, regulation in this area is still
developing in several geographies in which we and our clients operate. Such regulations could negatively
impact client investments in capital projects, which could negatively impact the market for our manufactured
products and certain of our services, and also could negatively affect the operations and profitability of our
own electric power plants. This could materially adversely affect our business, financial conditions, results of
operations and cash flows.

North America

In North America, we believe the declining generating capacity reserves across the region, coupled with
persistent historically high oil and naturat gas pricing, is spurring market growth for large coal utility boilers.
However, we are also seeing escalating plant costs and the concern for greenhouse gas emissions having a
growing impact on this market.

36




i
|
We believe plant price escalation is driven by the historically high demand for utility steam power plants
globally and is a result of strained supply of some key components needed to build the new plants, such as

stee), cement and IabO{. As in most markets, we believe price will have a dampening or smoothing effect to
the up and down swin$s of this market.

To capitalize on t!"nis business opportunity, our Global Power Group is actively marketing large-scale
supercritical boiler tecpnology in its key geographic markets as part of our utility boiler product portfolio. We
have been successful in securing two projects based on supercritical technology: (i) a project, awarded in 2006
and planned to be com‘mercially operational by 2009, in Poland where we will be supplying the world’s first
supercritical circulminé fluidized-bed, or CFB, boiler that will utilize Siemens advanced BENSON vertical
tube supercritical Slca[‘i’l technology and (ii) a project, awarded in 2007 and planned 1o be commercially
operational by 2010, for the design and supply, or D&S, of a supercritical once-through pulverized-coal, or
PC, steam boiler for a'coal-fired generating facility located in West Virginia. This D&S project will be the
first application of Sietnens advanced BENSON vertical tube supercritical steam technology to a PC boiler.
We believe that we cag leverage these key wins to further grow our position in the supercritical utility boiler
market for both PC and CFB boilers.

In anticipation of \future greenhouse gas regulation, we are actively involved in developing oxy-
combustion boiler technology designed to provide a practical solution to producing a concentrated stream of
carbon-dioxide, or COy, from a coal power plant. This CO; stream could then be transported to a storage
location in the most cdsl effective manner. To support the development and commercialization of this new
technology, we have entered into two scparate alliance agreements. One is with a Jarge industrial gas company
which allows us to co-pursue and develop specific key demonstration projects. Together we believe that we
form a strong technology team for the successful development of the technology. In addition, we have entered
into an alliance agreement with another organization to support the development of an oxy-combustion pilot
testing facility to be built in Spain.

From the industrial sector, we are seeing growth in the solid fuel industrial boiler market, driven by
historically high oil and natural gas pricing. These boilers offer industrial clients an attractive economic
solulion to supply theit energy needs by utilizing low cost biomass and other solid opportunity fuels. Many of
these fuels also carry éovemmenlal tax credits and other financial incentives 1o encourage their use as
renewable fuels, makirlig them more attractive to both the industrial and utility power sectors, We believe that
our leading CFB technology is well positioned to serve this market segment dué to its ability to burn
“difficult-to-burn™ fuels, its outstanding fuel flexibility and its excellent environmenial performance, compared
to other solid fuel.

The United Stated” Environmental Protection Agency’s, or EPA’s, Clean Air Interstate Rule, which
became effective durin;g 2005, as well as the continued settlements of earlier New Source Review lawsuils
brought against a numper of wiilities by the EPA, continue to drive a strong retrofit pollution control market,
including add-on potution control systems, such as low NOx combustion systems, selective catalytic reduction
systems and flue gas desulphurization systems. We believe this market trend will benefit sales of our
environmental products. We also believe that, due to reducing capacity margins (which represent the amount
of unused available electric generating capacity as a percentage of total electric capacily), coal-fired power
plants for independent!power producers and ulilities are operating at greater capacity to produce more
electricity, which, in tdrn, is spurring maintenance investment by owners. We also see evidence that owners
are making larger capilal investments in these plants to extend their useful lives, We believe these factors are
helping to maintain a Trong boiler service market, which should benefit our boiler service business. |

Europe [

We believe that n':lany of the same market forces discussed above are resulting in stmilar beneficial market
trends for our Global Fower Group business in Europe. We believe thar declining power capacity reserves
across the region, coupled with persistent historically high oil and natural gas pricing, are spurring market
growth for large uli]itj coa! boilers (greater than 500 megawatt-clectric unit size). Similar to the market in !

North America, we aré also seeing escalating plant cosis and the concern for greenhouse gas emissions having l
a growing impact on r%:slraining this market.
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Due to Europe’s historical preference for high efficiency coal-fired power plants and active greenhouse
gas regulation for power plants (such as Europe’s emissions trading scheme, which became effective in 2005),
we believe supercrilical boiler technology will continue to be the preference in the European utility boiler
market sector, We believe that, with the supercritical CFB and PC boiler projects described above, we are well
positioned 1o pursue this markel sector by offering both PC and CFB-type supercritical boilers. Historically,
PC boiler technology has been the only combustion technology choice for the supercritical utility boiler
market segment globally. However, we believe that supercritical CFB boiler technology has the potential to
penetrate the supercritical utility boiler market and 1o shift a portion of the market away from PC to CFB-type
boilers, especially for non-premium solid fuels such as lignite, brown coals and waste coals. Since we expect
to be the first boiler supplier with an operational supercritical CFB reference plant (which is expected to be
commisstoned in 2009}, we believe we are well positioned to pursue this market opportunity.

From the industrial sector, driven by increasing power prices and historically high oil and natural gas
pricing, we are seeing growth in the solid fuel industrial power market, which is benefiting sales of our
industrial boilers. The European Union, or EU, has established regulation and incentive programs to encourage
the use of biomass and other wasie fuels, which we believe is spurring growth both in the industrial and utility
sectors for our CFB boilers market. The EU's landfill and waste recycling directives {which became effective
in 2004) have opened a new market for our CFB boilers firing refuse-derived fuels. The EU’s Large
Combustion Plant Directive, or LCPD (which has governed the emission regulation of utility power plants in
Europe over the last five years and continues 1o be revised to enforce even tighter emission standards), is
expected 10 drive growth in the retrofit pollution control market, which should benefit our environmental
products business. Due to the LCPD's relatively mild first step reduction goals, we do not expect to see
significant growth unti! after 2008 when the second phase of the program calls for tighter emission limits.
Finally, coal power plants for independent power producers and utilities in Europe are operating at greater
capacity to produce more electricity spurring maintenance and life extension investmem by owners. Similar to
the United States, reduced capacity margins are driving this market, which is having a positive effect on the
volume of our boiler service sales.

Asia .

In Asia, we believe that high economic growth continues to drive strong power demand growth and
demand for new power capacity. We believe that the region’s historically high coal use, now coupled with
historically high world oil and natural gas pricing, will likely continue to drive growth for coal-fueled utility
and industrial boilers in the region. The region contains some of the world's largest utility and industrial boiler
markets, such as China and India, offering opportunities to our Global Power Group businesses. Historically, it
has been difficult for foreign companies (o penetrate these markets due to national trade policies and client
preference for local companies. To maximize our opportunities, we are continuing our licensing strategy,
which allows us to gain access to these closed markets while also expanding our capacity and resources
through our licensees allowing us to expand further in the global market place. Due 1o the region’s growing
environmemtal awareness, including CO» and its link to global warming, we see opportunilies for our entire
new boiler line from small industrial boilers 1o large utility supercritical boilers, as well as for our
environmental retrofit producis (such as low NOx combustion systems and coal pulverizers). Finally, reduced
spare capacity margins are also resulting in coal power plants for independent power producers and utilities
operating at higher operating rates to produce more electricity, which in tern spurs maintenance and life
extension investment by owners, offering further opponunity for our boiler services.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Fiscal Year 2007 Activities

As of December 28, 2007, we had a record amount of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investmenis
and restricted cash totaling $1,069,500, compared to $630,000 as of December 29, 2006. The increase results
from cash provided by operations of $425,200, cash provided by financing activities of $38,200, favorable
exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents of $20,200, partially offset by cash used in investing
activities of $46,000. Of the $1,069,500 total at December 28, 2007, $819,400 was held by our foreign
subsidiaries and $20,900 was represented by restricted cash. Please refer to Note 1 to the consolidated
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financial statements in this annual report on Form 10-K for additional details on cash and restricted cash
balances.

Cash provided by operations was $425,200 in fiscal year 2007, compared to $263,700 and $50,800 of
cash provided by operations in fiscal years 2006 and 2005, respectively. The cash provided by operations in
fiscal year 2007 was attributable primarily to our strong operating performance, partially offset by making
$45,000 of mandatory and discretionary contributions to our domestic pension plan and funding $19,000 of
asbestos liability indemnity payments and defense costs, The cash provided by operations in fiscal years 2006
and 2005 resulted from increased margins and volumes of business from the international operations of our
Global E&C Group, Our working capital varies from period to period depending on the mix, stage of
completion and commercial terms and conditions of our contracts. Working capital in our Global E&C Group
tends to rise as the workload of reimbursable contracts increases since services are rendered prior to billing
clients while working capital tends to decrease in our Global Power Group when the workload increases as
cash tends to be receivéd prior to ordering materials and equipment.

Cash used in mveiung activities was $46,000 in fiscal year 2007, compared to $25,600 of cash used in
investing activities in fiscal year 2006 and $63,600 of cash provided by investing activities in fiscal year 2005.
The cash used in invesiing activities in fiscal year 2007 was attributable primarily to capital expenditures of
$51,300 (which includes $13,800 of expenditures in FW Power S.r.l. as we continue construction of an electric
power generating wind|farm project in Raly), a $1,500 purchase of a Finnish company that owns patented coal
flow measuring technology and $4,800 in September 2007 retaied to the final payment for the 2006 purchase
of the remaining 51% interes1 of FW Power S.r.l., partially offset by a $6,300 distribution from our
unconsolidated affiliates and proceeds from the sale of assets of $7,600. The cash used in investing activities
in fiscal year 2006 was, attributable primarily to capital expenditures of $30,300 and a $6,600 increase in
investments in and advances 10 unconsolidated affiliates, partially offset by a decrease in cash subject 10
restrictions of $8,900 a:nd $1,900 in proceeds from asset sales. The cash provided by investing activitics in
fiscal year 2005 was allnbulablc primarily to a decrease in cash subject to restrictions of $46,200, a decrease
in short-term mveslmenls of $24.400 and $4,900 in proceeds from asset sales, partially offset by capital
expenditures of $10, 800. The capital expenditures related primarily to project construction (see above noted
FW Power S.r.l. electnl: power generating wind farm projects in Italy), leasehold improvemenis, information
technology equipmemt and office equipment. These expendltures reflect increased spending on project
construction and the in¢reased volumes of business in fiscal years 2007 and 2006. The increase in capital
expenditures over the three year period has been driven primarily by our Global E&C Group, with particular
increases driven by operations in Asia, Continental Europe and the United Kingdom. Qur Global Power Group
- capital expenditure increase was driven by our China operations with the expansion of our manufacturing
facility and office relocation. For further information on capital expenditures by segment, please see Note |7
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Cash provided by financing activities was $38,200 in fiscal year 2007, compared to $500 of cash provided
by financing activities in fiscal year 2006 and $41.500 of cash used in financing activities in fiscal year 2005.
The cash provided by ﬁnancmg activities in fiscal year 2007 reflects primarily stock oplion and warrant
proceeds and proceeds from the issuance of special-purpose limited recourse project debt by FW Power S.r.l.,
partially offset by the repayment of debt and capital lease obligations. The cash provided by financing
activities in fiscal year D006 reflects primarily stock option and warrant proceeds, partially offse1 by the
reduction in debt, including our 2011 senior notes, and capital lease obligations and the payment of deferred
financing costs in conjusiction with the senior credit agreement. The cash used in financing activities in fiscal
year 2005 reflects primirily the reduction in debt and capital lease obligations and the payment of deferred
financing cosls in conjunction with the domestic senior credit agreement.

Outlook |

Our liquidity forecasts cover, among other analyses, existing cash balances, cash flows from operations,
cash repatriations from lnon-U.S. subsidiaries, working capital needs, unused credit line availability and claims
recoveries and proceeds from asset sales, if any. These forecasts extend over a rolling 12-month period. Based
on these forecasts, we believe our exisiing cash balances and forecasted net cash provided from operating
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activities will be sufficient to fund our operations throughout the next 12 months. Based on these forecasts,
our primary cash needs for fiscal 2008 will be to fund working capital, capital expenditures, asbestos liability
indemnity and defense costs, and acquisitions. The majority of our cash balances are invested in short-term
interest bearing accounts. We continue to consider investing some of our cash in [onger-term investment
oppontunities, including the acquisition of other entities or operations in the engineering and construction
industry or power industry andfor the reduction of certain liabilities such as unfunded pension liabilities.

It is customary in the industries in which we operate to provide standby letters of credit, bank guarantees
or performance bonds in favor of clients to secure obligations under contracts. We believe that we will have
sufficient letter of credit capacity from existing facilities throughout the next 12 months.

Our domestic operating entities do not generate sufficient cash flows to fund our obligations related to
corporate overhead expenses and asbestos-related liabilities. Consequently, we require cash repatriations from
our non-U.S. subsidiaries in the normal course of our operations to meet our domestic cash needs and have
successfully repatriated cash for many years. We believe we can repatriate the required amount of cash from
our foreign subsidiaries and we continue 1o have access to the revolving credit portion of our domestic senior
credit facility, if necded.

We funded $19,000 of asbestos liability indemnity paymenis and defense costs from our cash flows in
fiscal year 2007, net of the cash received from insurance setilements. We expect 10 fund a total of $25,000 of
the ashestos liability indemnity and defense costs from our cash flows in fiscal year 2008, net of the cash
expected to be received from existing insurance settlements. This estimate assumes no additiona! setttements
with insurance companies or elections by us to fund additional payments. As we continue to collect cash from
insurance settlements and assuming no increase in our asbestos-related insurance liability or any future
insurance settlements, the asbestos-related insurance receivable recorded on our balance sheet will continue to
decrease.

On May 4, 2007, we executed an amendment to our domestic senior credit agreement to increase the
Facility by $100.000 to $450,000, to reduce the pricing on a portion of the letters of credit issued under the
facility and 1o restore an “accordion™ feature, which permits further incremental increases of up to $100,000 in
total availability under the facility. We had $245,800 and $189,000 of letters of credit outstanding under our
domestic senior credit agreement as of December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006, respectively. The letter of
credit fees now range from 1.50% to 1.60%, excluding a fronting fee of 0.125% per annum. We do not intend
to borrow under our domestic senior revolving credit facility during 2008. A portion of the letters of credit
issued under the domestic senior credit agreement have performance pricing that is decreased (or increased) as
a result of improvements (or reductions) in the credit rating assigned to the domestic senior credit agreement
by Moody's Investors Service and/or Standard & Poor's. However, this perfonnance pricing is not expected to
materially impact our liquidity or capital resources in 2008,

We anticipate spending €42,990 (approximately $63,300 at the exchange rate as of December 28, 2007)
in FW Power S.r.L., in fiscal year 2008 as we continue construction of the electric power generating wind
farm projects in Italy. We have secured 1otal borrowing capacity under the FW Power credit facilities of
€75,350 (approximately $110,950 at the exchange rate as of December 28, 2007).

Please refer to Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report on Form 10-K for
further information regarding our debt obligations.

We have not declared or paid a cash dividend since July 2001 and we do not have any plans to declare or
pay any cash dividends. Our current credit agreement contains limitations on cash dividend payments.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We own several non-controlling equity interests in power projects in Chile and laly. Centain of the
projecis have third-party debt that is not consolidated on our balance sheet. We have also issued cenain
guarantees for the Chilean project. Please refer to Note § to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report on Form 10-K for further information related 1o these projects.
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Contractual Obligaﬁ()l!ls

I - . . .
We have contractual obligations comprised of long-term debt, non-cancelable operating lease commit-
ments, purchase commitments, capital lease commitments and pension funding requirements. QOur expected
cash flows related to contractual obligations outstanding as of December 28, 2007 are as follows:

| Less than
| Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3.5 Years More than § Years
Long-term debt: |
Principal ... ...... e 5 1365900 $ 18,000 § 50,200 § 14,900 3 53,800
Interest .. .......|..... ..., 59,900 10,400 16,300 9,100 24,100
Non-cancelable operating lease
commitments. . ............... 433,300 52,800 85,300 66,600 229,100
Purchase commitments |, .. ... ... .. 1403000 1315400 85000 2,000 600
Capital lease obligations:
Principal . . .. ... ...0........... 68,400 1,300 3,400 4,100 59,600
Interest . ............c0uvnnnn 76,500 7,200 13,600 12,900 42,800
Pension funding requin‘:’menls —
us® o — — - — —
Pension funding requirements —
foreign®. . .......L.... ... .... 151,500 33,400 62,000 56,100 —

Total contractual cash ?bligations ... 32,330,000 $1,438500 $315,800 $165,700 $410,000

(1) Funding requirements are not expected in the next five years; however, data for contribution requirements
beyond five years are not yet available, These projections assume we do not make any discretionary
contributions.

(2) Funding requirements are expected to extend beyond five years; however, data for contribution require-
ments beyond five years are not yet available. These projections assume we do not make any discretionary
contributions. :

The table above dees not include payments of our asbestos-related liabilities as we cannot reasonably
predict the timing of the net cash outflows associated with this liability beyond 2008. We expect to fund
$25,000 of our asbestod liability indemnity and defense costs from our cash flows in fiscal year 2008, net of
the cash expected to be: received from existing insurance settlements. Please refer to Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report on Form 10-K for more information.

The table above d$¢s not include payments relating to our uncertain tax positions as we cannot reasonably
predict the timing of the net cash outflows associated with this liability beyond 2008. We expect to pay $3,300
refating 10 our uncertain tax provisions (including interest and penalties) from our cash flows in fiscal year
2008. Our 1otal liability (inctuding accrued interest and penalties) is $76,400 as of December 28, 2007. Please
refer 10 Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual repert on Form 10-K for more
information.

In cenain inslance!s in the normal course of business, we have provided security for contract performance
consisting of standby letters of credit, bank guarantees and surety bonds. As of December 28, 2007, such
commitments and their| period of expirdation are as follows:

Total Less than 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years More than 5 Years
Bank issued letters of Jredit and
guarantees. . ... ... P $788,700 $303,100 $243,100 $179,100 $63,400
Surety bonds. . ... ... : .......... 29,900 — — 29,900 —
Total commitments .. J.......... $818.600 $303,100 $243.100 $200,000 $63,400

Piease refer to Note 9 to the consclidated financial staternents in this annwal report on Form 10-K for a
discussion of guaraniees.
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Backlog and New Orders

The backiog of unfilled orders includes amounts based on signed contracts as well as agreed letters of
intent, which we have determined are legally binding and likely to proceed. Although backlog represents only
business that is considered likely to be performed, canceHations or scope adjustments may and do occur. The
elapsed time from the award of a contract to completion of performance may be up 1o approximately four
years. The dollar amount of backlog is not necessarily indicative of our future carnings related 1o the
performance of such work due 1o factors outside our control, such as changes in project schedules, scope
adjustments or project canceliations. We cannot predict with certainty the portion of backlog 1o be performed
in a given year. Backlog is adjusted quarterly to reflect project cancellations, deferrals, revised project scope
and cost, and sales of subsidiaries, if any.

Backlog measured in Foster Wheeler scope reflects the dollar value of backlog excluding third-party costs
incurred by us on a reimbursable basis as agent or principal, which we refer to as flow-through costs. Foster
Wheeler scope measures the component of backlog with profit potential and corresponds 1o our services plus
fees for reimbursable contracts and total selling price for fixed-price or lump-sum contracts,

Global Global
E&C Group  Power Group Total

NEW ORDERS (FUTURE REVENUES) BY PROJECT LOCATION:
For the Year Ended December 28, 2007:

NOMI AMENICE. . . o oot et e s it er e ernan e eaee s $ 212300 $1,028,500 $1,240,800
Sowth Amenica. . ... . i it et 30,100 144,100 174,200
Burope. .. ... e e o 845,400 649,600 1,495.000
T e 1,468,500 172,800 1,641,300
Middle Easl . .. ... ot i e 437,700 5,300 443 000
Australastaand other .. .. ... .. L e e 3,880,600 7,900 3,888,500

Ol . vt e e $6.874.600 $2,008,200  $8.882,800

For the Year Ended December 29, 2006:

North AMenica. .. .. ..ottt e e it et i anes $ 287,000 $ 755400 $1,042.400
SOUIh ATMEMICA . . . vt e et e e s 11,260 85,900 97,100
BUEOPE. . o ittt ey 735,300 268,500 1,003,800
N T T 1,307,200 83,700 1,390.900
Middle Bast. . ... oo i e e e {,043,800 1,600 1,045,400
Australasiaand other ... .. ... ... ... 310,800 1,800 312,600

Total .. e $3,695,300 51,196,900  $4,892,200

For the Year Ended December 30, 2005:

North AMerica. . ... .ot e $ 67,300 $ 540,600 $ 607,900
SoUth AMERICa . .. vttt e e e e e 119,100 14,700 133,800
] 567,200 471,400 1,038,600
X T- U N 679,500 46,300 725,800
Middle East . .. ... .. .ottt reaai e i 534,800 5,600 540,400
Auvstralasiaand other . ... ... . i e s 1,113,000 3,500 1,116,500

Total L. e e $3,080,900 $1.082,100 $4,163.000
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Global Global
| E&C Group  Power Group Total
NEW ORDERS (FUTiJRE REVENUES) BY INDUSTRY:
For the Year Ended December 28, 2007;
Powergeneration .. .. ... . ... ... . .., $ 96000 $1.883,500 $1,979,500
Oil refining ....... ' ................................. 1,218,400 — 1,218,400
Pharmaceutical. . . . . P 81,800 — 81,800
Oiland gas ....... o et 4,082,100 — 4,082,100
Chemical/petrochemical ............................... 1,356,000 — 1,356,000
Power plant operation and maintenance. .. ................. — 124,700 124,700
Environmemtal . . . .. R R PR EREE 15,000 —_ 15,000
Other, net of elimimations . . . ........................... 25,300 — 25,300
Total .. ... $6,874,600  $2,008,200 38,882,800
For the Year Ended December 29, 2006:
Power generation . . I ................................. $ 95700 $1,096,100 $1,191,800
Oilrefining ....... 0 . .. 1,342,200 — 1,342,200
Pharmaceutical .. ... ... o, 107,600 — 107,600
Oiland gas ....... [o e 444,500 — 444,500
Chemical/petrochemical . ... ...........c..ooveiirennn.. 1,593,300 — 1,593,300
Power plant operatio I and maintenance. .. ............ ..., — 100,800 100,800
Environmental . ... .|.... ... ... . ... . . .. i i 87,800 — 87,800
Other, net of eliminations . . . ....... ... . iuveinvnnrnnnn 24,200 —_ 24,200
Total ... ..o e $3,605300 $1,196900  $4,892,200
For the Year Ended Dc:ecember 30, 2005:
Power generation . . I ................................. $ 142600 $ 949600 $1,092,200
Oilrefining . ... 4 . . e 1,068,300 — 1,068,300
Pharmaceutical . . . . . I ................................. 74,600 —_ 74,600
Oiland gas ...... | | ................................. 1,368,700 — 1,368,700
Chemical/petrochemical .. ........... ... ... ... 0., 371,100 — 371,100
Power plant operation and maintenance. . .. ................ — 132,500 132,500
Environmental . . . .. R R RECEE TR 50,100 — 50,100
Other, net of eliminatlons . .. .. ... . vt irnrrnnrneenn 5,500 _ 5,500
Total .......... b $3.080,900 51,082,100 $4,163,000
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Global Global

E&C Group Power Group Total
BACKLOG (FUTURE REVENUES) BY CONTRACT TYPE:
As of December 28, 2007:
Lump-sumtumkey . . ... . i $ 66500 3 434,700 $ 501.200
Other fIXed-Price . ... oot e i e et 470,900 978,300 1,449,200
Reimbursable . . . .. ... . . . i e e 7.289,700 191,200 7.480,900
Elminations. . ... . vt e e (5,100) (5,800) (10,900)
Tota) . e §7.822,000 31598400 $9,420,400
As of December 29, 2006:
LUmp-sum turmnkey . .. ... ..o e e $ 194000 $ 256,100 $ 450,100
Other fixed-price .. ...... ... ... .. .. 454,600 637,600 1,092,200
Reimbursable . . . i i e e 3.886,600 37,500 3,924,100
B iminatiOnS. . v e ettt e i e e e e (33,700) (1,300) (35,000)
£+ Y P $4,501,500 §$ 929900  $5431,400 ,
As of December 30, 2005; !
Lump-sum wrmkey . . .. ... $ 376600 § 313000 $ 689,600
Other fixed-price . .. .. .. oo i e i 238,800 610,200 849,000
Reimbursable . . .. .. ... .. .. e e 2,163,100 55,500 2,218,600
EHMDIIONS . o ot it i et e (47,800} (17,100) {64,900)
Total ... e $2,730,700  § 961,600  $3,692,300




BACKLOG (FUTURE REVENUES) BY PROJECT LOCATION:

As of December 28, 2007:
North America. . .. ! .................................
South America. . ... T R EE T EPEI TR EE
Europe........... e e e
Asia............. L,
Middle East . .. ... | SR
Australasia and other1 .................................
Total ‘{ .................................

As of December 29, 20|06:
North America. . .. .. oo
Soulh AMEIICA. . .. J- i e e e e e
Europe. ... ... .. e
5 -
Middle Easl .. .... 0. .ottt it
Australasia and othen . . . .. oottt e e e
Total ......... . .

As of December 30, 2005:
North Amenca. .. .0 .. ... i e i e aan s
South America. ... 0. ... i i i
Burope. . ... ... .. e e
X3 T Y N
Middle East. . ... . i i i r e ir e
Australasiaand other ... ... ... i e
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Global Global

E&C Group Power Group Total
$ 150500 $ 742900 % 893,800
26,200 132,800 159,000
610,700 580,000 1,190,700
2,014,200 137,700 2,151,900
1,051,900 600 1,052,500
3,968,100 4,400 3,972,500
$7,822,000 $1,598.400  $9,420,400
$ 205600 § 459,700 § 665,300
55,700 49,200 104,900
599,800 338,700 938,500
1,269,200 80,000 1,349,200
1,592,300 800 1,593,100
778,900 1,500 780,400
$4.501,500 $ 929900  $5,431,400
$ 95200 $ 447000 § 542200
107,900 13,200 121,100
436,200 393,900 830,100
684,700 101,900 786,600
445 000 2,600 447,600
961,700 3,000 964,700
$2,730,700 § 961.600 33,692,300




Global Global

E&C Group  Power Group Total
BACKLOG (FUTURE REVENUES) BY INDUSTRY:

As of December 28, 2007:
Power generation .. .........ouiuirunnerarnia $ 56400 $1,476,600  $1,533,000
Ol refining ... e e 1,633,100 — 1,633,100
Pharmaceutical . . . .. .. .o it e e 41.400 —_ 41,400
Oiland 835 .. oot it e 4,078,600 — 4,078,600
Chemicalpetrochemical . ........ ... ..o iviiion, 1,988,000 — 1,988,000
Power plant operation and maintenance. . .. ..ot — 121,800 121,800
Environmental . . ... vr i e 12,700 _— 12,700
Other, netof eliminations . . ... ... .ot nnnn 11,800 — 11,800
1 1) [ SO $7,822,000 $1,598400  $9,420.400
Foster Wheeler scopeinbacklog ........................ $1,709,100  $1,585,500  $3.,294.600
E&C man-hours in backlog (in thousands) . . ............... 13,400 13,400

As of December 29, 2006:
POWET RENEFALION . . .. .o\ vee oot aaioeanariieeeas $ 122000 $ 812200 § 934,200
Ol refining ... oot i e 1,736,400 — 1,736,400
Pharmaceutical . . . .. ..o s 106,000 — 106.000
Oiland §a5 .. ..ot e 901,700 — 901.700
Chemical/petrochemical ... ... .. .o 1,576,300 — 1,576,800
Power plant operation and maintenance. . ............. ... .. — 117,700 147,700
Environmental . ... . vu et nn it e 61,700 —_ 61,700
Other, netof eliminations . . . ... ... .. oot (3,100) — (3,100)
TOtal © v v et e e e $4,501,500 § 929900 $5,431.400
, et e =
I Foster Wheeler scopeinbacklog . .. ........ .. ... ... ... $1,611,500 § 916,700 $2.528,200
E&C man-hours in backlog (in thowsands) . ................ 11,600 11,600

As of December 30, 2005:
POWEr GENEAtION . . . .. oottt eavne s e e nicnesns $ 154600 § 833,600 $ 988,200
O TEfiMng . . oo oot i 897,200 —_— 897,200
Pharmaceutical. . ... oot e it e 123,500 —_ 123.500
OHand gas . .. ..o r i e 1,148,400 — 1,148,400
Chemical/petrochemical . ................ccnrnn e 302,600 — 302,600
Power plant operation and maintenance. .. ..oy — 128,000 128,000
Environmental . ... ... i i 88,000 — 88,000
Other, netof elimimations . . . ... ... ..ot enians 16,400 — 16,400
0 o1 o $2,730,700 $ 961.600  $3,692,300
Foster Wheeler scopein backlog .. ............. . .ot $1,212,400 § 947,300 $2,159,700
E&C man-hours in backlog (in thousands) . .. .............. 9,300 9,300
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inflation

The effect of inﬂat%ion on our financial results is minimal, Although a majority of our revenues are
realized under long-term contracts, the sclling prices of such contracts, established for deliveries in the future,
generally reflect estimajed costs to complete the projects in these future periods. In addition, many of our
projects are reimbursable at aciual cost plus a fee, while some of the fixed-price contracts provide for price
adjustments through escalation clauses.

Application of Critical Accounting Estimates

The consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. Management and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors
approve the critical acc;oum.ing policies.

Highlighted below!are the accounting policies that we consider significant to the urderstanding and
operations of our busintlzss as well as key estimates that are used in implementing the policies.

Revenue Recognition !I

Revenues and profits on long-term fixed-price contracts are recorded under the percentage-of-completion
method. Progress towards completion is measured using physical completion of individual tasks for all
contracis with a value of $5,000 or greater. Progress toward completion of fixed-priced contracts with a value
less than $5,000 is measured using the cost-to-cost method.

Revenues and pmflrils on cost-reimbursable contracts are recorded as the services are rendered based on
the estimated revenue per man-hour, including any incentives assessed as probable. We include flow-through
costs consisting of materials, equipment or subcontractor services as revenue on cost-reimbursable contracts
when we are rcsponsibfc for the engineering specifications and procurement or procurement services for such
Coslts.

We have numerous contracts that are in various stages of completion. Such contracts require estimates to
determine the extent of|revenue and profit recognition. We rely extensively on estimates to forecast quantities
of labor (man-hours), malerials and equipment, the costs for those quantities (including exchange rates), and
the schedute to execute’ the scope of work including allowances for weather, labor and civil unrest. Many of
these estimates cannot be based on historical data, as most contracis are unique, specifically designed facilities.
In determining the revenues, we musl estimate the percentage-of-completion, the likelihood that the client will
pay for the work performed, and the cash to be received net of any taxes ullimately due or withheld in the
country where the work is performed. Projects are reviewed on an individual basis and the estimates used are
tailored to the specific Eircumstances. In establishing these estimates, we exercise significant judgment, and al
possible risks cannot b«i specifically quantified.

The percentage-oficompletion method requires that adjustments or re-evaluations to estimaled project
revenues and costs, including estimated claim recoveries, be recognized on a project-to-date cumulative basis,
as changes to the estimates are identified. Revisions to project estimates are made as additional information
becomes known, including information that becomes available subsequent to the date of the consolidated
financial statements up-'lhrough the date such consolidated financial statements are filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission. If the final estimated profit to complete a long-term contract indicates a loss,
provision is made immeédiately for the total loss anticipated. Profits are accrued throughout the life of the
project based on the pe!rcemage-of-completion. The project life cycle, including project-specific warranty
commitments, can be u’p to approximately six years in duralion,

The actual project/ results can be significantly different from the estimated results. When adjustments are
identified near or at thé end of a project, the full impact of the change in estimate is recognized as a change in ,
the profit on the contratt in that period. This can result in a material impact on our results for a single
reporting period. In ncc%ordance with the accounting and disclosure requirements of the American Institute of
Centified Public Accouptants Statement of Position, or SOP, 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construe-
tion-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts” and SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error
Corrections — a replac:emem of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3, we review all of our
material contracts monthly and revise our estimates as appropriate. These estimate revisions, which include
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both increases and decreases in estimated profit, result from events such as earning project incentive bonuses
or the incurrence or forecasted incurrence of contractual liquidated damages for performance or schedule
issues, executing services and purchasing third-party materials and equipment at costs differing from those
previously estimated, and testing of completed facilities which, in tum, eliminates or confirms completion and
warranty-related costs. Project incentives are recognized when it is probable they will be earred. Project
incentives are frequently tied to cost, schedule and/or safety targets and, therefore, tend to be earned late in a
project’s life cycle. There were 38, 29 and 45 separate projects that had final estimated profit revisions
exceeding $1,000 in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. These changes in final estimaied profits
resulted in a net increasef(decrease) to contract profit of $35,100, $(5,700) and $99,600 in fiscal years 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

Asbestos

Some of our U.S. and U.K. subsidiaries are defendants in numerous asbestos-related lawsuits and out-of-
court informal claims pending in the United States and the United Kingdom. Plaintiffs claim damages for
personal injury alleged o have arisen from exposure to or use of asbestos in connection with work allegedly
performed by our subsidiaries during the 1970s and earlier. The calculation of asbestos-related liabilities and
assets involves the use of estimates as discussed below.

We believe the most critical assumptions within our asbestos liability esiimate are the number of future
mesothelioma claims to be filed against us, the number of mesothelioma claims that ultimately will require
payment from us or our insurers, and the indemnity payments required to resolve those mesothelioma claims.

United States

As of December 28, 2007, we had recorded total Labilities of $403,300 comprised of an estimated
liability of $165,100 relating to open {outstanding) claims being valued and an estimated liability of $238,200
relating to future unasserted claims through year-end 2022. Of the total, $72,000 is recorded in accrued
cxpenses and $331,300 is recorded in asbestos-related liability on the consolidated balance sheet.

Since year-end 2004, we have worked with Analysis Research Planning Corporation, or ARPC, nationally
recognized consultants in projecting asbestos liabilities, to estimate the amount of asbestos-related indemnity
and defense costs at year-end for the next |5 years. Based on its review of fiscal year 2007 activity, ARPC
recommended that the assumptions used 1o estimate our future asbestos liability be updated as of year-end
2007. Accordingly, we developed i revised estimate of our aggregate indemnity and defense costs through
year-end 2022 considering the advice of ARPC. In the fourth quarter of 2007, we increased our liability for
asbestos indemnily and defense costs through year-end 2022 1o $403,300, which brought our liability to a level
consistent with ARPC’s reasonable best estimate. In connection with updaling our estimated asbestos liability
and related asset, we recorded a charge of $7,400 in the fourth quarter of 2007.

Our liability estimate is based upon the following information and/or assumptions: number of open
cleims, forecasted number of future claims, estimated average cost per claim by disease type — mesothelioma,
lung cancer, and non-malignancies — and the breakdown of known and future claims into disease type —
mesothelioma, lung cancer or non-malignancies. The total estimated liability, which has not been discounted
for the time value of money, includes both the estimate of forecasted indemnity amounts and forecasted
defense costs. Total defense costs and indemnity liability payments are estimated 1o be incurred through year-
end 2022, during which period the incidence of new claims is forecasted to decrease each year. We believe
that it is likely that there will be new claims filed after 2022, but in light of uncentainties inherent in long-term
forecasts, we do not believe that we can reasonably estimate the indemnity and defense costs that might be
incurred after 2022, Historically, defense costs have represented approximately 28% of total defense and
indemnity costs. Through December 28, 2007, cumulative indemnity costs paid, prior to insurance recoveries,
were approximately $625,300 and tota) defense costs paid were approximately $248,400.

As of December 28, 2007, we had recorded assets of $326,200, which represents our best estimate of
actual and probable insurance recoveries relating to our liability for pending and estimated future asbestos
claims through year-end 2022; $47,100 of this asset is recorded within accounts and notes receivable-other,
and $279,100 is recorded as asbestos-related insurance recovery receivable on the consolidated balance sheet.
The asbestos-related asset recorded within accounts and notes receivable-other as of December 28, 2007
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reflects amounts due in‘,the next 12 months under executed settlement agreements with insurers and does not
include any estimate for future settlements. The recorded asbestos-related insurance recovery receivable
includes an estimate of [recoveries from unsetifed insurers in the insurance coverage litigation referred to below
based upon the resolution of certain insurance coverage issues and the application of certain assumptions
relating to cost allocation and other factors as well as an estimate of the amount of recoveries under existing
setilements with other insurers. Such amounts have not been discounted for the time value of money.

Since year-end 2005. we have worked with Peterson Risk Consulting, nationally recognized experts in the
estimation of insurancerecoveries, to review our estimate of the value of the setiled insurance asset and assist
in the estimation of ourf unsettled asbestos insurance asset. Based on insurance policy data, historical claim
data, future liability estimates including the expected timing of payments and allocation methodology
assumptions we providéd them, Peterson Risk Consulling provided an analysis of the unsettled insurance asset
as of December 28, 2007. We utilized that analysis to determine our estimate of the value of the unsettled
insurance asset as of D#cembcr 28, 2007.

As of December 28. 2007, we estimated the value of our unsettled asbestos insurance asset contested by
our subsidiaries’ insure%s in ongoing litigation in New York state coun at $27,600. The litigation relates to the
amounts of insurance c?verage available for asbestos-related claims and the proper altocation of the coverage
among our subsidiaries® various insurers and our subsidiaries as self-insurers. We believe that any amounts that
our subsidiaries might l?e allocated as self-insurer would be immaterial.

An adverse outconle in the pending insurance litigation described above could limit our remaining
insurance recoveries and result in a reduction in our insurance asset. However, a favorable outcome in all or
part of the litigation could increase remaining insurance recoveries above our current estimate. If we prevail in
whole or in part in the Tiligalion, we will re-value our asset relating 10 remaining available insurance recoveries

based on the asbestos fiability estimated at that time.

We have considereld the asbestos litigation and the financial viability and legal obligations of our
subsidiaries’ insurance ¢arriers and believe that, except for those insurers that have become insolvent for which
a reserve has been provjded, the insurers or their guarantors will continue to reimburse a significant portion of
claims and defense costs relating to asbestos litigation. The overall historic average combined indemnity and
defense cost per resolved claim was $2.6, The average cost per resolved claim is increasing and we believe
will continue to increase in the future.

As we did at year-End 2007, we plan to update our forecasts periodically 1o take into consideration our
future experience and other considerations 1o update our estimate of future costs and expected insurance
recoveries. The estimaté of the liabilities and assets related to asbestos claims and recoveries is subject lo a
number of uncertainties’ that may resull in significant changes in the current estimates. Among these are
uncertainties as to the ultimate number and type of claims filed. the amounts of claim costs, the impact of
bankruptcies of other cn*mpunies with asbestos claims, uncertainties surrounding the litigation process from
jurisdiction to jurisdictipn and from case 1o case, us well as potential legislative changes. Increases in the
number of claims filed br costs to resolve those claims could cause us to increase further the estimates of the
costs associated with asbestos claims and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows,

The following chan reflects the sensitivities in the 2007 consolidated financial siatements associated with
a change in certain estilsnates used in relation o the domestic asbestos-related liabilities.

I Appruximate Change
Changes (Increage or |decrease) in Assumption: in Liability

One-perccnmﬁc point change in the inflation rate related to the

indemnity dnd defense costs .. .......... e e $24,000
Twenty-five percent change in average indemnity settlement amount . . 70,400
Twenty-five percent change in forecasted number of new claims ... .. 59,500

Based on the year-Lnd 2007 hiability estimate, an increase of 25% in the average per claim indemnity
settlement amount would increase the liability by $70,400 as described above and the impact on expense
would be dependent upon available addiional insurance recoveries. Assuming no change to the assumptions
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currently used (o estimate our insurance asset, this increase would result in a charge in the statement of
operations in the range of approximately 70% to 80% of the increase in the ligbility. Long-term cash flows
would ultimately change by the same amount. Should there be an increase in the estimated liability in excess
of this 25%, the percentage of that increase that would be expected to be funded by additional insurance
recoveries will decline.

Our subsidiaries have been elfective in managing the asbestos litigation, in part, because our subsidiaries:
(1) have access to historical project documents and other business records going back more than 50 years,
allowing them 1o defend themselves by determining if the claimants were present at the location of the alleged
asbestos exposure and, if so, the timing and extent of (heir presence; (2) maintain good records on insurance
policies and have identified and validated policies issued since 1952; and (3) have consistently and vigorously
defended these claims which has resulted in dismissal of claims that are without menit or setilement of
meritorious claims al amounts that are considered reasonable.

United Kingdom

As of December 28, 2007, we had recorded total liabilities of $48,500 comprised of an estimated liability
relating to open (outstanding) claims of $9,000 and an estimated liability relating to future unasseried claims
through year-end 2022 of $39,500. Of the total, $3,000 was recorded in accrued expenses and $45,500 was
recorded in asbestos-related liability on the consolidated balance sheel. An asset in an equal amount was
recorded for the expected U.K. ashestos-related insurance recoveries, of which $3,000 was recorded in
accounis and notes receivable-other and $45,500 was recorded as asbestos-related insurance recovery
receivable on the consolidated balance sheet. The liability estimates are based on a U.K. House of Lords
judgment that pleural plaque claims do not amount (0 a compensable injury and accordingly, we have reduced
our lizbility assessment. Should this ruling be reversed by legislation, the asbestos liability and related asset
recorded in the U.K. would be approximately $66,100.

Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

We have defined benefit pension plans in the United States, the United Kingdom, France, Canada and
Finland, and we have other postretirement benefit plans for health care and life insurance benefits in the
United States and Canada. The U.S. plans, which are frozen 10 new entrants and additional benefit accruals,
and the Canadian, Finnish and French plans, are non-contributory, The U.K. plan, which is closed to new
entrants, is contributory. Additionally. one of our subsidiaries in the United Staies also has a benefit plan
which provides coverage for an employee’s beneficiary upon the death of the employee. This plan has been
closed to new entrants since 1988.

We adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 158, “Employers” Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements 87, 88, 106, and 132(R),” on December 29,
2006, the last day of fiscal year 2006. SFAS No. 158 requires us lo recognize the funded status of each of our
defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans on the consolidated balance sheet. SFAS No. 158
also requires us to recognize any gains or losses, which are not recognized as a component of annual service
cost, as a componeni of other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 158, we
recorded net actuarial ltosses, prior service cost/(credits} and a net transition asset as a net charge to
accumulated other comprehensive loss on the consolidated balance sheet. Please refer to Note 8 of the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report on Form 10-K for more information.

The calculations of defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit liabilities, annual service cost
and cash contributions required, rely heavily on estimates about future evenrs ofien extending decades into the
future. We are responsible for establishing the assumptions used for the estimates, which include:

s The discount rate used 1o calculate the present value of future obligations;
® The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets;

® The expected rate of annual salary increases;

® The selection of the actuarial monality tables:

* The annual healthcare cost trend rate {only for the other postreticement benefit plans); and

50




¢ The annual inflation rate.

We utilize our bus
benefit pension and oth

ness judgment in establishing the estimates used in the calculations of our defined
er postretirement benefit liabilities, annwal service cost and cash coniributions, These

. i . -
estimates are updated on an annual basis or more frequently upon the occurrence of significant ¢vents. The
estimates can vary signjficantly from the actual results and we cannot provide any assurance that the estimates
used 10 calculate the defined benefit pension and postretirement benefit liabilities included herein will

approximate actual results. The volatility between the assumptions and actual results can be significant.
The following table summarizes the estimates used for our defined benefit pension plans for fiscal years
2007, 2006 and 2005:
For the Year Faded
, December 28, 2007 December 29, 2006 December 30, 2005
United  United United  United United  United
States Kingdom Other  States Kingdom Other Siates Kingdom Other
Weighted-average
assumptions — net periodic
benefit cost:
Discountrate. . ... }........ 581% 5.14% 450% S.45% 4.86% 4.60% 548% S5.44% 5.03%
Long-term rate of return . . . .. 800% 694% 7.50% 8.00% 684% 7.50% 8.00% 732% 7.50%
Salary growth . ...t ... ... N/A 183% 2.35% N/A 184% 3.21% N/A 333 2.95%
Weighted-average
assumptions - projected
benefit obligations:
Discount rate. . . . . Lo 631% S5.72% 530% 580% 5.13% 4.69%
Salary growth . ... ' ........ N/A 4.12% 347% N/A 3.82% 3.39%

The discount rate is developed vsing a market-based approach that matches our projected benefit
paymenis to a spot yield curve of high-guality corporate bonds. Changes in the discount rate from period-to-
period were generally Hue to changes in long-term interest rates.

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is developed using a weighted-average methodology,
blending the expected feturns on cach class of investment in the plans’ portfolios. The expected returns by
asset class are developed considering both past performance and future considerations.

The following china reflect the sensitivitics in the consolidated financial statements associated with a
change in cerain estimates used in relation to (he U.S. and U.K. defined benefit pension plans, Each of the
sensitivities below reflects an evaluation of the change based solely on a change in that particular estimate.

Approximate Increase (Decrease)

Impact on 2008
l Impact on Liabilities Benefit Cost

U.S. Pension Plans: |
One-tenth of a percentage point increase in the discount rate ... ....... $ (3.602) $ (59
One-tenth of a percentage point decrease in the discount rate . . ...... .. 3.644 50
One-tenth of a perccnﬁngc point increase in the expected retumn on plan

ETT 7ot £ A — 3B1H
One-tenth of a percenfage point decrease in the expected return on plan

BSSELS . ..o e s — 319
U.K. Pension Plans:
One-tenth of a percentage point increase in the discount rate ... ....... $(15,973) $(2,021)
One-tenth of a percentage point decrease in the discountrate .. .. ... .. 16,372 2,049
One-tenth of a percenlage point increase in the expected return on plan

assets ......... T R — {725) |
One-tenth of a percenlage point decrease in the expected return on plan

assets ......... ] L e — 723




As of December 28, 2007, our defined benefit pension plans had net actuarial losses of $347,600, which
were recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss on the consolidated balance sheet. The net actuarial -
tosses reflect differences between expected and actual plan experience and changes in actuarial assumptions,
all of which occurred over time. These net actuarial losses, to the extent not offset by future actuarial gains,
will result in increases in our future pension costs depending on several factors, including whether such losses
exceed the corrider in which losses are not amortized. The net actuarial losses outside the corridor are
amortized over the expected remaining service periods of active participants for the foreign plans (11 years for
the U.K. plans, 11 years for the Canadian plan and 8 years for the Finnish plan) and average life expectancy
of participanis for the U.S. plans (approximately 26 years) since benefits are frozen. In addition, our defined
benefit pension plans had prior service costs of $33,400, which were recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive loss on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 28, 2007. The prior service costs are
amortized over schedules established al the date of each plan change (11 years for the U.K. plans). The
estimated net actuarial loss and prior service cost that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehen-
sive Joss into net periodic benefit cosi over the next fiscal year are $20,400 and $1,900, respectively.

A one-tenth of a percentage point decrease or increase in the funding segment rates, used for calculating
future funding requirements to the U.S. plans through 2012, would not change the respective aggregate
contributions over the next five years due to the current over-funded siatus of the U.S. plans.

A one-tenth of a percenlage poimt decrease in the funding interest rate, used for calculating future funding
requirements Lo the U.K. plans through 2012, would increase aggregale contributions over the next five years
by approximately $7,300, while an increase by one-lenth of a percentage point would decrease aggregate
contributions by approximately $3,600.

The following table summarizes the estimates uscd for our other postretirement benefit plans for fiscal
years 2007, 2006 and 200S:
For the Year Ended
December 28,  December 29,  December 30,
2007 2006 2005

Weighted-average assumptions — net periodic postretirement
benefit cost:

DiSCOUNEFAIE . . . e e e et e e ia e ienanas 5.73% 5.39% 5.35%
Weighted-average assumptions — accumulated postretirement
benefit abligation:
DISCOUNLFAIE . . ottt s it e e e er e et an s 6.20% 573%

The discount rate is developed using a market-based approach that matches our projected benefit
payments to a spot yield curve of high-quality corporate bonds. Changes in the discount raie from periogd-to-
period were generally due to changes in long-term interest rates.

As of December 28, 2007, our other posiretirement benefit plans had net actuarial fosses of $10,900,
which were recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss on the consolidated balance sheet. The net
actuarial losses outside the corridor are amortized over the average life expectancy of inactive participants
{11 years) because benefits are frozen. In addition, our other postretirement benefit plans had prior service
credits of $43,500, which were recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss on the consolidated
balance sheet as of December 28, 2007, The prior service credits are amortized over schedules established at
the date of each plan change (9 years), The estimated net actuarial loss and prior service credit that will be
amortized from accumulated other comprehensive loss into net periodic postretirement benefil cost over the
" next fiscal year are $800 and $(4,800), respectively.

Share-Based Compensation Plans

Our share-based compensation plans include both restricted awards and stock option awards. Prior (o
December 31, 2005, we accounted for share-based employee compensation plans under the measurement and
recogaition provisions of Accounting Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock [ssued
to Employees,” as permitted by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” Accordingly, we
used the intrinsic value method of accounting for vur stock option awards and did not recognize compensation
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expense for stock options that were granted at an exercise price equal (o or greater than the market price of
our common stock on the date of grant. As a result, the recognition of share-based compensation expense was
generally limited to the expense attributed to restricted awards, In accordance with SFAS No. 123 and

SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure,” we provided pro
forma net income or loss and net earnings or loss per common share disclosures for each period prior o
December 31, 2005, as if we had applied the fair value method in measuring compensation expense for our
share-based compensayon plans, including stock options.

Effective Decembl r 31, 2005, the first day of fiscal 2006, we adopted the fair value provisions of
SFAS No. 123R using the modified prospective transition method. Under this method, we recognize share-
based compensation expense for (i) all share-based payments granted prior to. but not vet vested as of,
December 31, 2005, based on the grant date fair value originally estimated in accordance with the provisions
of SFAS No. 123, and(ii) all future share-based payment awards based on the grant date fair value estimated
in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R. Because we elected to use the modified prospective
transition method, resulis for periods prior to fiscal year 2006 have not been restated to reflect the
compensition expensel for the fair value of the awards that vested prior to December 31, 2005.

Compensation cost for our share-based plans of $7,100, $16,500 and $8,900 was charged against income
for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The related income tax benefit recognized in the
consolidated stalement of operations was $200, $300 and $300 for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. We received $18,100, $17,600 and $1,200 in cash from option exercises under our share-based
compensation plans fcir fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

As of December 28, 2007, there was $8,600 and $9,700 of total urrecognized compensation cost related
to stock options and rlestricted awards, respectively. Those costs are expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average pcri;od of approximately 27 months.

We estimate the rair value of each option award on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model, which incorporates assumptions regarding 2 number of complex and subjective variables. We
then recognize the fair value of each option as compensation cost ratably using the straight-line attribution
method over the service period (generally the vesting period). The Black-Scholes model incorporates the
following assumptions:

* Expected volallility — we eslimate the volatility of our common share price at the date of grant using
historical volatility adjusted for periods of unusual steck price activity.

* Expecied term — we estimate the expected term of options granted to our chief executive officer based
on a combination of vesting schedules, contractual life of the option, past history and estimates of
future exercis¢ behavior patterns. For grants to other cmployees and the remaining directors, we
estimate the e'xpec!ed term using the “simplified” method, as outlined in Staff Accounting Bulle-
tin No. 107, “~"I'opic 14: Share-Based Payment.”

® Risk-free intefest rate — we estimate the risk-free interest rate using the U.S. Treasury yield curve for
periods equall!o the expected term of the options in effect at the time of grant.

® Dividends — we use an expecled dividend yield of zero because we have not declared or paid a cash
dividend since July 2001 and we do not have any plans to declare or pay any cash dividends.

We estimale pre-vesting forfeitures at the time of grant using a combination of historical data and
demographic characl%:rislics, and we revise those estimates in subseguent periods if actual forfeitures differ
from those eslimates;. We record share-based compensation expense only for those awards that are expected 10
vest.

If factors changf: and we employ different assumptions in the application of SFAS No. 123R in future
periods, the compensation expense that we record under SFAS No. 123R for future awards may differ
significantly from what we have recorded in the current period. There is a high degree of subjectivity involved
in setecting the option pricing model assumptions used to estimate share-based compensation expense under
SFAS No. 123R. Option pricing models were developed for use in estimating the value of traded options that
have no vesling or hedging restrictions, are fully transferable and do not cause dilution. Because our share-
based payments havé characteristics significantly different from those of freely traded options, and because
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changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect our estimates of fair value, existing valuation
models may not provide reliable measures of the fair value of our share-based compensation. Consequently,
there is a risk that our estimates of the fair value of our share-based compensation awards on the grant dates
may bear little resemblance to the actual value realized upon the exercise, expiration or forfeilure of those
share-based payments in the future. Stock options may expire worthless or otherwise result in zero intrinsic
value compared to the fair value originally estimated on the grant date and reported in the consclidated
financial statements. Alternatively, value may be realized from these instruments that are significantly in
excess of the fair value originally estimated on the grant date and reported in the consolidated financial
statements.

There are significant differences among valuation models. This may result in a lack of comparability with
other companies that use different models, methods and assumptions. There is also a possibility that we will
adopt different valuation models in the future. This may result in a lack of consistency in future periods and
may materially affect the fair value estimate of share-based payments.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

At least annually, we evaluate goodwill for potential impairment, as prescribed by SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” We test for impairment at the reporting unit level as defined in
SFAS No. 142. This test is a two-step process. The first step of the goodwill impairment test, used to identify
potential impairment, compares the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount, including
goodwill. If the fair value, which is based on future cash flows, exceeds the carrying amount, goodwill is not
considered impaired. If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value, the second step must be performed to
measure the amount of the impairment loss, if any. The second step compares the implied fair value of the
reporting unit's goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. In the fourth quarter of each year, we
cvaluale goodwill on a separate reporting unit basis to assess recoverability, and impairments, if any, are
recognized in earnings. An impairment loss would be recognized in an amount equal to the excess of the
carrying amount of the goodwill over the implied fair value of the goodwill. SFAS No. 142 also requires that
intangtbie assets with determinable useful lives be amortized over their respective estimated useful lives and
reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets.”

Goodwill of $53,300 and intangible assets of $15,600 relate to our Global Power Group's European
operations that have experienced a number of performance related issues. Should the performance of this unit
deteriorate in the future, it is possible that these amounts could become impaired requiring a write-down of the
carrying values. In 2007, the evaluation indicated that no adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill or
intangible assets of our Globa) Power Group’s European operations was required.

In 2007, we recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $2,400 based on discounted cash flows in
connection with the decision to wind down the operations of one of our domestic reperting units.

Income Taxes

Deferred income 1axes are provided on a liability method whereby deferred tax assets/liabilities are
established for the difference between the financial reporting and income tax bases of assets and liabilities, as
well as for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation
allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred (ax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of
changes in 1ax laws and rates on the date of enactment.

For statutory purposes, the majority of the deferred tax assets for which a valuation allowance is provided
as of December 28, 2007 do not begin to expire untii 2024 or later, based on the current tax laws. We have a
valuation allowance of $294,300 recorded as of December 28, 2007,

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, which addresses the determination of whether tax benefits
claimed or expecied to be claimed on a 1ax return should be recorded in the financial statements. We adopted
the provisions of FIN 48 on December 30, 2006, the first day of tiscal year 2007. Under FIN 48, we recognize
the tax benefit from an uncertaio tax position only if it is more kikely than not that the tax position will be
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sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax
benefits recognized in ll}c financial statements from such a position are based on the largest benefit that has a
greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ullimate seitlement. FIN 48 also provides guidance
on the derecognition of the benefit of an uncertain tax position, classification of the unrecognized tax benefits
in the balance sheet, acJouming for and classification of interest and penalties on income tax uncertainties,
accounting in interim pe%riods and disclosures,

Our subsidiaries file income 1ax returns in numerous tax jurisdictions, including the United States, several
U.S. states and numerous non-U.S. jurisdictions around the world. Tax retums are also filed in jurisdictions
where our subsidiaries l ecute project-related work. The statute of limitations varies by the various
jurisdictions in which we operate. Because of the number of jurisdictions in which we file tax returns, in any
given year the statute ofl limilations in certain jurisdictions may expire without examination within the
12-month period from the balance sheet date. As a result, we expect recurring changes in unrecognized tax
benefits due to the expiration of the statute of limitations, none of which are expected to be individually
significamt. With few exceplions, we are no longer subject to U.S. (including federal, state and local) or
non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before fiscal year 2002.

A number of tax ye!ars are under audit by the relevant state, and foreign tax authoritics. We anticipate that
several of these audits may be concluded in the foreseeable future, including in fiscal year 2008. Based on the
status of these audits, it is reasonably possible that the conclusion of the audits may result in a reduction of
unrecognized tax beneﬁls. However, it is not possible (o estimate the impact of this change at this time.

As a result of the adoption of FIN 48, we recognized a $4,400 reduction in the opening balance of our
sharcholders® equity as of December 30, 2006. This resulted from changes in the amount of 1ax benefits
recognized related 1o un|ccrtain tax positions and the accrual of interest and penalties.

As of December 28, 2007, we had $52,200 of vnrecognized tax benefits, of which 551,800 would, if
recognized, affect our ct;fcctivc lax rate, before existing valuation allowance considerations.

We recognize interést accrued on the unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and penalties on the
unrecognized tax beneﬁt:s in other deductions on our consolidated statement of operations. We recorded $2,700
in interest expense and penalties in fiscal year 2007. We had $24,200 accrued for the payment of interest and
penalties as of December 28, 2007.

Accounting Developments
(

In September 2006/ the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements.” SFAS No. 157 defines
fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and
expands disclosures aboint fair value measurements. In February 2008, the FASB issued a partial one-year
deferral of SFAS No. lj’l for monfinancial assets and liabilities that are only subject to fair value measurement
on a non-recurming basi.l. The standard is effective for financial assets and liabilities, as well as for any other
assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis in financial statements,
for all financial statements issued with fiscal years beginning after November {5, 2007. We do not expect our
adoption of this new slafndard to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash

flows.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financiat Liabilities, including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115.” SFAS No. 159 permits entities to
choose to measure at fair valve many financial instruments and certain other assets and liabilities that are not
currently required to be 'measured at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value
option has been elected are reported in earnings. SFAS No. 159 does not affect any existing accounting
literature that requires cértain assets and liabilities to be carried at fair value. SFAS No. 159 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We do not expect to elect the fair value option provided in
this new standard.

In December 2007,!lhe FASB issued SFAS No. 121 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations.”
SFAS No. 141R replaces SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations™ and changes how business acquisitions are
accounted. SFAS No. 141R requires the acquiring entity in a business combination to recognize all (and only)
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the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction and establishes the acquisition-date fair value as

the measurement objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination, Certain

provisions of this standard will, among other things, impact the determination of acquisition-date fair value of

consideration paid in a business combination (including contingent consideration); exclude transaction casts |
from acquisition accounting; and change accounting practices for acquired contingencies, acquisition-related

restructuring costs, in-process research and development, indemnification assets, and tax benefits. Most of the

provisions of SFAS No. 141R apply prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is

on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Early

adopuion is not perminied. We are currently assessing the impact that SFAS No. 141R may have on our

financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51 SFAS No. 160, amends the accounting and reporting standards
for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary (ofien referred to as “minority interest”) and for the !
deconsolidation of a subsidiary. Under SFAS No. 160, the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is reported as
equity in the parent company's consolidated financial statements. SFAS No. 160 also requires that the parent
company’s consolidated statement of operations include both the parent and noncontrolling interest share of
the subsidiary’s statement of operations. Formerly, the noncontrolling interest share was shown as a reduction
of income on the parent’s consolidated staiement of operations. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years, and
interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008. SFAS No. 160 is 10 be
applied prospectively as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which this statement is initially applied;
however, presentation and disclosure requirements shall be applied retrospectively for all periods presented.
We are currently assessing the impact that SFAS No. 160 may have on our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
(amounts in thousands of dollars)

1
Interest Rate Risk — We are exposed to changes in interest rates should we need 10 borrow under our '

domestic senior credit agreement (there were no such borrowings as of December 28, 2007 and, based on |

current operating plans and cash flow forecasts, none are expected in 2008) and, to a limited extent, under our I

variable rate project debt for any portion of the debt for which we have not entered into a fixed rate swap

agreement. If average market rates are 100-basis points higher in the next iwelve months, our interest expense

for such period of time would increase, and our income before income taxes would decrease, by approximately

$100. This amount has been determined by considering the impact of the hypothetical interest rates on our

variable rate borrowings as of December 28, 2007 and does not seflect the impact of interest rate changes on

outstanding debt held by cenain of our equity interests since such debt is not consolidated on our balance

sheet,

Foreign Currency Risk — We operate on a worldwide basis with substantial operations in Europe that
subject us to translation risk on the Euro and British pound. As pant of our policies we do not hedge
translation risk exposure. All significant activities of our non-U.S. affiliates are recorded in their functional
currency, which is typically the country of domicile of the affiliate. While this mitigates the potential impact
of earnings fluctuations as a result of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, our affiliates do enter into
transactions through the normal course of operations in currencies other than their functional currency. We
seek to minimize the resulting exposure to foreign currency fluctuations by matching the revenues and
expenses in the same currency for our long-term contracts.

We further mitigate these foreign cumrency exposures through the use of foreign currency forward
exchange contracts to hedge the exposed item, such as anticipated purchases or revenues, back 1o their
functional currency. We utilize all such financial instruments solely for hedging, and our company policy
prohibits the speculative use of such instruments. However, for financial reporting purposes, these contracls are
generally not accounted for as hedges. Please refer 10 Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report on Form 10-K for further information. If the counterparties to these contracts fail to perform
under the settlement terms of the financial instruments, we could be subject to foreign currency exposure. To
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minimize this risk, we enter into these financial instruments with financial institutions that are primarily rated
“BBB+" or better by Standard & Poor’s (or the equivalent by other recognized credit rating agencies).

At December 28, 2007, our primary foreign currency forward exchange contracts are set forth below:

Hedged Foreign Notional Amount of Notiona) Amount of
Currency Exposure  Forward Buy Contracts  Forward Sell Conlract
Currency Hedged Functionsal (tn equivalent (in equivalent {in equivalent
(bought or sold forward) Currency U.S. dollars) US. dollars) U.S. dollars)
Euro British pound $ 5328 $ 2502 $ 2,826
Chilean peso 387 — 387
Polish zloty Euro 105,335 105,335 —
U.S. dollar 720 720 —_—
Thai baht British pound 1,839 1,839 —
U.S. dollar British pound 154,357 —_ 154,357
Euro - 3,832 3,832 —
Singapore dollar 211 —_ 211
United Arab Emirates
dirham British pound 230 2307 -
Total $274.316 $116,535 $157,781

The notional amount provides one measure of the transaction volume outstanding as of year-end.
Amounts ultimately realized upon final settlement of these financial instruments, along with the gains and
losses on the underlying exposures within our long-term contracts, will depend on actual market exchange
rates during the remaining life of the instruments. The contracts mature between 2008 and 2010. Increases in
fair value of the currencies sold forward result in losses while increases in the fair value of the currencics
bought forward result in gains. The contracts have been established by various international subsidiaries to sell

a variety of currencies

d receive their respective functional currency or other currencies for which they have

payment obligations to third-parties. Please refer 10 Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report on Form Y0-K for further information regarding derivative financial instruments.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Sharcholders of Foster Wheeler Lid.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Foster Wheeler Ltd. (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries at
December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 28, 2007 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the
accompanying index presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in
conjunction with the relaied consolidated financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financia! reporting as of December 28, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's management is responsible for these financial statements and
financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under ltem 9A of the Company’s Form 10-K. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement and whether effective interna) control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, cvidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation, Qur audit of intemal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of intemal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal contro! based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as
considered necessary in the circumstances. We belicve that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

As discussed in Note 1 and Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the
manner in which it accounts for share-based compensation and pension and other postretirement bencfits in
fiscal year 2006. As discussed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the
manner in which it accounts for uncertain tax positions in fiscal year 2007.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) perain to the maintenance of records that. in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the rransactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary 10 permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the company ase being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatemenis. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to futurc periods are subject to the risk that
contrals may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

fs/  PRiICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
PricewarerhouseCoopers LLP
Florham Park, New Jersey
February 26, 2008
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FOSTER WHEELER LTD, AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

For the Year Ended
December 28, December 29, December 30,
2007 2006 2008
Operating MeVENUES . .. . v oo v ettt e e e et eenes §$5,107243 $3495048 52,199,955
Cost of operaling revenues .. ...............cvenennnn.. (4,362,922)  (2,987,261) (1,853,613
Contract profit . ... ... ... .. . e 744,321 507,787 346,342
Selling, general and administrative expenses ... ............. (246,237) (225,330) (216,691}
OLher MO . . ... e i ettt e e s 61,410 48,610 54,847
Other deduclions. . .. ... ..ttt e e (45,540) (45,453) (36,529)
IMterest iNCOME . ... ...t e e e e 35,627 15,119 8,876
Interest expense ... .. FS (19,855) (24,944) (50,618)
Minority interest in income of consolidated affiliates ... ....... (5,577 {4,789) (4,382)
Net asbestos-related gains/(provision) . .................... 6,145 100,131 {113,680)
Prior domestic senior credit agreement fees and expenses. . . .. .. — (14,955) —_—
Loss on debt reduction initiatives . .. ............... . — (12,483) (58,346)
Income/(loss} before income taxes. . ............ ..o .... 530,294 343,693 (70,181)
Provision for InCOMe TaXES . ...\ v 't o it entcenernrnnees (136,420) {81,709} (39,568)
Net InCome/(loss) . . .. i i it e e e e e e § 393874 § 261,984 3§ (109749
Earnings/(loss) per commeon share (see Note 1):
BasiC .. .. e e 3 278 % 182 § (1.18)
Diluted . ... .. e e 5 272§ 172 % (1.18)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FOSTER WHEELER LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(in thousands of dollars, except share data and per share amounts)

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cashandcasheguivalents . . ... .. ... . o o i
Accounis and nowes receivable, net:

CONTACTS I PIOCESS . . L o ittt st v e oot ian et as it n e aons
Prepaid, deferred and refundable income taxes. ... ... ... e
(001 a1 L= 1Lt

TOURL CUITENM A5S80S . . 4 o v vt v v v ve s ie v aae ettt e e e

Land, buildings and equipment il ... ... ... i i
o Ty Te 1o s ] ¢ R S
Notes and accounts receivable — JODZ-IEIM . . ..o i i it e
Investments in and advances lo unconsolidated affiiates . .. ... ... .o
GoodWIll PEL. . o i e e e e
Other intangible assets, net. ... .. .. ... e e
Asbestos-related insurance recovery receivable . ... Lo
L1 o g - A T P
Delermed TMCOME LBXES . . . ot vt vt v v a ey et e e

TOTAL ASSE TS . . . i i i e e e

LIABILITIES, TEMPORARY EQUITY AND SHAREHOLDERS'
EQUITY
Currenl Liabilities:
Current installments on fong-term debt. .. .. ... oo
Accounts payable . ... ... e
ACCTUED EXPEMSES . . o v v v vt st it ans e s s e
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted conteets .. .. ..o
IncOMmE [aXES PAYALIE . . .ottt

Total cureent Habililies. . . .o vt s it e e e e e

Longtermdebl ... ... o e e e
Delermed INCOME LBAES . 2 ot v vt e e v imee e et e e
Pension, postretirement and other employee benefits ... ...
Asbestos-refated liability. . ... . ... e
Other long-term liabilities. . .. .. ... .o i
MIMOMLY IMIETESE . . . o . o o oo e e e e m ittt s e s as e e e et
Commitments and contingencies

TOTAL LIABILITIES . . .. ..ot it e nans

Temporary Equity:
Non-vested restricted owards subject o redemption . . ... ..o i

TOTALTEMPORARY EQUITY . . . .. ... i

Shareholders’ Equity:
Preferred shares:
$0.01 par value; authorized: December 28, 2007 — 901,943 shares and December 29, 2006 —
903,714 shares: issued and outstanding: December 28, 2007 — 1,887 shares and December 29,
2006 — 3658 SIS . . . v it e
Common shares:
$0.01 par value: authorized: December 28, 2007 — 296,007,011 shares and December 29, 2006 —
296,003,468 shares; issued and outstanding: December 28, 2007 - 143,877,804 sharcs and
December 29, 2006 — 138182948 shares. . .. ... . ... .. .. i e
Paid-in CaPHE] . ...
Accumplated defiChl . ... ..t e et e e
Accumulated other comprehensive BOSS . . . .. ...t e

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’EQUITY . ... ... .. it
TOTAL LIABILITIES, TEMPORARY EQUITY AND SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY ... . ...

See notes 10 consolidated financial statements.
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December 18,  December 29,

2007 2008
51048544  § 610887
580.883 483819
98,708 83497
23913 159.121
16532 21,016
39.979 31.288
2.044,383 1.389.628
327485 302.438
20937 19,080
2941 5,395
198,346 167,186
53345 51.573
61,190 62,004
324,588 350,322
93,137 91,081
112,036 126,792
$3,248988  §2.965.349
S 19368 $ AT
372,53 263,715
331,814 288.658
744,236 622422
55.824 51,331
1,523,173 1,247.603
185978 181.492
81,008 66,048
290,741 385976
376,803 424,628
185,143 166,169
3,13 29.923
2675219 2.501.839
2.728 983
2,728 983
1439 1,382
1385311 1,348.800
(554.595) (944,113)
(261,114) (343.342)
571041 62,927
$3.248988  $2.565.549




FOSTER WHEELER LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOQLDERS' EQUITY/(DEFICIT)
(in thousands of dollars, except share data)
Fuor the Yeor Ended

December 28, December 29, December 30,
2007 2006 2005
Shares Amouvnt Shares Amount Shares Amount
Preferred Shares:
Balance ot beginming of year ... .. ... . . 3658 8 - 4195 § - 15484 8 1
Preferred shares converted into common shares . . ... .. ....... (L.771) —_ (537) — {71,289 {1}
Balanceatendofyear . . ...l 1,887 § — 3658 § — 4195 § —
Common Shares:
Balance ot beginning of year .. ... ... ... . .., 138182948 5§ 1382 14924524 § 1150 BI.O85T96 § 510
Issuance of commeon shares upon exercise of common share purchase
WRITATHS « . o ot ot o vnnriae e et et 1,801,798 18 16888556 169 949218 10
Issuance of common shares upon equity-for-dett exchanges, . . . . ., - — 2555800 26 2332189 234
Issuance of commen shares upon exercise of stock options . . . .. .. 2,976,020 W 3046430 30 255,890 2
Issuance of common shares related 1o restricted awands . . ..., . 636.818 7 701,614 7 H3832 2
Cancellation of common shares upon forfeiture of restricted owards . | - - (4957} - — -
Issuance of common shares upon comversion of preferred shares . . . . 230.220 2 10976 —  9.275.898 92
Balanccatendofyear .. ... ... .. i 143877804 § 1439 138,182948 § 1382 114924524 $ 1,150
Paid-in Capital:
Balance a1 beginning ol yedr ... . ....... ... . i la, $1,348.800 3 1.186,943 $ 882762
Issuance of commen shares upon exercise of common share purchase
WATKILS . o oo i r i e e 8430 73.514 4,341
Issuance of common shares upon equity-for-det exchanges. . . .. .. - 58,737 296,759
Issuance of common shares upon exercise of stock options ... .. .. 18,046 17.565 1,198
fssuance of common shares related 1o mesticied awards ., L ..., h M 1,129
Share-based compensation expense-siock options and restricted
awards .. ... ... .. PN 5350 15491 —_
Excess tax benefit related to share-based compensation. . . .. ... .. 460 2915 645
Reclassification of uncamed compensation batance upon adoption of
SFASNu I23R. .. .. —_ (8.358) -—
Issuance of common shares upon conversion of preferred shares . . . . 2) - (S1)
Bolance stendofyear . .. ... ... L.l $1385311 § ).348.800 31,186,943
Accumulated Deflcit:
Balance al beginming of year ... .. ... ..l $ (944.113) $(1.206.097) $(1.096,348)
Cumulative effect of ndoption of FIN48 . . .. .............. {4,356} —_ —
Balance at beginning of year. asodjusted . . . ... .. ... ... (948.469) {1.206.097) (1.096,348)
NevincomeMlloss) forthe year. . . .. ... .. ..o s nnn 393,874 261,984 {109,749)
Bolance atend of year . .. oo vt $ (554,595) S (944113 $(1,206,097)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss:
Balance ot beginming of year . ... .. ... . i § (343,342) $ (14.796) $ (296,743
Foreign currency ranslation adjustmoents . .. ... ... ... ... 11939 31,612 (22.928)
Net gains on derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges
(et of tax provision: 2007 — $432; 2006 —3$203) .......... 13 M2 —
Defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans:
Minimum pension fiability adjustmems (net of ax provision:
2006 — 54.674; 2005 —$8B456) . .. ... ..ol - 40,087 4875
Adjustment resulting from the adoption of SFAS No. 158 (net of
tax benefit: 2006 —$54.364) . .. ... oL - (100,587) -
Net actuarial gains arising during the period (net of tax provision of
$5B36) ... e e 33,032 - -
Reclassification adjustments for amortization of prior service
costicredit), net loss/{gain) and transition obligation/ (asset)
included in net periedic benefit expense (et of tax provision of
T8 . e, 15,926 — —
Balance atendofyenr ... ... ... L i, § Q8114 3_(43342) 3 Gl
Unearmed Compensation:
Balance at beginning of year . ... .. ... ..o, s - $ {8359 $ (16047
Issuance of restricted awards .. .. ... ... L. e _ -— (1.230)
Share-based compensation expense-restricted awards . . . .. ... ... — - 3919
| Reclassification of unezmed compensation balance upon adoption of
SFASNe I12IR. .. ... e — 8,358 -
Balance stendof year .. .. ... .. e $ - 3§ — $  (8.358)
Total Shareholders’ Equity/(Deficity .. ............. ... ... $ 57,041 § 620 $ (341,158)

See notes 1o consolidated financial statements.
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FOSTER WHEELER LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
(in thousands of dollars)
For the Year Ended
December 28, December 29, December 30,
2007 2006

2605
Net income/(loss). . .. vt vt i i et i e $393,874 $261,984 $(109,749)
Foreign currency translation adjustments. .. ................. 31,939 31,612 (22,928)
Net gains on derivative instruments designated as cash flow
hedges (net of tax provision: 2007 — $432; 2006 — $203) . . .. 1,331 342 —_—

Defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans:
Minimum pension liability adjustments (net of tax provision:

2006 — $4,674; 2005 —$8,456) . . . ... ... ...l — 40,087 4,875
Net actuarial gains arising during the period (net of tax
provision of $5836) ... ... ... ..o 33,032 — —

Reclassification adjustments for amontization of prior service
cost/(credit), net Joss/{gain) and transition obligation/ (asset)
included in net periodic benefit expense (net of tax provision
OF $6,799) ..ttt e e e 15,926 — —

Comprehensive income/(loss) . . ... ....ovooeiiia i $476,102 $334.025 $(127,802)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FOSTER WHEELER LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
{(in thousands of dollars, except share data)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Netincomef(loss). ... ..ot it
Adjustments to reconcile net income/(loss) to cash flows from
operating activities;
Depreciation and amortization .. ..., ...................
Net asbestos-related (gains)/provision ....................
Loss on debt reduction imitiatives . ... .............. ...,
Prior domestic senior credit agreement fees and expenses . .. ..

Share-based compensation expense-stock oplions and restricted
AWAIDS . . . e e e

Excess tax benefit related to share-based compensation . . .. ...
Deferred tax provision .......... ooy

Interest expense on subordinated deferrable interest
debentures . ...... U

Gainonsale Of @SSetS. . ... .o it it

Equity in the net eamings of partially-owned affiliates, net of
dividends . .. ... ... ... ... e

Other nonCash IS . . . ..o ottt it et i et cre e
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Increase inreceivables . ... ... i e e

Net change in contracts in process and billings in excess of
costs and estimated eamnings on uncompleted contracts . . . ..

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses . .
(Decrease)/increase in income taxes payable ..., ...........
Net change in other assets and liabilities . . ................

Nel cash provided by operating activities. . . ... ... ..... ..

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired . . ...........
Change inrestricted cash . ... ........ ...,
Capital expenditures . . .. ... ... o i
Proceeds fromsale of assets . .. .............. ... .0vht
Invesiments in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates . . .. ..
Return of investment from unconsolidated affiliates. . .. ... ...
Decrease in short-lerm investments . . .. ... .. .. covunor oo

Nel cash (used in)/provided by investing activities .. ... .. ..

For the Year Ended
December 28,  December 29,  December 30,
2007 2006 2005
$393,874  $261,984  $(109,749)
41,691 30,877 28,215
7,374 (66,603) 113,680
— 5,200 31,491
— 9,488 —
7,095 16,474 8919
(4,694) (2,796) —
31,937 14,302 10,527
—_ — 5,288
(7.657) (1,464) (1,582)
(18,897) (7837 (9.303)
(3,785) (4,555) 8,021
(83,930) (225,158) {7,563)
25,833 177,350 (15,130)
123,968 39,908 (28,504)
(7.295) 27,614 (14,756)
(80.315) {11,129} 11,659
425,199 263,661 50,813
(6,319) 457 —
(856) 8,940 46,186
(51,295) (30,293) (10,809)
7,567 1914 4,853
(1,382) (6,573) (1,067}
6324 - —
—_ — 24,424
(45,961) {25,555) 63.587




FOSTER WHEELER LTD. AND SUBSIDMARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands of dollars, except share data}
(Continued)

For the Year Ended

December 28,  December 29,  December 30,
2007 2006 2005

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Partnership distributions to minority partners. .............. (2,063) (1,950) (2,233
Proceeds from common share purchase warrant exercises .. ... 8,448 75,683 4,451
Proceeds from stock option exercises .. ............c...-.. 18,076 17,595 1,200
Excess tax benefit related to share-based compensation ... .. .. 4,694 2,796 —
Payment of deferred financing costs . .................... — (5,710) (13,724) ;
Proceeds from issuance of long-termdebt . .. .............. 15,628 2,138 371 .
Repayment of long-term debt and capilal lease obligations . . ., (6,598) (90,082) (31,516)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities. ... ... .. 38,185 470 {41,451)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents . . . . 20,234 21,642 (13,847
INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS. ... ..... 437,657 260,218 59,102
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year. .............. 610,887 350,669 291,567
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR ... .. $1,048,544 $610.887 $350,669
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest (net of amount capitalized) . . .. ....... .. ... ... ... $ 13,384 $ 25,102 $ 47205
INCOME 1aXES . .. ..ot e i $ 111,279 3 38.611 $ 22,361

NON-CASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES

In April 2006, 2,555,800 common shares were exchanged for $50,000 of aggregate principal amount of 2011
senior notes. See Note 6 for information regarding the equity-for-debt exchange.

In 2005, 71,289 preferred shares were converted into 9,275,898 common shares resulting in a $1 reduction in
preferred share capital, a $92 increase in common share capital and a $91 reduction in paid-in capital.

In August 2005, 11,268,928 common shares were exchanged for $65,214 of trust preferred securities. See
Note 6 for information regarding the equity-for-debt exchange.

In November 2005, 12,053,962 common shares were exchanged for $150,003 of 2011 senior notes. See
Note 6 for information regarding the equity-for-debt exchange.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FOSTER WHEELER LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(amounts in thousands of dollars, except share data and per share amounts)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Foster
Wheeler Lid. and all significant domestic and foreign subsidiaries as well as certain entities in which we have
a controlling interest. Intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Our fiscal year is the 52- or 53-week annual accounting period ending the last Friday in December for
domestic operations and December 31 for foreign operations. For domestic operations, fiscal years 2007, 2006
and 2005 included 52 weeks.

Capital Alterations — On January 8, 2008, our shareholders approved an increase in our authorized share
capital at a special general mecting of common sharcholders. The increase in authorized sharc capital was
necessary in order o effect a two-for-one stock spiit of our common shares which was approved by our Board
of Direciors on November 6, 2007. The stock split was effected on January 22, 2008 in the form of a stock
dividend to common shareholders of record at the close of business on Janvary 8, 2008 in the ratic of one
additional Foster Wheeler common share in respect of each common share outstanding, As a result of these
capital alterations, all references to share capital, the number of shares, stock options, restricted awards, per
share amounts, cash dividends, and any other reference to shares in the consolidated financial statements,
unless otherwise noted, have been adjusted to reflect the stock split on a retroactive basis.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Americu requires management to make estimales and assumpiions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the tinancial statements and revenues
and expenses during the periods reported. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Changes in
estimates are reflected in the periods in which they become known. Significant estimates are used when
accounting for long-term contracts including estimates of totul costs and cusiomer and- vendor claims,
employee benefit plan obligations, share-based compensation plans, uncertain tax positions and deferred taxes,
and asbestos liabilities and expected recoveries, among others.

Revenue Recognition on Long-Term Contracts — Revenues and profits on long-term fixed-price contracts
are recorded under the percentage-of-completion method. Progress towards completion is measured using
physical completion of individual 1asks for all contracts with a value of $5,000 or greater. Progress toward
completion of fixed-priced contracts with a value less than $5,000 is measured using the cosi-to-cost method.

Revenues and profits on cost-reimbursable contracts are recorded as the services are rendered based on
the estimated revenue per man-hour, including any incentives assessed as probable. We include flow-through
costs consisting of matenals. equipment or subcontractor services as revenue on cost-reimbursable contracts
when we are responsible for the engineering specifications and procurement or procurement services for such
TOSIS,

Contracts in process are stated a1 cost, increased for profits recorded on the completed effort or decreased
for estimated losses, less billings 10 the customer and progress payments on uncompleted coniracts.

We have numerous contracts that are in vatious stages of completion, Such contracts require estimates to
determine the extent of revenue and profit recognition. These estimates may be revised from time 10 time as
additional information becomes available. In accordance with the accounting and disclosure requirements of
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position (“SOP™) 81-1, “Accounting for
Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts” and Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS") No. 154, “Accountiag Changes and Error Corrections — a replacement of
APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Siatement No. 3, we review all of our material contracts monthly and revise
our estimates as appropriate. These estimate revisions, which include both increases and decreases in estimated
profit, result from events such us earning project incentive bonuses or the incurrence or forecasted incurrence
of contractual liquidated damages for performance or schedule issues, executing services and purchasing third-
party materials and equipment at costs differing from those previously estimaled and testing of completed
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FOSTER WHEELER LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(amounts in thousands of dollars, except share data and per share amounts)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)

facilities which, in tumn, eliminates or confirms completion and warranty-related costs. Project incentives arc
recognized when it is probable they will be eamed. Project incentives are frequently tied to cost, schedule
and/or safety targets and, therefore, tend to be earned late in a project’s life cycle. There were 38, 29 and 45
separate projects that had final estimated profit revisions exceeding $1,000 in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively. These changes in final estimated profits resulted in a net increase/(decrease) 1o contract
profit of $35,150, $(5,670) and $99,555 in fiscal years 2007. 2006 and 2005, respectively. Please see Note 17
for further information related to changes in final estimated profits.

Claims are amounts in excess of the agreed contract price (or amounts not included in the original
contract price) that we seek to collect from customers or others for delays, errors in specifications and designs,
contract terminations, disputed or unapproved change orders as to both scope and price or ather causes of
unanticipated additional costs. We record claims in accordance with paragraph 65 of SOP 81-4, which states
that recognition of amounts as additional contract revenue refated to claims is appropriate only if it is probable
that the claims will result in additional contract revenue and if the amount can be refiably estimated. Those
two requirements are satisfied by the existence of all of the following conditions: the contract or other
evidence provides a legal basis for the claim; additional costs are caused by circumstances that were
unforeseen at the contract date and are not the result of deficiencies in our performance; costs associated with
the claim are identifiable or otherwise determinable and are reasonable in view of the work performed; and the
evidence supporting the claim is objective and verifiable. If such requirements are met, revenue from a claim
may be recorded only 1o the extent that contract cosls relating o the claim have been incurred. Cosis
attributable to claims are treated as costs of contract performance as incurred and are recorded in contracts in
process. As of December 28, 2007, our consolidated financial statements assumed recovery of commercial
claims of $22.200, of which $3,700 was yet to be expended. Similarly, as of December 29, 2006, our
consolidated financial statements assumed recovery of commercial claims from customers of $3,900, all of
which was recorded on our consolidated balance sheet.

In cerain circumstances, we may defer pre-contract costs when it is probable that these costs will be
recovered under a future contract. Such deferred costs would then be included in contract costs upon execution
of the anticipated contract. We had no deferred pre-contract costs as of December 28, 2007 or December 29,
2006.

Certain special-purpose subsidiaries in our global power business group are reimbursed by customers for
their costs, including amounts related to principal repayments of non-recourse project debt, for building and
operating certain facilities over the lives of the cosresponding service contracts.

Cash and Cash Equivalents — Cash and cash equivalents include highly Jiquid short-term investments
with original maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents of $800,036 and $490.934 were
maintained by our foreign subsidiaries as of December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006, respectively. These
subsidiaries require a portion of these funds to support their liquidity and working capital needs, as well as to
comply with required minimum capitalization and conractual restrictions. Accordingly, a portion of these
funds may not be readily available for repatriation to U.S. entities.

Trade Accounts Receivable — Trade accounts receivable represent amounts billed to customers. In
accordance with terms of long-term contracts, our customers may withhold centain percentages of such billings
unti! completion and acceptance of the work performed. Final payments of all such amounts withheld might
not be received within a one-year period. In conformity with industry practice, however, the full amount of
accounts receivable, including such amounts withheld, are included in current assels on the consolidated
balance sheet.
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FOSTER WHEELER LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(amounts in thousands of dollars, except share data and per share amounts)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (Continned)

Trade accounts receivable are continually evaluated for collectibility. Provisions are established on a
project-specific basis when there is an issue associated with the client’s ability 10 make payments or there are
circumstances where the client is not making payment due 1o coniractual issues.

Contracis in Process and Bitlings in Excess of Costs and Estimared Earnings on Uncompleted Contracts
— Under long-term contracts, amounts recorded in contracts in process and billings in excess of costs and
estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts may not be realized or paid, respectively, within a one-year
period. In conformity with industry practice, however, the full amount of contracts in process and billings in
excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts is included in current assets and current
liabilities on the consolidated balunce sheet, respectively.

Inveniories — Inventories, principally materials and supplies, are stated at the lower of cost or market,
determined primarily on the average-cost method. We had inventories of $15.861 and $9,466 as of
December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006. respectively. Such amounts are recorded within other current
assets on the consolidated balance sheet.

Land, Buildings and Equipment — Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis using estimated lives
ranging from 10 1o 50 years for buildings and from 3 to 35 years for equipment. Expenditures for maintenance
and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Renewals and betterments are capitalized. Upon retirement or
other disposition of fixed assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation ase removed from the accounts
and the resulting gains or losses, if any, are reflected in earnings.

Restricted Cash — The following table details the restricted cash held:

December 28, 2007 December 29, 2006
Foreign Domestic Totul Foreign Domestic Total

Held by special-purpose entities and

restricted for debt service payments . ... $ 5766 §$ 257 § 6023 § 5236 $252 $ 5,488
Held to collateralize letters of credit and

bank guarantees. .. ................ 6.800 — 6,800 5,345 — 5,345
Client funds held inescrow . ........... 6,787 1,327 8,114 7,622 625 8,247
Total. . ... ... ., $19,353 $1,584 $20937 $18,203 $877 $19.080

Investments in and Advances 1o Uncansolidated Affitiates —— We use the equity method of accounting for
affiliates in which our investment ownership ranges from 20% 10 50% unless significant economic or
governance considerations indicate that we are unable 10 exert significant influence in which case the cost
method is used, The equity method is also used for affiliates in which our investment ownership is greater
than 50% but we do not have a controlling interest. Currently, all of our significant investments in affiliates
that are not consolidated are recorded using the equity method. Affiliates in which our investment ownership
is less than 20% are carried at cost.

Intangible Assers — Intangible assels consist principally of goedwill. trademarks and patents. Goodwill is
allocated to our reporting units on a relative fair value basis at the time of the original purchase price
allocation. Patents and trademarks are amortized on a straight-line basis over periods of 11 1o 40 years.

We test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit leve! as defined in SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets.” This test is a two-step process. The first step of the goodwill impairment test, used
to identify potential impairment, compares the fair value of the reporting umit with its carrying amount,
including goodwill. 1If the fair value, which is estimated based on discounted future cash flows, exceeds the
carrying amount, goodwill is not considered impaired. If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value, the
second step must be performed to measure the amount of the impairment loss, if any. The second step
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FOSTER WHEELER LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(amounts in thousands of dollars, except share data and per share amounts)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)

compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. In
the fourth quarter of each year, we evaluate goodwill at each reporting unit to assess recoverability, and
impairments, if any. are recognized in earnings. An impairment loss would be recognized in an amount equal
to the excess of the carrying amount of the goodwill over the implied fair value of the goodwill. SFAS No. 142
also requires that intangible assets with determinable useful lives be amortized over their respective estimated
useful lives and reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment
or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.”

As of December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006, we had goodwilt of $53,345 and $51.573, respectively.
The increase in goodwill of $1,772 resulted from an increase of $4,173 related to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates; partially offset by a goodwill impairment charge of $2,401 related to winding down the
operations of one of our domestic reporting units. All of the goodwill is related to our global power business
group. In 2007, the fair value of ali other reporting units exceeded the carrying amounts except for the
domestic reporting unit noted above.

As described further in Note 2, in February 2007, we acquired a Finnish company that owns patented
coal flow measuring technology. In conjunction with the acquisition, we recorded $1.,463 of identifiable
intangible assets. We had 1otal unamortized identifiable intangible assets of $61.190 and $62,004 as of
December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006, respectively. The following table details amounts relating 10 those
assets:

December 28, 2007 December 29, 2006
Gross Net Gruss Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Corrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Patents . . .o v e $ 39,375 $(21,026) $18,349  $37,185 $(19,206) 517979
Trademarks. . . . ... ...t 63,344 (20,503) 42,841 62,699 (18,674) 44,025
Total. . .......cci i $102.719 $(41,529)  $61,190 $99.884 $(37.880) $62.004

Amortization expense reluted to patents and trademarks, which is recorded within cost of operating
revenues on the consolidated stalement of operations, totaled $3,649, $3,581 and $3,571 for fiscal years 2007,
2006 and 2008, respectively. Amortization expense is expected to approximate $3.600 each year in the next
five years,

Income Taxes — Deferred 1ax assets/liabilities are established for the difference between the financial
reporting and income tax bases of assets and liabilities, as well as for operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuvation allowance when it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment.

We do not record a provision for U.S. federal income taxes on foreign subsidiary eurnings if we expect
such earnings to be permanently reinvested outside the United States. Unremitted camings of foreign
subsidiarics, that have been. or are intended to be, permanenily reinvested (and for which no federal income
tax has been provided) aggregated $179.060 as of December 28, 2007. [t is not practicable to estimate the
additional tax that would be incurred, if any, if these amounts were repatriated.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation
of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes,” which addresses the determination of whether tax
benefits claimed or expected to be claimed on a tax return should be recorded in the financial statements.
Under FIN 48, we recognize the tax benefit from an uncentain tax position only if it is more Jikely than not
that the tax position will be sustained on cxamination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits
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of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position are based on the
largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon vitimate seulement. FIN 48
also provides guidance on the derecognition of the benefit of an uncertain tax position, classification of the
unrecognized tax benefits in the balance sheet, accounting for and classification of interest and penalties on
income tax uncertainties, accounting in interim periods and disclosures.

We recognize interest accrued on the unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and penalties on the
unrecognized 1ax benefits in other deductions on our consolidated statement of operations.

Foreign Currency — The functional currency of our foreign operations is the local currency of their
country of domicile. Assels and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at period-
end exchange rates with the resulting translation adjustment recorded as a separate component within
accumulated other comprehensive loss. Income and expense accounts and cash flows are translated at
weighted-average exchange rates for the period. Transaction gains and losses that arise from exchange rate
fluctuations on transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency are included in other
income and other expense, respectively. Foreign currency transaction losses for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and
2005 were as follows:

For the Year Ended
December 28, December 29, December 30,

2007 2006 2005
Foreign currency transaction losses. ........ ... $2,640) $(1.719) $(2,705)
Foreign currency transaction losses, netoftax ............... $(1,716) 3.7 $(1.758)

Inserest Rate Risk — We use interest rate swap contracts to manage interest rate risk associated with some
of our variabie rate special-purpose limited recourse project debt. Certain of our affiliates in which we have an
equity inierest also use interest rate swap contracts 10 manage interest rate risk associated with their limited
recourse project debt. Upon entering into the swap contracts, we designate the interest rate swaps as cash flow
hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”
We assess at inception, and on an ongoing basis, whether the interest rate swaps are highly effective in
offsening changes in the cash flows of the project debt. Consequently, we record the fair value of our interest
rate swap contracts in our consolidated balance sheet at each balance sheet date. Changes i the fair value of
the interest rate swap conlracts are recorded as a component of other comprehensive income on our
consolidated statement of comprehensive income/(loss). As of December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006, we
had net gains on the swap contracts of $1,673 and $342, respectively, which were recorded net of tax of $635
and $203, respectively, and were included in accumulated other comprehensive loss on the consolidated
balance sheet.

Restrictions on Shareholders’ Dividends — We have not declared or paid a cash dividend since July 2001
and we do not have any plans to declare or pay any cash dividends. Our current credit agreement contains
limitations on cash dividend payments.

Eamings per Common Share — Basic and diluted earnings/(loss} per common share are computed using
net income/(loss) attributable to common shareholders rather than total net income. As described further in
Note 13, we completed two common share purchase warrant offer transactions in January 2006, which
increased the number of common shares delivered upon the exercise of our Class A and Class B warrants
during the offer period. We issued 747,896 additional common shares as a result of the warrant offers. Since
the warrant hotders were not necessarily common shareholders prior to the warrant offers, the issuance of the
additional shares was not considered a pro rata common share dividend to common shareholders. Rather, the
fair value of the additional shares was treated as a preferential distribution to a sub-set of common
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shareholders. Accordingly, we were required to reduce net income attributable to the common shareholders by
the fair value of the additional common shares when calculating earnings per commen share for fiscal year
2006. The fair value of the additional shares issued was $19,445, which was determined using the common
share price at the time of issuance of the shares.

Basic earnings/(loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income/(loss) attributable to common
shareholders by the weighted-average number of comimon shares outstanding during the reponing period,
excluding non-vested restricted shares of 165,960, 659,262 and 2,222,362 as of December 28, 2007,

December 29, 2006 and December 30, 2005, respectively. Resiricted shares and restricted share units
(collectively, “restricted awards”) are included in the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
when such shares vest.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income/(loss) altributable 1o
common shareholders by the combination of the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
during the reporting period and the impact of dilutive securities, if any, such as outstanding stock options,
warrants to purchase common shares and the non-vested portion of restricted awards to the extent such
securities are dilutive.

In profitable periods, outstanding stock options and warrants have 2 dilutive effect under the treasury
stock method when our average common share price for the period exceeds the assumed proceeds from the
exercise of the warrant or option. The assumed proceeds include the exercise price, compensation cost, if any,
for future service that has not yet been recognized in the consolidated statement of operations, and any tax
benefits that would be recorded in paid-in capital when the option or warrant is exercised. Under the treasury
stock method, the assumed proceeds are assumed to be used to repurchase common shares in the current
period. The dilutive impact of the non-vested portion of restricted awards is determined using the treasury
stock method, but the proceeds include only the unrecognized compensation cost and tax benefits as assumed
proceeds. In loss periods, basic and diluted loss per common share is identical since the effect of potentially
dilutive securities is antidilutive and therefore excluded from the calculations.
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The computations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per common share were as follows:
For the Year Ended
December 28, December 29, December 30,
2007 2006 2005

Net income/(loss) ..o it e e $ 393874 § 261984 § (i109.749)

Fair value of additional shares issued as part of warrant _
(41 1 o —_ (19,445) —

Net income/(loss) altributable to common shareholders. . . . .. $ 393874 § 242,539 § (109,749

Basic eamings/(loss) per common share:

Net income/(loss) altributable to common shareholders. . . . .. $ 393874 & 242539 § (109,749)
Weighted-average number of common shares outsianding for

basic earnings/(loss) per common share . .............. 141,661,046 132,996,384 93,140,176
Basic earnings/(loss) per common share . . ............... 3 278 §% 1.82 % (1.18)
Diluted eamings/(loss) per common share:
Net income/(loss) attributable 10 common shareholders. .. ... $ 3903874 $ 242539 % (109,749)
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for

basic eamings/(loss) per common share ............... 141,601,046 132,996,384 93,140,176

! Effect of dilutive securities:

Options to purchase common shares. . ..............-. 1,082,254 2,997,096 —

Warrants to purchase common shares . ................ 1,790,072 3,443,376 —

Non-vested portion of restricted awards . .............. 214,850 1,781,120 —
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for

diluted earnings/(loss) per common share .. . ........... 144,748,222 141,217,976 93,140,176
Diluted earnings/(loss) per common share .. ............. b 272§ 172 § (1.18)
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The following table summarizes the common share equivalent of potentially dilutive securities that have
been excluded from the denominator used in the calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) per common share due
to their antidilutive cffect:

For the Year Ended

December 18, December 29, December 30,
2007 2006 2005

Common shares issuable under outstanding options not included
in the computation of diluted earnings/(loss) per common share
because the assumed proceeds were greater than our average
common share price for the period ...................... 347,698 1,372,582 1,166,770

Common shares issuable under outstanding options net included
in the computation of diluted earnings/(loss) per common share

because of their antidilutiveeffect. .. ........ oot — 5,401,250

Warrants to purchase common shares not included in the
computation of diluted carnings/(loss) per common share due 10
their antidilutive effect ... ... .. .. .. o i

o

18,936,200

Non-vested portion of restricted awards not included in the
computation of diluted carnings/(loss) per common share due to
their antidilutiveeffect . .. ... ... . it — — 3,379,458

Share-Based Compensation Plans — Our share-based compensation plans are described in Note 12. We
adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” on December 31, 2005, the first day of
fiscal year 2006, using the modified prospeciive transition method. Under this method, share-based compensa-
tion expense recognized in the consolidated staicment of operations for fiscal years 2007 and 2006 includes
compensation expense for all share-based payments granted prior to, but not yet vested as of, December 31,
2005, based on the grant date fair valuc originally estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No, 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” We recognize compensation expense for all share-based payment
awards granted afier December 30, 2005 based on the grant dute fair value estimated in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 123R. Because we clected 10 use the modificd prospective transition method, results
for periods prior 1o fiscal year 2006 have not been restated.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, share-based employec compensation expense related to stock
options was not recognized in the consolidated statement of operations if the exercise price of the option was
ar lcast equal 1o our common share price on the grant date, in accordance with the measurement and
recognition provisions of Accounting Principles Board (“APB™) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees,” as permitted by SFAS No. 123. As a result, the recognition of share-based compensation
expense was generally limited to the expense attributed to restricted awards. In accordance with SFAS No. 123
and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure,” we provided
pro forma net income or loss and net earnings of loss per common share disclosures for each pertod prior to
the adoption of SFAS No. 123R as if we had applied the fair value method in measuring compensation
expense for all of our share-based compensation plans, including stock options. Had compensalion costs for
our stock-based compensation plans been accounted for using the fair value method of accounting prescribed
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by SFAS No, 123, our net loss attributable to common shareholders and our basic and diluted loss per
common share for fiscal year 2005 would have been as follows:

For the Year Ended

December 30,
2005

Net loss aitributable to common shareholders —as reported . . . ............ e $(109,749)
Add: Total share-based employee compensation expense determined under intrinsic value

based method for awards and included within reported net loss, net of 3¢ taxes. ... .... 150
Deduct: Total share-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value

based method for awards, netof taxes of $186 .. .. ....... .. .. . il i, {6,740)
Net loss attributable to common shareholders —proforma. .. ...................... $(116,339)
Loss per common share — basic and diluted:
AS TEPOMEd . . ot ittt e e e e $ (118
Pro fOrma . . .. e e e e 5 (.25

We estimate the fair value of each option award on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model. We then recognize the grant date fair value of each oplion as compensation expense ratably
using the straight-line attribution method over the service period (gencrally the vesting period). The Black-
Scholes model incorporates the following assumptions.

 Expected volatility — we estimate the volatility of our common share price at the date of grant using
historical volatility adjusted for periods of unusual stock price activity.

¢ Expected term — we estimate the expected term of options granted to our chief executive officer based
on a combination of vesting schedules, contractual life of the option, past history and estimates of
future exercise behavior patterns as outlined in SFAS No. 123R. For grants to other employees and the
_remaining directors, we estimate the expected term using the “simplified” method, as outlined in Staff
Accounting Builetin No. 107, “Topic 14: Share-Based Payment.”

« Risk-free interest rale — we estimate the risk-free interest rate using the U.S. Treasury yield curve for
periods equal to the expected term of the options in effect at the time of grant.

* Dividends -— we use an expected dividend yield of zero because we have not declared or paid a cash
dividend since July 2001 and we do not have any plans to declare or pay any cash dividends.

We used the following weighted-average assumptions to estimate the fair value of the options granted for
the periods indicated:

For the Year Ended
December 28,  December 29,  December 30, !
2007

2006 2005
Expected volatility. .. .......... .. ..., 449 44% 50%
Expectedterm. ........ ... ... it 3.5 years 4.1 years 3.1 years
Risk-free interestrate .. ........................ 3.63% 4.81% 4.23%
Expected dividend yield. ... ..................... 0% 0% 0%

We estimate the fair value of restricted awards using the market price of our common shares on the date
of grant. We then recognize the fair value of each restricted award as compensation cost ratably using the
straight-line attribution method over the service period (generally the vesting period).
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We estimate pre-vesting forfeitures at the time of grant using a combination of historical data and
demographic characteristics, and we revise those eslimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ
from those estimates. We record share-based compensation expense only for those awards that are expected 10
vest,

Recent Accounting Developments — In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements.” SFAS No. 157 defines fair value. establishes a framework for measuring fair value in
generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. In February
2008, the FASB issued a partial one-year deferral of SFAS No. 157 for nonfinancial assels and Liabilities that
are only subject to fair value measurement on a non-recurring basis. The standard is effective for financial
assets and liabitities, as well as for any other asscts and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair
value on a recumring basis in financial statements for all financial statements issued with fiscul years beginning
after November |5, 2007. We do not expect our adoption of this new standard to have a material impact on
our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

in February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities, including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115.” SFAS No. 15% permils entities 1o
choose 1o measure at fair value many financial instruments and certain other assets and liabilities that are not
curvently required io be measured at faic value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value
option has been clected are reported in eamings. SFAS No. 159 does not affect any exisling accounting
literature that requires certain assets and liabilities to be carried at fair value. SFAS No. 159 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We do not expect 1o elect the fair value option provided in
this new standard.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations.”
SFAS No. 141R replaces SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations” and changes how business acquisitions are
accounted. SFAS No. 141R requires the acquiring entity in a business combination to recognize all (and only)
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction and establishes the acquisition-date fair value as
the measurement objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Centain
provisions of this standard will, ameng other things, impact the determination of acquisition-date fair value of
consideration paid in a business combination (including contingent consideration); exclude transaction cosls
from acquisition accounting; and change accounting practices for acquired contingencies, acquisition-related
restructuring costs, in-process research and development, indemnification assets, and tax benefits, Most of the
provisions of SFAS No. 141R apply prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is
on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Early
adoption is not permitted. We are currently assessing the impact that SFAS No. 141R may have on our
financial position, resulis of operations and cash flows.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No, 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51." SFAS No. 160, amends the accounting and reporting standards
for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary (often referred to as “minority interest”) and for the
deconsolidation of a subsidiary. Under SFAS No. 160, the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is reported as
equity in the parent company’s consolidated financial statements. SFAS Ne. 160 also requires that the parent
company’s consolidated statement of operations include both the parent and noncontrolling interest share of
the subsidiary’s statement of operations. Formerly, the noncontrolling interest share was shown as a reduction
of income on the parent’s consolidated statemem of operations. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years, and
interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008. SFAS No. 160 is to be
applied prospectively as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which this statement is initially applied;
however, presentation and disclosure requirements shali be applied retrospectively for all periods presented.
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We are currently assessing the impact that SFAS No. 160 may have on our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

2. Business Combinations

On April 7, 2006, we completed the purchase of the remaining 51% interest in MF Power, a company
that was 49% owned by us prior 1o the acquisition. Subsequent to the acquisition, we own 100% of the equity
interests of MF Power, which was renamed FW Power S.r.l. (“FW Power"). FW Power is dedicated (0 the
development, construction and operation of electric power generating wind farm projects in Italy. In
accordance with the terms of the purchase agreement, we were required to pay a purchase price of up to
€16.393, of which €12,580 (approximately $15,200 at the exchange rate in effect at the time of paymemt) was
paid at closing and the final payment of €3,440 (approximately $4,800 at the exchange rate in effect at the
time of payment) was paid in September 2007 upon start of construction of the last of three wind farms being
developed by FW Pawer as part of the purchase contract with the seller, FW Power is included within our
global engineering and construction business segment.

In February 2007, we purchased the stock of a Finnish company that owns patented coal flow measuring
technology. The purchase price, net of cash acquired was €1,112 (approximately $1,473 at the exchange rate
in effect at the time of the acquisition). The purchase price allocation and pro forma financial information for
this acquisition was not material to our consolidated financial statements. This company is included within our
global power business segment. .

In February 2008, we acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of a biopharmaceutical engineering
company, based in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, for an acquisition cost of $12,781 in cash, subject to certain
post-closing adjustments. The acquisition agreement allows for an eamout payment of up to an addirional
$8,700 to be paid if certain milestones are met over the following three years. This company provides design,
engineering, manufacture, installation, validation and startup/commissioning services to the life science
industry. The purchase price allocation and pro forma information for this acquisition are not material to our
consolidated financial statements. This company will be included within our global engineering and construc-
tion business segment.
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3. Accounts and Notes Receivable

The following table shows the components of trade accounts and notes receivable:

December 28, December 29,
2007 2006

From long-term contracts:
Amounts billed due withinone year. .. ....... ... ... .. citiiirainnn. $543,290 $467,268

Billed retention:
Estimated to be due in:

2007 . o e e e e e e e s — 10,082
2008 . . . e e et 16,557 1,962
2000 . . e et e 4,141 5,600
7.+ 4 1 0 19,749 3,481
.1 ) 15 1 SN 2,068 —
.21 1 A U 1,000 —
Total billed retention ... ... oo ie it e e s 43,515 21,125
Total receivables from long-term contracts. . ... ...co oo e 591,805 488,393
Other trade zccounts and notes receivable . . ... ... .. .. .. .o 1,476 3,274
Trade accounts and notes receivable, gross . ... .o iv i nn 593,281 491,667
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts . .. ... .. it (12,398) (7.848)
Trade accounts and notes receivable, NEL . .. ... .. o vt er s $580,883 $483,819
The following table shows the components of non-trade accounts and notes receivable: |
December 28, December 29, ]
2007 2006
Asbestos insurance receivable - . .. . e e $50,076 $49,191
Foreign refundable value-added tax . ... ........... .. o i 25,07 13,804
(81 172 G U 23,561 20,502
Other accounts and notes receivable ... .. .. . . i i e $98,708 $83,497

4. Land, Buildings and Equipment

Land, buildings and equipment are stated at cost and are set forth below:
December 28,  December 29,

1007 1006
Land and land improvements .. .............. ..ottt § 25548 $ 23,394
BUildings . ... ..ot i e e s 154,753 142,931
Fumniture, fixtures and equipment ... ... .. it it e 541,091 490,700
CONSLIUCTION [N PIOBIBSS . . . . - o v ot v v vt e ea s ia e ooty asssn 13,007 783
Land, buildings and equipment, Bross . ... ... ..ccuivrvnran e crenaannnas 734,399 657,808
Less: accumulated depreciation . ... ... .. . e e {396,914) {355,320)

Land, buildings and equipment, BEL. .. ... . ... ini i ia e $ 337485 $ 302,488
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4. Land, Buildings and Equipment — (Confinued)

Depreciation expense for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $34,576, $26,191 and $23,982,
respectively.

We own certain office and manufacturing facilities in Finland that contain asbestos. We are required to
remove the asbestos from such facilities if such facilitics are significantly renovated or demolished. At present,
there are no plans to undertake a major renovation that would require the removal of the asbestos or the
demolition of the facilities. We do not have sufficient information to estimate the fair value of the asset
retirement cbligation because the settlement date or the range of polential settlement dates has not been
specified and information is not currently available to apply an expected present value technique. We will
recognize a liability in the period in which sufficient information is available to reasonably estimate the fair
value of the asset retirement obligation,

5. Equity Interests

We own non-controlling equily interests in two electric power generation projects, one waste-10-energy
project and one wind farm project in ltaly and in a refinery/electric power generation project in Chile. The
two electric power generation projects are each 42% owned by us, the waste-to-energy project is 39% owned
by us and the wind farm project is 50% owned by us. The project in Chile is 85% owned by us; however, we
do not have a controlling interest in the Chilean project as a result of panticipating righis held by the minornity
shareholder. The following is summarized financial information for the entities (each as a whole) in which we
have an equity interest:

December 18, 2007 December 29, 2006
Twallan Chilean Twalian Chitean
Projects Project Projects Project
Balance Sheet Data:
CUITENE @SSELS . . v v ottt i v n v ine s atnecn e aasenas $294482 $ 49,353 §$199,606 $ 27,013
Other assets (primarily buildings and equipment) . ........ 656,796 146,665 536,543 156,236
Current liabilities. . . ... ... it e i e e 72,009 21.044 42,134 18,226
Other liabilities (primarily long-termdebt) . .. ........... 576,545 81,696 470,618 88,836
NEL ASSBIS . . ittt it se c e ettt 302,724 93,278 223,397 76,187
For the Year Ended
December 28, 2007 December 29, 2006 December 30, 2005 ¢

Tlian Chilean 1talian Chilean Talian Chilean
Projects Project Projects Project Projects Project

Income Statement Data:

Total revepues . ................. $319.,611 $70,427 $304,786 $43,462 $293.588 $39,659
Grossprofit .. .................. 75,549 42,234 72,070 21,198 65.419 19,725
Income before income taxes ........ 59,402 35,391 69,096 15,012 52,646 10,031
Netearnings............c.c..-.. 45,684 30,258 41,365 16,025 46,070 7.782

Our share of equity in the net earnings of these partially-owned affiliates, which are recorded within other
income on our consolidated statemnent of operations, totaled $36,445, $26,640 and $24,129 for fiscal years
2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively. In the third quarter of 2006, the majority owners of certain of the halian
projects sold their interests to another third-party. Prior to this sale, our share of equity in the net carnings of
these projects was reported on a pretax basis in other income and the associated taxes were reporied in the
provision for income taxes because we and the other partners elected pass-through taxation treatment under
local taw. As a direct result of the ownership change arising from the sale, the subject entities are now
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5. Equity Interests - (Continued)

precluded from electing pass-through taxation treatment. As a result, commencing in fiscal year 2006, our
share of equity in the after-tax earnings of these projects is reported in other income. This change reduced
other income and the provision for taxes by $5,000 and $8,600 in fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Our investment in these equity affiliates, which is recorded within investments in and advances to
unconsolidated affiliates on our consolidated balance sheet, totaled $190,887 and $150,752 as of December 28,
2007 and December 29, 2006, respectively. Distributions of $23,784, $18,149 and $18.272 were received
during fisca) years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

We have guaranteed certain performance obligations of the Chilean project. We have a contingent
obligation, which is measured annually based on the operating results of the Chilean project for the preceding
year. We did not have a current payment obligation under this guarantee as of December 28, 2007,

We also have a guarantee that supports the obligations of our subsidiary under the Chilean project’s
operations and maintenance agreement. The guarantee is limited to $20,000 over the life of the operations and
maintenance agreement, which extends through 2016. No amounts have ever been paid under the guaraniee.

In addition, we have provided a $10,000 debt service reserve letter of credit to cover debt service
payments in the event that the Chilean project does not generate sufficient cash flows to make such payments.
We are required to maintain the debt service reserve lenter of credit during the term of the Chilean project’s
debt, which matures in 2014. As of December 28, 2007, no amounts have ever been drawn under this letter of
credit.

Under the Chilean project's operations and maintenance agreement, our subsidiary provides services for
the management, operation and maintenance of the refinery/electric power generation facility. Our annual
service fees for these services were $8,309, $8,276 and $7,511 for fiscal years 2007, 20606 and 2005,
respectively, and were recorded in operating revenucs on our consolidated statement of operations. We had a
receivable from our partially-owned affiliate in Chile of $6,168 and $3,199 recerded in trade accounts and
notes receivable on our consolidated batance sheet as of December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006,
respectively.

Our share of the undistributed retained eamings of our equity investees amounted to $87,206 and $57,666
as of December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006, respectively.

6. Equity-for-Debt Exchanges

In Apri! 2006, we consummated an offer to exchange 2,555,800 of our common shares for $50,000 of
outstanding aggregate principal amount of our 2011 senior notes. The exchange reduced the carrying value of
our 2011 senior notes by $51,648, representing the aggregate principal amount plus the corvesponding
premium and improved our shareholders’ equity/(deficit) by $50,567. The exchange resulied in a $58,763
increase in common stock and paid-in capital, which was partially offset by an $8,196 charge to income. The
pretax charge, which was substantially non-cash, related primarily to the difference between the carrying value
of the 2011 senior notes, including unpaid accrued interest, and the market price of the common shares on the
closing date of the exchange.

In November 2005, we completed an offer 1o exchange 12,053,962 of our common shares for $150,003
of outstanding aggregate principal amount of our 2011 senior notes. The exchange reduced the camrying value
of our 2011 senior notes by $155,299, representing the aggregate principal amount plus the corresponding
premium associated with the exchanged notes, and improved our sharcholders’ equity/(deficit) by $151,076.
The exchange resulted in a $167,909 increase in common stock and paid-in capital, which was partially offset
by a $16,833 charge to income. The pretax charge, which was substantially non-cash, related primarily to the
difference between the carrying value of the 2011 senior notes, including unpaid accrued interest, and the
market price of the common shares on the closing date of the exchange. Concurrent with the exchange offer,
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6. Equity-for-Debt Exchanges — (Continued)

we also solicited consents from holders of the outstanding 2011 senior notes to amend the governing indenture
to eliminate substantially all of the restrictive operating and financial covenants and certain events of default
contained therein.

In August 2005, we completed an offer o exchange our common shares for a portion of our trust
preferred securities. Trust preferred securities of 2,608,548 were tendered as part of the exchange, resulting in
the issuance of 11,268,928 common shares. The exchange reduced the aggregate liquidation amount of our
existing trust preferred securities by $65,214, reduced the amount of deferred accrued interest by $26,052 and
improved our shareholders’ equity/(deficit) by $87,571. The exchange resulted in an increase to common stock
and paid-in capital totaling $129,084, which was partially offset by a $41,513 charge to income. The pretax
charge, which was substantially non-cash, related primarily to the difference between the carrying value of the
trust preferred securities, including deferred accrued interest, and the market price of the common shares on
the closing date of the exchange,

7. Long-term Debt

The following table shows the components of our long-term debt:

December 28, 2007 December 29, 2006
Current  Long-term Total Current Long-term Total
Capital Lease Obligations . ............... $ 1,318 $ 67,095 $ 68413 § 1,537 § 65.319 $ 66,856
Special-Purpose Limited Recourse Project
Debt:
Camden County Energy Recovery
ASSOCIAIES & oo it e e e 9,648 31,779 41427 9360 41427 50,787
FW POWer ... ottt iee e e mas —  4504) 45,041 4,881 24,862 29,743
Energia Holdings, LLC ................ 4,144 21,101 25245 3,613 25,245 28,858
Subordinated Robbins Facility Exit Funding
Obligations:
1999C Bonds at 7.25% interest, due
October 15,2009 .. ................. 18 19 37 16 37 53
1999C Bonds at 7.25% interest, due
October 15,2024 ., . ................. — 20,491 20,491 — 20491 20,491
1999D Accretion Bonds at 7% interest, due
October 15,2009 . .................. — 286 286 —_ 267 267
Intermediate Term Loans in China at 7.02%
IMRTES . o v ettt it e e 4,107 —_ 4,107 —_ 3,844 3,844
Convertible Subordinated Notes at 6.50%
interest, due June 1,2007. .............. — — — 2070 — 2,070
Other. . ............... e 133 166 299 — — —
Total . .. e et $19368 $185978 §205,346 $21477 $181492 $202,969

Domesiic Senior Credit Agreement — In October 2006, we executed a five-year domestic senior credit
agreement to be used for our domestic and foreign operations. [n May 2007, we executed an amendment to
our domestic senior credit agreement to increase the facility by $100,000 to $450,000, to reduce the pricing on
a pontion of the letters of credit issued under the facility and to restore a provision which permits future
incremental increases of up to $100,000 in total availability under the facility. We can issue up to $450,000
under the letter of credit facility. A portion of the letters of credit issued under the domestic senior credit
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7. Long-term Debt — (Continued)

agreement have performance pricing that is decreased (or increased) as a result of improvements (or
reductions) in the credit rating of the domestic senior credit agreement as reported by Moody's Investors
Service and/or Standard & Poor’s (“S&P"). We also have the option 1o use up to $100,000 of the $450,000 for
revolving borrowings at a rate equal to adjusted LIBOR plus 1.50%, subject also to the performance pricing
noted above. As a result of the improvement in our S&P credit rating in March 2007, we have achieved the
lowest possible pricing under the performance pricing provisions of our domestic senior credit agreement.

We paid $5,710 in fees and expenses in conjunction with the execution of our domestic senior credit
agreement in the fourth quanier of 2006. Such fees and expenses are being amontized to expense over the five-
year term of the agreement, commencing in the fourth quarter of 2006.

The assets and/or stock of certain of our domestic and foreign subsidiaries collateralize our obligations
under our domestic senior credit agreement, Our domestic senior credit agreement contains various customary
restrictive covenants that generally limit our ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness or
guarantees, create liens or other encumbrances on property, sell or transfer certain property and thereafter rent
or lease such property for substantially the same purposes as the property sold or transferred, enter into a
merger or similar transaction, make investments, declare dividends or make other restricted payments, enter
into agreements with affiliates that are not on an arms’ length basis, enter into any agreement that limits our
ability to create liens or the ability of a subsidiary 1o pay dividends, engage in any new lines of business, with
respect to Foster Wheeler Lid., change Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s fiscal year or. with respect to Foster Wheeler
Ltd. and one of our holding company subsidiaries, directly acquire ownership of the operating assets used to
conduct any business.

In addition, our domestic senior credit agreement contains financial covenants requiring us not to exceed
a total leverage ratio, which compares total indebtedness to EBITDA, and to maintain a minimum interest
coverage ratio, which compares EBITDA to intercst expense. All such terms are defined in our domestic
senior credit agreement. The agreement also limits the aggregate amount of capital expenditures in any single
fiscal year to $40,000, subject to certain exceptions. We must be in compliance with the total leverage ratio at
all times, while the interest coverage ratio is measured quanerly. We are in compliance with all financial
covenants and other provisions of our domestic senior credit agreement.

We had $245,765 and $189,036 of letters of credit outstanding under this agreement as of December 28,
2007 and December 29, 2006, respectively. The letter of credit fees currently range from 1.50% to 1.60% of
the outstanding amount, excluding a fronting fee of 0.125% per annum, There were no funded borrowings
under this agreement as of December 28, 2007 or December 29, 2006.

Prior Domestic Senior Credit Agreement — In March 2005, we entered into a five-year $250,000 senior
credit agreement to be used for our domestic and foreign operations. We voluntarily replaced this senior credit
agreement in October 2006. In fiscal year 2006, we recorded a charge of $14,955 in connection with the
termination of this agreement.

Capital Lease Obligations — We have entered into a series of capital lease obligations, primarily for
office buildings. Assets under capital lease obligations are summarized as foltows:

December 28, December 29,
2006

2007
Buildings and improveMENIS . . ... v it ie ot ¥ 48,565 $45,650
Less: accumulated amOrtiZation. . . . v v st v e s i o nn et eme e (11,462) (9,272)
Net assets under capital lense obligations. . ... ...... .. .. .. o il $37,103 $36,378
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The following are the minimum lease payments to be made in each of the years indicated for our capital
lease obligations as of December 28, 2007:

Fiscal year:

200, L e e e e e e e e 3 8564
1 8.657
2000, . e e 8,403
1)1 U 8,751
1) P 8,174
IO e . . . . o e e e e e e e e e 102,393
T 11 11 P _(76,529
Net minimum lease payments under capital lease obligations . .. ............ ... ... ... .... 68,413
Less: current portion of net minimum lease payments ... .. ... .. L. e (1,318)
Long-term portion of net minimum lease payments ... ........... . oiiiriiiininninnnn, $ 67.095

Special-Purpose Limited Recourse Project Debr — Special-purpose limited recourse project debt repre-
sents debt incurred to finance the construction of cogeneration facilities, waste-to-energy or wind farm projects
in which we are a majority-owner. Certain assets of each project collateralize the notes and/or bonds. Qur
obligations with respect to this debt are limited to contributing project equity during the construction phase of
the projects and the guarantee of the operating performance of our Chilean project.

The Camden County Energy Recovery Associales debt represents Solid Waste Disposal and Rescurce
Recovery System Revenue Bonds. The bonds bear interest at 7.5%, due annually December 1, 2004 through
2010, and mature on December 1, 2010. The bonds are collateralized by a pledge of certain revenues and
assets of the project, but not the plant. The waste-to-energy project is located in New Jersey.

As a result of the purchase of the remaining 51% interest of FW Power consummated on April 7, 2006,
we now consolidate the special-purpose limited recourse project debt of FW Power, which is the owner of
certain electric power generating wind farms in Italy. See Note 2 for further information regarding the FW
Power acquisition. Upon acquisition, FW Power had project financing for its Vallesaccarda wind farm project
under a base facility and a value-added 1ax (“VAT™) facility. The base facility had a variable interest rate based
upon the 6-month Euribor plus 1.5% and was repayable semi-annually based upon a pre-defined payment
schedule through June 30, 2015. The VAT facility had a varable interest rate based upen the 6-month Euribor
plus 0.9% and was repayable semi-annually based upon actual VAT received during commercial operation
through December 31, 2010.

In December 2007, FW Power refinanced the base and VAT facilities related to the Vallesaccarda wind
farm project with new base and VAT facilities, and also secured new base and VAT facilities for its
Scampitella wind farm project. The base facilities bear interest al variable rates based upon 6-month Euribor
plus a spread varying from 0.8% to 1.1% throughout the life of the debt and are repayable semi-annually
based upon a pre-defined payment schedule through December 31, 2019. The VAT facilities bear interest at
0.5% and are repayable semi-annually based upon actual VAT received during commercial operation through
June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2013 for the Vallesaccarda and Scampitella wind farms, respectively.

The debt is collateralized by certain revenues and assets of FW Power. Our total borrowing capacity
under the FW Power credil facilities is €75,350 (approximately $110,950 at the exchange rate as of
December 28, 2007).

82




FOSTER WHEELER LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{amounts in thousands of dollars, except share data and per share amounts)
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We have executed interest rate swap contracts that effectively convert approximately 75% of the base
facilities to a weighted-average fixed interest rate of 4.47%. The swap contracts are in place through the life
of the facilities. See Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Interest Rate Risk,” for our
accounting policy related to these interest rate swap contracts. The interest rates on the VAT facilitics and the
portion of the base facilities not subject to the interest rate swap contracts were 5.2% and 5.6%, respectively,
as of December 28, 2007,

The Energia Holdings, LLC debi bears interest at 11.443%, due annually Aprit 15, 2004 through 2015,
and matures on April 15, 2015. The notes are collateralized by certain revenues and assets of a special-purpose
subsidiary, which is the indirect owner of our refinery/electric power generation project in Chile.

Subordinated Robbins Fucility Exit Funding Obligations (“Rabbins bonds") — In connection with the
restructuring of debt incurred to finance construction of a waste-to-energy facility in the Village of Robbins,
Minois, we entered into certain subordinated obligations. The subordinated obligations include 1999C Bonds
due October 15, 2009 (the “1999C bonds due 2009™), 1999C Bonds due Octaober 15, 2024 (the *1999C bonds
due 2024") and 1999D Accretion Bonds due October 15, 2009 (the “1999D bonds™).

The 1999C bonds due 2009 and the 1999C bonds due 2024 bear imerest a1 7,25% and are subject io
mandatory sinking fund reduction prior to maturity at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the redemption date. The total amount of 1999D bonds due on
October 15, 2009 is $325.

Intermediate Term Loans in China at 7.02% interest (“intermediate term loans”} ~— In 2005, one of our
Chinese subsidiaries, which is 52% owned by us and which we consolidate into our financial statements,
entered into two intermediate term loans. The intermediate term loans bear interest at 7.02% and are due to be
repaid in 2008, :

Convertible Subordinated Notes at 6.50% interest, due June [, 2007 {“convertible nates”) — In 2001, we
issued convertible notes having an aggregate principal amount of $210,000. In September 2004, we completed
an offer to exchange common shares and preferred shares for $206,930 of convertible notes. In June 2006, we
executed an open market purchase of $1,000 of owstanding aggregate principal amount of convertible notes.
We repaid the remaining $2,070 of convertible notes at the scheduled maturity date of June 1, 2007.

Interest Costs — Interest costs incurred in fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005 were $18,603, $24,944 and
$50,618, respectively.
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7. Long-term Debt — (Continued)

Aggregate Maiurities — Aggregate principal repayments and sinking fund requirements of long-term debt,
excluding payments on capital lease obligations, over the next five years are as follows:

Fisca) Year
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Therealter Total

Special-Purpose Limited Recourse Project

Debt:
Camden County Energy Recovery

ASSOCIAIES . . ... ... $9648 $9914 52185 $ — $§ — $ — § 41427
FWPower ...................... — 4,795 5273 5257 5,683 24,033 45,041

Energia Holdings, LLC............. 4,144 4,675 3,188 2019 1913 9,306 25,245

Subordinated Robbins Facility Exit
Funding Obligations:

1999C Bonds at 7.25% interest, due

Qctober 15,2009 ............... 18 19 — — — — 37
1999C Bonds at 7.25% interest, due
October 15,2024 . .............. — — — —_ — 20,491 20,491
1999D Accretion Bonds at 7% interest,
due October 15,2009 . ........... — 286 — — — — 286
Intermediate Term Loans in China at
7.02% interest. ... ................ 4,107 — — — _— — 4,107
Other . ... e e e 133 133 33 — — —_ - 299
Total . ... e e 318,050 $19,822 $30,359 $7,276 $7,596 $53,830 $136,933

8. Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits

We have defined benefit pension plans in the United States, the United Kingdom, France, Canada and
Finland, and we have other postretirement benefit plans for health care and life insurance benefits in the
United States and Canada. We also have defined contribution plans in the United States and the United
Kingdom. Finally, we have certain other benefit plans including government mandated postretirement
programs.

We adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements 87, 88, 106, and 132(R),” on December 29,
2006, the last day of fiscal year 2006. SFAS No. 158 requires us to recognize the funded status of each of our
defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans on our consolidated balance sheet. SFAS No. 158
also requires us 10 recognize any gains or losses, which are not recognized as a component of annual service
cost, as a component of other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 158, we
recorded net actuarial losses, prior service cost/(credits} and a net transition asset as a net change to
accumulated other comprehensive loss on the consolidated balance sheet.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans — Our defined benefit pension plans cover certain full-time employees.
Under the plans, retirement benefits are primarily a function of both years of service and level of
compensation. The U.S. pension plans, which are frozen to new entrants and additional benefit accruals, and
the Canadian, Finnish and French plans, are non-contributory. The U.K. plan, which is closed to new entrants,
is contributory.
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Defined benefit pension obligations and funded staus:
For the Year Ended December 28, 2007

For the Year Ended December 29, 2006

United United
States  Kingdom

United Uniled

States  Kingdom  Other Total

Otber

Total

Change in projected benefit obligations:

Projected benefit obligations at beginning of
$336.496 § 876.686 § 34.175 §$1,247.357 $349.993 § 710,877 §

35350 51,096,220

= S
Service cosl ... .. e — 14073 620 14,693 —  155% 951 16,541
Ierestcost ... ... .. 19031 45348 1671 66,050 18578 36079 1,684 56341
Ptan panicipants’ contributions . ., . ... ..... —  8i2 — 8,123 — 1518 — 7.518
Planamendments. . ... ................ - _ - - — 33600 — 33.600
Acwarial loss/(gain) . .. ... ... ... ... (5.690) (19.912) 34 (25.258) (9.697) 504 (1.621) (10814
Bepefispaid. ....................... (23.026) (36,507y (3,307) (62,8410 (22,378) i26.805) (2,916) (52.099)
Special termination benefitsfother ., ... ... .. — (1,213 - (1.213) —  {2147) (52) (2.199)
Foreign cumency exchange rate changes . . . . . . — 16937 5377 22,714 — 101,470 779 102,249
Projected benefit obligations at end of year . ... 326,811 903535 39280 1,269,626 336496 §76.686 J4.175 1,247.357

Change in plan assels:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year. . . 283,857 673,131 22061 979049 246490 544.76) 20921 812172
Actual retumonplanassets . . ............ 24,384 47,760 (200 T2,024 32,250 41751 2326 §2,327
Employer coniributions . . . .............. 45023 32404 2,857 80,284 27495 25699  1.833 55027
Plan participants' contributions . . . ......... — 8,123 - 8123 - 1518 — 7518
Benefitspaid. ... .................... (23.026) (36507) (3.307) (62,840) (22.378) (26.805) (2.916) (52.099)
Other. .. ... e —  (1.212) - (1,212) —  (3.63]) — (3.631}
Foreign currency exchange rate changes . . .. .. — 12929 4,096 17,025 — 71838 (10 77735
Fair value of plan assets at end of year. .. . ... 330,238 736,628 25,687 1,092,553 283,857 673,131 22,061 979,049

$ 3427 $(166.907)$(13.593)3 (177.073)§ (52,639) $(203,555) $(

12,114)§ (268.308)

We recognized the funded status of our defined benefit pension plans on our consolidated balance sheet

as part of:
December 28, December 29,
2007 2006
OHher aSSELS . . .o e e e e e 3 383 5 —
Current liabilities .. .. ... ... e (730) (764)
Non-current liabilities . . .. ... .. i i i e (180,182) (267,544)
Funded status atend of year . . .. ... ... ... . . ... ... ..., 30(177,073)  $(268,308)
We recognized the following amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss:
December 28,  December 29,
2007 2006
Netactwarial boss . ... ... . ... e e e $347,580 5394390
PHOr SErviCe COSL . .. . .. . e e 33417 338,631
Nl transiliONn BSS8 . . L. .ttt e e e e e e (112) {85}
Total e e e e e $380,885 $432,936
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The estimated net actuarial loss, prior service cost and net transition asset that will be amortized from
accumulated other comprehensive loss into net perodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year is $20,423,
$1,890 and $37, respectively.

Accumulated benefit obligation:
The aggregated accumulated benefit obligation of our defined benefit pension plans was $1,093,005 and
$1.134,254 at December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006, respectively.

Information for defined benefit pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan
assets:

December 28, December 29,
2006

2007(1)
Projected benefit obligation. . . ........ ... .. ... ... .. .. ... ... $934.211 $1,238,840
Accumulated benefit obligation. . ... ... . ... L. i 761,967 1,130,135
Fair value of planassets . ............. ... ... ..... e 749912 968,524

(1) Information for the U.S. plans as of December 28, 2007 has not been included since plan assets exceed
the accumulated benefit obligation.

Components of net perigdic benefit cost and other changes recognized in other comprehensive income/
{loss):

For the Ycar Ended For L Year Ended For the Yenr F.oded
Devember I8, 2007 December 19, 2004 Decrmher 39, 2008

Unhid Seates  Unized Kingdars  (Xher Totd Usmited Sutrs United Khigdom  Dther Total  Uclted Ststes  Usbled Wlngdors  Other “Tital

Net prriadi broefls cont.
SETVICTCOR . L ... | I S1407T3 % 620 S1a09) 5 — $15390 5 951 316540 § — $ 16274 51040 317319
Interetcofl . . .. ... ... . 19,031 43348 1A% 00.0% 18278 3o 1684 368 HAY NI 1A% 31388
Exprod ccteon om plan mses L . L .. {22,064y (48.200) (LT62) (72026  (1B25) {40,100} (1363} (39.780) (16920 (33.269) {1412) ($3.600)
Amortization of trensition {asset¥ .
gmion . . . oL e - (66} 1] Fy — (o4} a7 n — (] 7} 13
Asmortizsiion of prior sérvice ¢osl . . . - . _— 5198 L] 5204 - 4944 17 41958 -_ 16TT 13 1693
Amcvtizaton of net scarial Joss . L .. s LA L (P 4163 17.19 912 AN 4191 14522 538 1933
SFAS No. 37 ort poriodic boacfis codl. . . 152 M.B50 1120 35252 4715 13583 1083 40483 3250 HDEs L1 370N
SFASNo. fcom* . ... .. ...... -_— -_ - - — 6 ] 297 56 —_ {345) 179%0)
Total ey periodhe beoefit ¢ou . ., . o L L 5 )).BEQ §L120 $35252 5 4718 3 3350l $2109 $40745  § 3906 3 9088 31,774 3 Jo.788
recopaind In

comprebessive ncomelos):
Netactoarial (gain¥iosa . . . .. .. . .. $ (8.008) H19425)  $ 1927 B3I § -_— H - 3} —3 - 8 e 3 - $ — 4% _
Amortizarion of srensition sy

AGBHEIBOR} .+ v - % o} 2 - - - - - -
Amartization of pror service coat . . . . . —_ 13.19%) (9 (3210 - - - - _ — — —
Amortiration of net actusrial bovs . . . ., (3.283) (17330) T8 (21294) — —_ — — —_ — - -
Towl Income recognieed in oty

comprehensive ikomcfllon) L L L. - HiLW)) 420543 53,336 K51.051) 5 — § - 5§ =3 — % = 3 — § -3 —
oet prriodiec benell oot
DUCOUM T . . . ... SK1% S.04% 430 3.4%% PR 0% LYo Y SA4% S0
Longernrmic of meturs. . . .. ... L. A4.00% 6.4 % 1.50% B 00F 5% 150% B00% TI2% 750%
Selaygrowh . .. ... ... ... NA 183% 2I5% NA 1% 321% NA 1313% 9%

Weighud-sverngy

projected beoefd obiigatioos:
DIscoum e o o v e 8% 5% 5.30% S.n 5.13% 4.69%
Salarygrowth . ... ... ... ..., NA 4% A% NA 182% 1%

* Charges were recorded in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 88, “Accounting for Settlements and Curtailmenis of Defined
Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits.” related 10 the settlememn of obligations to former employees in the United King-
dom and Canada of $297 in 2006; and the seulemem of obligations to former employees in Finland and 10 former executives under
the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”) of $(290) in 2008,
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8. Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits — (Continued)
Investment policy:

Each of our defined benefit pension plans in the United States, United Kingdom and Canada is govcmcd
by a written investment policy. The pension plans in Finland and France have no plan assets.

The investment policy of the U.S. plans allocates assets in accordance with the policy guidelines. These
guidelines identify target, maximum and minimum allocations by asset class. The target allocation is 72.5%
equities and 27,5% fixed-income securities. The minimum and maximum allocations are: 62.5% to 77.5%
equities, 22.5% to 32.5% bonrds and 0% to 5% cash. We are continually reviewing the investment policy 10
ensure that the investment strategy is aligned with plan liabilities and projected plan benetit payments.

The investment policy of the U.K. plans is designed 1o respond to changes in funding levels. The bond
and equity allocations currently range from 40% bonds and 60% equities to 50% bonds and 50% equities,
depending on the funding level.

The investment policy of the Canadian plan uses a balanced approach and allocates investments in pooled
funds in accordance with the policy’s asset mix guidelines. These guidelines identify target, maximum and
minimum allocations by asset class. The target allocation is 45% bonds, 50% equitics and 5% cash. The
minimum and maximum allocations are: 42.5% to 57.5% equities, 40% to 50% bonds and 2.5% to 7.5% cash.

Long-term rate of return assumptions:

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is developed using a weighted-average methodology,
blending the expected returns on each class of investment in the pians’ portfolio. The expected returns by asset
class are developed considering both past performance and future considerations. We annually review and
adjust, as required, the long-lerm rate of return for our pension plans. The weighted-average expected long-
term rate of return on plan assets has declined from 7.5% to 7.3% over the past three years.

For the Year Ended
December 28, December 29,
2007 2006

Asset allocation by plan:
United States:

BQUIties ... ...t i i e e e e 70% 11%
Fixed-income securities. . ... ... ... .. i i _30% _29%
Toml. . e 100% 100%
United Kingdom:
T 9% 61%
Fixed-Income SECUmties . . . .. ... ...\ ur et einteact et % I6%
01 T O _ % _ 3%
Total . ..o e ey 100% 100%
Canada:
Equilies . ... ... it i i e e e, 49% 51%
Fixed-income securilics. .. .. ... . ivt it iuinnn it inanee, 44% 43%
Other .o e e _1% _6%
Total. .. e e e 100% 100%
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8. Pensions and Other Postretirement Benelits — (Continued)

Coniributions:

We do not expect to be required 1o make any mandatory contributions to our U.S. pension plans in fiscal
year 2008. We expect to contribute a total of approximately $33,400 to our foreign pension plans in fiscal year
2008.

Estimated future benefit paymenis:
We expect (0 make the following benefit payments from our defined benefit pension pluns:

United
United States Kingdom Other Total
1 $ 22851 $ 30502 33583 § 56936
2009 e e 23,003 32,423 3,358 58,784
. 1) 1 23,149 33,016 39N 60,136
2010 . e e . 23,308 34,9938 3,959 62,265
2002 e e e 23,703 40,577 3,083 67,363
20132007 .. e e e e 121,581 208,229 17,898 347,708

Other Postretirement Benefit Plans — Certain employees in the United States and Canada may become
eligible for health care and life insurance benefits (“other postretirement benefits”) if they qualify for and
commence normal or early retirement pension benefits as defined in the pension plan while working for us.
Certain benefits are provided through insurance companies.

Additionally, one of our subsidiaries in the United States also has a benefit plan, referred to as the
Survivor Income Plan (“SIP™), which provides coverage for an employee’s beneficiary upon the death of the
employee. This plan, which is accounted for under SFAS No. 112, “Employer’s Accounting for Postemploy-
ment Benefits,” has been closed to new entrants since 1988. Total fiabilities under the SIP, which were
$14.948 and $16,383 as of December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006. respectively, are reflected in the other
postretirement benefit obligation and funded status information below because the obligation is measured using
the provisions of SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions,”
as amended by SFAS No. 158. The benefit assets of the SIP, which reflect the cash surrender value of
insurance polices purchased to cover obligations under the SIP, totaled $5,302 and $5,135 as of December 28,
2007 and December 29, 2006, respectively, The benefit assets are recorded in other assets on the consolidated
balance sheet and are not reflected in the other postretirement benefit obligation and funded status information
below.
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8. Pensions and Other Postiretirement Benefits = (Continued)

Other postretirement benefit obligation and funded status:

For the Year Ended

December 28, December 29,
2007 2006

Change in accumulated postretirement benefit obligation:

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at beginning of year ......... 3 96,847 $101,215
SOIVICE COSL . ..ottt it e e 139 157
T (=t B+ 11 G 4,765 5,334
Plan participants’ contributions . .. ...... ...ttt ii e 2,727 2,868
Actuanial (gain)/loSS . ... .. .. s (13,354 (1.943)
Bemefits paid. . . ... ... . e (12,176) (11,755)
Medicare Part D reimbursement .. ......... .. ... ... .. .. 1,052 993
LT — (24)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes . ... ............ ..., 160 2
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation atend of year . . ............ 80,160 96,847
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year. . . ......... ..., ... ...... — —
Plan participants’ contributions .. .......... ... .. .. i i 2,727 2,868
Employer contributions . . .. ...... .. ... ... .. . e 8,397 7.894
Medicare Part D reimbursement . ... ..., ... ... .. oL 1,052 993
Benelits paid. . ... . ... e e {12,176} (11,755)
Fair value of plan assetsatendof year .. ....... ... ... ... .......... — —
Funded statusatendof year. .. ............. .. ... ... .. viuiiinrnan. $(80,160) $(96,847)

We recognized the funded status of our other postretirement benefit plans on our consolidated balance
sheet as part of:

December 28, December 29,
2007 2006

Current Habilities .. .. ... . i i i i e e e $ (7.412) 3 (8.416)
Non-current ligbilities . . ... ... . ... (72,748) (88.431)
Funded status atend of year . .. .. ......... ... .. . .00 it $(80,160) $(96,847)

We recognized the following amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss:
December 28, December 29,
207 2006

Net actuanial 0SS . . . . .. e e e e e $ 10,949 $ :'25,253
Priorservice credit . . .. ... ... e, (43.547) {48,309)
Total . e e e e e e e $(32,598) $(23,056)

The estimated net actuarial loss and prior service credit that will be amortized from accumulated other
comprehensive loss into net periodic postretirement benefit cost over the next fiscal year are $792 and
$(4,762), respectively,
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8. Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits — (Continued)

Components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost and other chunges recognized in other comprehensive
income/{loss):
For the Year Ended
December 28, December 29, December 30,

2007 2006 2008

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost:

S EIVICE GOl .« ottt s i e $ 139 $ 157 $ 205

INEErESL COSE . o o oottt ettt e 4,765 5,334 5,341

Amortization of prior service credit. . .. ... ... ... ... {4,762) (4,761) (4,760)

Amortization of net actuarial loss ... ........... e 952 2,049 1,972

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost ... ............... $ 1,094 $ 2,779 $ 2,758
Changes recognized in other comprehensive income/(loss):

Net actuarial gain. .. . ............. S $(13,352) F — 5§ -

Amortization of prior service credit. ... ....... ... . o 4,762

Amortization of net actuarial loss . ... .. ... ... .. ... ... (952) — —

Total loss recognized in other comprehensive income/(loss). ... § (9,542) § — 5 —

|

Weighted-average assumptions-
net periodic postretirement benefit cost:
DISCOURL FALE . . ottt et e e e 573% 5.39% 5.35%

Weighted-average assumptions-accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation:

Discount rale . . ., ..., ... e e 6.20% 5.73%
Pre-Medicare  Medicare
Eligible ENigible
Health-care cost trend:
2007 . e e e e 15.00% 15.00%
0 P 7.50% 9.00%
Dechine 10 2016 . . ... ... e e e 5.00% 5.00%

Assumed health-care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the other
postretirement benefit plans. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would
have the following effects:

One-Percentape  One-Percentage

Point Increasc Point Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost components. . ................ $ 201 5 (1714)
Effect on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation . ................ $3.379 $(2.918)

Contriburions:

We expect to contribute a total of approximately $7,611 to our other postretirement benefit plans in fiscal
year 2008, net of a health care cost subsidy.
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Estimated future other postretirement benefit payments:

We expect to make the following other postretirement benefit payments:
Postretirement

Postretirement  Hezlth Care Beneflts,
Benefits Subsidy Net of Subsidy

2008 . . e e e $ 9,022 $ 1,411 $ 7.611
7L 9,074 1,523 71,551
2000, e e 9,001 1,633 7,368
710 P 8.868 1,749 7,119
200, e e e e 8,641 1.870 6,771
2003-20017 .. e s 40,480 10,359 30,121

Defined Conuribution Plans — Our U.S, subsidiaries have a 401(k) plan for salaried employees. We
contribute a 100% match of the first 3% and a 50% match of the next 3% of base pay of employee
contributions, subject to the annual Internal Revenue Code limit. The 401(k) plan also has a provision for a
discretionary employer contribution, equal to 50% of the second 3% of an employee’s contribution or a
maximum of 1.5% of base salary. This discretionary employer contribution is tied to meeting our performance
targets for an enire calendar year and having the contribution approved by our Board of Directors. In fiscal
years 2007 and 2006, our U.S. subsidiaries paid the discretionary employer contribution to the 401(k) plan, In
total, our U.S. subsidiaries contributed $5,570, $4,325 and $2,813 10 the 401(k) plan in fiscal years 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively. In fiscal year 2008, our U.S. subsidiaries will also have a Roth 401(k) plan for salaried
employees. Also in fiscal year 2008, we will change our employer contribution match. We will contribute a
100% march of employee contributions on the first 6% of eligible base pay, subject 10 the annual limit on
eligible earnings under the Internal Revenue Code. The discretionary match that had been in place, which
depended on meeting our performance targets and required annual approval by our Board of Directors, will be
discontinued.

Efiective April 1, 2003, our U.K. subsidiaries commenced a defined contribution plan for salaried
employees. Under the defined contribution plan, amounts are credited as a percentage of earnings which
percentage can be increased within prescribed limits after five years of membership in the fund if matched by
the employee. At termination (up to two years' service only), an employee may receive the balance in the
account. Otherwise at termination or al retirement, an employee receives an annuity or a combination of lump-
sum and annuity, Our U.K. subsidiaries contributed $2,561, $1,179 and $479 in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively, to the defined contribution plan.

Other Benefits — Certain of our foreign subsidiaries participate in government-mandated indemnity and
postretirement programs for their employees. Liabilities of $37,811 and $30.001 were recorded within pension,
postretirement and other employee benefits on the consolidated balance sheet at December 28, 2007 and
December 29, 2006, respectively, related to such benefits.

9. Guarantees and Warranties

We have agreed to indemnify certain third-parties retating to businesses and/or assets that we previously
owned and sold to such third-parties. Such indemnifications relate primarily to potential environmental and tax
exposures for activities conducted by us prior to the sale of such businesses and/or assets. It is not possible to
predict the maximum potential amount of future payments under these or similar indemnifications due to the
conditional nature of the obligations and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular
indemnification.
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9, Guarantees and Warranties — (Continued)

Maximum Carrying Amount of Liability

Potential December 28, December 29,

Payment 2047 2006
Environmental indemnifications ... ...... ...t No limit 56,900 $7,300
Tax indemnifications .. .. ..o vttt it nn e iae e No limit $ — $§ —

We also mainiain contingencies for warranty expenses on certain of our long-term contracts. Generally,
warranty contingencies are accrued over the life of the contract so that a sufficient balance is maintained to
cover our aggregate exposure at the conclusion of the project.

For the Year Ended
December 28,  December 29, Decezn(:)gesr Jo,

2007 2006
Balance at beginning of year ... ............ ... . oL, $ 69,900 $ 63,200 $ 94,500
ACCIUAlS . . . e e 35,800 27,600 24,800
Sl MENIS . . . e e (5,700) (18,600) (12.600)
Adjustments to provisions .. ..... ... . . i (12,200) (2,300} (43,500)
Balance atend of year . ... ... ... it $ 87.800 $ 69,900 $ 63,200

We are contingently liable for performance under standby letters of credit, bank guarantees and surety
bonds totaling $818,600 and $646,700 as of December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006, respectively. These
balances include the standby letters of credit issued under the domesltic senior credit agreement discussed in
Note 7 and from other facilities worldwide. Based upon past experience, no material claims have been made
against these financial guarantees,

We have also guaranteed certain performance obligations in a Chilean refinery/electric power generation
project in which we hold a noncontrolling equity interest. See Note 5 for further information.

10. Financia) Instruments and Risk Management

The following methods and assumptions were used Lo estimate the fair value of cach class of financial
instruments for which it is practicable to estimate Ffair value: '

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Resiricted Cash — The carrying value of our cash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash approximates fair value because of the short-term maturity of these instrumens.

Long-term Debt — We estimate the fair value of our long-term debt (including current installments) based
on the quoted market prices for the same or similar issues or on the current rales offered for debt of the same
remaining maturities.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts -— We estimate the fair value of foreign currency forward contracts
(which are used solely for hedging purposes} by obtaining quotes from financial institutions.

Interest Rate Swaps — We estimate the fair value of our interest rate swaps based on quotes obtained
from financial institutions.
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Carrying Amounts and Fair Values - The estimated fair values of our financial instruments are as
follows:

December 28, 2007 December 29, 2006
Carrying Fair Carrying Falr
Amount Value Amount Value
Non-derivatives:
Cash and cash equivalents . . .................... $1,048,544 $1,048544 5610887 $ 610887
Restrictedcash .. ... ........... ... ... ...... 20,937 20937 19,080 19,080
Long-termdebt .. ... ... ... .. .. (205,346) (224,416) (202,969)  (220,529)
Derivatives:
Foreign currency forward exchange contracts .. ...... 4,419 4419 4,005 4,095
Interest rate swaps. . .. .. ...cviiiii i 2,308 2,308 545 545

As of December 28, 2007, we had $274,316 of foreign currency forward exchange contracts outstanding.
These foreign currency forward exchange contracts mature between 2008 and 2010. The contracts have been
established by our various international subsidiaries to sell a variety of cumrencies and receive their respective
functional currencies or other currencies for which they have payment obligations to third-parties.

Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of
cash equivalents and trade receivables. We place our cash equivalents with financial institutions and we limit
the amount of credit exposure 10 any one financial institution. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to
trade receivables are limited due to the large number of customers comprising our customer base and their
disperston across different business and geographic areas. As of December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006,
we had no significant concentrations of credit risk.

11. Preferred Shares

We issued 599,944 preferred shares in connection with our 2004 equity-for-debt exchange. There were
1,887 preferred shares ouistanding as of December 28, 2007. Each preferred share is convertible at the holder’s
option into 130 common shares or up 10 2pproximately 246,310 additional common shares if all outstanding
preferred shares were converted.

The preferred shareholders have no voting rights except in certain limited circumstances. The preferred
shares have the right to receive dividends and other disiributions, including liquidating distributions, on an as-
converted basis when and if dectared and paid on the common shares. The preferred shares have a $0.01
liquidation preference per share.

12. Share-Based Compensation Plans

Qur share-based compensation plans include both restricted awards and stock option awards. Compensa-
tion cost for our share-based plans of $7.095, $16,474, and $8,919 was charged against income for fiscal years
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The related income tax benefit recognized in the consolidated siatement of
operations was $246, $323, and $348 for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. We received $18,076,
$17,595 and $1,200 in cash from oplion exercises under our share-based compensation plans for fiscal years
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Omnibus Incentive Plan:

On May 9, 2006, our shareholders approved the Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Omnibus Plan™). The
Omnibus Plan allows for the granting of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted
stock units, performance-contingent shares, performance-contingent units, cash-based awards and other equity-
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12. Share-Based Compensation Plans — (Continued)

based awards 10 our employees, non-employee directors and third-party service providers. The Omnibus Plan
effectively replaces our prior share-based compensation plans, and no further options or equity-based awards
will be granted under any of the prior share-based compensation plans. The maximum number of shares as to
which stock options and restricted stock awards may be granted under the Omnibus Plan is 9,560,000 shares,
plus shares that become available for issuance pursuant to the terms of the awards previously granted under
the prior compensation plans and outstanding as of May 9, 2006 and only if those awards expire, terminate or
are otherwise forfeited before being exercised or setiled in full (but not 10 exceed 10,000,000 shares). Shares
awarded pursuant to the Omnibus Plan will be issued out of our authorized but unissued common shares.

The Omnibus Plan includes a “change in control™ provision, which provides for cash redemption of
equily awards issued under the Omnibus Plan in certain limited circumstances. In accordance with Securities
and Exchange Commission Accounting Series Release No. 268, “Presentation in Financial Statements of
Redeemable Preferred Stocks,” we present the redemption amount of these equity awards issued under the
Omnibus Plan as temporary equity on the consolidated balance sheet as the equity award is amortized during

the vesting period. The redemption amount represents the intrinsic value of the equity award on the grant date.

In accordance with FASB Emerging lssues Task Force Topic D-98, “Classification and Measurement of
Redeemable Securities,” we do not adjust the redemption amount each reporting peried unless and until it
becomes probable that the equity awards will become redeemable (upon a change in control event). Upon
vesting of the equity awards, we reclassify the intrinsic value of the equity awards, as determined on the grant
date, to permanent eguity. ‘

Prior Share-Based Compensation Plans:

In September 2004, our Board of Directors adopted the 2004 Stock Option Plan (the 2004 Plan™), which
reserved 7,334,730 common shares for issuance. The 2004 Plan provided that shares issued come from our
authorized but unissued common shares. The Board of Directors determined the price of the options granted
pursuant 1o the 2004 Plan. The options granted under the 2004 Plan expire up to a maximum of three years
from the date granted. As noted above, no further awards will be granted under the 2004 Plan.

In October 2001, we granied 130,000 inducement options at an exercise price of $49.85 per share to our
chief executive officer in connection with his employment agreement. The options vested 20% each year over
the term of his agreememt. The price of the options granted pursuant to these agreements was the fair market
value on the date of the grant. The options granted under this agreement expire ten years from the date
granted.

In April 1995, our shareholders approved the 1995 Stock Option Plan (the “1995 Plan™). The 1995 Plan,
as amended in April 1999 and May 2002, reserved 530,000 common shares for issuance. The 1995 Plan
provided that shares issued come from our avthorized but unissued or reacquired common stock. The price of
the options granted pursuant to this plan could not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the shares on
the date of grant. The options granted pursuant to the 1995 Plan could not be exercised within one year from
the date of grant and no option can be exercised after ten years from the date granted. As noted above, no
further awards will be granted under the 1995 Plan.

In April 1990, our shareholders approved a Stock Option Plan for Directors of Foster Wheeler (the
“Directors Plan™), On April 29, 1997, our shareholders approved an amendment of the Directors Plan, which
authorized the granting of options to purchase 40,000 shares of common stock to non-employee directors of
Foster Wheeler. The Directors Plan provided that shares issued come from our authorized but unissued or
reacquired common stock. The price of the options granted pursuant to this plan could not be less than 100%
of the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant. The options granted pursuant to the Directors Plan
could not be exercised within one year from the date of grant and no option can be exercised after ten years
from the date granted. As noted above, no further awards will be granted under the Directors Plan.
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12. Share-Based Compensation Plans — (Continued)

Stock Option Awards:

A summary of stock option activity for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005 is presented below:
: For the Year Ended

December 28, 2007 December 19, 2006 December 30, 2005
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Options outstanding at
beginning of year.. ... ... 4411930 § 2019 6,568,020 % 14.50 6442252 $ 1593
Options exercised . ........ 2,976,020y S 6.07 3,046,430y $ 5.78 (255850 $ 4.69
Options granted. . ......... 193,326 S 62.98 991492 § 23.17 457,016 $ 1248
Options canceled or expired. . (126,760} $129.20 (101,152) $113.98 (75,358) $157.63
Options outstanding at end of
Year, . . ... 1,502,476 S 44.45 4,411,930 % 20.19 6,568,020 $ 14.50
Options available for grant at
endofyear ............ 8,066,938 8,178,784 1,336,370
Weighted-average grant date
fair value of options
granted during the year ... § 23.03 $ 9.28 $ 4.70

The following table summarizes our outstanding stock options as of December 28, 2007:
Stock Options Outstanding

Welghted.
Average Welghted- Aggregate
Numther Remaining Average Lotrinsic

Range of Exercise Prices Outsianding Contractual Life Exercise Price Vatue

$ 11.60 to $ 16.50 90,522 1.63 years 3 1376 $ 5827
19.92 to 21.74 563,040 3.62 years 21.73 31,758
25.05 to 28.50 368,406 4,01 years 25.33 19,454
46.90 w 56.88 179,176 3.66 years 51.30 4,808
67.55 o 81.57 158,050 4,93 years 70.99 1,148
90.00 10 116.00 44,500 2.23 years 95.64 _
135.00 10 150.63 59.182 1.15 years 141.36 —
271500 ] 276.25 39,600 0.05 years 276.18 —
$ 1160 o $276.25 1,502,476 3.51 years $ 44.45 $62,995
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The following table summarizes our exercisable stock options as of December 28, 2007:
Stock Options Exercisable

. Weighted-
Average Weighted- Aggregate
Number Remaining Average Intrinslc
Range of Exercise Prices Exercisable Contractual Life Exercise Price Value
, $ 11.60 to 3 16.50 90,522 1.63 years $ 1376 $ 53827
19.92 o 21.74 189,654 3.63 years 21.72 10,699
25.05 (] 28.50 11,702 4.01 years 25.05 62!
46.90 to 56.88 168,600 3.63 years 5146 4,498
67.55 to 81.57 5,000 2.57 years 81.57 C =
[ 90.00 to 116.00 32,500 2.25 years‘ 94.03 —
l 135.00 to 150.63 59,182 1.15 years 141.36 —
275.00 to 276.25 39,600 0.05 years 276.18 —
$ 11.60 to $276.25 596,760 2.77 years $ 62.17 $21,645

We calculated intrinsic value for those options that had an exercise price lower than the market price of
our common shares as of December 28, 2007. The aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding options and
exercisable options as of December 28, 2007 was calculated as the difference between the market price of our
common shares and the exercise price of the underlying options for the options that had an exercise price
lower than the market price of our common shares at that date. The total intrinsic value of the options

| exercised during fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $88,828, $49,601 and $2,793 determined as of the date
of exercise.

' As of December 28, 2007, there was $8,626 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock
options. That cost is expected to be recognized as expense over a weighted-average period of approximately
27 months.

Restricted Awards:

A summary of restricted share activity for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005 is presented below:
For the Year Ended

December 28, 2007 December 29, 2006 December 30, 2005

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average

Grant, Grant . Grant

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Non-vested at beginning of year. .. 659,262 $11.32 2,222,362 $ 476 2,703,678 $ 4.60
Granted. .. .................. —. 5 — 248,940 $2147 34,832 $14.65
Vested. . .......coiviininennn (493302) $ 791 (1,807,088) § 4.67 (516,148) $ 4.60
Canceled or forfeited . ... ... .. .. — £ — (4952) % 4.60 — 5§ —
Non-vested at end of year . ...... 165,960  $21.47 659,262  $11.32 2222362 § 4.76
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A summary of restricted share unit activity for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005 is presented below:
For the Year Ended

December 28, 2007 December 29, 2006 December 30, 2005

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Averape

Grant Grant Grant

Units Price Units Price Units Price

Non-vested at beginning of year ... 868968 $ 930 1,157,096 $ 509 1099890 § 470
Granted ..................... 82,258 $62.94 193,412 $25.00 57206 $12.58
Vested ...................... (686,818) $ 5.12 (452,674) 3 548 — 5 —
Canceled or forfeited ... ........ (36,978) $25.05 {28,866) 3 5.62 — § —
Non-vested at end of year .. ... ... 227,430 $38.79 868,968 $ 9.30 1,157,096 $ 509

As of December 28, 2007, there was $9.661 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to the restricted
awards. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 27 months. The
total fair value of restricted awards vested during fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005 was 533,408, $47,085 and
$7,309, respectively.

13. Commeon Share Purchase Warrants

In connection with the equity-for-debt exchange consummated in 2004, we issued 4,152,914 Class A
common share purchase warrants and 40,771,560 Class B common share purchase warrants. Each Class A
warrant entitles its owner to purchase 3.3682 common shares al an exercise price of $4.689 per common share
thereunder, subject to the terms of the warrant agreement between the wamrant agent and us. The Class A
warrants are exercisable on or before September 24, 2009. Each Class B warrant entitled its owner to purchase
0.1446 common shares at an exercise price of $4.689 per common share thereunder, subject to the terms and
conditions of the warrant agreement between the warrant agent and us. The Class B warrants were exercisable
on or before September 24, 2007,

In January 2006, we completed transactions that increased the number of common shares to be delivered
upon the exercise of our Class A and Class B comman share purchase warrants during the offer period and
raised $75,336 in net proceeds. The exercise price per warrant was not increased in the offers. Holders of
approximately 95% of the Class A warrants and 57% of the Class B warrants participated in the offers
resulting in the aggregate issuance of approximately 16,807,000 common shares.

Cumulatively through December 28, 2007, 3,945,306 Class A warrants and 38,736,956 Class B warrants
have been exercised for 19,639,572 common shares. The number of common shares issuable upon the exercise
of the remaining outstanding Class A warrants is approximately 699,265 as of December 28, 2007. The
remaining outstanding Class B warrants expired on September 24, 2007.

The holders of the Class A warrants are not entitled to vote, to receive dividends or to exercise any of the
rights of common sharcholders for any purpose until such warrants have been duly exercised. We currently
maintain and intend 10 continue to maintain at all times during which the warrants are exercisable, a “shelf”
registration statement relating to the issuance of common shares underlying the warrants for the benefit of the
warrant holders, subject to the terms of the registration rights agreement. The registration statement became
effective on December 28, 2005.

Also in connection with the equity-for-debt exchange consummated in 2004, we entered into a registration
nghts agrcement with certain selling security holders in which we agreed to file a registration statement 10
cover resales of our securities held by them immediately following the exchange offer. We filed a registration
statement in accordance with this agreement on October 29, 2004, The registration statement, which became
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effective on December 23, 2004, must remain in effect until December 23, 2009 unless certain events occur to
terminate our obligatlions under the registration rights agreement prior to that date. If we Fail to maintain the
registration statemen? as required or it becomes unavailable for more than two 45-day pertods in any
consecutive 12-month period, we are required to pay damages at a rate of $13.7 per day for cach day that the
registration statement is not c¢ffective. As of December 28, 2007, the maximum exposure under this provision
is approximatcly $8,700. We have not, and do not, expect to incur any damages under the related registration
rights agreement.

14. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Below are the components of accumulated other comprehensive loss:

Accumulated Pension and Other
Foreign Minimum Postretirement Net Gains on
Currency  Pension Lizbility Benefit Plan Derivatives Destgnated
Translation Adjustments, Net Adjustments, Net of as Cash Flow Hedges, Accumulated Other

Adjustments of Tax Tax Net of Tox Comprehensive Loss

Balance as of December 31,

004, ... $(51,240) $(245,503) . — $§ — $(296,743)
Other comprehensive

incomef(loss). . . ....... (22.928) 4875 — — (18,053)
Balance as of December 30,

2005, .. ... ..., (74,168) (240,628) — — (314,796)
Other comprehensive '

income . ...... ..., 31,612 40,087 - 342 72,041
Adoption of SFAS No. (38. . — 200,541 (301,128) — {100,587)
Balance as of December 29,

206 ............... (42,556} - (301,128) 342 (343,342)
Other comprehensive

income .............. 31,939 — 48,958 1,331 82,228
Balance as of December 28,

2007, . 300617y § - $(252,170) 31,673 $(261,114)

The tax effect related 1o pension and other postretirement benefit plan adjustments was a benefit of
596,117 and $108,752 as of December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006, respectively. The tax effect related to
minimum pension liability adjustments was a benefit of $59,062 as of December 30, 2005. The tax effect
related 10 gains on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges was $635 and $203, as of December 28, 2007
and December 29, 2006, respectively.

The accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments are not cusrently adjusted for income taxes as
they relate 10 permanent investments in international subsidiaries.
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15. Income Taxes

Below are the components of income/(loss) before income taxes for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005

under the following tax jurisdictions:

The provision for income taxes was as follows:

Current tax expense:
DOMEStIC . ... v o i i e e e

Deferred tax expense:
Domestic .. ... ...t i e
FOreign . ... . e

Total deferred. . ....... ... i

For the Year Ended

December 28, December 29, December 30,
2007 2006 2005

$ 23,727 $ 68,897 $(229,3™)
506,567 274,796 159.198

$530,294 $343,693 3 (70.181)

For the Year Ended

December 28,  December 29,  December 30,
2007 2006 2005

$ (2831 3 (4.084) $ (5,260)
(114,938) (55,260) {28,902)

{111,769 (59,344) (34.168)

(2.248) (3.540) (2.845)
(16,403) (18.825) (2,333)
{18,651) (22,365) {5.400)

5(136,420) $(81,709) $(39,568)
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15. Income Taxes — (Continued)

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) consist of the following:
December 18, December 29,
2007 2006

Deferred 1ax assels:

L2001 T-L 51113 S $ 46,484 3 86,219

Accrued costs on Jong-term CONIrAcIS . ... v oo v ettt e it e e 22919 27,631

Deferred INCOME . . . oottt ettt ettt et e e e 25,392 22713

AcCCTued EXPENSES . . . ottt e 43,546 46,364

Postretirement benefits other than pensions .. .......... ... ... 27,318 33,807

Asbestos Claims . .. ... e e e e 32,790 43,493

Net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes . . ... .............. 224457 160,905

Assel impairments and other reserves .. ...... ... .. .. .. i a, 2,079 2,247

0= 5,159 2,922

Total gross deferred tax assels. . ... ...ttty 430,144 426,301

Valuation alloWanCe . .. ... . .. i e e e e (294,286) (282,104)
Total deferred taX ASSBLS . .. .. .0t e e 135,858 144,197

Deferred tax liabilities:

Property, plant and €quipment. . .. ..t i i i s e e {27.372) (24,038)
Goodwill and other intangible assels . . .. ... .. i i {19,791 {15,739)
IV IS & vt e vt ettt et et et e e e et (25.845) (18,180)
Unremitted eamings of foreign subsidiaries . ......... ..ot (8.000) (8,091)
Total gross deferred 1ax liabilities ... ...... ... .. ... . e, (81,008) (66,048)
Net deferred 19X 85818 . . . .. .t e $ 54,850 $ 78,149

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income prior to the
expiration of the various attributes. We believe that it is more likely than not that the remaining net deferred
tax assets (afier consideration of the vajuation allowance) will be realized through future eamings and/or tax
planning strategies. The amount of the deferred tax assets considered realizable, however, could change in the
near future if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are changed. We have reduced
our domestic and certain foreign tax benefits by a valuation allowance based upon available evidence that it
was more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets would not be realized. During fiscal year
2007, we reversed the valuation allowance that we had previously established for one of our foreign operating
units due to improved operational performance and positive evidence that deferred tax assets will be realized.
However, this reduction was offset by the need to increase the valuation allowance in the U.5. and certain
other foreign jurisdictions. As a result, the valugtion allowance increased by $12,182 in fiscal year 2007. A
valuation allowance is required under SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” when there is evidence
of losses from operations in the three most recent fiscal years. For statutory purposes, the majority of deferred
tax assets for which a valuation allowance is provided do not begin expiring until fiscal year 2024 or later,
based on the current tax laws.

Our subsidiaries file income tax relurns in numercus tax jurisdictions, including the United States, several
U.S. states and numerous non-U.S. jurisdictions around the world. Tax retums are also filed in jurisdictions
where our subsidiaries exccute project-related work. The statute of limitations varies by the various
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15. Income Taxes — (Continued)

jurisdictions in which we operate. Because of the number of jurisdictions in which we file tax returns, in any
given year the statute of limitations in certain jurisdictions may expire without examination within the
12-month period from the balance sheet date. As a result, we expect recurring changes in unrecognized lax
benefits due to the expiration of the statute of limitations, none of which are expected to be individually
significant. With few exceptions, we are no longer subject to U.S. (including federal, state and local), or
non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before fiscal year 2002.

A number of tax years are under audit by the relevant state and foreign tax authorities. We anticipate that
several of these audits may be concluded in the foreseeable future, including in fiscal year 2008. Based on the
status of these audits, it is reasonably possible that the conclusion of the audits may result in a reduction of
unrecognized 1ax benefits, However, it is not possible 10 estimate the impact of this change at this time.

We adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on December 30, 2006, the first day of fiscal year 2007, As a result
of the adoption of FIN 48, we recognized a $4,356 reduction in the opening balance of our shareholders’
equity. This resulied from changes in the amount of tax benefits recognized related to uncertain lax positions
and the accrual of interest and penalties.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of our unrecognized tax benefit is as follows:

Balance at beginning of year. . .. .. ... .. .. .. L e i $44,786
Additions based on tax positions related o the CUITENT YEAr . . . . ... .ot v v e e i nenn, 6,218
Additions for tax positions of prior years. . ........ e e e 8.910
Reductions for tax provisions for prior Yeans . . .. ... ... ... ... ... i i i (1,663)
SIS . . . o .. e e e R, (2,744)
Reductions for lapse of statute of limitations . . ......... ... ... ... .. ... ... ..., (3.332)
Balance atendof year ................... e e e e e e e s $£52,175

As of December 28, 2007, we had $52,175 of unrecognized tax benefits, of which $51,763 would, if
recognized, affect our effective tax rate before existing valuation allowance considerations,

We recognize interest accrued on the unrecognized tax benefits in imerest expense and penalties on the
unrecognized tax benefits in other deductions on our consolidated statement of operations. We recorded $2,737
in interest expense and penalties in fiscal year 2007. We had $24,251 accrued for the payment of interest and
penalties as of December 28, 2007.
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15. Income Taxes — (Continued)

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying the
applicable U.S. statutory rate to income/(loss) before income taxes, as a result of the following: -

For the Year Ended
December 28, December 29, December 30,

. 2007 2006 2005
Tax provision/(benefit) at U.S. statutory rate . . .. ... ......... 35.0% 35.0% (35.00%
State income 1axes, nct of Federal income tax benefit . ......... 0.1% 0.3% 5.1%
US taxonforeigneamings. . . ....... ... nineeenn.s 0.0% 0.0% 328%
Valuation allowante . . . ..o ittt i e i (1.8)% (3.9)% 30.3%
Foreign tax rates different than the statutory rate. . .. .......... (10.4)% (9.3)% (71.6)%
Impact of changes in tax rate on deferred tax . . .............. 1.3% 0.0% 0.0%
Nondeductible loss. . .. ........ .. ... i, L.6% 1.7% 30.6%
[ (17 o DD _(0.)% _0.0% _0.2%
L0 25.7% 23.8% 56.4%

16. Derivative Financial Instruments

We maintain a foreign currency risk-management strategy that uses foreign currency forward exchange
contracts to protect us from unanticipated Muctuations in cash flows that may arise from volatility in currency
exchange rates between the functional currencies of our subsidiaries and the foreign currencies in which some
of our operating purchases and sales are denominated. We utilize these coniracts solely to hedge specific
foreign currency exposures, whether or not they qualify for hedge accounting vnder SFAS No. 133, During
fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, none of the contracts met the requirements for hedge accounting under
SFAS No. 133. Accordingly, we recorded a pretax foreign exchange gain/(loss) of $324, $7,610, and $(3,933)
in fiscal ycars 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. These amounts were recorded in the following line items on
the consolidated statement of operations for the periods indicated.

for the Year Ended
December 28, December 29, fkctgxol‘;esr 30,

2007 2006
Decrease/(increase) in cost of operating revenues .. ........... $465 - $7.662 $(3.711)
Otherdeductions . ........... ... ..ot _(141) __(52) __(222)
Pretax gainf(loss) . .. ... $324 $7.610 $(3.933)

The mark-to-market adjustments on foreign currency forward exchange contracts for these unrealized
rains or losses are recorded in either contracts in process or billings in excess of costs and estimated eamings
on uncompleted contracts on the consolidated balance sheet.

In fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, we included cash inflows on the settlement of derivatives of $5,253,
$2,035 and $707, respectively, within the net change in contracts in process and billings in excess of costs and
estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts in the operating activities section of the consolidated statement
of cash flows.

We are exposed to credit loss in the event of non-performance by the counterparties. Al of these
counterparties are significant financial institutions that are primarily rated “BBB+" or better by Standard &
Poor’s (or the equivalent by other recognized credit rating agencies). As of December 28, 2007, $116,535 was
owed lo us by counterparties and $157,781 was owed by us to counterparties,
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16. Derivative Financial Instruments — (Continued)

The maximum term over which we are hedging exposure to the variability of cash flows is approximately
42 months,

We use interest rate swap coniracts (o manage interest rate risk associated with some of our variable rate
special-purpose limited recourse project debt. Certain of our affiliates in which we have an equity interest also
use interest rate swap contracts 1o manage interest rate risk associated with their limited recourse project debt.
See Notes | and 7 for further information regarding interest rate swap COntracts. '

17. Business Segments

We operate through two business groups: our Global Engineering and Construction Group (*Global
E&C Group™} and our Globatl Power Group.

Our Global E&C Group, which operates worldwide, designs, engineers and constructs onshore and
offshore upsiream oil and gas processing facilities, natural gas liquefaction facilities and receiving terminals,
gas-to-liquids facilities, oil refining, chemical and petrochemical, pharmaceutical and biotechnology facilities
and related infrastructure, including power generation and distribution facilities, and gasification facilities. Qur
Global E&C Group provides engineering, project management and construction management services, and
purchases equipment, materials and services from third-party suppliers and contractors. Our Global E&C
Group is also involved in the design of facilities in new or developing market sectors, including carbon capture
and storage, solid fuel-fired integrated gasification combined-cycle power plants, coal-to-liquids and biofuels,
Our Global E&C Group owns one of the leading refinery residue upgrading technologies and a hydrogen
production process used in oil refineries and petrochemical plants. Additionally, our Global E&C Group has
experience with, and is able to work with, a wide range of processes owned by others. Our Global E&C Group
performs environmental remediation services, together with related technical, engineering. design and regula-
tory services. Qur Global E&C Group is also involved in the development, engineering, construction,
ownership and operation of power generation facilities, from conventional and renewable sources, and of
waste-to-energy facilities in Europe. Qur Global E&C Group generates revenues from engineering and
construction activities pursuant to contracts spanning up to approximately four years in duration and from
returns on ils equity investments in various praduction facilities.

Our Global Power Group designs, manufactures and erects sieam generating and avxiliary equipment for
clectric power generating stations and industrial facitities worldwide. Our steam generating equipment includes
a full range of technologies, offering independent power producer, utility and industrial clieats high-value
technology solutions for economically converting a wide range of fuels, including coal, petroleurn coke, oil,
gas, biomass and municipal solid waste, into steam and power. Qur circulating fluidized-bed boiler technology
(“CFB") is ideally suited to burning a very wide range of fuels, including low-quality fuels, fuels with high
moisture content and “wasle-type” fucls, and we believe is generally recognized as one of the environmentally
cleanest solid-fuel steam generating technologics available in the world today. For both our CFB and
pulverized coal (“PC") boilers, we offer supercritical once-through-unil designs to further improve the cnergy
efficiency and, therefore, the environmental performance of these units. Once-through supercritical boilers
operate at higher steam pressures than traditional plants, which results in higher efficiencies and lower
emissions, including emissions of carben dioxide (“CQO;™), which is considered a greenhouse gas. Further, for
the longer term, we are actively developing oxy-combustion technology for both our CFB and PC boilers. We
believe that oxy-combustion is one part of a practical solution for capturing and storing the majority of the
CO; from coal power plants. This technology produces a concentrated stream of CO; as part of the boiler
combustion process, avoiding the need for large and expensive post-combustion CO; separation equipment,
We also design, manufaciure and install auxitiary equipment, which includes feedwater heaters, steam
condensers and heat-recovery equipment. Our Global Power Group also offers a full line of new and retrofit
nitrogen-oxide (“NOx™) reduction systems such as sclective non-catalytic and catalytic NOx reduction systems
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as well as complete low-NOx combustion systems. We provide a broad range of site services relating to these
products, including construction and erection services, maintenance engineering, plant upgrading and life
extensions. Our Global Power Group also provides research analysis and experimental work in fluid dynamics,
heat transfer, combustion and fuel technology, materials engineering and solid mechanics. In addition, our
Global Power Group owns and operates cogeneration, independent power production and waste-to-energy
facilities, as well as power generation facilities for the process and petrochemical industries. Qur Global Power
Group generates revenues from engineering activities, equipment supply and construction contracts, operating
activities pursuant to the long-term sale of project outputs, such as electricity and steam, operating and
maintenance agreements, royalties from licensing our technology, and from returns on its equity investments in
various power production facilities,

In addition to these two business groups, which also represent operating segments for financial reporting
purposes, we report corporaté center expenses and expenses related to certain legacy liabilities, such as
asbestos, in the Corporate and Finance Group (“C&F Group™), which we also treat as an operating segment
for financial reporting purposes.

We conduct our business on a global basis. Our Global E&C Group has accounted for the largest portion
of our operating revenues over the last ten years. In fiscal year 2007, our Global E&C Group accounted for
72% of our total operating revenues, while our Global Power Group accounted for 28% of our total operating
revenues.

The geographic dispersion of our third-party revenues for fiscal year 2007, based upon where the project
is being executed, was as follows:

Global E&C Group Global Power Group Total
Percentage of Percentage of Percentage of
Third-Party Third-Party Third-Party Third-Party Third-Porty Third-Party
Revenues Revenues Revenuey Revenues Revenurs Reveaues

North America ......... $ 253952 69% $ 703,342 49.3% $ 957,294 18.7%
South America ......... 69,922 - 2.0% 70,690 5.0% 140,612 2.8%
Europe ............... 851,961 23.1% 478,010 33.5% 1,329,971 26.0%
Asia....... . ......... 800,110 7% 163,896 11.5% 964,006 18.9%
Middle East . .......... 1,001,193 27.2% 5,094 04% 1,006,287 19.7%
Other ................ 704,121 19.1% 4,952 0.13% 709,073 13.9%
Total................. 33,681,259 100.0%  $1,425,984 LO0.0%  $5,107,243 100.0%

We use several financial metrics 1o measure the performance of gur business segments. In addition to the
other metrics included on our consolidated financial statements, EBITDA is the primary earnings measure used
by our chief operating decision maker.

Except for one client that accounted for approximately 12% ard 13% of our consolidated revenues
(inclusive of flow-through revenues) in fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively, no other single client
accounted for ten percent or more of our consolidated revenues in fiscal years 2007, 2006 or 2005.
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Identifiable assets by group are those assets that are directly related to and support the operations of each
group. Corporate assets are principally cash, investments, real estate and insurance receivables.

Global Global C&F

Total E&C Group Power Group Group(ij
For the Year Ended December 28, 2007
Third-party revenues ... ....... ... $5,107,243  §3,681,259 $1425984 3 -
EBITDA(2) . . . i et e e i e $ 591,840 $ 505647 % 139,177 ¥ (52,984)
Less: Interest expense .. ........covvvnvrnnran.s (19.853)
Less: Depreciation and amortization. . ............ (41,691)
Income before income taxes. . .................. 530,294
Provision forincome taxes. . . .................. {136,420)
Netincome ............. e e $ 393874
Total BSSELS . . .o it i e et e e $3,248,988 $1,799,231  $1,243,696 3 206,061
Capital expenditures . .............. ..ot $ 51,295 5 42965 $ 8055 0§ 275
For the Year Ended December 29, 2006
Third-party revenues . .. .......c.vvverenvnreens $3,495,048 $2219,104 51275944 § —
EBITDA(3) . ... . i i e aans $ 399514 S 323297 $§ 95039 % (18,822)
Less: INtErest €XPense .. .. ..o v vinine e vnns (24,944)
Less: Depreciation and amortization. . ............ (30,877
Income before income taxes. .. . ........ ... u..n 343,693
Provision for inCOmMe 1aXes. . . . v . v v v e ircunvrnnnn (81,709
Net inCome . . ... oo e e e i $ 261,984
Total assets . . ... ov i e $2,565,549 $1397428 § 980,756 § 187,365
Capital expenditures .. ....................... $§ 30293 $ 22784 $ 7464 3 45
For the Year Ended December 30, 2005
Third-party revenues . . ............. ... 0o... $2,199.955 §$1471.948 § 728024 % {7
EBITDAM) . .. i e e e e $ B652 3 165629 § 107,266 $(264,243)
Less: Interestexpense . ... .. ... ... e, {50,618)
Less: Depreciation and amortization., . ............ {28,215)
Loss before income taxes. . ... ................. (70,181)
Provision forincome taxes. . . .................. (39.568)
Netloss. ... v i i e e e $ (109,749)
Capital expenditures ............. .. .coviienn. $ 10809 § 6856 3 3642 § n

(1) Includes general corporate income and expense, our captive insurance operation and eliminations.

(2) Includes in fiscal year 2007: increased/(decreased) contract profit of $35,150 from the regular re-evaluation
of contract profit estimates: $54,520 in our Global E&C Group and $(19,370) in our Glebal Power Group;
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a charge of $(7,374) in our C&F Group reflecting the revaluation of our asbestos liability and related asset
resulting primarily from increased asbestos defense costs projected through year-end 2022 and for the
addition of another year to our rolling 15-year asbestos liability estimate; and gains of $13,519 on the set-
tlement of coverage litigation with certain asbestos insurance carriers recorded in our C&F Group.

(3} Includes in fiscal year 2006: increased/(decreased) contract profit of $(5,670) from the regular re-evalua-
tion of contract profit estimates: $14,720 in our Global E&C Group and $(20,390) in our Global Power
Group; a charge of $(15,533) in our C&F Group reflecting the revaluation of our asbestos liability and
related asset; net asbestos-related gains of $115,664 recorded in our C&F Group primarily from settlement
of coverage litigation with centain asbestos insurance carriers; an aggregate charge of $(14,955) recorded
in our C&F Group in conjunction with the voluntary termination of our prior domestic senior credit agree-
ment; and a net charge of $(12,483) recorded in our C&F Group in conjunction with the debt reduction
initiatives completed in April and May 2006.

(4) Includes in fiscal year 2003: increased contract profit of $99,555 from the regular re-evaluation of contract
profit estimates: $66,274 in our Global E&C Group and $33,281 in our Global Power Group; a charge of
$(113,680) in our C&F Group on the revaluation of cur estimated asbestos liability and asbestos insurance
reccivable; credit agreement cosis in our C&F Group associated with the prior senior credit facility of
$(3,500); and an aggregate charge of $(58,346) in our C&F Group recorded in conjunction with the
exchange offers for the trust preferred securities and the 2011 senior notes.

For the Year Ended
December 28,  December 29,  December 30,
2007 2006

Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Subsidiaries: 2005
Global E&C Group . ... e $19,720 519,056 $24,527
Global Power Group . .........cooiniiiiiiiiiiain., 17,579 10,551 5,409
C&FGroup .. ... .. i e —_ (328) (88)
Total ... e e e $37,299 $29,279 $29,848

December 28,  December 29,
Investments In and Advances to Unconsolidated Subsidiaries: 2007 2006

Global E&C Group. . .. ..ot et e i e $130,240 $105,773
Global POWer GIOUP. . . ..ot o it ie e et in i rie e e e e e e e 68,092 61,405
007 € {71 T 14 8

82 $198,346 $167,186
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Third-party revenues as presented below are based on the geographic region in which the contracting

subsidiary is located and not the location of the client or job site.

For the Year Ended

December 28, December 29, December 30,
Geographic Concentration of Third-Party Revenues: 2007 2006 2008
United States . . ..ottt i et e e $1,091,584 § 931,701 § 451,532
BUIODE. . ot e e 3,412,606 2,286,205 1,557,965
Canada . . ... ... e 21,220 11,588 13,508
- 1 Y 568,164 253,457 164,705
South AMERCA. . . - . ot e 13,669 12,097 12,262
Other, net of eliminmations . . .. ... .. ..t —_ — (17
£ T $5,107,243  $3,495048  §$2,199,955

Long-lived assets as presented below are based on the geographic region in which the contracting

subsidiary is located.

Long-Lived Asscls:

December 28, Becember 19,
2007 2006

United SIates . ... .t i e e e e $213,501 $225,373
Burope . . . e 306,631 235,781
Canada. . .. i e e et e i e, 25 433
N T 30,945 28,141
SOUL AMIEIICA . . oot e e e, 66,673 60,242
Other, net of eliminations . . ... .. ...ttt e eane e 32,191 33,281
10 $650,366 $583,251
Third-party revenues by industry were as follows:
For the Year Ended

December 28, December 29,  December 30,
Third-Party Revenues by Induostry: 2007 2006 2005
Power generation . . ...........i it i $1437078 31326896 $ 915,786
Ol refiming . . ... e 1,431,810 716,053 444,830
Pharmaceutical. . .. ... .. ... it i e i e 155,266 128,510 149,867
Oiland gas . . ... ittt e 898,623 680,041 327.058
Chemical/petrochemical . . ... ... .o it 1,003,136 383,092 228,971
Power plant operation and maintenance .................... 120,474 111,154 116,303
Environmental . . . ..ot e e 54,878 68,847 43,346
Other, net of eliminations. . ... ... ...t viiernnnirnnnnenss 5978 80,455 {26,206)
v 7: ¥ RN $5,107,243  $3,495,048  $2,199,955

18. Operating Leases

Certain of our subsidiaries are obligated under operating lease agreements, primarily for office space. In
many instances, our subsidiaries retain the right to sub-lease the office space. Rental expense for these leases
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was $54,293, $37,634 and $32,601 in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Future minimum rental
commitments on non-cancelable leases are as follows:

Fiscal year: .
2008, .. e e e e e s $ 52,802

70 1, O 44,701
1 40,591
1 ) 1 35,810
002, . e e e e e 30,824
B 17 4= 1< 229,003
0 - $433,821

We entered into salefleaseback transactions for an office building in Spain in 2000 and an office building
in the United Kingdom in 1999. In connection with these transactions, we recorded deferred gains, which are
being amortized to income over the term of the respective leases. The amortization was $4,602, $4,168 and
$4,124 for fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively. As of December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006,
the balance of the deferred gains was $66,226 and $68,331, respectively, and is included in other long-term
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. The year-over-year change in the deferred gain balance includes
the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

19. Litigation and Uncertainties
Asbestos

Some of our U.S. and UK. subsidiaries are defendants in numerous asbestos-related lawsuils and out-of-
court informal claims pending in the United States and the United Kingdom. Plaintiffs claim damages for
personal injury alleged to have arisen from exposure to or use of asbestos in connection with work allegedly
performed by our subsidiaries during the 19705 and earlier.

United States

A summary of our U.S. claim activity is as follows:
’ Number of Clalms
For the Year Ended
December 28, December 29,  December 30,
2007 2006 2005

Open ¢claims at beginning of year . .. ........ ... ... 0, 135,890 164,820 167,760
New Claims . . ...ttt et i i i e e n e ian e 5,140 8,250 14,340
Claims resolved{l)...... R (9,690) (37,180 {17.280)
Openclaimsatendof year. ......... ... ... ... ot 131,340 135,890 164,820
Claims not valued in the liability(2) . . ........... ... . ..., (66.040) (47,820) (62,560)
Open claims valued in the liability atend of year ..,.......... 65,300 88,070 102,260

(1} Claims resolved in fiscal ycar 2006 include court dismissals without payment of mass claim filings approximating 22,900 claims.

(2) Claims not valued in the liability include claims on certain inactive court dockets, claims over six years old that are considered aban-
doned and certain other ilems. :
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Of the approximately 131,000 open claims, our subsidiaries are respondents in approximately 31,000
open claims wherein we have administrative agreements and are named defendants in lawsuits involving
approximately 100,000 plaintiffs.

All of the open administrative claims have been filed under blanket administrative agreements that we
have with various law firms representing claimants and do not specify monetary damages sought. Based on
our analysis of lawsuits, approximately 65% do not specify the monetary damages sought or merely recite that
the amount of monetary damages sought meets or exceeds the required jurisdictional minimum in the
jurisdiction in which suit is filed. Approximatety 11% request damages ranging from $10 to $50; approxi-
mately 11% request damages ranging from $51 to $1,000; approximately 10% request damages ranging from
$1,001 to $10,000; and the remaining 3% request damages ranging from $10,001 to, in a very small number
of cases, $50,000.

The majority of requests for monetary damages are asseried against multiple named defendants in a single
complaint.

We had the following U.S. asbestos-related assets and liabilities recorded on our consolidated balance
sheet as of the dates set forth below. Total U.S. asbestos-related liabilities are estimated through year-end
2022. Although it is likely that claims will continue 1o be filed after that date, the uncertainties inherent in any
long-term forecast prevent us from making reliable estimates of the indemnity and defense costs that might be
incurred after that date.

December 28, December 29,
2007 2006

Asbestos-related assets recorded within:

Accounts and notes receivable-other . ..... ... .. L ol $ 47,100 $ 47,000
Asbestos-related insurance recovery receivable ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 279,100 316,700
Total asbestos-related a5S€L5 . . ... .. i ittt i i i $326,200 $363,700
Asbestos-related liabilities recorded within:

ACCIUEd BXPENSES . . . . .0ttt et it e e i $ 72,000 $ 75,000
Asbestos-related liability . ... ........ ... .. . i, e 331,300 391,000
Total asbestos-related liabilities . . . .. ... ve it ittt it st en s $403,300 $466,000

Since year-end 2004, we have worked with Analysis Research Planning Corporation (*ARPC"), nationally
recognized consultants in projecting asbestos liabilities, to estimate the amount of asbestos-related indemnity
and defense costs at year-end for the next 15 years. Based on its review of fiscal year 2007 activity, ARPC
recommended that the assumptions used to estimale our future asbestos liability be updated as of year-end
2007. Accordingly, we devefoped a revised estimate of our aggregate indemnity and defense costs through
year-end 2022 considering the advice of ARPC. In the fourth quarter of 2007, we increased our liability for
asbestos indemnity and defense costs through year-end 2022 to $403,300, which brought our liability to a level
consistent with ARPC’s reasonable best estimate. In connection with updating our estimated asbestos liability
and related asset, we recorded a charge of $7,400 in the fourth quarter of 2007.

The amount paid on asbestos litigation, defense, and case resolution was $86,700, $33,300 and $83,800
in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2008, respectively. Through December 28, 2007, total cumulative indemnity
costs paid were approximately $625,300 and total cumulative defense costs paid were approximately
$248,400.
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As of December 28. 2007, total asbestos-related liabilities were comprised of an estimated liability of
$165,100 relating to open (outstanding) claims being valued and an estimated liability of $238,200 relating to
future unasserted claims through year-end 2022,

Our liability estimate is based upon the following information and/or assumptions: number of open
claims, forecasted number of future claims, estimated average cost per claim by disease type — mesothelioma,
lung cancer and non-malignancies — and the breakdown of known and future claims into disease type —
mesothelioma, lung cancer or non-malignancies. The total estimated liability, which has not been discounted
for the time value of money, includes both the estimate of forecasted indemnity amoumts and forecasted
defense costs. Total delcnse costs and indemnity lability payments are estimated Lo be incurred through year-
end 2022, during which period the incidence of new claims is forecasted to decrease each year. We believe
that it is likely that there will be new claims filed after 2022, but in light of uncertainties inherent in long-term
forecasts, we do not believe that we can reasonably estimate the indemnity and defense costs that might be
incurred after 2022. Historically, defense costs have represented approximiely 28% of total defense and
indemnity cosls.

The overall historic average combined indemnity and defense cost per resolved claim through Decem-
ber 28, 2007 has been approximately $2.6. The average cost per resolved claim is increasing and we believe
will cominue (o increase in the future.

The asbestos-related asset recorded within accounts and notes receivable-other as of December 28, 2007
reflects amounts due in the next 12 months under executed settlement agreements with insurers and does not
include any estimate for future scttlemenis. The recorded asbestos-related insurance recovery receivable
includes an estimate of recoveries from insurers in the unsettled insurance coverage litigation referred to below
based upon the application of New Jersey law to certain insurance coverage issues and assumptions relating to
cosl allocation and other factors as well as an estimate of the amount of recoveries under existing settlements
with other insurers. Such amounts have not been discounted for the time value of money.

Since year-end 2005, we have worked with Peterson Risk Consulting, nationally recognized experts in the
estimation of insurance recoveries, to review our estimate of the value of the seuled insurance asset and assist
in the estimation of our unsettied asbestos insurance asset. Based on insurance policy data, historical ¢laim
data, future liability estimates including the expected timing of payments and allocation methedology
assumptions we provided them, Peterson Risk Consulting provided an analysis of the unsettled insurance asset
as of December 28, 2007, We utilized that analysis to determine our estimate of the value of the unsettled
insurance asset as of December 28, 2007.

As of December 28, 2007, we estimated the value of our unsettled asbestos insurance asset related to
ongoing litigation in New York state court with our subsidiaries’ insurers a1 $27,600. The litipation relates 1o
the amounts of insurance coverage available for asbestos-related claims and the proper allocation of the
coverage among our subsidiaries' various insurers and our subsidiaries as self-insurers. We believe that any
amounts that our subsidiaries might be allocaied as sclf-insurer would be immaterial.

An adverse outcome in the pending insurance litigation described above could limit our remaining
insurance recoveries and result in a reduction in our insurance asset. However, a favorable outcome in all or
pan of the litigation could increase remaining insurance recoveries ahove our current estimate. If we prevail in
whole or in part in the litigation, we will re-value our asset relating to remaining available insurance recoveries
based on the asbestus liability estimated at that lime.

Over the last several years, certain of our subsidiaries have entered into settlement agreements calling for
insurers (o make lump-sum payments, as well as payments over time, for use by our subsidiaries to fund
asbestos-related indemnity und defense costs and, in certain cases, for reimbursement for portions of out-of-
pocket costs previously incurred. In fiscal year 2006, our subsidiaries reuched agreements to settle their
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disputed asbestos-related insurance coverage with four of their insurers. Primarily as a result of these insurance
settlements, we increased our asbestos-related insurance asset and recorded a gain of $96.200 in fiscal year
2006.

In fiscal year 2007, our subsidiaries reached an agreement to settle their disputed asbestos-related
insurance coverage with four additional insurers, including two in the fourth quarter. As a result of these
settlements, we increased our asbestos-related insurance asset and recorded a gain of $4,500 in the fourth
quarter and $13,500 in fiscal year 2007.

We intend 1o continue to atiempt to negotiate additional seitlements with insurers where achievable on a
reasonable basis in order o minimize the amount of fulure costs that we would be required to fund out of the
cash flows generated from our operations. Unless we seltle with the remaining insurers at recovery amounts
significantly in excess of our current estimate, it is likely that the amount of our insurance settlements will not
cover all future asbestos-related costs and we will be required to fund a portion of such future costs, which
will reduce our cash flows and working capital.

Also in fiscal year 2006, we were successful in our appeal of a New York state trial court decision that
previously had held that New York, rather than New Jersey, law applies in the above coverage litigation with
our subsidiaries’ insurers, and as a result, we increased our insurance asset and recorded a gain of $19,500. On
February 13, 2007, our subsidiaries’ insurers were granted permission by the appeliate court to appeal the
decision to the New York Court of Appeals, the siate’s highest court. On October 11, 2007, the New York
Count of Appeals upheld the appellate coun decision in our favor.

Even if the coverage litigation is resolved in a manner favorable to us, our insurance recoveries (both
from the litigation and from settlements) may be limited by insolvencies among our insurers. We have not
assumed recovery in the estimate of our asbestos insurance asset from any of our currently insolvent insurers.
Other insurers may become insolvent in the future and our insurers may fail 1o reimburse amounts owed to us
on a timely basis. Failure to realize the expected insurance recoveries, or delays in receiving material amounts
from our insuress could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and our cash flows.

Based on the year-end 2007 liability estimale, an increase of 25% in the average per claim indemnity
settlement amount would increase the liability by $70,400 and the impact on expense would be dependent
upon available additional insurance recoveries. Assuming no change 1o the assumptions currently used to
estimate our insurance asset, this increase would result in a charge in the statement of operations in the range
of approximately 70% 10 80% of the increase in the liability. Long-term cash flows would ultimately change
by the same amount. Should there be an increase in the estimated liability in excess of this 25%, the
percentage of that increase that would be expected te be funded by additional insurance recoveries will
decline.

We funded $19,000 of the asbestos liability indemnity payments and defense costs from our cash flows in
fiscal year 2007, net of the cash received from insurance setttements. We expect to fund a total of $25,000 of
the asbestos liability indemnity and defense costs from our cash flows in fiscal year 2008, net of the cash
expected to be received from existing insurance settlements. As we continue (o collect cash from insurance
settlements and assuming no increase in our asbestos-related insurance liability or any fulure insurance
settlements, the asbestos-related insurance receivable recorded on our consolidated balance sheet witl continue
to decrease.

The estimate of the liabilities and assets related 10 asbestos claims and recoveries is subject to a number
of uncertainties that may result in significant changes in the current estimates. Among these are uncertainties
as to the ultimate number and type of claims filed, the amounts of claim costs, the impact of bankrupicies of
other companies with asbestos claims, uncertainties surrounding the Jitigation process from jurisdiction to
jurisdiction and from case to case, as well as potential legislative changes. Increases in the number of claims
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filed or costs to resolve those claims could cause us lo increase further the estimates of the costs associated
with asbestos claims and could have a material adverse e¢ffect on our financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows.

United Kingdom

Some of our subsidiaries in the United Kingdom have also reccived claims alleging personal injury
arising from exposure 1o asbestos. To date, 866 claims have been brought against our U.K. subsidiaries of
which 342 remained open as of December 28, 2007. None of the settled claims has resulted in material costs
to us.

As of December 28, 2007, we had recorded total liabilities of $48,500 comprised of an estimated liability
relating to open (outstanding) claims of $9,000 and an estimated liability relating to future unasserted claims
through year-end 2022 of $39,500. Of the total, $3,000 was recorded in accrued expenses and $45,500 was
recorded in asbestos-related liabitity on the consolidated balance sheet. An asset in an equal amount was
recorded for the expected U.K. asbestos-related insurance recoveries, of which $3,000 was recorded in
accounts and noles receivable-other and $45,500 was recorded as asbestos-related insurance recovery
receivable on the consolidated balance sheet. The liability estimates are based on a U.K. House of Lords
judgment that pleural plaque claims do not amount to a compensable injury and accordingly, we have reduced
our liability assessment. Should this ruling be reversed by legislation, the asbestos liability and related asset
recorded in the U.K. would be approximately $66,100.

Project Claims

In the ordinary course of business, we are parties to litigation involving clients and subcontractors arising
out of project contracts. Such litigation includes claims and counterclaims by and against us for canceled
contracts, for additional costs incurred in excess of current contract provisions, as well as for back charges for
alleged breaches of warranty and other contract commitments. If we were found to be liable for any of the
claims/counterclaims against us, we would incur a charge against earnings to the extent a reserve had not been
established for the matter in our accounts or if the liability exceeds established reserves.

Compact CFB Boiler Arbitration — Asia

Arbitration was commenced against us in March 2004 arising out of a compact CFB boiler that we
engineered, supplied and erected for a client in Asia. In addition to claims for damages for breach of contract,
the client was seeking 1o rescind the contract based upon alleged material misrepresentations by us. If such
relief had been granied, we could have been compelled to reimburse the client for the purchase price paid
($25,700), in addition to other unquantified damages. We vigorously defended the case and counterclaimed for
unpaid receivables ($5,200), plus interest, for various breaches and non-performance by the client. Due to its
age and the ongoing dispute, a reserve for the full amount of the receivable had previously been taken.
Procedurally, the liability and damages portions of the case were separated. The hearing on the liability portion
concluded in June 2006 and a decision on the liability portion was rendered in May 2007. The client’s claim
for rescission was denied and we were awarded our vnpaid receivable, plus interesi. We were also awarded
delay damages, arbitration costs and counsel fees, subject to proof of the amounts during the damages phase
of the arbitration. Discussions with the client ensued following the award and as a resuit of an agreement
reached in September 2007, we re-established the receivable and recognized the award for delay damages,
arbitration costs and counsel fees in our fiscal year 2007 results. All amounts due under the agreement were
collected in October 2007.
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Thermal Electric Power Plunt Arbitration — South America

Arbitration was also commenced against us in July 2005 with respect to a thermal electric power plant in
South America that we designed, supplied and erected as a member of a consortium with other parties, The
plant’s concrete foundations experienced cracking, allegedly due to out-of-specification materials used in the
concrele poured by the consortium's subcontractor. The cliem had adopled an exiensive plan to repair the
foundations and was seeking reimbursement of its repair costs ($9,500). Alleging that this extensive repair
effort was in the nature of emergency mitigation only, the client was also claiming its estimated cost to totally
demolish and reconstruct the foundations at some point in the future ($14,300) plus lost profits during this
demolition and reconstruction period ($9,400). The arbitration hearing has concluded and the arbitrator has
dismissed the client’s claims against us. The arbitrator’s favorable decision has been confirmed in civil coun.

Power Plant Arbitration — Eastern Europe

In June 2006, we commenced arbitration against a client seeking final payment for our services in
connection with two power plants that we designed and built in Eastern Europe. The dispute primarily
concerns whether we are liable to the client for liquidated damages (“LDs™) under the contract for delayed
completion of the projects. The client contends that it is owed LDs, limited under the contract at
approximately €37,600 (approximately $55,400 at the exchange rate in effect as of December 28, 2007), and
is retaining as security for these LDs approximately €22,0600 (approximately $32,400 at the exchange raie in
effect as of December 28, 2007) in contract paymenis otherwise due to us for work performed. The client
contends that it is owed an additional €6,900 (approximately $10,200 at the exchange rate in effect as of
December 28, 2007} for the cost of consumable materials it had to incur due to the extended commissioning
period on both projects, the cost to relocate a piece of equipment on one of the projects and the cost of various
warranty repairs and punch list work. We are seeking payment of the €22,000 (approximately $32,400 at the
exchange rate in effect as of December 28, 2007 and which is recorded within contracts in process on the
consolidated balance sheet) in retention that is being held by the cliem for LDs, plus approximately €4.900
(approximately $7,200 at the exchange rate in effect as of December 28, 2007) in interesi on the reiained
funds, as well as approximately €9,100 (approximately $13,400 at the exchange rate in effect as of
December 28, 2007) in additional compensation for extra work performed beyond the original scope of the
contracts and the client's failure 10 procure the required property insurance for the project, which should have
provided coverage for some of the damages we incurred on the project related to turbine repairs. The
arbitration hearing on liability is currently underway. Accordingly, it is premature te predict the outcome of
this marter.

Power Plant Dispute — lreland

In 2006, a disputé arose with a client becavse of material corrosion that is occurring at two power plants
we designed and built in {reland, which began operation in December 2005 and June 2006. The boilers at both
plants are designed to burn milled peat as the primary fuel, supplied from differemt local sources. The peat
being supplied is out of the range specified by our contract and, while the matter is still under investigation,
we believe this variation from the agreed specifications is the cause of alkali halides corrosion that is affecting
the boiler tubes. We have identified a technical solution to ameliorate the boiler tube corrosion, and the client
is in the process of evaluating the proposed solution for the boiler tube comrosion. Disavowing responsibility
for the fue) specification, the client has refused to pay for the cost of the corrective work and has reserved its
rights against us under the coniract, which could include repairing or rejecting the plants and recovering
consequential damages in the event we are determined to be grossly negligent. We have advised the client that
we are not responsible for the cost of corrective work to address corrosion resulting from out-of-specification
fuel and we anticipate having discussions with the client in the near future regarding our claim,
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There is also corrosion occurring to subcontractor-provided emissions control equipment and induction
fans at the back-end of the power plants. The cause of this back-end corrosion, which we discovered during
the second quarter of 2007 to be more extensive than previously assessed, is under investigation. Based upon
the information gathered to date, we believe the corrosion is due principally to the low set point lemperature
design of the emissions control equipment that was sel by our subcontractor. If this proves to be the case, we
believe the subcontractor would be responsible for the cost 1o remedy this problem under our agreement with
them, although we may have direct responsibility for this cost to the client under our agreement with them. To
date, the subcontractor has denied responsibitity for the corrosion, contending it is the result of out-of-
specification fuel supplied by the client. We have reserved our rights against the client if this proves to be the
case. To the extent that we incur costs for comrecting this problem, we intend to pursue claims against our
subcontractor and/or our client, depending upon the cause of the corrosion. Due to the potential magnitude of
the amounts involved, there can be no assurance that we will collect amounts for which our subcontractor may
be determined to be liable. From a plant rejection standpoint, we do not believe that the back-end comective
work will materially impact our availability guaranty to the client described below.

The contract for these plants contains an availability guaranty requiring the plants to meet specified
energy generation levels over a three year period. The availability guaranty is expressly conditioned upon the
use of the contract-specified fuel. The availability guaranty provides for liquidated damages which could reach
the contract cap for liquidated damages of €17,500 (approximately $25,800 at the exchange rate in effect as of
December 28, 2007). In addition to liquidated damages, in the event that availability of either of the plants as
an average of the best two out of the first three years of operation is 80% or below, the client may be entitled
to certain remedies, the most significant of which would be the right to reject both plants and seck
reimbursement of the €351,000 contract price paid for the plants (approximately $516.800 at the exchange rate
in effect as of December 28, 2007) plus restoration costs al the sites. The client has alleged that at least one of
the planis has failed to mect the availability guaranty which we have disputed. We have advised the client that
we do not believe we are responsible under our availability guaranty (which is expressly subject to the client’s
prevision of specified fuel).

In the event that the parties are not able to resolve the dispute, the contract provides for arbitration
conducted under The Institution of Engineers of Ireland Arbitration Procedure. In such a proceeding, damages
that the client may seck could include, but may not be limited to, the cost to correct the corrosion in the boiler
tubes and emissions control equipment, liquidated damages under the availability guaranty, consequential
damages, including but not limited to lost profits, in the event gross negligence is proven and, in the event of
rejection, the total amount paid in respect of the plants, under the contract or otherwise, plus the cost to
dismantle the plants. As such, the costs claimed could exceed the above-stated contract price paid for the
plants and liquidated damages. We would vigorously oppose such claims in any such arbitration.

We have completed the necessary corrective actions for certain defects in the conveyor equipment at the
plants. While we believe that the subcontractor that provided the equipment is responsible for the defects, our
investigation is continuing.

During the fourth quarter of 2006, we established a contingency of $25,000 in relation to this project.
Primarily as a result of the second quarter of 2007 discovery of the more extensive back-end corrosion, the
contingency was increased by $30,000 during the second quarter of 2007.

The performance of our subsidiary executing the foregoing contract in Ireland is guaranteed by Foster
Wheeler Ltd. In addition, there are €16,700 (approximately $24,600 al the exchange rate in effect as of
December 28, 2007) of outstanding retention bonds that have been issued in favor of the client.

Due to the inherent commercial, legal and technical uncertainties underlying the estimation of all of the
project claims described above, the amounts ultimately realized or paid by us could differ materially from the
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balances, if any, included in our financial statements, which could result in additional material charges against
camnings, and which could also materially adversely impact our financial condition and cash flows.

Camden County Waste-to-Energy Project

One of our project subsidiaries, Camden County Energy Recovery Associates, LP (“CCERA”) owns and
operates a waste-to-energy facility in Camden County, New Jersey (the “Project”). The Pollution Control
Finance Authority of Camden County (“PCFA™) issued bonds to finance the construction of the Project and 1o
acquire a landfill for Camden County's use. Pursuant to a loan agreement between the PCFA and CCERA,
proceeds from the bonds were loaned by the PCFA to CCERA and used by CCERA to finance the
construction of the facility. Accordingly, the proceeds of this loan were recorded as debt on CCERA's balance
sheet and, therefore, are included in our consolidated balance sheet. CCERA's obligation to service the debt
incurred pursuant to the loan agreement is limited to depositing all tipping fees and electric revenues received
with the trustee of the PCFA bonds. The trustee is required to pay CCERA its service fees prior to servicing
the PCFA bonds. CCERA has no other debt repayment obligations under the loan agreement with the PCFA,

In 1997, the United States Supreme Counrt effectively invalidated New Jersey's long-standing municipal
solid waste flow rules and regulations, eliminating the guaranteed supply of municipal solid waste to the
Project with its commesponding tipping fee revenue. As a result, tipping fees have been reduced to market rate
in order to provide a steady supply of fuel to the Project. Since the ruling, those market-based revenues have
not been, and are not expected to be, sufficient to service the debt on outstanding bonds issued by the PCFA
to finance the construction of the Project.

In 1998, CCERA filed suit against the PCFA and other parties seeking, among other things, to void the
applicable contracts and agreements governing the Project (Camden County Energy Recovery Assoc. v. NUJ.
Department of Environmental Protection, et al., Superior Court of New Jersey, Mercer County, L-268-98).
Since 1999, the State of New Jersey has provided subsidies sufficient to ensure the payment of each of the
PCFA's debt service payments as they became due. The bonds outstanding in connection with the Project were
issued by the PCFA, not by us or CCERA, and the bonds are not guaranieed by either us or CCERA. In the
litigation, the defendants have asserted, among other things, that an equitable portion of the outstanding debt
on the Project should be allocated to CCERA even though CCERA did not guarantee the bonds.

Al this time, we cannct determine the ultimate outcome of the foregoing and the potential effects on
CCERA and the Project. If the State of New Jersey were to fail to subsidize the debt service, and there were
to be a default on a debt service payment, the bondholders might proceed to atiempt to exercise their
remedies, by among other things, seizing the collateral securing the bonds. We do not believe this collaleral
includes CCERA's plant.

Environmental Matters
CERCLA and Other Remedial Matlers

Under .S, federal statutes, such as the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (“CERCLA™), the Clean Water Act and the
Clean Air Act, and similar state laws, the current owner or operator of real property and the past owners or
operators of real property (if disposal of toxic or hazardous substances took place during such past ownership
or operation) may be jointly and severally liable for the costs of removal or remediation of toxic or hazardous
substances on or under their propenty, regardless of whether such materials were released in violation of law or
whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of such substances. Moreover,
under CERCLA and similar state laws, persons who amrange for the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxic
substances may also be jointly and severally tiable for the costs of the removal or remediation of such
substances at a disposal or treatment site, whether or not such site was owned or operated by such person,
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which we refer to as an off-site facility. Liability at such off-site facilities is typically allocated among all of
the financially viable responsible parties based on such factors as the relative amount of waste contributed to a
site, toxicity of such waste, relationship of the waste contributed by a party to the remedy chosen for the site
and other factors.

We currently own and operate industrial facilities and we have also transferred our interests in industrial
facilities that we formerly owned or operated. It is likely that as a result of our current or former operations,
hazardous substances have affected the facilities or the real property on which they are or were situated. We
also have received and may conlinue to receive claims pursuant to indemnity obligations from the present
owners of facilities we have transferred, which claims may require us to incur costs for investigation and/or
remediation,

We are currently engaged in the investigation and/or remediation under the supervision of the applicable
regulatory authorities at four of our or our subsidiaries’ former facilities. In addition, we sometlimes engage in
investigation and/or remediation without the supervision of a regulatory authority. Although we do not expect
the environmental conditions at our present or former facilities 10 cause us to incur material costs in excess of
those for which reserves have been established, it is possible that various events could cause us to incur costs
materially in excess of our present reserves in order to fully resolve any issues surrounding those conditions.
Further, no assurance can be provided that we will not discover additional environmental conditions at our
currently or formerly owned or operated properties, or that additional claims will not be made with respect 1o
formerly owned properties, requiring us to incur material expenditures to investigate and/or remediate such
conditions.

We have been notified that we are a potentially responsible party (“PRP™) under CERCLA or similar
state laws at three off-site facilities. At each of these sites, our liability should be substantially less than the
total site remediation costs because the percentage of wasic attributable to us compared to that attributable to
all other PRPs is low. We do not believe that our share of cleanup obligations at any of the off-site facilities as
to which we have received a notice of potential liability will exceed $500 in the aggregate. We have also
received and responded to a request for information from the United States Environmental Protection Agency
(“USEPA”) regarding a fourth off-site facility. We do not know what, if any, further actions USEPA may take
regarding this fourth off-site facility.

Mountain Top

In February 1988, one of our subsidiaries, Foster Wheeler Energy Corporation (“FWEC”), entered into a
Consent Agreement and Order with the USEPA and the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection
(“PADEP") regarding its former manufacturing facility in Mountain Top, Pennsylvania. The order essentially
required FWEC to investigate and remediate as necessary contaminants, including trichloroethylene (“TCE™),
in the soil and groundwater at the facility. Pursuant to the order, in 1993 FWEC installed a “pump and treat”
system 1o remove TCE from the groundwater. It is not possible at the present time to predict how long FWEC
will be required to operate and maimain this system.

In the fall of 2004, FWEC sampled the private domestic water supply wells of certain residences io
Mountain Top and identified approximately 30 residences whose water supply contained TCE at levels in
excess of Safe Drinking Water Act standards. The subject residences are located approximately one mile to the
southwest of where the TCE previously was discovered in the soils at the former FWEC facility.

Since that time, FWEC, USEPA and PADEP have cooperated in an investigation to, among other things,
attempt to identify the source(s) of the TCE in the residential wells. Although FWEC believed the evidence
available at that time was not sufficient to support a determination by a governmental entity that FWEC was a
PRP as to the TCE in the residential wells, FWEC in October 2004 began providing the potentially affected
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19. Litigation and Uncertainties — (Continued)

residences with bottled water. [t thereafter arranged for the installation, maintenance and testing of filters to
remove the TCE from the water being drawn from the wells. In August 2005, FWEC entered into a settlement +
agreement with USEPA whereby FWEC agreed 10 arrange and pay for the hookup of public water to the
affected residences, which involved the extension of a water main and the installation of laterals from the main
to the affected residences. The foregoing hookups have been completed. As residences were hooked up,

FWEC ceased providing bortled water and filters to them. FWEC is incurring costs related to public outreach
and communications in the affected area. FWEC may be required to pay the agencies’ costs in overseeing and
responding to the sitvation. There is also a possibility that FWEC would incur further costs if it were to

conduct further investigation regarding the TCE. We have accrued our best estimate of the cost related to the
foregoing and review this cstimate on a quarterly basis.

Other costs to which FWEC could be exposed could include, among other things, FWEC's counsei and
consulting fees, further agency oversight and/or response costs, costs and/or exposure related to the litigation
described below beyond those for which accruals have been made and other costs related to possible further
investigation and/er remediation. At present, it is not possible to determine whether FWEC will be determined
to be liable for some or all of the items described in this paragraph, nor is it possible to reliably estimate the
potential liability associated with the items.

If one or more third-parties are determined to be a source of the TCE, FWEC will evaluate its oplions
regarding the potential recovery of the costs FWEC has incurred, which options could include seeking to
recover those costs from those determined to be a source.

In March 2006, a complaint was filed in an action entitled Sarah Martin and Jeffrey Martin v. Foster
Wheeler Energy Corporation, Case No. 3376-06, Court of Common Pleas, Luzerne County, Pennsylvania
(subsequently removed to the United States Disirict Court, Middle District of Pennsylvania). The complaint
alleged that it was filed on behalf of the Martins and more than 25 others similarly situated owning or residing
on property impacted or threatened with impacts of the TCE released from the former FWEC facility. The
complaint sought to recover costs of environmental remediation and continued environmental monitoring of
alleged class members’ property, diminution in property value, cosis associated with obtaining healthy water,
the establishment of a medical monitoring trust fund, statutory, treble and punitive damages and interest and
the costs of the suit.

In April 2007, the ‘court in the Martin case preliminarily approved a class action settlement that had been
jointly filed by the plaintiffs and FWEC. The preliminary settlement was subject to the class members' opt-in/
opt-out process and the holding of a fairness hearing before the court. A number of the class members opted-
out of the preliminary settlement, and a number of them objected that the preliminary settlement was not fair.
After the fairness hearing the court, in December 2007, entered an order finally approving the settlement.

Under the terms of the setilement, FWEC will pay the class and its counse! a total of approximately
$1,600 in exchange for a release by class members of all claims with respect to the matiers that are the subject
of the litigation. The release will not extend 10 the claims of those who opt-out of the settlement. The class,
which was agreed upon only for the purposes of the settlement, consists of three categories of persons who
own or live on property in, or within approximately 150 feet of, the area ir which TCE is inferred to exist in
the groundwater. One of the three categories of the class includes those persons who live in residences at
which TCE was detected in private wells in 2004. We have accrued a provision sufficient to cover the
settlement.

In April 2006, a complaint was filed in an action entitled Donna Rose Cunningham and Michael A.
Cunningham v. Foster Wheeler Energy Corporation, United States District Court, Middle District of Penrnsyl-
vania. The complaint’s allegations are generally similar to those in the Martin case, except that the complaint
is on behalf of the Cunninghams only, not an alleged class, and except that the Cunninghams have included a
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19. Litigation and Uncertainties — (Continued)

claim for embarrassment, humiliation and emotional distress. We have accrued a provision that we believe is
appropriale for this matter. Based upon its investigation and the proceedings to date, FWEC will vigorously
defend itself in these proceedings; however, it is premature to predict the ultimate outcome of the proceedings.

In May 2006, a complaint was filed in an action entitled Gary Prezkop, Personal Representative of the
Estate of Mary Prezkop. Deceased, and Gary Prezkop, in his own right, v. Foster Wheeler Energy Corporation
and Leonard M. Lulis. Case No. 000545, Court of Common Pleas, Philadelphia County, Pennsyivania. The
complaint’s allegations were generally similar 1o those in the Martin and Cunningham cases, but they also
included claims for Mary Prezkop's alleged wrongful death, During fiscal year 2007, the matter was setiled
for an amount that did not have a material impact on us.

Other Envirgnmental Matters

Our operations, especially our manufacturing and power plants, are subject to comprehensive laws
adopted for the protection of the environment and to regulate land use. The laws of primary relevance o our
operations regulate the discharge of emissions into the water and air, but can also include hazardous materials
handling and disposal, waste disposal and other types of environmental regulation. These laws and regulations
in many cases require a lengthy and complex process of obtaining licenses, permits and approvals from the
applicable regulatory agencies. Noncompliance with these laws can result in the imposition of material civil or
criminal fines or penalties. We believe that we are in substantial compliance with existing environmenta) laws,
However, no assurance can be provided that we will not become the subject of enforcement proceedings that
could cause us 1o incur material expenditures. Further, no assurance can be provided that we will not need to
incur marerial expenditures beyond our existing reserves to make capital improvements or operational changes
necessary (o allow us to comply with future environmental laws.

With regard 1o the foregoing, the wasle-to-energy facility operated by our CCERA project subsidiary is
subject to certain revisions to New Jersey's mercury air emission regulations. The revisions make CCERA’s
mercury control requirements more stringent, especially when the last phase of the revisions becomes effective
in 2012. CCERA’s management believes that the data generated during recent stack testing tends to indicate
that the facility will be able to comply with even the most stringent of the regulatory revisions without
installing edditional control equipment. Even if the equipment had to be installed, CCERA believes that the
project’s sponsor would be responsible to pay for the equipment. However, the sponsor may not have sufficien
funds 1o do so or may assert that it is not so responsible. Budgetary estimates of the cost of installing the
additional control equipment are approximately $30,000 based on our last assessment.
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20. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

‘Three Months Ended
December 28, September 28, June 2%, March 30,
2007 2007 2007 2007
Operaling revenues. . . ........oovrvens $ 1465483 $ 1299872 § 1,189.766 $ 1.152,122
Contract profit .. ... ..o 170,003 197,960 168.846 207.512
NEtifCOME .« -« v vevvvesenneencnns 78,098 129,101 71,850 114,825
Net income attributable to common
shareholders. . .......coivon o 78,098 129,11 71,850 114,825
Earnings per common share:
BaSiC « v v o et e $ 054 % 091 $ 051 $§ 0.82
Diluted. . .. .vvr v $ 054 % 089 § 050 § 0.80
Shares outstanding:
Weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding for basic earmings
per common share, . .............. 143,540,329 142,517,528 141,078,576 139,507,752
Effect of dilutive securities .. ......... 1,615,072 2,574,936 3,543,466 4,023,304
Weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding for diluted earnings
per common share. ... ...l 145,155,401 145,092,464 144,622,042 143,531,056
Three Months Ended
December 29, September 29, June M, March 3,
2006 2006 2006 2006
Operating TEVEAUES. . . .« .. .vsvvvrnnn o $ 1,593319 $ 910,580 $ 745307 $ 645842
Contractprofit . . . .. .. oovviii vt 170,338 129,189 127,942 80,318
NELINCOME .o vvvvsenemcnareaaens 63,108 75,827 108,418 14,631
Net income/(loss) attributable to common
shareholders . . ... ... oo 63,108 15,827 108418 (4.814)
Eamnings/(Joss) per common share:
BasiC ..o $ 046 § 0.56 § 081 § (0.04)
Diluted. . .o\ eeeee e $ 044 $ 053 % 077 § (0.04)%
Shares outstanding:
Weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding for basic
camings/(loss) per common share . ... 136,755,348 135,421,456 133,669,862 126,138,872
Effect of dilutive securities . . ......... 6,139,370 6,821,720 7,698,976 *
Weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding for diluted
earningsf(loss) per common share . . .. 142,894,718 142,243,176 141,368,838 126,138,872

* The impact of potentially dilutive securities such as options to purchase common shares, warrants to pur-
chase comman shares and the non-vested portion of restricted awards were not included in the calculation
of diluted loss per common share in loss periods due to their antidilutive effect.
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20. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) — (Continued)

(1)} Net income for the quarter ended December 28, 2007 includes a charge of $7,374 reflecting the revalua-
tion of our ashestos liability and related asset resulting primarily from increased asbestos defense costs
projected through year-end 2022 and for the addition of another year to our relling 15-year asbestos liabil-
ity estimate and a net gain of $4,886 on the settlement of coverage litigation with certain asbestos insur-
ance carrters,

(2) As discussed in the “Earnings per Common Share” section of Note 1, the fair valuc of the additional
shares issued as part of the warrant offer transactions, which were consummated in Janvary 2006, reduced

net income attributable to the common shareholders when calculating eamings/(less) per common share.
The fair value of the additional shares issued was $19,445.
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Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
(amounts in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 28, 2007

Addttions Additions

Balance at Charged to  Charged to Balance at the
Beginning of. Costs and Other End of the
Year Expenses Accounts Deductions Year
Description
Allowance for doubtful accounts........ § 75848 $6,109 $ —  $(1,559 % 12,398
Deferred tax valuation allowance . ...... $282,104 $1,186 $24,255 $(13,259)  $294,286
For the Year Ended December 29, 2006
Additions Additions
Balance at Charged to  Charged to Balance at the
Begioning of Costs and Other End of the
Year Expenses Accounts Deductions Year
Description
Allowance for doubtful accounts. .. .. ... $ 10,379 $ 2317 $ — $(4848) $ 7,848
Deferred tax valuation allowance ... .... $260,10] $82,136 $3,176 $(63,30%) $282.104
For the Year Ended December 30, 2005
Additlons Additions
Balance at Chargedto  Charged to Balance at the
Beginning of Costs and Other End of the
Year Expenses Accounts Deductions Year
Description
Allowance for doubtful accounts. ....... $ 23,199 $ 3,006 $ 157 $(15983) $ 10,379
Deferred tax valuation allowance ....... $234,432 $71,838 311,474 $(57,643) $260,101
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act”), is recorded. processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in
the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and
procedures designed (o ensure that the information required 1o be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal
executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and
procedures, we recognize that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives and we necessarily are required
to apply our judgment in evaluating the cosi-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, our chief executive officer and our chief financial
officer carried out an evaluation, with the participation of our Disclosure Committee and management, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15. Based on this
evaluation, our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer concluded, at the reasonable assurance
level, that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this
report.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer, we
conducted an cvaluation of the effectiveness of our intemal control over financial reporting based on the
framework in /nternal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Commitice of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 28, 2007,

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Because of the inherent limitations in al! control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues within a company are detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the consol-
idated financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K, has also audited the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting as of December 28, 2007, as stated in their report, which appears
within Item 8.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal conirol over financial reporting in the quarter ended
December 28, 2007 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial repornting.

ITEM $B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.




PART 1lI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Item 10 incorporates information by reference to our definitive proxy statement for the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders, which is expected to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within
120 days of the close of our fiscal year ended December 28, 2007,

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which applies to all of our directors, officers
and employees including the chief executive officer, chief financial officer, controller and all other senior
finance organization employees. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is publicly available on our website
at www.fwc.com/corpgov. Any waiver of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for executive officers or
directors may be made only by the Board of Directors or a commitiee of the Board of Directors and will be
promptly disclosed to shareholders. If we make any substantive amendments to this Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics or grant any waiver, including an implicit waiver, from a provision of the Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics to the chief executive officer, chief financial officer, controller or any person performing
similar functions, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website at www.fiwe.com/
corpgov and/or in a current report on Form 8-K, as required by law and the rules of any exchange on which
our securities are publicly traded.

A copy of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics can be obtained upon request, without charge, by
writing to the Office of the Secretary, Foster Wheeler Lid,, Perryville Corporate Park, Clinton, New Jersey
08809-4000,

1TEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

liem 11 incorporates information by reference to our definitive proxy statement for the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders, which is expected to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within
120 days of the close of our fiscal year ended December 28, 2007.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
ltem 12 incorporates information by reference to our definitive proxy statement for the Annval General

Meeting of Shareholders, which is expected to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within
120 days of the close of our fiscal year ended December 28, 2007.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth, as of December 28, 2007, the number of securilies outstanding under each
of our stock option plans, the weighted-average exercise price of such options and the number of options




available for grant under such plans. The following table also sets forth, as of December 28, 2007, the number
of restricted share units and restricted stock granted pursuant to our Omnibus Incentive Plan.
Weighted-Average Number of Securities Remaining

Number of Sccurities to Excreise Price of Avallable for Future lssuance
be Issued Upon Exercise Outstanding Under Equity Compensatlon Plans
of Outstanding Options,  Options, Warraats (excluding securities reflected
Warrants and Rights and Rights ($) in column (a))
Plan Category (a) (b} {c}
Equity Compensation Plans ,
Approved by Security Holders: :
Omnibus Incentive Plan. ........ 1,486,962 $ 3043 8,066,938
1995 Stock Option Plan. .. ... ... 192,428 $128.89 —
Directors” Stock Option Plan . . . . . T 14,100 $11993 —
Directors’ Deferred Compensation '
Program .................. — $ 000 —
Equity Compensation Plans
Not Approved by Securily
Holders:
Raymond J. Milchovich V. .. ... 130,000 $ 49.85 : —
M.). Rosenthal & Associates, Inc. .
B 25,000 $ 18.80 -
2004 Stock Option Plan @, .., ... 72,376 $ 13.10 —
Total ................ ..., 1,920,866 $ 4146 8,066,938

(1) Under the terms of his employment agreement, dated Ociober 22, 2001, Mr. Milchovich received an option
to purchase 130,000 of our common shares on October 22, 2001. This option was granted al an exercise
price of $49.85 and vested 20% each year over the five-year term of the agreement. The option exercise
price is equal to the median of the high and low price of our common shares on the grant date. The option
has a term of 10 years from the date of grant.

{2) Under the terms of the consulting agreement with M.J. Rosenthal & Associates, Inc. on May 7, 2002, we
granted a nonqualified stock option to purchase 25,000 of our common shares at a price of $18.80 with a
term of 10 years from the date of grant. The exercise price is equal to the mean of the bigh and low price
of our common shares on the date of grant. The option is exercisable on or after March 31, 2003. The
option, to the extent not then exercised, shall terminate upon any breach of certain covenants conlained in
the consulting agreement.

(3) Under the 1erms of the 2004 Stock Option Plan, adopted by the Board of Directors in September 2004,
one of our senior executives was granted options to purchase 338,000 common shares at an exercise price
of $11.60 per common share on August 8, 2005. Such options expire on August 7, 2008. One-third of the
options vesied in the fourth quarter of 2005 and the balance vested during the fourth quarter of 2006. As
of December 28, 2007, options to purchase 40,000 common shares at an exercise price of $11.60 per com-
mon share remained outstanding.

On October 10, 2005, one of our senior executives was granted options under the 2004 Stock Option Plan
to purchase 104,330 common shares at an exercise price of $14.975 per common share. Such options
expire on October 9, 2008, One-third of the options vested in the fourth quarter of 2005 and the balance
vested during the fourth quarter of 2006. As of December 28, 2007, options to purchase 26,082 common
shares at an exercise price of ${4.975 per common share remained outstanding,
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On November 8, 2005, our non-employee directors were issued options under the 2004 Stock Option Plan
to purchase 14,686 common shares at an exercise price of $14.838 per common share. Such options expire
on September 30, 2010. The non-employee director options vested in one-tweifth increments until fully
vested on September 30, 2006. As of December 28, 2007, options to purchase 6,294 common shares at an
exercise price of $14.838 per common share remained outstanding.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

ltem 13 incorporates information by reference to our definitive proxy statement for the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders, which is expected to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within
120 days of the close of ovr fiscal year ended December 28, 2007.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

ltem 14 incorporates information by reference to our definitive proxy statement for the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders, which is expected 1o be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within
120 days of the close of our fiscal year cnded December 28, 2007. '
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PART IV .

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Documents filed as part of this Report:

Exhibit

3.1

32

33

34

35
40

10.1

10.2

103

10.4

{1) Financial Statements
Financial Statements — See liem § of this Repont.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule I1:  Valuation and Qualifying Accounts — See [tem 8 of this Report.

All schedules and financial statements other than those indicated above have been omitted
because of the absence of conditions requiring them or because the required information is
shown in the financial statements or the notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits

Exhibits

Memorandum of Association of Foster Wheeler Ltd. (Filed as Annex II to Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s
Form S-4/A (File No. 333-52468), filed on March 9, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Memoranda of Reduction of Share Capital and Memorandum of Increase in Share Capital each dated
December 1, 2004, (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 (¢ Foster Wheeler Lid.’s Form 8-K, dated November 29, 2004
and filed on December 2, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Certificate of Designation relating to Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s Series B Convertible Preferred Shares, adopted
on September 24, 2004. (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Foster Wheeler Lid.’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 24, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Bye-Laws of Foster Wheeler Ltd., amended May 9, 2006. (Filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Foster Wheeler Lid.’s
Form 8-K, dated May 9, 2006 and filed on May 12, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Memorandum of Increase of Share Capital dated February 7, 2008.

Foster Wheeler Ltd. hereby agrees 10 furnish copies of instruments defining the rights of holders of long-
term debt of Foster Wheeler Ltd. and its coasolidated subsidiaries to the Commission upon request,

Regisiration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2004, by and among Foster Wheeler Lid., Foster
Wheeler LLC, the guarantors listed therein and each of the purchasers signatory thereto. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.5 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.'s registration statement on Form S-4 (Flle No. 119841), filed on
October 20, 2004, and incorporated by reference herein.)

Waiver of the Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 2, 2006, by and among Foster Wheeler
Lid., Foster Wheeler LLC, on behalf of themselves and the subsidiary guarantors and Citigroup Global
Capital Markets Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 10.13 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.'s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 30, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Waiver of the Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 2, 2006, by and among Foster Wheeler
Ltd., Foster Wheeler LLC, on behalf of themselves and the subsidiary guarantors and Mermrill Lynch Global
Allocation Fund, Inc., Mermill Lynch International Investment Fund-MLIIF Globai Allecation Fund,
Merrill Lynch Variable Series Fund, Inc.-Merrill Lynch Global Allocation V.1. Fund, and Merrill Lynch
Series Funds, Inc.-Global Allocation Strategy Portfolio. (Filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.'s
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Credit Agreement, dated September 13, 2006, among Foster Wheeler LL.C, Foster Wheeler USA
Corporation, Foster Wheeler North America Corp., Foster Wheeler Energy Corporation, Foster
Wheeler International Corporation, and Foster Wheeler Inc.,, as Borrowers, the guarantors party
thereto, the lenders party thereto, BNP Paribas as Administrative Agent, BNP Paribas Sccurities Corp.
as Sole Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger, and Calyon New York Branch as Syndication Agent. (Filed as
Exhibit 99.1 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.'s Form 8-K, dated September 13, 2006 and filed on September 14,
2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)
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Exhibit

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

1018

10.19

Exhibits

Amendment No. 1, dated May 4, 2007, 10 the Credit Agreement, dated September 13, 2006, between
Foster Wheeler LLC, Foster Wheeler USA Corporation, Foster Wheeler Nerth Amenica Corp., Foster
Wheeler Energy Corporation, Foster Wheeler International Corporation, Foster Wheeler Inc., Foster
Wheeler Ltd., Foster Wheeler Holdings Ltd., the subsidiary guarantors party thereto, the lenders party
thereto, and BNP Paribas. (Filed as Exhibit 10.4 10 Foster Wheeler Ltd.'s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 30, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Guarantee Facility, dated July 22, 2005, among Foster Wheeler Limited, Foster Wheeler Energy Limited,
Foster Wheeler World Services Limited, Foster Wheeler (G.B.) Limited and The Bank of Scotland
regarding, among other things, a £50,000,000 guarantee facility and a £150,000,000 forward foreign
exchange facility. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Foster Wheeler Lid.'s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Corporate Guarantee, dated July 25, 2005, among Foster Wheeler Limited, Foster Wheeler Energy
Limited, Foster Wheeler World Services Limited, Foster Wheeler (G.B.) Limited and The Bank of
Scotland. (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.'s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2005, and incorporated herein by reference.) )

Form of Debenture, dated July 25, 20085, issued in favor of The Bank of Scotland as Security Trustee. (Filed
as Exhibit 99.3 to Foster Wheeler Lid.'s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.)

Lease Agreement, dated as of August 16, 2002, by and among Energy (NJ) QRS 15-10, Inc. and Foster
Wheeler Realty Services, Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 10.15 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 28, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Amendment to the Lease Agreement, dated as of January 6, 2003, between Energy (NJ) QRS 15-10, Inc.
and Foster Wheeler Really Services, Inc, (Filed as Exhibit 10.30 to Foster Wheeter Ltd.’s Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 27, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Amendment No. 2, dated as of April 21, 2003, 10 the Lease Agreement between Energy (NJ) QRS 15-10,
Inc. and Foster Wheeler Realty Services, Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s Form [0-Q for
the quarter ended March 28, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Amendment No. 3, dated as of July 14, 2003, to the Lease Agreement dated August 16, 2002, between
Energy (NJ) QRS 15-10, Inc. and Foster Wheeler Realty Services, Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Foster
Wheeler Ltd.’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 27, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Guaranty and Suretyship Agreement, dated as of August 16, 2002, made by Foster Wheeler LLC, Foster
Wheeler Lid., Foster Wheeler Inc., Foster Wheeler International Holdings, Inc. and Energy (NJ) QRS
15-10, Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 10.14 1o Faster Wheeler Lid.'s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 28, 2002
and incorporated herein by reference.)

Deed between Foster Wheeler LLC and Foster Whecler Realty Services, Inc. and CIT Group Inc. (NJ),
dated as of March 31, 2003. (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.'s Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 28, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)

Preliminary Agreement for the Sale of Quotas, dated January 31, 2006, between Foster Wheeler ltaliana
S.p.A., Fineldo S.p.A. and MPE S.p.A. (Filed as Exhibit 10.29 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.'s Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 30, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Foster Wheeler Inc. Directors’ Stock Option Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s post
effective amendment te Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-25945-99), filed on June 27, 2001, and
incorporated herein by reference.)

1995 Stock Option Plan of Foster Wheeler Inc. (as Amended and Restated as of September 24, 2002).
(Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Foster Wheeler 11d."’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 27, 2002, and
incorporated herein by reference.)

Foster Wheeler Annual Executive Short-term Incentive Plan, as amended and restaled effective January 1,
2006. (Filed as Exhibit 10.20 to Foster Wheeler Lid.’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 29,
2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Foster Wheeler Ltd. 2004 Stock Option Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 1o Foster Wheeter Ltd.’s Form 8-K,
dated September 29, 2004 and filed on October |, 2004, and incorporaled herein by reference.)
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Exhibits

First Amendment 1o the Foster Wheeler Ltd. 2004 Stock Option Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Foster
Wheeler Ltd.’s Form 8-K, dated May 13, 2005 and filed on May 16, 2005, and incorporated herein by
reference.)

Form of First Amendment to the Foster Wheeler Lid. 2004 Stock Option Plan with respect to non-
employee directors, (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 10 Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s Form 8-K, dated May 13, 2005 and
filed on May 16, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Form of Amended and Restated Notice of Stock Option Grant with respect 1o executive officers, officers
and key employees. (Filed as Exhibit 99.3 to Foster Wheeler Lid.'s Form 8-K, dated May 13, 2005 and filed
on May 16, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Foster Wheeler Ltd. Omnibus Incentive Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 10.] to Foster Wheeler Ltd.'s Form §-K,
dated May 9, 2006 and filed on May 12, 2006, and incorporuted herein by reference.)

Form of Director’s Stock Option Agreement effective June 16, 2006 by and between Foster Wheeler Lid.
and each of Ralph Alexander, Eugene Atkinson, Diane C. Creel, Roberi C. Flexon, Stephanie Hanbury-
Brown, Joseph J. Melone and James D. Woods. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s Form 8-K,
dated June 14, 2006 and filed on June 16, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Form of Employee Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement effeclive November 15, 2006 with respect to
certain employees and executive officers. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 1o Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s Form 8-K, dated
November 15, 2006 and filed on November 17, 2006, and incorporaled herein by reference.)

Form of Employee Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement effective November 15, 2006 with respect to
certain employees and executive officers. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 1o Foster Wheeler Lid.’s Form 8-K, dated
November 15, 2006 and filed on November 17, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Form of Director Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement effective November 185, 2006 with respect to non-
employee directors. (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 10 Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s Form 8-K, dated November 15, 2006
and filed on November 17, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Form of Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement effective November 15, 2006 with respect 10 non-
employee directors. (Filed as Exhibit 10.4 1o Foster Wheeler Lid.’s Form 8-K, dated November 15, 2006
and filed on November 17, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Warrant Agreemeni belween Foster Wheeler Ltd. and Mellon Investor Services LLC, including forms of
warrani centificates. (Filed as Exhibit 4.10 10 Fosier Wheeler Ltd.'s registration statement on Form S-3
(File No. 333-120076), filed on October 29, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference.)

Master Guarantee Agreement, dated as of May 25, 2001, by and among Foster Wheeler LLC, Foster
Wheeler International Holdings, Inc. and Foster Wheeler Ltd. (Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Foster Wheeler
Lid.'s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 29, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Form of Change of Control Agreement, dated as of May 25, 2001, and entered into by the Company with
executive officers, (Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Foster Wheeler Lid.’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 29,
2001, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and officers of the Company and Foster Wheeler Inc.,
dated as of November 3, 2004. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 10 Foster Wheeler Lid.'s Form 8-K, dated
November 3, 2004 and filed on November 8, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Employment Agreement between Foster Wheeler Ltd. and Raymond J. Milchovich, dated as of August )1,
2006. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Foster Wheeler Lid.’s Form 8-K, dated August 7, 2006 and filed on
August 11, 2006, and incorporated herein by referefice.)

First Amendment to the Employment Agreement, dated January 30, 2007, between Foster Wheeler Ltd.
and Raymond J. Milchovich. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.'s Form 8-K, dated January 30,
2007 and filed on February 2, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Second Amendment to the Employment Agreement, dated February 27, 2007, between Foster Wheeler
Ltd. and Raymond J. Milchovich. (Filed as Exhibit 10.] to Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s Form 8-K, dated
February 27, 2007 and filed on March 2, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Stock Option Agreement of Raymond J. Milchovich, dated as of October 22, 2001. (Filed as Exhibit 10.13
to Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2001, and incorporated herein
by reference.)
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Exhibits

Employee’s Resiricted Siock Award Agreement of Raymond J. Milchovich, dated as of August 11, 2006.
(Fited as Exhibit 10.2 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s Form 8-K, dated August 7, 2006 and filed on August 11,
2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Employee Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement of Raymond J. Milchovich, dated as of August 11, 2006.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.3 1o Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s Form 8-K, dated August 7, 2006 and filed on August 11,
2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Employment Agreement between Foster Wheeler Lid. and John T. La Duc, dated as of April 14, 2004,
(Fited as Exhibit 99.2 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.'s Form 8-K, dated April 14, 2004 and filed on April 15, 2004,
and incorporated herein by reference.)

First Amendment to the Employment Agreement, dated as of October 6, 2006, between Foster Wheeler
Ltd. and John T. La Duc. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s Form 8-K, dated Qclober 5, 2006
and filed on October 10, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Second Amendment to the Employment Agreement, dated as of January 30, 2007, between Foster Wheeler
Ltd. and John T. La Duc. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 10 Foster Wheeler Lid.'s Form 8-K, dated January 30, 2007
and filed on February 2, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Change of Contro) Employment Agreement between Foster Wheeler Inc. and John T. La Duc, dated as of
April 14, 2004, (Filed as Exhibit 99.3 to Foster Wheeler Lid.'s Form 8-K. dated April 14, 2004 and filed on
April 15, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Consulting Agreement. dated as of September 1, 2007, between Foster Wheeler Inc. and John T. La Duc
(Filed as Exhibit 10.1 10 Foster Wheeler Lid.’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 28, 2007, and
incorporated herein by reference.)

Employment Agreement between Foster Wheeler Lid. and Peter J. Ganz, dated as of October 10, 2005.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Foster Wheeler Ltd.’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.)

First Amendment to the Employment Agreement, dated as of October 6, 2006, between Foster Wheeler
Lid. and Peter J. Ganz. (Filed as Exhibit 99.3 to Foster Wheeler Lid.'s Form 8-K, dated October 5, 2006 and
filed on October 10, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Change of Control Employment Agreement between Foster Wheeler Inc. and Peter ). Ganz, dated as of
October 10, 2005, (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Foster Wheeler Lid.’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2005, and incorporaled herein by reference.)

Restricted Stock Award Agreement of Peter I. Ganz, dated as of October 24, 2005. (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to
Foster Wheeler Lid.’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005, and incorporated herein by
reference.)

English Translation of Supplemental Employment Agreement, effective as of Nevember 12, 2007, among
Foster Wheeler Continental Europe S.r.L., Foster Wheeler Lid,, and Franco Baseotto. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1
to Foster Wheeler Lid.’s Form 8-K, dated November 12, 2007 and filed on November 14, 2007, and
incorporated herein by reference.) '

English Translation of Change of Centrol Agreement, effective as of November 12, 2007, among Foster
Wheeler Continental Europe S.r.L., Fosier Wheeler Ltd., and Franco Baseotto. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to
Foster Wheeler Lid.'s Form 8-K, daied November 12, 2007 and filed on November 14, 2007, and
incorporated herein by reference.)

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.,

Centification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of Raymond J. Milchovich.
Centification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of Franco Baseotio.
Centification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted purseant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 of Raymond J. Milchovich.

Centification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopied pursuant o Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 of Franco Baseotto.




SIGNATURES

Pursuant 1o the requirements of Section 13 ar 15 {(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant
has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

FOSTER WHEELER LTD.
{Registrant)

By: /s/ Franco Baseorro

Date: February 26, 2008 Franco BasgoTTo
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed, as of
February 26, 2008, by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant, in the capacities indicated.

Signature Title
fs! Ravymonp J. MILCHOVICH Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Raymond . Milchovich
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/  FraNco Baseorto Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Franco Baseotto
{Principal Financial Officer)

fs! Lisa Z. Woop Vice President and Controller

Lisa Z. Wood
{Principal Accounting Officer)

Is/  Eucene D. ATkinson Director
Eugene D. Atkinson

fs/  Diang C. CREEL Director
Diane C. Creel

/s/  SteveEn J. DEMETRIOU Director
Steven J. Demetriou

Is!  Jack A. Fusco Director
Jack A. Fusco

/s/ Rosert C. FLEXON Director
Robert C. Flexon

/s/  Epwarp G. GALANTE Director
Edward G. Galante

/s!  STepHaNIE HANBURY-BROWN Director
Stephanie Hanbury-Brown

Is! James D. Woops Director
James D. Woods
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Raymond J. Milchovich, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Foster Wheeler Lid.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not conlain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
contro) over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
10 be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating 1o the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, o provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d} Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of
an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting. to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's
board of directors {or persons performing the equivalent functions): ,

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal contro} over
financia) reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and repon financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
stgnificant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 26, 2008 /s/  Raymonp J. MiLcHovICH

Raymond J. Milchovich
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Franco Baseotto, certify that;
1. 1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Foster Wheeler Ltd.,

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
1o state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
stalements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other cenifying officer(s) and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
contro) over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those enlities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting 1o be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effcctivencss of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of
an annual report) that has maiterially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
intemal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
intemal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiee of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significamt deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b} Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date; February 26, 2008 s/ Franco Basgorto

Franco Baseotto
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION %06
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Foster Wheeler Ltd. {the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 28, 2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Repont™), 1, Raymond J. Milchovich, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify
pursuant to 18 U.5.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

i) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financia) condition
and results of the operations of the Company.

Date: February 26, 2008 /s RAYMOND J. MILCHOVICH

Raymond . Milchovich
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 322

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 US.C. SECTION 1356,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION %06
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Foster Wheeler Ltd. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 28, 2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report™), 1, Franco Baseotto, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of the
Company, cenify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, thal:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of scction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of the operations of the Company.

Date: February 26, 2008 /s Franco Baseorto

Franco Baseotto
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer




APPENDIX 1: ANNUAL EBITDA, NET INCOME
AND DILUTED EPS RECONCILIATION

(in thousands of dotars, excent EPS figures) For the year ended For the year endod For the year ended

December 30, 2005 December 29, 2006 December 28, 2007

Net
Income/ | Diluted Net Diluted Net Diuted
EBITDA {Loss) EPS* EBITDA tncome EPS EBITDA | Income | EPS

As ad)usted 180,678 62,217 0.60 333,942 | 196412 1.39 585695 387,729| 268
Add/{less):
Net esbestos-retated (113.680)| (113.680) (1.22} 100,131 100,131 072 6,145 6,145] 004
{provisions)/gains
Prior domaestic senior credit - - - (14955)( (14,955)1 (0.11) - - -
agreement leos and expenses
Loss on debt reduction iniliatives (58,346) (58,346) {0.63) (12,483)] (12,483), (0.09) - - -
Closure of Canadian GPG office - - - (7.121) (7.121}| (0.05) - - -
Fair value ot additional shares - - . - - (0.14) - - -
issued as part of warran offers
(EPS impact only)
As reported 8,652 (109,749} (1.18) 399,514 | 261,984 1.72 591.840| 393,874 272

* The "es adjustod” amount less the per-ghare amounts of the individual reconciling ltems does not equal g “as reported” amount bocause the denominator (the number o
thares} usad in datermining diuted EPS changes as the resutt changes fram Income (as adjusied) 1o a loss (o5 reportad). The pes-shars amounts for the indrvidual recanciing
ilems were dotermined Lsing the net loss dencrinator of 93.1 milkon shares.

EBITDA

EBITDA is a supptemantal financial measure not defined in generally accepted accounting principles, of GAAP. The Company defines EBITDA
as income before interest expense, income taxes, depraciation and amortization. The Company has presented EBITDA because it belloves it is
an important supplemental measure of operating performance. EBITDA, after adjustment for certain unusuat and infraquent items specifically
axcluded in the terms of the Company's current and prior senior credit agreemants, is used lor certain covenanis under its current and prior se-
nior credit agreements. Tha Company believes that tha line item on ils consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income/{loss)
entitled “net incomef{loss)” is the mosl directly comparable GAAP financial measure to EBITDA. Since EBITDA is not a measure of performance
calculated in accordance with GAAP, it should not be considerad in isolation of, or as a substitute for, net income as an indicator ol operating
parformance or any other GAAP financial measure.

EBITDA. as calculated by the Company, may not be comparable to similarly titled measures employed Dy other companies. In addition, this
measure does not necessarily represent funds availabte for discrationary use, and is not necessarily a measure of the Company's ability io fund
its cash needs. As EBITDA excludes certain financial information that is inctuded in net income/(loss), users of this financial information should
consider the type of events and transactions that are excluded.

The Company's non-GAAP performance measure, EBITDA, has certain material imitations as follows:

» It does not include interest expense. Because the Company has borrowed maney to finance some of its operations, interest is a necessary
and ongoing part of its costs and has assisted the Company in generating revenue. Therefore, any measure that excludes interest has material
limitations;

» It does not include taxes. Because the payment of taxes is a nacessary and ongoing part of the Company's operations, any measure that
excludes laxes has malerial limitations; and

» It does not include depreciation and amortization. Because the Company must utilize property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
in order lo generate revenues in its aperations, depreciation and amortization are necessary and ongoing costs of its operations. Therefore, any
measure that excludes depreciation and amortization has malerial limitations.




APPENDIX 4: EBITDA TO NET INCOME RECONCILIATION

For the year ended
Dacember 28, 2007
(in thousands of doltars}
EBITDA!

Less: inleresl expense

Less: depreciation & amortization

income befora income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

“Global E&C . Global Power EBITDA
Group Group from Operations
"7 sos.647 139177 . 644820

r —

— T

]
i-
!
1
b

C&F Group?  Consolidated

e r—— _.......i - — ——
(52,884) 591,840

) - (19.855)

) I S C AP ) I
530,294

- -

I ., (136.420)
393,874

—_— L —

1. Included 1 the year ended December 28, 2007: incrensedi{decreased) contracl profit of $35,150 from the regutat re-@valuation of contract profit eskmates: $54,520 in the
Gigbal EAC Group and ¥ 19,370} in the Giobal Power Group; & nat charge of $(7,374) in owr C&F Group refleciing the revaluation of our asbesios liability and retated assat
rasutting peimarily from increased asbestos defense Costs projected twough year-end 2022 and for the addition of another year 10 our roding 15-yoar asbestos liabiity astimats;

and gaina of $12,519 on selllemen) of coverage lifigation with Certain asbestos insurance carriees racorded In our CA&F Group.

2. C&F Group includas general corposare incoma and expense, the company's capliva insurance oparation end oliminations.

APPENDIX 5: RECONCILIATION OF SCOPE
REVENUES TO OPERATING REVENUES

-

{in thousands of dollars) H

3

- - 4o —

Global E&C Group:
Scope revenues - i
Flow-through revenues
Operating revenues _
Global Power Group:
Scope revenues o
Flow-through revenues _
QOperating revenues

——r

1

Corporate & Finance Group: |
Scope revenues L
Flow-through revenues ..
Operating revenues !
Consolidated: o
Scope revenues .
Flow-through revenues A

Operating revenues

o Fariﬁ_é year ended For the year ended For the_y-e‘ar-adqei:i"—
_December 30, 2005 December 29, 2008 . __December 28, 2007
T 072500 1,530,300 2,144,199
L 399448 666,804 1,537,060
' 1,471,848 2,219,104 3,681,259
S | —
714,800 1,263,200 ’ 1,413,462
L 13224 12.744 i 12,522
728,024 1,275,994 1425984
e _an - .
. : L N
. A,787,300 2,793,500 3,557,661
812,658 701,548 | 1549582
2,199,955 3,495,048 ) 5,107,243




APPENDIX 2: EBITDA TO NET INCOME RECONCILIATION

For the year ended | GlobalEAC | Giobal Power EBITDA CAF Group' ' Consolidated
December 30, 2005 Group Group from Operations |

{in thousands of doftars) ) _ ' _ i
EBITDA' 165,629 107,266 272,895 63243) | 8,652

Less: interest expense . *i _(50618) .
Less: depreciation & amortization L 1 _{28.215)

Lansa bafore Income taxes . . | _ {70,181)
Provision for income taxes e | (9,568
Net loss L (109,789)

. Inchxded in the year ended Dacemnber 30, 2005: incteasad contract profit of $99,555 trom the reguizs ra-evaluation of contract profit estimates: $66,274 in the Globa! E&C
Group and $33,281 in the Global Powor Group; 8 nél ¢charga of $(113,680) in our C&F Group on the rgvaluation of our eslimated asbestas llabilty and asbestos insurance
receivable; credit agreemen costs in our CAF Group associated with (he prior senior crodi laciity of $[3,500); end an aggrogate charge of ${58.346) in our CAF Group
rentrded in conjunciion with the exchangs offors for the trust preferrad securities and the 2011 senior nolas,

2. CAF Giroup inciudies peneral cOorporale INCome and expensa, the company's captive insurance gperation and aiminations,

APPENDIX 3: EBITDA TO NET INCOME RECONCILIATION

For the year ended l Global E&C Global Power , EBITDA C&F Group? ] Consolidated
Decomber 29, 2006 Group - Group . from Operations !

{in thousands of dofars) | | )
EBITDA' 323,207 95,039 ' 418,336 (18,822) | 399,514
Less: intarest expense X ] ; (2a849)
Less: deprecialion & amortization . 1 (30.877) _
Income before income taxes . _ 340,893
Provision for income taxes . ©(8L709)
Net Income [ _ 1 261984

. Includod in the year endad Decembar 29, 2006: Incroased/decreasad) contract protit of $(5.670) from the regular re-evatuation of contract profit estimates; $14,720 in the
Global EAC Group and $(20,390) in the Globial Powar Group; a net charge of $(15,533) in CA&F Group raflecting the revaluation of our asbestos liabitty and re'ated asse!; nat
asbiesios-raleted gains of $115,864 in C&F Group grimarily rom settemant of cavarage litlgalion with cerlain asbesios inswiance cariers: a charge of $(7.121} lor the closure
of our GPG Canadian office; an aggregato charga of $(14,855) recorded in our CAF Group In conjunciion with Ihe lermination of our prior senlor credil agreement; and 8 net
charge of ${12.463) recordod In ow C&F Group in conjunclion with the debt reduction inillatives.

2 CAF Group incluckes general corporate INCOME and exponse, the Company's capiive inswance operation and sliminauons.




FOSTER WHEELER LTD.
PERRYVILLE CORPORATE PARK
CLINTON, NEW JERSEY 08809-4000

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON MAY 6, 2008

The Annual General Meeting of Sharcholders of Foster Wheeler Lid., which we refer to as the Annual General
Meeting, will be held at the offices of Foster Wheeler Lid., Perryville Corporate Park, Clinton, New Jersey, on May 6, 2008, at
9:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

l. To elect three directors for terms expiring at our annual general meeting to be held in 2011,

2. To appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm and to authorize our
Board of Directors, acting through our Audit Committee, to set the independent registered public accounting firm’s
remuneration, in each case for the fiscal year ending December 26, 2008.

3. To address any other matters that properly come before the Annual General Meeting and any adjournments or
postponements of the meeting.

Ouwr audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2007 will be presented at the
Annual General Meeting.

All registered holders of our common shares at the close of business on March 10, 2008 are entitled to notice of, and
to vote al, the Annual General Meeting and any adjournments or postponements of the meeting. The attached proxy statement
and the accompanying proxy card(s) are being sent to sharcholders on or about April 1, 2008.

Please date, sign and return the enclosed proxy card(s} in the enclosed, postage-paid envelope as promptly as
possible, or appoint a proxy te vote your shares by using the 1elephone or Internet, as described in the attached proxy statement,
so0 that your shares may be represented at the Annual General Meeting and voted in accordance with your wishes.

Important note to holders of common shares and/or fractions of common shares: I you hold common shares
and/or fractions of common shares, please date, sign and return all proxy cards that have been mailed to you to ensure that all
of your shares are represented at the Annuval General Meeting.

Admission to the Annual General Meeting will be by ticket only. If you are a registered sharcholder and plan
to attend the meeting, please check the appropriate box on the proxy card or, if you appoint a proxy by Internet or
telephone, please indicate your plans to attend when prompted. In all cases, retain the bottom portion of the proxy card as
your admission ticket 1o the Annual General Meeting. If you are a shareholder whose shares are held through an intermediary,
such as a bank or broker, please fotlow the instructions in the attached proxy statcment to obtain a ticket.

By Order of the Board of Directors
PETER J. GANZ
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

April 1, 2008

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. WHETHER OR NOT YOU EXPECT TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING, PLEASE PROMPTLY RETURN YOUR SIGNED PROXY CARD IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE OR
DIRECT THE VOTING OF YOUR SHARES BY TELEPHONE OR INTERNET AS DESCRIBED ON YOUR
PROXY CARD.
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FOSTER WHEELER LTD.
PERRYVILLE CORPORATE PARK
CLINTON, NEW JERSEY 088094000

PROXY STATEMENT

For the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
to be held on May 6, 2008

This proxy statement is being fumnished to our sharcholders in connection with the solicitation of proxies on
behalf of the Board of Directors of Foster Wheeler Ltd. 10 be voted at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
10 be held on May 6, 2008, and any adjournments or postponements therecf, at the time and place and for the
purposes set forth in the accompanying Notice of Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. This proxy statement
and the accompanying proxy card are being sent to shareholders on or about April 1, 2008. If you own common
shares andfor fractions of common shares, please date, sign and return all proxy cards to ensure that all of your
shares are represented at the Annual General Meeting.

Shares represented by valid proxies will be voted in accordance with the instructions provided by the
proxies or, in the absence of such instructions, in accordance with the recommendations of our Board of Directors.
You may revoke your proxy by signing another proxy card with a later date and retuming it to us prior to the Annual
General Meeting, appointing a proxy by telephone or on the Internet prior to the meeting or attending the meeting in
person and casting a ballot.

A copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our audited financial statements for the fiscal year
ended December 28, 2007, filed on February 26, 2008 with the Securities and Exchange Commission, which we
refer 10 as the SEC, is enclosed with this proxy statement. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K also is available
publicly on our web site at www.fwe.com.

Our Board of Directors has fixed the close of business on March 10, 2008 as the record date for
determination of shareholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the Annual General Meeting and any adjournments
or postponements thereof. There were 144,124,815 common shares outstanding as of March 10, 2008,

Admission to the Annual General Meeting will be by ticket only. For registered sharcholders, the bottom
portion of the enclosed proxy card is your meeting ticket. Beneficial owners with shares held through an
intermediary, such as a bank or broker, should request tickets by writing to the Office of the Secretary, Foster
Wheeler Lid., Perryville Corporate Park, Clinton, New Jersey, 08809-4000, and include proof of share ownership,
such as a copy of a bank or brokerage firn account statement or a letter from the broker, trustee, bank or nominee
holding your shares, confirming your beneficial ownership of such shares as of the record date of March 10, 2008,

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders to Be Held on May 6, 2008. This proxy statement and our
annual report to shareholders are available at www.fwc.com/2008AMmaterials.




PART I
THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Time, Date and Place

The Annual General Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m. on Tuesday, May 6, 2008, at our offices located at
Perryville Corporate Park, Clinton, New Jersey. .

Record Date

Only registered holders of common shares at the close of business on March 10, 2008, as shown in our
register of members, will be entitled to vote, or to grant proxies to vote, at the Annual General Meeting.

Quorum

Qur Bye-laws require the presence of a quorum for the Annval General Meeting. The presence at the
Annual General Meeting, in person or by proxy, of shareholders holding in excess of 50% of our total issued
common shares will constitute 2 quorum. Abstentions and broker non-votes will be counted as present for purposes
of determining the presence or absence of a quorum at the Annual General Meeting.

Proxies

A proxy card is being sent to each of our common shareholders who held shares as of the record date, If
you properly received a proxy card, you may grant a proxy to vote on the proposals presented in one of three ways
which are explained in the next section entitled “How You Can Vote.” If you hold shares through someone else,
such as a stack broker, in the name of a bank, or other nominee, you will receive voting instructions from that firm.
Please check the voting form(s) provided to you by such person to see if they offer Internet or telephone voting.

if you have timely submitted your properly executed proxy card(s) or appointed a proxy to vote your shares
by telephone or by Intemet and clearly indicated your votes, your shares will be voted as indicated. If you have
timely submitted your properly executed proxy card(s) but have not clearly indicated your vote on any of the
proposals, your shares will be voted “FOR" such proposals.

If any other matters are properly presented at the Annual General Meeting for consideration, the persons
named in the proxy card will have the discretion to vote on these matters in accordance with their best judgment.

How You Can Vote

Each outstanding common share is entitled to one vote at the Annual General Meeting. Pursuant to rules of
the SEC, boxes and a designated blank space are provided on the proxy card for shareholders to mark if they wish to
vote “‘for,” “‘against’ or ‘‘abstain’’ on a proposal, or to withhold authority 1o voie for one or more of the nominees
for director.

You may vote by proxy or in person at the Annual General Meeting. [f your shares are held in your name,
you can vote by proxy in three convenient ways:




By Telephone:

Please refer to your proxy card for instructions. Voting by felephone is available 24 hours a day,
seven days a2 week. Have your proxy card in hand when you call. Easy-to-follow voice prompts allow you
to direct the vote of your shares and confirm that your instructions have been properly recorded. In order
for your shares (o be represented at the Annual General Meeting, your tetephone proxy must be received by
11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on May 5, 2008. You also can consent to viewing future proxy statements and
annual reports on the Internet instead of receiving them in the mail. If you use this telephone service, you
do NOT need to retum your proxy card. If you plan to attend the Annual General Meeting, please retain
the bottom portion of the proxy card as your admission ticket. When voting by telephone, you wili be
asked whether you plan to attend the Annual General Meeling.

By Internet:

Please refer to your proxy card for instructions. The web site is available 24 hours a day, seven
days a week. Have your proxy card in hand when accessing the website. In order for your shares to be
represented at the Annual General Meeting, your vote must be received by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on
May 5, 2008. You will be given the opportunity to confim that your instructions have been properly
recorded, and you can consent (o viewing future proxy statements and annual reports on the Internet instead
of receiving them in the mail. if you use this Intemet service, you do NOT need to return your proxy card.
If you plan to attend the Annual General Meeting, please retain the bottom portion of the proxy card as
your admission ticket. When voting on the Internet, you will be asked whether you plan to anend the
Annual General Meeting, .

"

By Mail:

If you choose 10 return your exccuted proxy card by mail, please mark your proxy card, date and
sign it, and return it in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. If you misplaced your business reply envelope,
you should mail your proxy card to BNY Mellen Sharcowner Services, Proxy Processing, P.O. Box 3510,
South Hackensack, New Jersey 07606-9210., If vou plan to attend the Annual General Meeting, please
retain the bottom portion of the proxy card as your admission ticketr. If you hold common shares and/or
fractions of common shares, please date, sign and return all proxy cards that have been mailed to you 10
ensure that all of your shares are represented at the Annual General Meeting.

Under applicable Bermuda Jaw, a company’s bye-laws may provide requirements as to how shareholders
can appoint proxies to vote their shares at general meetings of shareholders, Section 42 of our Bye-laws provides
altemative procedures for a shareholder to appoint a proxy, including by written instrument, by electronic means or
as otherwise determined by our Board of Directors, and further provides that the decision of the chairman of any
general meeting as 1o the validity of any proxy shall be final.

if you hold shares through a bank, broker or nomince, which we refer 10 coliectively as a.broker, the broker
may generally vote the shares it holds in accordance with instructions received. Therefore, please follow the
instructions provided by your broker when directing the voting of your shares, If you do not give instructions to a
broker, the broker can vote the shares it holds with respect to “discretionary™ or routine proposals. However, a
broker cannot vote shares with respect to non-discretionary proposals for which a sharehoider has not given
instruction. All of the proposals in this proxy statement are considered “discretionary™ proposals, and, therefore,
may be voted upon by your broker even if you do not instruct your broker.




Revocation of Proxy

If you appoint a proxy, you may revoke that proxy at any time before it is voted at the Annual General
Meeting. You may do this by (a) signing another proxy card with a later date and returning it to BNY Mellon
Shareowner Services prior to the meeting, (b) voting or re-voting by telephone or on the Internet in the manner and
prior to the deadline set forth above under “How You Can Vote—By Telephone,” or “How You Can Vote—By
Internet,” as applicable, or (c) anending the meeting in person and casting a ballot. Later appointments of proxies
by tefephone or Internet will supersede and cancel earlier appointments of proxies. [f you hold your shares in the
name of a bank, broker or other nominee, please follow the instructions provided by your bank, broker or nominee
in revoking any previously granted proxy.

Validity

The inspectors of election will determine all questions as to the validity, form, eligibility, including time of
receipt, and acceptance of proxies. Their determination will be final and binding. Our Board of Directors has the
right to waive any irregularities or conditions as to the manner of voting. We may accept your proxy by any form of
written or ¢lectroni¢ communication so long as we are reasonably assured that the communication is authorized by
you. :

Solicitation of Proxies .

We will bear the expense of preparing, printing and mailing this proxy statement and the accompanying
material. Solicitation of individual shareholders may be made by mail, personal interviews, telephone, facsimile,
electronic delivery or other telecommunications by our officers and regular employees who will receive no
additional compensation for such activities.” 1n addition, we have retained Mormrow & Co., Inc. (o solicit proxies at a
cost of $6,000, plus reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses. We will reimburse brokers and other nominees for
their expenses in forwarding solicitation material to beneficial owners.




PART 11
PROPOSALS
PROPOSAL I - ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with our Bye-laws and pursuant ‘o a resolution adopted by our Board of Directors on
February 26, 2002, our Board of Directors is divided into three classes, with one class of directors to be sclected
each year for a three-year term.

The term of directors in one class expires at this Annual General Meeting. Pursuant 10 a recommendation
by our Governance and Nominating Committee, our Board of Directors has unanimously nominated Raymond J.
Milchovich, Jack A. Fusco and Edward G. Galante, the three directors in this expiring class, for election to our
Board of Directors at this Annual General Meeting. The term of directors to be elected at this Annual General
Meeting is three years, and will expire at our annual general mecting to be held in 2011, Mr. Milchovich was
previously elected as a director by our sharcholders at the annual general meeting of shareholders held on May 10,
2005. Messrs, Fusco and Galante werc unanimously elected pursuant to a recommendation of our Governance and
Nominating Committee, and in accordance with Bye-law 14(1), by our Board of Directors effective on January 31,
2008. Our Governance and Nominating Committee identified Messrs. Fusco and Galante through a third-party firm
that the Committee engaged during fiscal 2007 to assist in identifying and evaluating potential candidates for our
Board of Directors. .

The proxy agents of our Board of Directors intend to vote for the election of each of the nominees named
below, unless otherwise instructed. If any eligible nominee becomes unable to accept nomination or election,
proxies will be voted for the remaining nominees, and our Board of Directors will either reduce the size of the
board, or select substitute nominees after identifying suitable candidates. Our Bye-laws provide that our Board of
Directors shall consist of not less than three and not more than twenty directors, as shall be fixed from time to time
by our Board of Directors. Qur Board of Directors has resolved that the board shall be comprised of nine directors.

Following is the name, principal occupation, age, and certain other information for each director nominee
and other directors serving unexpired terms.

Nominees for Election at this Annual General Meeting
Raymond J. Milchovich

Mr. Milchovich has been our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since October 2001, and was our
President from October 2001 unti! January 2007, at which time Umberto della Sala was elected our President and
Chief Operating Officer. From January 2000 until October 2001, Mr. Milchovich served as the Chairman, President
and Chief Executive Officer of Kaiser Aluminum Corporation, which we refer to as Kaiser, and its subsidiary,
Kaiser Aluminum & Chemical Corporation, which we refer to as KACC, a leading producer and marketer of
aluminum and aluminum fabricated products. He is also a director of Delphi Corporation, 8 company specializing in
mobile electronics and transportation components and systems technology. Mr. Milchovich, who is 58 years old,
became a member of our Board of Directors in 2001.




Jack A. Fusco

Mr. Fusco served as the Chairman and Chief Exccutive Officer of Texas Genco Inc., 8 wholesale electric
power generation company engaged in the ownership and operation of a diverse portfolio of power plants in the
state of Texas, from July 2004 to February 2006. From 2002 until July 2004, Mr. Fusco was an exclusive energy
investment advisor for Texas Pacific Group. He also scrved as President, Chief Executive Officer and Director of
Orion Power, a New York Stock Exchange listed company, from November 1998 until February 2002." Prior to
joining Orion Power, Mr. Fusco was a Vice President at Goldman Sachs Power, an affiliate of Goldman, Sachs &
Co. Prior to joining Goldman, Sachs & Co., Mr. Fusco was Executive Director of international Development and
Operations for Pacific Gas & Electric’s non-regulated subsidiary PG&E Enterprises. Mr. Fusco is also a director of
Graphic Packaging Holding Company, a packaging solutions company and whose shares are publicly traded on the
New York Stock Exchange. Mr. Fusco, who is 45 years old, became a member of our Board of Directors in 2008,

Edward G. Galante

Mr. Galante served as a Senior Vice President and member of the Management Committee of Exxon Mobil
Corporation, the largest publicly traded petroleum and petrochemical enterprise in the world, from August 2001
until his retirement in 2006. From 1999 to August 2001, Mr. Galante was Executive Vice President of ExxonMobil
Chemical Company and, from 1997 to 1999, Mr. Galante was Chairman and Managing Director of Esso (Thailand)
Public Company Limited. Since 1972, Mr. Galante served in increasingly responsible management positions with
Exxon Mobil Corporation, Mr. Galante is also a director of Praxair, Inc., one of the world’s largest industrial gases
companies and whose shares are publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange. Mr. Galante, who is 57 years
old, became a member of our Board of Directors in 2008.

Requisite Vote

Election of the nominees for director requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast at the
Annual General Meeting, assuming there is a quorum at the meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes will be
treated as present at the Annual General Meeting for purposes of determining the presence of a quorum, but will
have no effect in determining whether the proposal is approved.

Board Recommendation

Our Board of Directors recommends » vote “FOR” the election of the above-named nominees,
Similar Inl’or-mation on Continiling Directors .
Eugene D. Atkinson

Mr. Atkinson is the founder and has been the Managing Partner of Atkinson Capital, LLC, an investor in
hedge funds, since June 2005. From May 2000 until May 2005, Mr. Atkinson was a Managing Partner with RHJ
Industrial Partners, a private equity firm. From 1984 until 1990, Mr. Atkinson was a Limited Partner with The
Goldman Sachs Group Inc,, a leading plobal investment banking, securities and investment management firm, and
from 1990 until 1959 he served as Chairman of Goldman Sachs (International}, Mr. Atkinson, who is 63 years old,
became a member of our Board of Directors in 1995. His term will expire at our annual general meeting in 2010.

Diane C. Creel

Ms. Creel has been the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President of Ecovation, Inc., a waste stream
technology company, since May 2003, From January 1993 untit May 2003, Ms. Creel served as Chief Executive
Officer and President of Earth Tech Inc., a company which offers water management, environmental and
transportation services and is & business unit of Tyco Intermational Lid. Ms. Creel currently serves on the board of
directors of Allegheny Technologies Inc., a company that produces specialty materials for a variety of industries and
whose shares are publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange, and Goodrich Corporation, a company that
provides systems and services to the aerospace and defense industry and whose shares are publicly traded on the
New York Stock Exchange. Ms. Creel, who is 59 years old, became a member of our Board of Directors in 2004.
Her term will expire at our annual general meeting in 2009.
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Steven J. Demetriou

Mr. Demetriou has been the Chainman and Chief Executive Officer of Aleris International, Inc., a producer
of aluminum rolled products since December 2004. From June 2004 1o December 2004, Mr. Demetriou served as
President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director of Commonwealth Industries, Inc., a- manufacturer of aluminum
sheet and flexibie aluminum conduit, and from 2001 until June 2004, Mr. Demetriou served as President and Chief
Executive Officer, of Noveon, Inc., a specialty chemical company. Mr. Demetriou has also held various
management and leadership positions with IMC Global Inc., Cytec Industries Inc., and Exxon Mobil Corporation.
Mr. Demetriou is also a director of OM Group, Inc., a diversified, global developer, producer and marketer of value-
added, metal-based spectalty chemnicals and advanced materials and whose shares are publicly traded on the New
York Stock Exchange. Mr. Demetriou, who is 49.years old, became a member of our Board of Directors in 2008.
His term will expire at our annual general meeting in 201 0. .

Robert C. Flexon

Mr. Flexon has been the Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of NRG Energy, Inc., a
wholesale power generation company primarily engaged in the ownership and operation of power generation
facilities and the sale of cnergy, capacity and related products in the United States and intemationally and whose
shares are publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange, since March 2008. From March 2004 until March
2008, Mr. Flexon was the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of NRG Energy, inc. From 2000
untit June 2001, Mr. Flexon served as Vice President, Business Analysis & Controller, and, from October 2001 until
March 2004, was Vice President, Work Process improvement and Business Development of Hercules, Inc., a
company engaged in the manufacture of specialty chemicals used in making a variety of products for home, office,
and industrial markets and whose shares are publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange. Mr. Flexon, a
certified public accountant, was an Audil Manager with Coopers & Lybrand in the 1980's and held various key
accounting-related positions, including General Auditor, with Atlantic Richfield Company from 1987 to 2000. Mr.
Flexon, who is 49 years old, became a member of our Board of Directors in 2006. His term will expire at our annual
general meeting in 2009.

Stephanie Haﬁbwy-Br;)wn

Ms. Hanbury-Brown is the Managing Dircctor of Golden Seeds LLC, which provides investment capital to
carly stage, high growth companies. Prior to that, she spent 20 years working in the financial services industry in
Sydney, London and New York. The majority of her career was with J.P. Morgan, where she headed several global
businesses including Global Head of Futures and Options, Head of Intemnational Private Banking, Chiefl Operating
Officer of Global Equities and Head of eCommerce. She is currently a member of the board of directors of
Design2Launch and Artemis Woman, both privalc companies, as well as Count Me In, a not-for-profit organization.
Ms. Hanbury-Brown, who is 51 years old, became a member of our Board of Directors in 2004. Her term will
expire at our annuzal gencral meeting in 2010,

James D. Woods

Mr. Woods has been the Chairman Emeritus and retired Chief Executive Officer of Baker Hughes
Incorporated, a provider of products and services 1o the worldwide oil and gas industry, since January 1997. From
April 1987 until January 1997, Mr. Woods served as Chief Executive Officer of Baker Hughes, and, from January
1989 until January 1997, he served as Chairman of Baker Hughes. He is also a director of ESCO Technologies and
Complete Production Services, Inc., each of whose shares are publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange.
Mr. Woods, who is 76 years old, became a member of our Board of Directors in 2002. His term will expire at our
annual general meeting in 2009.




PROPOSAL 2- INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM: APPOINTMENT AND
AUTHORIZATION OF AUDIT COMMITTEE TO APPROVE REMUNERATION

Our Audit Committee has selected, subject 10 appoiniment by our shareholders (as required by Bermuda
law), PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, which we refer to as PwC, to serve as our independent registered public
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 26, 2008. A representative of PwC will attend the Annual
General Meeting and will be available to respond to appropriate questions and to make a statement il he or she so
desires. In addition, shareholders are asked to authorize our Board of Directors, acting through our Audit
Commiltee, 10 set the independent registered public accounting firm’s remuneration for the fiscal year ending
December 26, 2008 (as required by Bermuda law).

Requisite Vote

Proposal 2 requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast at the Annual General Meeting,
assuming there is a quorum at the meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes will be treated as present at the
Annual General Meeting for purposes of determining the presence of a quorum, but will have no effect in
determining whether the proposal is approved.

Our Audit Committee and our Board of Directors recommends a vote “FOR” the appointment of
PwC as our independent registered public accounting firm and the authorization for our Board of Directors,
acting through our Audit Committee, to set the independent registered public accounting firm’s
remuneration, in each case for the fiscal year ending December 26, 2008.




PART Il

OTHER MATTERS ..

Ownership of Common Shares by Directors, Director Nominees and Executive Officers

The following table sets forth, as of March 10, 2008, beneficial ownership of our common shares by each
director or director nominee, by each executive officer named in the Summary Compensation Table in this proxy
stalement and by all directors and executive officers as a group. All share information has been adjusted for the 2-
for-1 share split, which was effected on January 22, 2008. As of March 10, 2008, there were 144,124,815 common

shares outstanding.

Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership of Common Shares

Shares Shares
. Shares Subject lo Share Beneficially Percent

Name of Beneficial Owner Held Options Units ¥ Held of Class !
Eugene D, Atkinson 23,313 6,364 503 30,180 *
Diane C. Creel 12,347 7,456 244 20,047 *
Steven J. Demetrion 1 - .604 K 211 815 *
Robert C. Flexon Y2994 6,042 244 9,280 *
Jack A. Fusco . o4 | 211 815 *
Edward G. Galante 3,000 604 211 3,815 *
Stephanie Hanbury-Brown 10,035 7,456 244 17,735 *
Raymond J. Milchovich 249,190 316,694 - 565,884 .
James D. Woods 12,030 7,756 404 20,190 *
Franco Baseollo 1,163 4,802 - 5,965 b
Umberto della Sala 4,284 18,590 - 22874 *
Peter J. Ganz 13,432 37,216 - 50,648 *
David Wardlaw 636 3,238 - 3.874 .
John T. La Duc‘® 29,352 11,702 - 41,054 .
Alldirectors and executive officers

as a group (19 persons) 363,027 436,613 2272 801,912 .

(1)

)

&)

The number of shares indicated as being held by each person listed in this table (including each person
comprising the group of all our directors and executive officers) includes shares that are individually or
jointly owned, as well as shares over which such person has either sole or shared investment or voting
authority. Fractions of shares have been rounded to the nearest whole share.

Represents shares that may be acquired currently or within 60 days after March 10, 2008 through the
exercise of stock options to purchase our common shares.

fncludes restricted share units issued o directors under the Foster Wheeler Ltd. Omnibus Incentive Plan,
which we refer to as the LTI Plan, which may be acquired or converied into common shares currently or
within 60 days afler March 10, 2008 due to vesting rights, Also, includes 259 share uniis for Mr,
Atkinson and 160 share units for Mr. Woods issued under the Foster Wheeler Inc. Directors Deferred
Compensation and Stock Award Plan, a legacy plan for non-employee directors. Share units do not have
any voting or dividend rights.




(4)  The percentages for each person and the group are calculated based on (A)(i) the number of common
shares held by such person or group, as the case may be, plus (ii) the number of common shares that may
be acquired currently or within 60 days after March 10, 2008 by such person or group, as the case may
be, divided by (B)(i) the number of our outstanding common shares as of March 10, 2008, plus (ii) the
number of common shares that may be acquired currently or within 60 days after March 10, 2008 by
such person or group, as the case may be.

{5) Includes 165,960 restricted common shares approved and granled under the LTI Plan to Mr. Milchovich
on August 11, 2006 in accordance with his restricted stock award and employment agreement. The
restricted shares, which have both voting and dividend rights the same as our common shares, will vest
as follows: one-half on ‘August 11, 2008 and one-half on August 1 l 2009.

(6) Mr. La Duc’s tenure as our Executive Vice President -and Chlcf Financial Officer ended upon his
retirement effective- August 13, 2007. -

* Less than 1%.
Other Beneficial Qwner

Based upon our review of Schedule 13G or Schedule 13D filings with the SEC through March 10, 2008 and
other publicly available information, the following entity is known to our management to be a beneficial owner of
more than five percent of our outstanding common shares, as indicated. As of March 10, 2008, there were
144,124,815 common shares outstanding.

Amount and Nature
Name and Address of Beneficial Percent .
Title of Class of Beneficial Qwner. . | Ownership of Class

T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. o, .

) 100 E. Pratt Street '

Comm 1 - 13506622 M 9.4%
ommon Baltimore, MD 21202 ’

(1) T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. reported on Schedule 13G, filed with the SEC on February 12, 2008, that
it held 6,753,311 pre-split common shares as of December 31, 2007. For purposes of disclosure in the
table above, we have converted such nurnber to reflect a 2-for-1 share split effective January 22, 2008.

T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc., a registered ‘investment advisor, reported on a pre-split basis that
2,165,800 shares were subject to sole voting power, 6,730,511 shares were subject to sole dispositive
power, and 6,753,311 shares represented their aggregate tolal holdings. T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc.
reported that it did not serve as custodian of the assets of any of its clients and that each of its clients or
the client’s custodian or trustee bank had the right to receive dividends paid with respect to and proceeds
from the sale of such securitics. T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. also reported that the power to direct the
receipt of dividends paid and the proceeds from the sale of such security was vested in individual. and
institutional clients and that any and alt discretionary authority which was delegated to T. Rowe Price
Associates, Inc, may be revoked in whole or pant at any time. T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. declared
that they disclaim beneficial ownership of the securities noted above. :




Executive Officers .

Information regarding Mr.  Milchovich, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, is provided under
Proposal 1 of this proxy statement, under the caption, “Nominees for Election at this Annua) General Meeting.”

Franco Baseotto

Mr. Baseotto, who is 49 years old, has been employed by us for 17 years, serving us and our subsidiaries in
various positions of increasing responsibility in Europe and the United States. . Mr. Baseotto has served as our
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since Augst 13, 2007. Mr. Baseotto was also elected our
Treasurer on January 31, 2008. From July 2005 to August 2007, Mr. Baseotto served as the Financial Leader of our
Global Engineering and Construction Business Group (which we refer to as our Global E&C Group) and, from
October 2003 to August 2007, as the Chief Financial Officer of Foster Wheeler Continental Europe Sr.l., an
indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary within our Global E&C Group. From March 2003 to July 2003, Mr. Baseotto
served as Director of Finance of Foster Wheeler Inc., an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary domiciled in the United
States. From June 1998 to February 2003, Mr. Bascotto served as Director of Finance of Foster Wheeler
Continental Europe S.r.l.

s

Umberto della Sala

Mr. della Sala, who is 59 years old, has been employed by us for 34 years, serving us and our subsidiaries
in various positions of increasing responsibility in Europe and in the United States. Mr, della Sala was elected our
President and Chief Operating Officer on January 30, 2007, Prior to his current position, Mr. della Sala served and
continues to serve as Chief Executive Officer of our Global E&C Group since June 2005, and also served since 2001
as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Foster Wheeler Continental Europe S.r.l. and .Chief Executive
Officer of Foster Wheeler Haliana S.p.A., an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary within our Global E&C Group. He
has also held other senior positions with us, including Vice President of Foster Wheeler USA Corporation, another

- indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary within our Global E&C Group, from 1997 to 2000.

Thierry Desmaris

Mr. Desmaris, who is 49 years old, was elected our,Vice President of Corporate Development on February
27, 2007. Mr. Desmaris has been employed by us for 21 years. Priorto his current position, Mr. Desmaris served as
our Vice President and Treasurer since January 2004. From November 2003 until January 2004, Mr. Desmaris
served as our Vice President, Finance. From January 2003 to October 2003, Mr. Desmaris served as the Chief
Financial Officer of Foster Wheeler Continenta! Europe S.r.l;, and from January 2002 until. December 2002, he
served as our Assistant Controller and Director of Project Finance of Foster Wheeler Inc.

Peter J. Ganz -~

"~ Mr. Ganz, who is 46 years old, was elected our Executive Vice President and General Counsel on October
10,'2005. Mr. Ganz was also elected our Secretary in May 2006. Since 1995, and prior to joining us, Mr. Ganz held
various positions with G-1 Holdings Corporation (formerly GAF Corporation), which we refer to as G-l Holdings,
its subsidiary, GAF Materials Corporation, which we refer to as' GAFMC, ang its former subsidiary, Intemational
Specialty Products, Inc., which we refer to as ISP. In May 2005, Mr. Ganz was elected Senior Vice President,
General Counsel and Sccretary of GAFMC and ISP and also was clected CEO, President, General Counsel and
Secretary of G-I Holdings. In April 2002, Mr. Ganz was elected Senior Vice President and Deputy General Counsel
of G-I Holdings, GAFMC and ISP, and in May 2003, he also was elected General Counsel of 1SP’s operating
subsidiary, ISP ChemCo Inc.

Rakesh K. Jindal
Mr. Jinda), who is 49 years old, was clected our Vice President of Tax on January 25, 2005. From June

2000 until January 2005, Mr. Jindal served as Corporate Tax Director of Foster Wheeler Inc., and, from December
1996 until June 2000, he served as Assistant Director of Tax of Foster Wheeler Inc.
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W. Scott Lamb

Mr. Lamb, who is 53 years old, was elected our Vice President, Investor Relations on June 4, 2007 and
assumed additional responsibility for corporate communications in August 2007. Prior to joining us, Mr. Lamb was
Vice President of Investor Relations for Coeur d'Alene Mines Corporation from Jung 2005 to May 2007, Mr. Lamb
previously served as Vice President, Investor Relations and Corporate Communications of Kaiser frorn September
1998 to June 2005 and of KACC from July 1998 to June 2005. Mr. Lamb also served as Director of Investor
Relations and Corporate Communications of Kaiser and KACC from June 1997 through July 1998. From July 1995
through June 1997, he served as Director of Investor Relations of Kaiser and KACC and from January 1995 through
July 1995, he served as Director of Public Relations of Kaiser and KACC.

Peter D. Rose

Mr. Rose, who is 61 years old, was elected our Vice President and Chief Corporate Compliance Officer on
January 31, 2008. From May 2007 to January 2008, Mr. Rose was our Vice President and Treasurer. Mr. Rose has
been employed by us for 29 years. From March 2004 until May 2007, Mr. Rose served as Vice President, Internal
Audit and Chief Corporate Compliance Officer of Foster Wheeler Inc, and Foster Wheeler international Holdings,
Inc., an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary. From May 1987 until March 2004, he served as Assistant Treasurer of
Foster Wheeler Inc. and Foster Wheeler Intemnational Holdings, Inc., and as Vice President of Foster Wheeler
Capital & Finance Corporation, an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary.

David Wardlaw

Mr. Wardlaw, who is 52 years old, was elected our Vice President, Project Risk Management Group on
July 1, 2004. Mr. Wardlaw is a chemical engineer, and has been employed by us for 30 years. Mr. Wardlaw has
been a director of our U.K, subsidiary, Foster Wheeler Energy Limited, since July 1996, and has served in various
executive positions with that company, including as Director of Pharmaceuticals from July 2003 until July 2004,
Director of Engineering from January 1998 untit July 2003, and Director of Commercial Operations from July 1996
until January 1998,

Lisa Z. Wood
Ms. Waod, who is 41 years old, was elected our Vice President and Controller on June 21, 2007. Ms.
Wood has been employed by us for 10 years. From March 2003 until June 2007, Ms. Wood served as Chief

Accounting Officer of Foster Wheeler Inc., and from August 1997 until March 2003, she served in various financial
positions of Foster Wheeler [nc.

Section 16(a) Beneficial OQwnership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which we refer to as the Exchange Act,
requires our directors and executive officers and any persons whe own more than 10% of our outstanding common
shares to file reports of holdings and transactions in our shares with the SEC. Based on our records and other
information, we believe all filings required under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act for our directors and executive
officers with respect to our commen shares were timely filed in fiscal 2007,




Audit Committee Report

The Audit Commitiee of Foster Wheeler Lid. (the “Company™) operates under a written charter edopted
and approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on July 30, 2002, which was amended most recently on August
6, 2007. The Audit Committee reviews and assesses the adequacy of its charter on an annual basis. The Audit
Committee is currently comprised of five directors, all of whom are “independent” as that concept is defined in
Section 10A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the rules promulgated by the SEC thereunder, and
the applicable listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC.

Management is responsible for the financial reporting process, the preparation of consolidated financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and the system of intemal controls and
procedures designed to ensure complignce with generally accepted accounting principles and applicable laws and
regulations. The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm s respensible for auditing the
Company’s consolidated financial statements and its internal control over financial reporting and expressing
opinions on its consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of the Company's intemnal control over
financial reporting. The Audit Committee's responsibilities include monitoring and reviewing these processes and
procedures.

During fiscal 2007, the Audit Committee held four meetings. Among other things, the Audit Commilttee:

(1} reviewed and discussed with management, the internal auditors, and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, the Company’s consolidated audited financial
statements as well as ils intemal control over financial reporting as of and for the fiscal year ended
December 28, 2007,

(2) discussed with PwC all matters required by Statement on Audmng Standards No. 61, “*Communicaticn
with Audit Committees,” as amended,

(3) obtained from PwC a formal written statement describing all relationships between PwC and the Company
that might bear on PwC's independence, consistent with Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1,
“Independence Discussions with Audit Committees,” reviewed and discussed with PwC any relationships
that may have an impact on their objectivity and independence and satisfied itself as to PwC's
independence. The Audit Committee also considered whether the provision of non-audit services by PwC
to the Company is compatible with PwC's independence, and concluded that PwC is independent from the
Company and its ianagement. The Audit Committee also reviewed and approved the amount of fees paid
to PwC for audit and non-audit services;

(4) discussed with the intemal auditors and PwC the overall scope and plans of their respective audits, The
Audit Commitiee met with the internal auditors and PwC, with and without management present, to discuss
the results of their examinations, the evaluations of the Company’s internal controls and the overall quality
of its financial reporting; and




(5) based on the reviews and discussions referred to above and subject to the limilations on the Audit
Commitiee's role and responsibility described above and in the Audit Committee Charter, the Audit
Commitiee recommended to the Board of Directors that the Company's consolidated audited financial
statements be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form {0-K for the fiscal year ended December
28, 2007 for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Audit Committee also has selected,
subject to appointment by the Company’s sharcholders, PwC as the Company’s independent registered
public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 26, 2008.

The Audit Committee:
Robert C. Flexon, Chairperson
Eugene D. Atkinson
Stephanie Hanbury-Brown
Jack A. Fusco
Edward G. Galante

Audit Committee Financial Experts

Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Atkinson, Mr. Flexon and Ms. Hanbury-Brown are each an
“Audit Committee Financial Expert,” as defined under the rules promulgated by the SEC. Our Board of Directors
has also determined that each of these directors is “independent” as that concept is defined in Section 10A of'the
Exchange Act, the rules promulgated by the SEC thereunder, and the applicable listing standards of The NASDAQ
Stock Market LLC, which we refer to as NASDAQ, and that none of them has a relationship which, in the opinion
of our Board of Directors, would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the
responsibilities of a director. :

Audit Fees
The following table presents fees for professional audit services rendered by PwC for the audit of our

annual financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006 and fees for other
services rendered by PwC during those periods.

Year Ended
December 28, December 29,
2007 2006
Audit fees ! s 48915003 7,069,100
Audit-related fees 68,700 155,200
Tax fecs 2,867,000 2,328,000
All other fees ' 20,800 | - 17,500
Total § 7848000 % 9,569,300

(1)  Audit fees consist of fees for the audit of our consolidated financial statemens and fees for additional
work, such as statutory audits and regulatory filings. The audit fees include fees related to the audit of
our internal control over financial reporting as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 and the rules promulgated by the SEC thereunder.

(2) Represents fees for audits of certain of our employee benefit plans and fees for services related to a
systems implementation.

{3) Represents fees for assistance with tax compliance, tax planning and reporting.

{4y  Represents fees for an accounting research software license.
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Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services Performed by Our
Independent Registercd Public Accounting Firm

Consistent with SEC policies regarding auditor independence, our Audit Committee has responsibility for
recommending (subject to appointment by our sharcholders), approving the compensation of, and overseging the
work, of our independent registered public accounting firm. In recognition of this responsibility, our Audit
Commitee has established a policy to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by our
independent registered public accounting firm. This poelicy provides for an annual budget and any subsequent
changes for both audit and non-audit services to be approved by our Audit Committee in advance, and our Audit
Committee is provided with quarterly reporting on actua! spending.

Committees of Our Board of Directors

During fiscal 2007, our Board of Directors held ten meetings. Each director attended at least 75% of the
aggregate number of meetings of our Board of Directors and each committee on which he or she served. Our Board
of Directors has established standing committees to consider various matters and to make recommendations to the
full Board of Directors for proposed courses of action by our Board of Directors. We have established the following
committees: the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the Governance and Nominating Committee.
Each member of these committees is “independent™ as that concept is defined in Section 10A of the Exchange Act,
the rules promulgated by the SEC thereunder, and the applicable NASDAQ listing standards, as applicable.
Committee charters have been established for each of these committees and are publicly available on our website at
www fwe.com/corpgov. The charters may also be obtained upan request by writing to the Office of the Secretary,
Foster Wheeler Ltd., Perryville Corporate Park, Clinton, New Jerscy 08809-4000.

Based on the recommendation of our Governance and Nominating Commiitee, our Board of Directors
designates members and chairpersons of cach of the committees of our Board of Directors and the Deputy
Chairperson of executive sessions of our non-employee directors.

Audit Commitice

The members of our Audit Committee are currently Mr. Flexon, Chairperson, Mr. Atkinson, Mr. Fusco,
Mr. Galante and Ms, Hanbury-Brown. During fiscal 2007, this committee held four meetings.

Our Audit Commitiee assists ovr Board of Directors in the oversight of (1) the integrity of our financial
statements, (2) our compliance with legal and regulatory requircments, (3) the independence and qualifications of
our independent registered public accounting firm and (4) the performance of our internal audit function and our
independent registered public accounting firm.

Our Audit Committee is directly responsible for the appointment, compensation, retention and oversight of
the work of our independent registered public accounting firm. The functions of this committee include reviewing
compliance with our policies; annually reviewing the status of any significant litigation; reviewing with our
independent registered public accounting firm and management the results of the audit, our financial statements and
our system of internal accounting control; pre-approving fees of the independent registered public accounting firm;
reviewing with management and our independent registered public accounting firm our annual and quarterly
financial statements and any material changes in accounting principles or practices used in preparing our financial
statements prior to their inclusion in the filing of a report on Form 10-K or 10-Q with the SEC, including a review of
the items required by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, as amended, as in effect at that time in the case of the
quarterly reports; receiving from the independent registered public accounting firm the report required by
Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 as in effect at that time and discussing such report with our
independent registered public accounting firm; and annually reviewing and assessing the Audit Commitiee Charter.
Our Audit Committee members meet separately from the full Board of Directors with representatives of PwC at
each Audit Committee meeting.




Compensation Commmee

The members of our Compensauon Committee are currently Ms. Creel, Chairperson, Mr. Demetriou, Mr,
Fusco, Ms. Hanbury-Brown and Mr. Woods.: During. fiscal 2007, this Commmee held eight meetings. The
functions of this committee are to discharge our Board of Directors’ responsibilities relating to compensation of our
directors, the CEO and other senior executives including, but not limited to; approving salary rates and, as
applicable, short-term incentive compensation, the award of stock options, restricted common shares or other equity
rights for executive officers, as further described in “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” below. Our
Compensation Committee acts as the plan adminisirator of the Foster Wheeler Inc. Salaried Employees Pension Plan
and the Foster Wheeler Inc. 401(k) Plan. In addition, the Compensation Committee recommends to our Board of
Directors proposals for the adoption, material amendment or termination of the Foster Wheeler Inc. Salaried
Employees Pension Plan and the Foster Wheeler Inc. 401(k) Plan.

Governance and Nominating Committee : '

.The members of our Governance and Nominating Committee are currently Mr. Atkinson, Chairperson,
Ms. Creel, Mr. Demetriou, Mr. Galante and Mr. Woods. - During fiscal 2007, this committee held five meetings.
The functions of this commitiee include recommending to our Board of Directors the appropriate structure and
function of our Board of Directors and its committees; recommending to our Board of Directors the nominees for
election as directors and corporate officers; reviewing the performance of incumbent directors and corporate officers
to determine whether to nominate them for re-election; overseeing the annual performance review of our Board of
Directors and each of the committees; and considering other matters of corporate governance.

Director Neminations
Our Govemnance and Nominating Committee identifies -and recommends to our Board of Directors
individuals to be nominated for election as directors. In addition, shareholders may recommend candidates for

nomination and election as directors.
Independence.Standards . : "

Our Corporate Governance Guidelines provide that a-majority of our Board of Directors shall consist of
independent directors, who are directors that (1) are neither officers nor employees of us or our subsidiaries; (2)
have no relationship- which, in the opinion of our Board of Directors, would interferc with the exercise of
independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director; and (3) are otherwise “independent” as that
concept is defined in Seéction 10A of the Exchange Act, the rules promulgated by lhc SEC thereunder, and the
applicable NASDAQ listing standards as appllcable

« Qur Board of Directors uses the following standards to assist it in determining director independence. A
director will not be considered independent if, within the preceding three years: (1) such person was employed by us
or by any of our subsidiaries, or had an immediate family member who was.an executive officer of us or any of our
subsidiaries; (2) such person, or an immediate family member, was a’partner in or employed by our independent
registered public accounting firm and worked on the audit of our consolidated financial statements or is currently a
partner of our independent registered public accounting firm; (3) such person, or an immediate family member, was
employed as an executive officer of another company where any of our present executive officers served on that
company’s compensation committee; (4) such person is an executive officer or employee, or has an immediate
family member who is an executive officer or controlling sharcholder of, or a partner-in, a company that made
payments to, or received payments from, us in an annual amount exceeding the greater of (a) 5% of the recipient’s
consolidated gross revenues for that year or (b) $200,000 other than payments arising solely from invesiments in our
securities or payments under non-discretionary charitable contributions matching programs; or (5) such person, or an
immediate family member, received compensation in excess of $100,000 during any period of twelve consecutive
months from us, other than director and committee fees, pension or other forms of deferred compensation or
compensation to an immediate family member who is a non-executive officer or employee of ours.
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Our Board of Directors annually reviews certain commercial relationships of directors and determines
whether any such relationships would create a conflict of interest that would interfere with a director's
independence, even though such relationships are not restricted by the foregoing standards. In making such a
determination, the following relationships will not be considered by our Board of Directors as material relationships
that would impair a director’s independence: the director is an executive officer or an employee, or the director has
an immediate family member who is an executive officer, of another company. (1) that is indebted to us, or to which
we are indebted, and the total amount of either company's indebtedness to the other is less than 5% of the total
consolidated assets of either company; or (2) in which we own a common stock interest, or which owns a common
share interest in us, and the amount of the interest is less than 5% of the total shareholders' equity of the company in
which the interest is owned. .

Our Board of Directors also annually reviews the relationships between directors and charitable
organizations and determines whether any such relationships would create a conflict of interest that would interfere
with a director'’s independence, even though such relationships are not restricted by the foregoing standards. In
making such a determination, the following relationships will not be considered by our Board of Directors as
material relationships that would impair a director’s independence:. the director, or an immediate family member,
serves as an executive officer of a charitable organization and our discretionary charitable contributions to the
organization during any of the past three fiscal years do not exceed the greater of (1) 5% of the charity’s revenues or
(2) 5200,000. Co :

Other Criteria; Nomination Method ) :

With respect to identifying and evaluating director candidates, our position is that our Board of Directors
should be comprised of persons with the most beneficial mix of qualifications in areas that ar¢ important and
relevant to our businesses. Each director should have in-depth experience in at least one area of importance to us,
such as a general understanding of energy-related businesses or professional service businesses with respect to the
engineering, procurement and construction industry; regional expertise in areas of the world important to us; and
financial services, legal experience and knowledge in global business. We also evaluate the skills and experience of
a candidate for director in the context of evaluating the skills and experience of the incumbent board members,
individually and as & group, with the objective of enhancing the skills, experience and effectiveness of our Board of
Directors as a whole. During fiscal 2007, our Governance and Nominating Committee paid fees to two third-party
search firms to assist in identifying and evaluating potential candidates for our Board of Directors. As a result of
that search process, in January 2008, the Governance and Nominating Commitee recommended, and our Board of
Directors approved the election of Messrs. Demetriou, Fusco and Galante to our Board of Directors.

Our Board of Directors, by resolution adopted at least 20 days before each annual general meeting, selects
nominees for election as directors. Shareholders entitled to voie for the election of directors at an annual general
meeting may nominate individuals for election 10 our Board of Direclors if they comply with the notice procedures
described in this paragraph. A shareholder’s notice to.nominate an individual for election as'a director must be
received by the Secretary at our principal executive offices not less than 120 calendar days in advance of the date
that is one year after our proxy statement for the previous year's annual general meeting. The shareholder’s notice
must provide information about the nominee and other information required by our Bye-laws, which are filed as an
exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K. Altematively, a copy of our Bye-laws can be obtained by wriling to the
Office of the Secretary, Foster Wheeler Lid., Perryville Corporate Park, Clinton; New Jersey 08809-4000. Our
Govemance and Nominating Committee will evaluate any director candidate nominaied by shareholders according
to the critena discussed above and, based on the results of that evaluation, will determine whether to include the
candidate in its recommended slate of director nominees in the proxy statement.

Executive Sessions of the Non-Employee Directors

The non-employee members of our Board of Directors meet in Executive Session after each meeting of our
Board of Directors. The Executive Sessions, in which only non-employce directors participate, are chaired by the
Deputy Chairperson of our Board of Diirectors, who serves as the Executive Session Presiding Director and our Lead
Director. The Deputy Chairperson of our Board of Directors is Mr. Woods, who was appointed by the non-
employee directors of our Board of Directors.




Attendance of Board Members at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders

We have not adopted a policy regarding attendance of Board of Director members at the annual general
meeting of shareholders. However, all six of the then current members of our Board of Directors were in attendance
at the annual general meeting held on May 8, 2007.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our directors, officers and
employees, including, the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other senior finance organization
employees. Any waiver of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for executive officers or directors may be
made only by our Board of Directors or a committee of our Board of Directors and will be promptly disclosed to our
shareholders. If we make any substantive amendments to this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or grant any
waiver, including an implicit waiver, from & provision of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 1o the Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Controller or any person performing similar functions, we will disclose
the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website, or in a report on Form 8-K, as required by the rules
promulgated by the SEC and the applicable NASDAQ listing standards. In fiscal 2007, our Board of Directors has
not granted any waiver of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is publicly available on our website at www.fwc.com/corpgoy.
A copy of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics may also be obtained upon request, without charge, by writing
10 the Office of the Secretary, Foster Wheeler Lid., Perryville Corporate Park, Clinton, New Jersey (08809-4000.

Communicating with Directors

Shareholders and interested parties may communicate directly with Mr. Woods, the Deputy Chairperson of
our Board of Directors, or the non-employee directors as a group by mailing such communications to Deputy
Chairperson, cfo Office of the Secretary, Foster Wheeler Ltd., Perryville Corporate Park, Clinton, New Jersey
08809-4000. Stakeholders may also contact our Board of Directors via the Internet at www_fw-stakehoider.com.
Such communications may be confidential and/or anonymous.

Director Compensation for the Year Ended December 18, 2007

General. Qur directors play a critical role in guiding our strategic direction and overseeing management.
Recent developments in corporate governance and financial reporting bhave resulted in an increased demand for
qualified public company directors. The many responsibilities and risks and the substantial time commitment of
being a director of a public company require that we provide adequale incentives for our directors’ continued
performance by paying compensation commensurate with our directors’ workload.

The Board establishes non-employee director compensation. The Compensation Committee, with the
assistance of outside consultants, periodically reviews the amount and composition of non-employee director
compensalion and makes recommendations to the Board as needed with respect to changes in compensation form or
amount. Employees that serve as directors do not receive additional compensation for their services as directors.
We do not provide any perquisites to our non-employee directors.

Review of Compensation for Fiscal 2007. ln fiscal 2007, the Compensation Committee requested that
management analyze the 2006-2007 Director Compensation Report published by the National Association of
Corporate Directors and The Center for Board Leadership (the “NACD survey”™), to determine whether the
Compensation Committee should recommend any changes to the form and amount of non-employee director
compensation, The NACD survey analyzes proxy data for 1,200 companies representing 22 industries. Based on
the analysis of the NACD survey materials performed by management under the supervision of the Compensation
Committee and the experience of Compensation Committee members with the compensation levels of other public
companies, the Compensation Committee recommended and the Board approved the following compensation for its
non-employee directors for fiscal 2007:
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* total compensation for service on the board is sct at $160,000 (an increase of $30,000 from the tatal

compensation for fiscal 2006), with the form split between cash and equity, resulling in an annual

- retainer paid in cash of $80,000 and annual equity awards with an economic value of $80,000 split
equally between stock options and restricted share units, or RSUs;

e additional committee chairperson fees of $15,000 in cash for the Audit Commiitee (an increase of
$5,000 from fiscal 2006) and $10,000 in cash for each of the Compensation Commitiee and
Governance and Nominating Committee (an increase of $5,000 from fiscal 2006); and

s  additional fee of $20,000 in cash for the Lead Director (an increase of $10,000 from fiscal 2006).

The increased compensation for service on the Board was made pro rata from the date of approval of March
2007 for fiscal 2007, The increased committee chairperson fees and fees for the Lead Director were paid in full for
fiscal 2007. ’ ' '

Equity Grants for Fiscal 2007. [n November 2006, the non-employce directors were granted equity
awards with an economic value of $65,000, 50% in the form of stock options and 50% in the form of RSUs, as
compensation for their services to be provided in fiscal 2007. In connection with the increase in compensation for
the non-employee directors in March 2007, the non-employee directors were granted additional equity awards with
an economic value of $12,288, which represented the $15,000 increase in equity award value pro rated for the period
from March 2007 through the end of fisca) 2007. The additional equity awards were made 50% in the form of stock
options and 56% in the form of RSUs.

For a description of the economic value of an equity award and how it differed froth the SFAS No. 123R
grant date fair value of an equity award, see “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” below.

Fiscal 2007 Compensation. The table below sets forth the non-employee director compensation for the
year ended December 28, 2007. ' -

Fees
Eamed or b
Paid Stock Option

, in Cash Awards. Awards Total

Name (" &% [ )
Eugene D, Atkinson S B7288{5 46461)$ 37.230|S 170979
Diane C, Cree! s 812885 ass61|s 1205 170979
Roben C, Flexon $  92288|s aed61ls 31230|s 175979
Stephanie Hanbury-Brown ™’ |s 77288 |§ 464618 3723018 160979
James D. Woods s  97288|S 46461{s 37230l$ 18097
Joscph J. Melone ) 5 - |$ - | - |8 -
Ralph Alexander ! s 108nls  ssnzls 4l 21,356

(1) Represents all fees earned and paid during the year ended December 28, 2007, including the incremental
increase in annual cash retainer approved in March 2007.




consolidated financial statements for the reporting period in accordance with Fimancial Accounting
Standards Board Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment.”
The compensation cost shown for restricted share units is based on the closing price of our common shares
on the date of grant, and the compensation cost shown for stock option awards is based on the fair value
determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model on the date of grant. For more information on
our valuation methodology, refer to the following parts of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 28, 2007: ltem 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

_ and Results of Operations—Application of Critical Accounting Estimates,” and Note I, “Summary of
Significant Accounling Policies—Share-Based Compensation Plans,” and Note 12, “Share-Based
Compensation Plans” to our Consolidated Financial Staiements included within ltem 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.” These values do not include any discount for possible forfeitures,
pursuant to SEC rules.

I
1 (2) Represents the compensation expense of restricted share units and stock option awards recognized in our

(3) On November 15, 2007, each of Messrs. Atkinson, Flexon and Woods and Mss. Cree! and Hanbury-Brown
were awarded 586 restricted share units and 1,584 stock options under the LTI Pian, which had grant daie
fair values of 341,577 and $38,436, respectively. Such awards have been valued in accordance with SFAS
No. 123R. The awards vest on December 31, 2008; however, the awards vest proportionately over the
vesting period if the directors are terminated other than for cause. The stock options have an exercise price
equal to the closing price of our stock on the grant date. On March 7, 2007, each of Messrs. Atkinson,
Flexon and Woods and Mss. Creel and Hanbury-Brown were awarded 232 restricted share units and 542
stock options under the LTt Plan, which had grant date fair values of $6,611 and $5,019, respectively. Such ‘
awards have been valued in accordance with SFAS No. 123R. The awards vested on December 31, 2007
The stock options have an exercise price equal to the closing price of our stock on the grant date. As of
December 28, 2007, each of Messrs. Atkinson, Flexon and Woods and Mss. Creel and Hanbury-Brown had
an aggregate of 2,576 restricted share unit awards outstanding, respectively. As of December 28, 2007,
Messrs. Atkinson, Flexon and Woods and Mss. Creel and Hanbury-Brown had an aggregate of 7,288,
6,966, 8,680, 8,380 and 8,380 slock option awards outstanding, respectively. All restricted share unit and
stock option information has been adjusted for the 2-for-1 share split, which was effected on January 22,
2008.

(4) Mr. Mclone retired from the Board of Directors on December 31, 2006.
(5) Mr. Alexander resignhed from the Board of Directors on February 27, 2007.

The Compensation Committee has not yet recommended any changes to non-employee director
compensation for fiscal 2008. The Compensation Committee anticipates reviewing fiscal 2008 non-employee
director compensation in mid-2008. In November 2007, the non-employee directors were granted equity awards
with an economic value of $80,000 as compensation for their services to be provided in fiscal 2008, 50% in the form
of stock options and 50% in the form of RSUs.

In addition, in March 2008, equity awards with an economic value of $73,443 were made to each of the
three newly elected non-employee directors, Messrs. Demetrion, Fusco and Galante. The equity awards were made
50% in the form of stock options and 50% in the form of RSUs.

Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Effective October 1S, 2007, we renewed insurance policies for a term of one year in respect of
indemnification of directors and officers. The scope of these policies is similar to coverage under the prior policies
held by us. ' '

In addition, we have entered into Indemnification Agreements with our directors and officers in order 10
provide them with specific contraciual assurance that they will be indemnified to the fullest extent permitted by law.
Our form of Indemnification Agreement was filed with the SEC as Exhibit 99.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on November 8, 2004, ’

.




Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation .

- The members-of our Compensation Committee are currently Ms. Creel, Chairperson, Mr. Demetriou, Mr.
Fusco,"Ms. Hanbury-Brown and Mr. Woods. None of the members of our Compensation Commmee are former or
current officers or employees of us or any of our subsidiaries, .

Cumpensation Discussion and Analysis

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis describes the compensation philosophy applied by us with

respect to our named executive officers (“NEOs™) for fiscal 2007, and the compensation decisions made by the
Compensation Committee and the Board. For fiscal 2007, we had the following six named executive officers:

¢  Raymond J. Milchovich, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,

+ . Franco Baseotto, Executive Vicé President and Chief Financia! Officer effective August 13, 2007 and
Treasurer effective January 31, 2008;

» JohnT. La Duc the former Executwe Vlce Prc5|dent and Chief Financial Officer who retired effective
August 13, 2007 and

s Our three other most highly compensated executive officers:
0. Umberto della Sala, President and Chicf Operating Officer,
o Peter J Ganz Executive Vice Presndenl, Gcneral Counsel and Secretary, and
o David Wardlaw, Vice President, Pro;ect Risk Managemenl Group.
Executive Summary oo

The following provides a brief overview of the more demwiled disclosure set forth in this Compensation
Discussion and Analysis.

»  The objective of our compensation program is to align the interests of our executives with those of our
shareholders, to pay for performance and to recruit, retain, and motivate talented executives.

e All compensation decisions regarding our chief executive officer are made by the Board afier the
Boatd first considers the recommendation of the Compensation Committee. All compensation
decisions for our other named executive officers are made by the Compensation Committee.

* The Compensation. Commiltee gngages compensation consultants as it deems necessary to provide
analysis on peer group data and market trends. Management also engages compensation consuliants as
necessary to provide competitive compensation data and advice on compensation structure so that it
can provide compensation recommendations to the Compensation Commitiee for the named executive
officers.

s We provide-our. executive officers-with the following types of compensation: base salary, cash-based
short-term incentives, equity-based long-term incentives and post-employment benefits. We provide
limited perquisites to our executive officers.

e We encourage a pay for performance environment by linking cash-based short-term incentive
compensation to the achievement of measurable business performance goals. Our performance goals
are established at the beginning of each year by the Compensation Committee. For fiscal 2007, the
performance goal for our named executive officers was based upon consolidated adjusted net earnings.
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¢ Outstanding company performance for fiscal 2007 resulted in short-lerm incentive awards at the
maximum award of two times the target award opportunity. In addition, the Board awarded a one-
time, discretionary bonus in the amount of $500,000 to Mr. Milchovich in recognition of Mr.
Milchovich’s contributions 1o our outstanding performance in 2007,

e We use equily-based long-term compensation to directly align the interests of our executives with
those of our shareholders and to help motivate and retain our executives, During fiscal 2007, we
issued equity awards in the form of stock options and restricted share units, with the value of the
awards equally split between the two types of awards. Consistent with our philosophy that long-term
compensation should be designed to help motivate and retain our executives, such awards vest in one-
third increments over three years.

e The market price for our common stock increased significantly during fiscal 2007. This positively
impacted the value of our executives’ accumulated cquity-based incentives during fiscal 2007.

e We do not backdate or re-price equity awards. We make our awards during open trading windows and
do not attempt to gain any advantage for our executives by scheduling those awards around the release
of material information. .

» Each of our named executive officers has an employment agreemenl and is entitled to severance
benefits.

e ° We provide limited retirement benefits beyond a company match to our 401(k) plan and the benefiis
provided to Mr. Wardlaw under our UK defined benefit pension plan. We do not provide any non-
qualified deferred compensation arrangements 10 our executive officers.

Compensation Philosophy

We design our executive pay programs in a manner that is intended 10 align the interests of our executives
with those of our shareholders.

We compensate our senior management through a mix of base salary, cash-based short-term incentive
compensation and equity-based long-term incentive compensation, with an emphasis on performance compensation,
We believe that long-term incentive compensation is best used to highly motivate a relatively small group of
executives with the greatest ability o positively impact our business and, therefore, shareholder value.

We design our compensation programs to be simple and casily understood and measured, with a limited
number of perquisites.

We believe that it is important to be able to make management changes quickly and decisively as
appropriate to further the business. Accordingly, we have implemented employment agreements and severance
arrangements necessary to allow us (o attract and retain the high-quality management we need 1o run our business.

Compensation Committee Process

The Board determines compensation for our chief executive officer, based upon recommendations from the
Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee determines the compensation of the other named
exccutive officers. [n making its decisions, the Compensation Committee considers the recommendations of our
chief executive officer, the advice of our compensation consultant and relevant peer group data, each as described
below. In setting the compensation for each officer, the Compensation Commitiee reviews the nature and scope of
each officer’s responsibilities as well as their effectiveness in supporting our shori- and long-term goals.




Role of Executive Officers in the Compensation Process ~ . < :

The chief executive officer-provides the Compensation Commitiee with his evaluations of the senior
executives, including the other named executive officers. He makes compensation recommendations for the other
named executive officers with respect to base salary, cash-based short-term incentive compensation and equity-
based long-term incentive compensation. His recommendations are the basis of discussion with the Compensation
Commitiee; however, the Compensation Committee has final decnsmn~makmg authonty

) - .

Meetings of the Compcnsanon Commmee are regularly aucnded by the chlef exccutive officer, the chief

financial officer and the general counsel. . :

Role of Compensation Consultant and Peer Group Analysis

To assist us in establishing compensation for executive officers and designing our equity award structure,
management engaged Hewitt Associates (which we refer to as Hewitt) in 2006 and 2007. In February 2008, the
Compensation Committee directly engaged ‘Hewitt to assist the Compensation Committee in establishing
compensation for executive officers. Hewilt matntains a. proprietary éxecutive compensation database that contains
information on the various elements of compensation for over 300 public companies across a broad range of
industries. .

In 2006, Hewitt was engaged to perform a peer group analysis of the compensation of approximately 25
members of our most senior management. The peer group analysis included 153 public companies with revenues
between $1.3 billion and $35.2 billion, and median revenue of $2.5 billion. (Our revenues were $3.5 billion, $2.2
billion and $2.7 billion in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively). In 2007, Hewitt was engaged to perform a peer
group analysis of the compensation of a much Iarger group of employees which included our most senior
management, The peer group analysis included the approximately 300 companies in Hewitt’s database. For both
analyses, Hewitt was asked to provide information on base salary, short-term incentive awards and long-term
incentive awards for each position or level. Hewitt generally provided data at various levels of the peer group for
each position or level. .

The Compensation Committee does not target a specific percentile in determining individual elements of
compensation or total compensation as a .whole. Rather, the_peer group data is one of many factors the
Compensation Commitiee considers in making decisions. For example, individual performance is also considered.
Finally, the Compensation Committee applies its own reasonableness and judgment to the analysis. The chief
executive officer’s annual base salnry and short-term incentive opportunity for 2007, as more fully described below,
was al approximately the 50" percentile based on peer group data provided by Hewitt.

In addition to providing peer group data, Hewitt reviewed our equity award structure in 2006 and 2007 and
made recommendations with respect to the use of the economic value (that is, the currency-denominated value)} of
equity awards in determining appropriate award levels and the type and allocation of awards between stock options
and restricted share units. Hewitt also provided a methodology for converting the economic value of equity awards
into an award of an absolute number of stock options and restricted share units. Hewitt provided its analysis to
management and the Compensation Committee, and met with the Compensation Commiltee to explain its
recommendations and answer any questions. Hewitt provided data 1o the Compensation Committee regarding the
form and size of the 2006 and 2007 equity awards relative (o the peer group.

Elements of Executive Compensation
We use the following compensation elements in our executive compensation program:
¢  Base salary;

s Cash-based short-term incentive opportunities under the Foster Wheeler Annual Executive Short-Term
Incentive Plan, which we refer to as the STI Pian;
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e Long-term equity incentive awards under the Foster Wheeler Omnibus. Incentive Plan, which we refer
to as the LTI Plan; and

s  Post-employment compensation, such as severance and change in control arrangements.

The compensation program includes only minimal perquisites and limited retirement benefits other than the
benefits provided to Mr. Wardlaw under our U.K. defined benefit pension plan. Each of these clements is described
in more detail below.

Employment Agreements with the NEOs

We have entered into written employment agreements with our named executive officers. A number of the
elements of compensation, such as initial base salary and target short-term award opportunity, are specified in the
agreements. For a description of these agreements, see the section entitled, “Employment Agreements,” that appears
with the tabular disclosure following the compensation discussion and analysis.

Base Salaries

The base salaries we provide lo executive officers are designed to provide a competitive level of secure
cash compensation. Salaries are reviewed in January or February of each year. In addition, we review base salaries
during the course of the year if an executive assumes additional job responsibilities. In reviewing base salaries, the
Compensation Committee considers individual performance over the_previous year, the level of experience and the
responsibility of the executive and the peer group data described above.

During the course of fiscal 2007, the Compensation Committee approved base salary increases as follows:

Annual Base Salary as of | Annual Base Salary as of | Annual Base Salary as
December 29, 2006 December 28, 2007 of January 1, 2008

Raymond ). Milchovich $945,000 $992,250 $1,031,%40
Franco Baseotto " €140,000 € 236,600 € 236,600

Peter . Canz T 325,000 $446,250 $464,100
Unberto della Sats €374,000 €374,000 €374,000
David Wardlaw £138,184 £145003 £152,348

John T. La Duc $470,960 Not applicable Not applicable

(1) In January 2007, Mr. Baseotto was elected Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, effective
as of August 13, 2007, In connection with this promotion, Mr. Baseotto’s annual base salary was increased
from €140,000 to €182,000, effective January 1, 2007, and 1o €236,600, effective August 1, 2007. Upon
becoming a U.S. employee on or about July !, 2008, Mr. Baseoito's annual base salary will increase from
€236,600 1o $450,000.

(2) As described under “Employment Agreements for Umberto della Sala,” we and one of our subsidiaries,
Foster Wheeler Continental Europe S.r.L., or FWCE, have entered into new employment arrangements with
Mr. della Sala. Those arrangements provide that his base salary with FWCE is €195,000, effective as of
April 1, 2008, and his base salary with Foster Wheeler Ltd. is €346,000, effective as of March 1, 2008. In
addition, in 2008, Mr. della Sala received a €44,000 “make whole” payment relating to the period between
January 1, 2008 and the effective dates of his new ltalian and Foster Wheeler Ltd. agreements.

(3) Mr. La Duc’s tenure with us ended upon his retirement effective August 13, 2007,
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In determining the fiscal 2007 salary increases, the Compensation Committee considered the peer group
data provided by Hewitt, the outstanding performance of the company in fiscal 2006 and the contributions of the
executives to the company’s performance, [t did not assign any specific wetght or value to any one consideration
over the others.

Short-Term Incentive Compensation

General, The named executive officers are eligible for short-term incentivé compensation awards under
the STI plan, Other employees are also ¢ligible for awards under the STI plan or similar plans.

At the beginning of each year, the Compensation Committee establishes financial performance targets for
the STI plan. The individual target award opportunity (expressed as a percentage of salary) for cach named
executive officer is set in an employment agreement or by the Compensation Committee when it reviews and makes
compensation decisions. At the end of the year, the Compensation Committee evaluates performance as compared
to the targets and, afier considering the recommendations of the chief executive officer, determines the ST1 awards
for each of the named executive officers. Individual awards may be adjusted up (but not to exceed a maximum
amount of two times the individual target award opportunity} or down in the discretion of the Compensation
Committee.

Fiscal 2007 STI Plan Awards. For fiscal 2007, target award opporiunities for cach named executive
officer were set by the Compensation Committee as follows:

Target A ward Opporiunity Target
as a Percentage Award
of Base Salary . Opportunity
Raymond J. Milchovich 100% ' $992.250
Franco Baseotto '’ 60% € 112,357
Peter). Ganz 10% $312,375
Umberto della Sata 75% € 280,500
David Wardlaw 40% £58,037
John T.La Duc ¥’ 70% $242,858

(1) In January 2007, Mr. Baseotto was elected Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, effective
as of August 13, 2007. In connection with this promotion, Mr. Baseotto's target award opportunity was
increased from 40% to 50% of his annual base salary, effective January 1, 2007, and to 60% of his annual
base salary, effective August I, 2007. Mr. Baseotto’s target award opportunity was pro-rated based upon
period of time at each target level. Upon becoming a U.S. employee on or about July 1, 2008, Mr.
Baseotto’s target award opportunity will increase to 75% of his annual base salary.

(2)  As described under “Employment Agreements for Umberto della Sala,” Foster Wheeler Lid. entered into a
new employment arrangement with Mr. della Sala, effective as of March 1, 2008. This arrangement
provides for an annual short-term incentive compensation target of 120% of base salary up to a maximum
of 240% of base salary based upon targeted business objectives as established by our Board of Directors or
Compensauon Commitiee.

(3) Mr. La Duc’s tenure as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer ended upon his retirement
effective August 13, 2007, Mr, La Duc's target award opportunity was pro-rated based upon the number of
days that he was employed in fiscal 2007,




For fiscal 2007, the performance target for our named executive officers under the STI plan was
consclidated net eamings, as adjusted for certain operating and non-operating items and exclusions. In order to eam
the target award opportunity, the consolidated adjusted net earnings performance goal for fiscal 2007 was set at
140% of consolidated adjusted net eamings for fiscal 2006. To achieve the maximum award, two tlimes the
individual target award opportunity, the consolidated adjusted net eamings performance goal for fiscal 2007 was set
at 157% of consolidated adjusted net earnings for fiscal 2006. To achieve the minimum or thresheld award of 70%
of the target award opportunity, the consolidated adjusted net earnings performance goal for fiscal 2007 was set at
121% of consolidated adjusted net earnings for fiscal 2006.

Our actual consolidated adjusted net eamnings in fiscal 2007 sigrificantly exceeded our performance goal
for the maximum award of two times the target award opportunity. The Compensation Committee therefore
approved STI awards at two times the individual target award opportunities for our named executive officers.

When evaluating our actual results for fiscal 2007 and 2006, the Compensation Commitiee excluded from
consolidated net earnings certain charges and gains. The Compensation Committee believes the adjusted results
better reflect our operating performance.

Bonus Awarded to Chief Executive Officer. The Board awarded a one-time, discretionary bonus in the
amount of $500,000 to Mr, Milchovich in recognition of Mr. Milchovich’s contributions to our outstanding
performance in 2007. The Board considered a number of factors in awarding the bonus, including the following
achievements by our company in 2007 under Mr. Milchovich’s Jeadership:

s  We eamed record net income and consolidated EBITDA for the second consecutive year,
*  We generated record scope backlog;
*  Our market capitalization increased 195% to $11.2 billion during 2007; and

e  We achieved consolidated adjusted net eamings significantly in excess of the target amount required for the
maximum award under the STI Plan.

The bonus was in addition to the award made by the Board to Mr. Milchovich under the STI Plan for 2007.
The award under the STI Plan received by Mr. Milchovich is the maximum amount payable to Mr. Milchovich for
2007 under the STI Plan and his employment agreement.

Long-Term Incentive Compensation

General. The company’s long-term incentive program is designed to motivate, retain and reward talented
executives in achieving long-term financial results that are aligned with our sharcholders” best interests, and to
promote the retention and motivation of our management employees. All long-term incentives are equity-based and
are provided under the LTI Plan, which was approved by our shareholders in 2006. The plan provides for a number
of different types of equity-based awards: stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock or units and
performance shares or units.

As described above, in 2006 and 2007, the Compensation Committee, with input from Hewitt, adopted an
LTl program as a general structure for making awards under the LTI Plan. With input from Hewitt, the

Compensation Committee identified the following factors to consider in making ecquity compensation grants under
the LTI Plan: -

s  key corporate goals/business strategies as presented by management and reviewed by our Board of
Directors, namely preservation and enhancement of shareholder value and the retention and
motivation of the senior leadership team;

e external market trends;

* maintaining conceptual consistency in design from prior years where appropriate;
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*  consislency across business groups, functions and positions; and
s 3 bias towards simplicity and focus.

In determining which types of awards to grant as long-term incentives, the Compensation Committce
determined, based on the input of Hewitt, that a combination of stock options, which generally promote
performance-based goals, and restricted share units, which generally serve the purpose of retention, would provide
the appropriate balance of incentives to management. The Compensation Committee makes grants of equily awards
split evenly between stock optiens and RSUs, based on the wotal economic value (as described below) of the equity
awards being granted. '

The Compensation Committee generally makes annual granis in November of each year. Additional grants
are also made during the year in the Compensation Committee's discretion in the case of a promotion, the addition
of job responsibilities or the hiring of a new employee.

Egquity Grant Practices, We do not backdate or re-price equity awards, We do not have any process or
practice to time the grant of equity awards in advance of our release of eamings or other material non-public
information in a way that would be to our executives' advantage, Our current practice is for the Compensation
Committee to approve the equily awards to be granted during the next open trading window for the applicable
period. By adepting this practice, we ensure that equity awards are granted at the time that all material information
has been disclosed. On the grant date, the number and strike price for the option awards and the number of
restricted share units are determined based on the closing price of our common shares on that date on the NASDAQ
Global Select Market.

Economic Value of Equity Awards. Qur current practice is for the Compensation Committee to approve
the economic value (that is, curtency-denominated value) of equity compensation of each award to be granted,
which economic value is then converted, on the grant date, into an award of an absolute number of stock options and
restricted share units based upon the methodology sugpested by Hewitt and approved by the Compensation
Commitiee. We refer to this methodology as the compensation methodology.

In making awards in November 2007:

¢ The stock option value for compensation purposes is typicaily 7% to 10% higher than the accounting
charge determined in accordance with SFAS No. 123R. The stock option value for compensation
purposes is derived using a Black-Scholes formula based upon, among other input assumptions, an
expected term equal to the full contractual term of the option and expected volatility based on the daily
change in share price over the 36 months preceding the grant date, capped at 50%, and an overall
discount factor on the computed Black-Scholes value of 16% to 21%. The stock option value for
SFAS No. 123R purposes is derived using a Black-Scholes formula based upon, among other input
assumptions, an expected term less than the full contractual term of the option and expected volatility
based on the daily change in share price over the period commencing January 1, 2003, but without a
discount factor on the computed Black-Scholes value,

s  The restricted share unit value for compensation purposes is typically 4% to 12% lower than the
accounting charge determined in accordance with SFAS No. 123R. The restricted share unit value for
compensation purposes is derived using the closing share price on the grant date and a discount factor.
The restricted share unit value for SFAS No. 123R purposes is also derived using the closing share
price on the grant date but without a discount factor.

Commitment to RiskMetrics Group (formerly Institutional Shareholder Services). As part of the 2006
shareholder approval process for the LTI Plan, we made certain commitments to RiskMetrics Group. One of these
commitments was to manage the approved share pool under the LTI Plan so that the average annual burn rate (over
a three-year period} of awards granted under the LTI Plan would not exceed 5.37% of the number of shares
outstanding as of the end of each of the three fiscal years. The Compensation Commintee has and intends to
continue to make awards under the LT] Plan consistent with this commitment.
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Fiscal 2006 Equity Award Grant to CEQ. On August 11, 2006, we granted stock options to purchase
560,080 shares and 248,940 restricted shares to the CEO pursuant to the terms of his 2006 employment agreement.
These grants were front-loaded for a three-year period. Therefore, no additional equity award grants were made to
him in fiscal 2007 or are expected to be made to him in fiscal 2008.

Fiscal 2007 Equity Awards to the Named Executive Officers. In accordance with the processes described
above, on November 6, 2007, the Compensation Cornmittes approved the grant of stock options and restricted share
units to certain of our employees, including Messrs. Baseotto, Ganz and Wardlaw. These grants were intended to be
part of a regular cycle of annual grants under the LTI Plan, and cover compensation for the 2008 fiscal year. On
November 15, 2007, in accordance with this process, stock options and restricted share units were granted to these
individuals.

- In addition to the annual grants, the Compensation Committee approved additional grants to Mr, Baseotto
and Mr. della Sala in March 2007 and Mr. Baseotto in' August 2007 in connection with their promotions and
assumptions of additional responsibilities. In March 2008, Mr. della Sala received a grant of restricted share units
having an economic value of €2,972,000, which equaled 80,254 restricted share units, and stock options having an
economic value of €2,972,000, which equaled options to purchase an aggregate of 194,431 common shares,
pursuant to the terms of the employment agreement entered into by Foster Wheeler Ltd. and Mr. della Sala, effective
March 1, 2008.

To determine the size of a grant, the Compensation Committee considers the recommendations as 1o the
total economic value of the equity grant recommended by the chief executive officer with respect to the other named
executive officers and the peer group data from Hewitt for each executive's position. The Compensation Commitiee
also considers each executive's individual performance, potential for advancement and importance to the company’s
long-term success. After evaluating these considerations, the Compensation Committee determines the economic
value of the equity grant for each named executive officer. The value is allocated equally between stock options and
restricted share upits. In accordance with our equity grant practices, grants are made during an open trading window
for the applicable period based on the closing price of our common shares.

The economic value of the awards approved by the Compensanon Committee and granted to the named
executive officers during fiscal 2007 are as follows:

Numberof Numberof
Stock Options RSUs
Toutal (Representing Exercise | (Representing
Economic 50% ofthe Pricec of 50% ofthe
Datec of Value of Economic Siock Economic
Award Award Value) Options Yalue)
Raymond J. Miichovich See priotscction entitled, "Fiscal 2006 Equity A weard Grant to CEQ"
1E/15/07 S 511,000 9,478 | § 170.950 4070
Franco Bascotto B8/15107 ) 98,082 2,738 | §  47.660 1,116
317107 $ 110,275 4876 | 5§ 28.495 2,098
Perer ). Ganz 11/15/07 § 690,000 12,800 § § 70.950 5,496
Umberio della Sala 377407 § 400,000 17,692 15 28.495 7.614
David Wardlaw 11/15/07 $ 175,000 3,246 § 70.950 1,192
John T.La Duc Tenure cnded upon his retirement effective August 13, 2007

For additional information about each of the grants made during fiscal 2007, including the SFAS No. 123R
grant date fair value of the awards, see the “Grants of Plan Based Awards™ table in the tables that follow this
Compensation Discussion and Analysis.

Post-Employment Benefits

We provide severance benefits and change in control benefits to our named executive officers. For a
detailed description of these benefits and a quantification of potential payments as of December 28, 2007, see
“Termination and Change in Control Payments” below. We also provide retirement benefits to certain of our named
executive officers.




We believe that it is appropriate to provide reasonable severance benefits to senior management, reflecting
the fact that it may be difficult for executives to find comparable employment within a shon period of time.
Severance agreements also permit us to make timely decisions with respect to changes in management and
disentangle us from the former employee as soon as practicable. We generally have agreed to provide our named
cxccutive officers with severance in the amount of two times base salary and short-term bonus, as well as
continuation of health and welfare benefits for two years and immediate vesting of all outstanding equity awards. In
structuring these severance agreements, we strive for internal consistency among: the members of senior
management. ‘

Change in Control Benefits

We believe that the interests of shareholders are best served if the interests of our senior managemem are
aligned with them, and that the change of control arrangements for our named executive officers create incentives
for our executive team to build stockholder value and to obtain the highest value possible should there be a
possibility of our being acquired in the future, despite the risk that the acquisition could result in the executives
losing their jobs. The change of control arrangements are also intended to attract and retain qualified executives
who otherwise might view as more atiractive other employers at a lower risk of being acquired.

The cash components of any change in control benefits are paid in a lump sum and are based upon a
multiple of base salary and maximum shori-term incentive compensation. In the event of a change in control, we
also continue health and other insurance benefits for three to five. years and immediately vest all equity
compensation. In addition, we provide execulive career assisiance upon termination. We believe these levels of
benefits are consistent with the general practice among our peers. Because of the so called “parachute™ tax imposed
by Internal Revenue Code Section 280G, we have agreed to reimburse the named executive officers for any taxes
imposed as a resull of the receipt of change in control benefits.

Retirement Plans and Retiree Medical

Untit May 31, 2003, we maintained a qualified defined benefit pension plan in the United States. Since that
lime, no new participants were added to the U.S. plan and the benefits under the plan for participating participants
were frozen. We replaced the U.S. defined benefit pension plan with enhancements to our 401(k) plan, pursuant to
which we maich employee contributions up to approximately $13,500 per employee. Of the named execulive
officers, only Mr. Milchovich is cligible to receive benefits under the frozen U.S. defined benefit pension plan.
Messrs. Milchovich and Ganz participate in our 401(k} plan on the same terms as other employees.

We also maintain a defined benefit pension plan in the United Kingdom for employees who commenced
service prior to January |, 2003. Of the named execulive officers, only Mr. Wardlaw is eligible to receive benefits
under this plan.

Several of our named executive officers are based overseas and are entitled to retirement benefits under
local law. Upon retirement, Messrs. della Sala and Baseotto will be entitled 1o receive certain retiremem benefits
under lialian law and the national colleclive bargaining agreement that covers them, which we refer to as the
National Contract.

We also maintain a program to provide health benefits to certain employees who retire from active service.
Employees who were age 40 or older as of May 31, 2003 may retire with subsidized post-retirement medical
benefits. The level of the subsidy is based on a participant’s defined benefit pension plan service as of May 31,
2003, subject to an overall limit. Of the named executive officers, only Mr. Milchovich is eligible to receive retiree
health benefits.
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Perquisites

The perquisites we provide are not a malerial part of the executives' compensation packages. We
reimburse certain senior management for fees associated with tax preparation, financial and estate planning services
and an annual physical examination. Messrs. Milchovich and Ganz, in lieu of receiving a company-furnished
vehicle, received a car allowance. Mr. Wardlaw received a company-furnished vehicle. We also provided a leased
car 1o Mr. La Duc, which lease expired in 2007. This car lease was not renewed when it expired.

In July 2008, Mr. Baseotto will be relocating from haly to the United States. Until such time, we have
agreed to provide to Mr. Baseotto housing including basic living expenses, a vehicle and reimbursement of travel
costs between the United States and Italy for him and/or his family.

Health and Welfare Benefits

We maintain a number of health and welfare programs to provide life, health and disability benefits to
employees of the company. For many of these programs, employees share in the cost. of the coverage. The named
executive officers participate in these plans on the same terms as other employees.

Tax Considerations

In determining executive compensation, the Compensation Committee considers, among other factors, the
possible tax consequences to the company and fo our executive officers, including the potential impact of, Section
162(m) of the Imemal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Section 162(m) disallows a tax deduction by any
publicly held corporation for individual compensation exceeding $1 million in any taxable year for its chief
executive officer and its other senior executive officers, other than compensation that is performance-based under a
plan that is approved by the shareholders of the company and that meets certain other technical requirements. The
Compensation Commitlee also believes that it is important for us to retain maximum flexibility in designing
compensation programs that meet our stated objectives. For these reasons, the Compensation Commiltee, while
considering tax deductibility as one of its factors in determining compensation, will not always limit compensation
to those levels or types of compensation that will be deductible. As a result of our 1ax position in recent years, any
{ack of deductibility of compensation has not negatively impacted our tax position. The Compensation Committce
does consider alternative forms of compensation consistent with its compensation goals, which preserve
deductibility.

Share Ownership Guidelines

We desire to promote the retention and motivation of our executive officers end non-employee directors
and to align their interests more closely with those of our shareholders. Equity ownership plays a key role in
aligning these interests. As a result, the Compensation Committee has adopted share ownership guidelines for our
non-employee directors and certain executive officers, including each of our named executive ofTicers.

The following guidelines set forth the target ownership levels in our shares that are expected for cenain
executive officers and non-empleyee directors. The target ownership levels are expressed as the market value of
share holdings as a multiple of the executive’s base salary {as adjusted from time to time) or the non-employee
director's annual retainer (as adjusted from time 1o time). The total market value of the participant’s share holdings
should equal or exceed the specified tarpet ownership level,




[
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Position/Title Target Ownership Level

Non-employee Directors 5 x annual retainer

Chairperson, President and Chief 5 x base sala
Executive OfTicer (“CEQ™) ase salary

Direct Reports to CEQ . 3 x base salary

Additional Executives as May be

Determined by the CEO 2 x base salary

Actual levels of the market value of share ownership can fluctuate over time based on a change in pay rates
and the value of the underlying shares. The target ownership levels set forth above are meant as targets to be
achieved and maintained over time.

Prior to attaining the target ownership levels, we believe a participant’s sale of shares obtained through our
compensation programs should be reasonably limited. Thus, in general, at least 50% of shares acquired through our
equity compensation programs, after the payment of any applicable taxes, should be retained until the participant
meets the relevant targel ownership level. If a participant wishes to sell shares in excess of the allowable amount
and is under the relevant target ownership level, the individua) may request that the CEO approve an exception prior
to the sale. The CEO has discretion in making this determination. Any exception granted will be reported by the
CEO to the Compensation Committee. Any request for an exception made by the CEO must be approved by the
Compensation Committee, which has discretion in making this determination. These limitations on sales in the
guidelines are applicable to equity grants made to Mr. Milchovich on August 11, 2006 and to all equity granis made
on or after November 2006,

Compensation Committee Report on Exccutive Compensation

The Compensation Commitiee of Foster Wheeler Ltd. (the “Company™) administers the Company’s
executive compensation program and reviews and recomnmends to the Company’s Board of Directors the salaries,
short-term incentive compensation and equity-based compensation to be paid to its executive officers. The
Compensation Committee is comprised of the individuals listed below, each of whom is a non-employee directer
who meets the independence requirements of The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC. The Compensation Committee
retains the services of independent consultants and other experts as it deems necessary or appropriate to assist in
fulfilling its responsibilities. .

The Compensation Committee reviewed and discussed the information included in the Company’s
Compensation Discussion and Analysis for the 2007 fiscal year. Based on these reviews and discussions, the
Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis
be included in the proxy statement for the Company's 2008 annual general meeting of sharcholders and be
incorporated by reference into the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year eaded December 28,
2007 for filing with the SEC.

Compensation Committee:
Diane C. Creel, Chairperson
Steven J. Demetriou
Jack A. Fusco
Stephanie Hanbury-Brown
James D. Woods
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Summary Compensation Table for the Years Ended December 28, 2007 and December 29, 2006

The following table sets forth the compensation paid or accrued by us during the years ended December 28,
2007 and December 29, 2006 for our named executive officers.

Change In
Pension
Value and ;
Nongualificd i
Name Nen-Equity Defermed Al
and Stock Option Incentive Compensalion Other
Principal Salary Ronus Awards Awards | Compensalion Eamings Compensation Total
Pos tion Year (S) ) " " O 8) [0 8
4 B
Raymond f. Milchovich 2007 |5 992250 | $s00,000 Y| s 1,781,066 |5 1716645 [$ 1988500} S 231 U |s 60856 S5 7035618
Chairman and ChiefExecutive Officer 2006 |3 945000 (3 ] S 3649435 1S 3492748 | § 1890000 | § 398 ® |s eoare § 10588307

Franco Bascottn :
Execurive Vice President, Chief 007 |5 8045 - s 9665 |5 TI4ls 3lgN0lS - $ 18661 WIS geo264

Financial Officer and Treasurer

Peter J, Ganz 2007 |$ 4462505 - $ 14s07(s  naazz|s 624,750 1 § - $ 34100 ™ |S 1353732

Execurive Vice Presidens,

General Counsel and Secretary 2006 [§ 42500008 - $ 26410(5 1248598 595000 | § . s 3792 VS 675061
R _ iy -

Umberto della Sala ™’ 007 |$ 6189 ]S 5 366448 4098 828,765 | $ § 376,960 $ 219275

Prestden: and ChiefOperating Officer | aons 1 sgag58|s - 5 6EsH (S 1241095 61659 |5 - s Lisog42 U0 4258267

David Wardlw "

Vice President, Project Risk 2007 {§ 290858)S . S 29986 (8 25454 |S 230569 | s 185764 O[5 9ssg UMIS  asnenz

Manugement Group

John T, La Duc 007 |s 360785]s - S 108467 % 96l S 485,716 | § - s 99611 "S 1 4540

Former Executive Vice President

and Chief Financial Officer 2006 |5 4ms60|5 - s 4asna32l|s 250675 ses152|s - s 3354 Uls 1777363

(1} Represents the compensation expense of restricied shares and restricied share units for the Stock Awards
column and stock option awards for the Option Awards column recognized in our consolidated financial
statements for the reporting period, including compensation expenses associaled with grants that were made
in prior years, in accordance with SFAS No. 123R. The compensation cost shown for restricted shares and
restricted share units is based on the closing price of our common shares on the date of grant, and the
compensation cost shown for stock option awards is based on the fair value determined using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model on the date of grant. For more information on our valuation methodology,
refer 10 the following parts of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28,
2007: Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Application of Critical Accounting Estimates,” and Note 1, “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies—Share-Based Compensation Plans,” and Note 12, “Share-Based Compensation Plans”
to our Consolidated Financial Statements included within ltem 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data.” These values do not include any discount for possible forfeitures, pursuam 1o SEC rules.

(2) Represents short-term incentive compensation amounts earmmed for fiscal years 2007 and 2006 that were
paid or payable in fiscal years 2008 and 2007, respectively, in accordance with the Foster Wheeler Annual
Exccutive Short-term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2006. The basis for
determining short-term incentive compensation is discussed in greater detail under the section entitled
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Short-Term Incentive Compensation.”

(3) The Board awarded a one-time, discretionary bonus in the amount of $500,000 10 Mr. Milchovich in
recognition of Mr. Milchovich's contributions to our outstanding performance in 2007. See “Compensation
Discussion and Analysis—Short Term Incentive Compensation—Bonus Awarded to Chief Executive
Officer” for more information.
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(10)

Represents the aggregate change in the acusarial present value of the benefits payable under the U.S.
defined benefit pension plan. Under the U.S. pension plan, retirement benefits are primarily a function of
both years of service and level of compensation. The U.S. pension plan is frozen to new entrants and
additional benefit accruals, and is noncontributory, See “Pension Benefits for the Year Ended December
28, 2007" for more information.

Mr. Milchovich received grossed-up payments of $5,387 for tax preparation fees and $21,231 for estate
planning services. Mr. Milchovich also received a 313,500 match on his employee 401(k} contribution and
a $19,630 car allowance. We pay an annual premium of $1,108 for an $800,000, 10-year renewable term
life insurance policy for the benefit of Mr. Milchovich’s beneficiaries as long as Mr. Milchovich is an
employee. '

Mr. Milchovich received grossed-up payments of $13,558 for country club membership fees and dues and
$31,481 for tax preparation fees. Mr. Milchovich also received a $13,200 maich on his empioyee 401(k)
contribution and a $12,382 car allowance. We pay an annual premium of $1,108 for an $800,000, 10-year
renewable term life insurance policy for the benefit of Mr. Milchovich's beneficiaries as long as Mr.
Milchovich is an employee. Pursuant 1o an amendment to Mr. Milchovich’s Employment Agreement dated
January 22, 2003 (which amendment expressly was not superseded by his August 11, 2006 Employment
Agreement), whereby we agreed to monetize his non-qualified retirement benefit, Mr. Milchovich also
received the final four payments of $216,500, totaling $866,000, pursuant to this arrangement in 2006.

Messrs, Baseotto and della Sala are employed in aly and, thercfore, their compensation js paid in guros.
The fgures in the Salary and All Other Compensation columns were converted to U.S. dollars using the
exchange rate on the dates of payment. The figures in the Non-Equity Incentive Cotnpensation column
were converted to U.S. dolars using the exchange raie on the date the short-term incentive compensation
grant was approved by the Compensation Committee as the payment to Messrs. Baseotto and della Sala will
be made subsequent to the filing of this proxy statement with the SEC.

Mr. Baseotto received a $47,946 contribution to his private defined contribution pension account pursuam
10 the National Contract (as described under "Employment Agreements—Employment Agreements for
Franco Baseotto—Italian Law and National Contract”). Mr. Baseotto also received a 35,165 allocation to a
severance accrual account. Pursuant to [talian law and the National Contract, employers must accrue
annually the equivalent of an employee's annual base salary divided by 13.5 throughout the employment
relationship. The severance accrual account represents amounts to be paid as mandatory severance
indemnity compensation to Mr. Baseotto upon termination of his employment with us for any reason. In
July 2008, Mr. Baseotto will be relocaling from Italy to the United States. Until such time, we have agreed
to provide to Mr. Baseotto housing including basic living expenses, a vehicle and reimbursement of travel
costs between the United States and ltaly for him and/or his family. In 2007, we paid $20,760 to provide
housing including basic living expenses for Mr. Baseotto and we paid $2,388 to furnish a vehicle for Mr.
Baseotto. We also reimbursed Mr. Baseotto $2,402 for travel costs between ltaly and the United Suates for
him and his family.

Mr. Ganz received a grossed-up payment of $973 for tax preparation fees. Mr. Ganz also received a
$13,500 match on his cmployee 401{k} contribution and a $19,630 car allowance.

Mr. Ganz received a grossed-up payment of $962 for tax preparation fees. Mr. Ganz also received a
$13,200 match on his employee 401 (k) contribution and a $19,630 car allowance.
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M. della Sala received a $91,874 contribution to his private defined contribution pension account pursuant
to the National Contract (as described under "Employment Agreements—Employment Agreements for
Umberto della Sala—Present Agreement — [talian Law and National Contract”). Mr. della Sala also
received a $12,480 allocation to a severance accrual account. Pursuant to lhalian law and the National
Contract, employers must accrue annually the equivalent of an employee's annual base salary divided by
13.5 throughout the employment relationship. The severance accrual account represents amounts to be paid
as mandatory severance indemnity compensation to Mr. della Sala upon termination of his employment
with us for any reason. In June 2006, Mr. delta Sala made, pursuant to ltalian law, an irrevocable election
to freeze his pension benefits in the governmental pension program and to have our statutorily required
governmental pension fund contributions paid directly to him rather than to the appropriate Italian
government agency. Mr. della Sala received $272,606 for 2007 under this arrangement. Beginning
January 1, 2008, the Italian law permitting the payments to Mr. della Sala ¢xpired and the payments are
now made to the appropriale [talian government agency.

Mr. della Sala received a $40,907 contribution to his private defined contribution pension account pursuant
to the National Contract (as described under "Employment Agreements—Employment Agreements for
Umberto della Sala—Present Agreement — Italian Law and National Contract”™). Mr. della Sala ailso
received a $32,602 allocation to a severance accrual account. Pursuant to ltalian law and the National
Contract, employers must accrue annualty the equivalent of an employee's annual base salary divided by
13.5 throughout the employment relationship. The severance accrual account represents amounts to be paid
as mandatory severance indemnity compensation to Mr. della Sala upon termination of his employment

_ with us for any reason. In June 2006, Mr. della Sala made, pursuant to ltalian law, an irevocable election

(13)

to freeze his pension benefits in the governmental pension program and to have our statutorily required
governmental pension fund contributions paid directly to him rather than to the appropriate [talian
government agency. Mr. della Sala received $1,117,233 for 2006 under this arrangement.

Mr. Wardlaw is employed in the United Kingdom and, therefore, his compensation is paid in pounds
sterling. The figures in the Salary, Non-Equity Incentive Compensation and All Other Compensation

- columns were converted to U.S. dollars using the exchange rate on the dates of payment.

(14)

(15)

(16)

a7

Represents the aggregate change in the actuarial present value of the benefits payable under the U.K.
defined benefit pension plan. Under the U.K. pension pian, retirement benefits are primarily a function of
both years of service and level of compensation. The U.K. pension plan, which is closed to new entrants, is
contributory. See “Pension Benefits for the Year Ended December 28, 2007" for more information.

We paid $92,337 to furnish a car for Mr. Wardlaw. We have agreed to furnish a new car for Mr. Wardlaw
after the lesser of four years or 80,000 driven miles. We also paid Mr. Wardlaw an allowance of $3,244 for
petroleum costs. '

Mr. La Duc’s tenure as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer ended upon his retirement
effective August {3, 2007. Mr. La Duc received a grossed-up payment of $1,894 for tax preparation fees
and $18,177 for estate planning services. In addition, we paid $11,815 to lease and insure a car for Mr. La
Duc and a $10,125 match on his employee 401(k) contribution. We also paid a total of $57,600 to Mr, La
Duc pursuant to the terms of a Consulting Agreement we entered into with him, dated as of September 1,
2007.

Mr. La Duc received a grossed-up payment of $2,199 for tax preparation fees. In addition, we paid $18,545
to lease and insure a car for Mr. La Duc and a $13,200 match on his employee 4)i(k) contribution.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards for the Year Ended December 28, 2007

The following table sets forth the plan-based awards granted to our named executive officers during the
year ended December 28, 2007, All restricted share unit and stock option mformahon has been adjusted for the 2-
for-1 share split, which was effected on January 22, 2008,

.

' All Other Al Other Grant Date
.1, Stock Option Awards: Fair Vahie
. Estimated Possible Payouls Awards: Number of Excrcisc or of Stock
Compensation Under Non-Equity Incentive Number of Securitics Base Price and
Commitiee Plan Awards " ' Shares of Undertying | ropiion Oprion
- Geant Action Threshold Target Maximum | Steck or Units Options Awards Awards
Name Date Date ® (5) ) (] ) (s/sh) ¥ ™
Raymoad J. Milchovich ‘! . - |s 69asis]s 992505 1984500
. - - |S 116.189|% 165985 |§ . 331970 ]
Zranco Baseotto 11415107 N/6/07 - 400 P | 0478 ® |5 709505 537469
8/15/07 e . e M 2ns Mls  aee0|s 96
ymor . wmor . © o208 W 4876 "l 2s49s|s 108933
Peter ). Canz . - |s 8663 |s 32375|s 6750 - o
11/15/07 - 11/6/07 . sa9%6 ] 12800 “'ls  rosso|s 725813
Unberto defla Saa " . .- |s 290068fs ara3ss|s 828765 - ‘ -
37401 Y707 7614 W] 160z "V s 13495|s 39529
David Wardtaw - - |s  sos99|s nsaes|s 0569 .
: 11£15/07 11/6/07 : . 1392 W 3246 -™ |5 709508 183937
Tohn T, La Duc % . - ls oo |s 2428588 assTIs ' '

{1} Represents the possible payout for.each named executive officer under the STLPlan if the threshold, target
or maximum goals are satisfied, as, further 'described -under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis—
Short-Term Incentive Compensation.”

(2) The exercise price of the stock options was determined using the closing price on the grant date.

(3) Represents the grant date fair. value of awards of restricted share units or stock options granted under the
LTI Plan. Such awards have been valued in this table in accordance with SFAS No. 123R. The value
shown for restricted shares and restricted share units is based on the closing price of our common shares on
the date of grant, and for stock options is based on the fair value determined using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing madel on the date of grant. For more information on our valuation methodology, refer to the
following parts of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2007: Item 7,
“Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Application of
Critical Accounting Estimates,” and Note |, *Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—Share-Based
Compensation Plans,” and Note 12, “Share-Based Compensation Plans” 10 our Consolidated Financial
Statemenis included within ltem 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”. These values do not
include any discount for possible forfeitures, pursuant to SEC rules.

(4) On August 11, 2006, we granted stock options 1o purchase 560,080 shares and 248,940 restricted shares to
Mr. Milchovich pursuant to the terms of his 2006 employment agreement. These grants were front-loaded
for a three-year period. Thereforse, no additional equity award grants were made to him in fiscal 2007.

(5) The Compensation Commitiee and the full Board approved, pursuant to the LTI Plan, the award of
restricted share units on November 15, 2007. One-third of the restricted share units vests on December 31,
2008, one-third vests on December 31, 2009 and the remaining one-third vests on December 31, 2010, The
restricted share units do not have voting or dividend rights until they vest and are settled in commeon shares.
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The Compensation Committee and the full Board approved, pursuant to the LTi Plan, the award of non-
statutory stock options to purchase shares of common stock on November 15, 2007. The stock options
expire on December 31, 2012. One-third of the siock options vests on December 31, 2008, one-third vests
on December 31, 2009 and the remaining one-third vests on December 31, 2010.

The Compensation Committee and the full Board approved, pursuant to the LTI Plan, the award of
restricted share units on August 15, 2007. One-third of the restricted share units vested on December 31,
2007, one-third vests on December 3 [, 2008 and the remaining one-third vests on December 31, 2009. The
restricted share units do not have voting or dividend rights until they vest and are settled in common shares.

The Compensation Committee and the (ull Board approved, pursuant to the LT Plan, the award of non-
statutory stock options to purchase shares of common stock on August |5, 2007. The stock options expire
on December 31, 2011. One-third of the stock options vested on December 31, 2007, one-third vests on
December 31, 2008 and the remaining one-third vests on December 31, 2009,

The Compensation Committee and the full Board approved, pursuant 1o the LTI Plan, the award of
restricted share units on March 7, 2007. One-third of the restricted share units vested on December 31,
2007, one-third vests on December 31, 2008 and the remaining one-third vests on December 31, 2009. The
restricted share units do not have voling or dividend rights until they vest and are settled in common shares.

The Compensation Committee and the full Board approved, pursuant to the LTI Plan, the award of non-
statutory stock options to purchase shares of common stock on March 7, 2007. The stock options expire on
December 31, 20)1. One-third of the stock options vested on December 3!, 2007, one-third vests on
December 31, 2008 and the remaining one-third vests on December 31, 2009,

In March 2008, Mr. della Sala received a grant of restricted share units having an economic value of
€2,972,000, which equaled 80,254 restricted share units, and stock options having an economic value of
€2,972,000, which equaled options to purchasc an aggregate of 194,431 common shares, pursuant to the
terms of the employment agreement entered into by Foster Wheeler Ltd. and Mr. della Sala, effective
March 1, 2008.

The possible payouts to Mr. La Duc under the ST Plan have been pro-rated based upon the number of days
that he was employed in fiscal 2007.
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Employment Agreements

The following discussion summarizes our employment agreements with our named executive officers.
Please refer to the section entitled, “Indemnification of Directors and Officers,” for more information related to
indemnification of our directors and officers.

Restricted share, restricted share unit and stock option information in the following discussion has been
adjusted for the [-for-20 reverse share split, which was approved by our shareholders on November 29, 2004, and
the 2-for-t share split, which was effected on January 22, 2008.

Employment Agreement for Raymond J. Milchovich

We entered into an employment agreement with Mr, Milchovich on August 11, 2006, which was amended
on each of January 30, 2007 and February 27, 2007. The term of this employment agreement commenced on
August 11, 2006 and will end on the earlier of (i) the third anniversary of the effective date and (ii) such earlier date
on which the agreement is terminated pursuant to its terms. The term will be automatically extended for one year on
the third anniversary of the efTective date and upon each anniversary of the effective date thereafler unless either we
or Mr. Milchovich have given written notice of non-extension to the other at least ninety days prior 1o the end of the
appticable term. Mr. Milchovich currently serves as our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Milchovich is
entitled to a base salary, which the Compensation Committee will review on e¢ach anniversary date and determine if,
and by how much, the base salary should be increased. Mr. Milchovich’s current base salary is $1,031,940.

Mr. Milchovich’s employment agreement establishes an annual short-term incentive compensation target
equal to 100% of his base salary, which will be payable should we achieve 100% of our target objectives for that
fiscal year, as approved by the Compensation Committee. If we achieve target objectives in a particular year
significantly in cxcess of our expectations for the year, annual short-term incentive compensation may be increased
to 200% of base salary. If Mr. Milchovich’s employment with us terminates during a fiscal year, his annual short-
term incentive compensation for that year will be prorated for the actual number of days of his employment with us
for that year.

On the cffective date of the employment agreement, Mr. Milchovich received restricted shares with an
economic value as of the grant date equal to approximately $4,987,500, which equaled 248,940 restricted sharcs.
Mr. Milchovich also received stock options to purchase common shares with an economic value as of the grant date
equal to approximately $4,987,500, which equaled options to purchase an aggregate of 560,080 common shares.
The restricted shares and the stock options were each granted under the LTI Plan. The restricted shares and the
stock options vest in one-third increments on August 11, 2007, August 11, 2608 and August 11, 2009,

During the term of his employment agreement, Mr. Milchovich will be entitled to participate in those
employee pension benefits plans, group insurance, medicel, dental, disability and other benefit plans and other
similar programs as from time to time in effect and made available to our senior management generally. However,
Mr. Milchovich will not be entitled to participate in any non-tax qualified defined benefit or defined contribution
plan offered by us or in any split-dollar management life insurance program. Mr. Milchovich is entitled to an annual
five-week paid vacation period. We also pay the annual premium on a supplemental term life insurance policy, Mr.
Milchovich’s employment agreement also provides that we will provide him the following perquisites:

s an annual physical examinalion;
¢ home office equipment and associated services for business use in his homes;

» reasonable security measures, should his personal security become an issue, subject to the approval of
the Compensation Commitice;

s an annual reimbursement for the reasonable fees associated with financial planning and income tax
advice and document preparation; and

¢ an allowance for an automobile.
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If on the last date on which a stock option may be exercised or on the last date on which restricted shares
may be sold under the terms of the employment agreement applicable law would preclude Mr. Milchovich from
exercising or selling such stock options or restricted shares, the expiration of the applicable exercise and sale periods
will be tolled and extended until the last trading day that is 30 days following the date upon which the exercise or
sale of the stock options or restricted shares would first no longer violate applicable laws,

Mr. Milchovich has agreed to keep confidential all non-public information regarding us that he receives
during the term of his employment. He also agreed that, upon termination for any reason, he will not, directly or
indirectly, provide services to any of our competitors for one year after termination.

In addition to any rights to indemnification to which Mr, Milchovich is entitled under our charter and by-
laws, to the extent permitted by applicable law, we will indemnify him at afl times.during and after the term of his
employment agreement, and, to the maximum extent permitted by law, will pay his expenses in connection with any
threatened or actual action, suit or proceeding in relation to us. A similar provision from his prior employment
agreement was expressly not superseded by his present agreement.

M. Milchovich’s employment agreement also contains certain terms and benefits related to the termination
of Mr. Milchovich’s employment, as described in *“Termination and Change in Control Payments.”

Employment Agreements for Franco Baseotto

lralian Law and National Contract

FWCE has entered into a letter agreement with Mr. Baseotto, who serves as an executive officer, providing
that he is to serve as a “Manager” under Italian law. The terms of Mr. Baseotio’s employment mandated by Italian

law and the National Contract are not specific to our company. Pursuant to the provisions of the National Contract,
Mr. Baseotto: : : :

s receives his yearly salary in 13 installments;

* s not subject to working time schedules or overtime rules;

s isentitled to 29.2 working days of vacation per year;

» for permissible reasons, is entitled to an unpaid leave period;

s in case of illness, is entitled to maintain his position for a consecutive period of up to 12 months,
during which he will receive his full salary (with the cost being fully borne by the employer);

* is entitled to insurance coverage for on- and off-duty accidents, including death; and

e is entitled to indemnification for any civil liabilities incurred by him in the performance of his
employment activities except in the case of gross negligence or willful misconduct.




The National Contract also contains-certain terms and benefits related to the termination of Mr. Baseotto’s
employment, as described in *“Termination and Change in Conirol Payments.”

Supplemental Employment Agreement

On November 12, 2007, we and FWCE entered into 2 supplemental employment agreement with Mr.
Baseotto. The supplemental agreement supplements Mr. Baseotto’s lialian employment arrangements with an
additional employment arrangement comparable to that provided to our other executive officers.

Mr. Baseotto’s supplementa) agreement will be effective as long as he'is employed by FWCE. During the
term of his employment, and for one year thereafter, Mr. Baseotto is prohibited from providing services to, or being
a sharcholder of, a competitor of ours and, for two years thereafier, from calling upon any person who is, as of his
date of termination ol employment, engaged in any activity on behalf of us or is a customer of ours for the purpose
or with the intent of enticing that person to cease such acuvnty on behalf of us or to cease doing business with us.

Mr. Baseotto has. agreed to keep conﬁdenual all non-public mformanon regarding us that he receives
during the term of his employment. He also agreed that, upon termination for any reason, he will not, directly or
indirectly, provide services to any of our competitors for one year afler termination. He has also agreed that, until
the second anniversary of his termination, he will not solicit any of our employees or customers.

In addition, at all times during and after the term of the supplemental agreement, we have agreed to
indemnify Mr. Baseotto and pay any expenses in connection with any threatened or actual suit to which he is or may
be a party as a result of being an officer, director or employee of us or any of our subsidiaries.

Mr, Baseolto's supplemental agreement also contains certain terms and benefuis related to the termination
of Mr. Baseotio's employment, as described in “Termination and Change in Control Payments.”

Employmeni Agreement for Peter J. Ganz

Mr. Ganz entered into an employment agreemeni with us effective October 10, 2005 and amended on
October 6, 2006, which agreement terminates upon the occurrence of his death, physical or mental disability, notice
of termination for cause, resignation for good reason, termination without cause, or voluntary resignation. Under the
agreement, Mr. Ganz serves as our Executive Vice President and General Counsel and is to perform duties
consistent with this position. Mr. Ganz was subsequently elected as our Secretary on*May 9, 2006. Mr. Ganz is
entitled to a base salary to be reviewed by us on each anniversary date or another appropriate date when the salaries
of executives at the executive's level are normally reviewed. Mr. Ganz’s current base salary under the agreement is
$464,100. )

For purposes of the agreement, “cause” means (i) conviction of a felony, (ii) actual or attempted theft or
embezzlement of our assets, (iit) use of illegal drugs, (iv) material breach of the employment agreement that has not
been cured within thirty days after we give wrilten notice of the breach, (v) commission of an act of moral turpitude
that in our board’s judgment can reasonably be expected to have an adverse effect on our business, reputation or
financial situation or the ability to perform his duties, (vi) gross negligence or willlul misconduct in performance of
his duttes, (vii) breach of fiduciary duty to us or (viii) willful refusal to perform the duties of his position. “Good
reason” means without Mr. Ganz's consent: (i) material diminution in title, duties, responsibilities or authority, {ii)
reduction of base salary and benefits except for across-the-board changes for executives at his level, (iii) exclusion
from executive benefit/compensation plans, (iv) relocation of his principal business location of greater than fifty
miles, (v) material breach of the employment agreement that we have not cured within thirty days after he has given
us written notice of the breach or (vi) resignation in compliance with applicable law or rules of professional canduct.
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Mr. Ganz’s employment agreement provides for an annual short-term incentive compensation target of 70%
of base salary up to a maximum of 210% of base salary based upon targeted business objectives as established by
the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Ganz received a signing bonus in the amount of $500,000 on October 10, 2005.
On October 6, 2006, we and Mr. Ganz entered into an amendmenl to his employment agreement. Pursuant to the
amendment, Mr. Ganz's maximum annual short-term incentive compensation target was set at two times his Short-
Term Incentive Target Percentage Opportunity, which is described in more detail under “Compensation Discussion
and Analysis—Shon-Term Incentive Compensation.”

The agreement also provides eligibility for annual stock option grants as determined by the Compensation
Committee of the Board, a grant of restricted stock valued al $521,645 based on the closing price of the common
shares on October 7, 2005, which amounted to 34,832 restricted common shares, and a grant of options for 104,330
common shares at an exercise price equal to the average of the high and low market prices for our common shares
on October 7, 2005. One-third of the restricted shares vested on December 31, 2005 and the remainder vested on
December 31, 2006. The options have a term of three years and expire on October 9, 2008. One-third of the stock
options vested on December 31, 2005 and the remainder vested on December 31, 2006. Commencing in 2007, Mr.
Ganz is entitled annually to long-term incentive awards equal to 1.5 times his base salary, the form and conditions of
which will be established by the Compensation Committee.

Mr. Ganz is entitled to an annual five-week paid vacation period. Mr. Ganz is also entitled to the following
perquisites and benefits:

e those defined benefit, defined contribution, group insurance, medical, dental, disability and cther
benefits plans as from time to time in effect and on a basis no less favorable than any other executive
at his level;

= an allowance for an automobile;

* annual financial planning services;

e reimbursement on a one-time basis for legal expense associated with estate planning;
*  afacsimile machine for use at home; and

»  an annual physical examination.

Mr. Ganz is covered by our Change in Control Agreement as in effect from time to time for executives at
his level. A description of this agreement is below. Any amounts or benefits payable, paid or provided 1o him under
such agreement will be in licu of and not in addition to amounts or benefits payable or provided under his
employment agreement.

Mr. Ganz has agreed to keep confidential all non-public inforrnation regarding us that he receives during
the term of his employment. He also agreed that, upon termination for any reason, he will not, directly or indirectly,
provide services to any of our competitors for one year afler termination. He has also agreed that, until the second
anniversary of his termination, he will not solicit any of our employees or customers.

In addition to any rights to indemnification to which Mr. Ganz is entitled under our charter and by-laws, to
the extent permitted by applicable law, we will indemnify him at all times during and after the term of his
employment agreement, and, to the maximum extent permitted by law, will pay his expenses in connection with any
threatened or actual action, suit or proceeding in relation to us.

Mr. Ganz's employment agreement also contains certain terms and benefits related to the termination of
Mr. Ganz's employment, as described in “Termination and Change in Control Payments.”




Employment Agreements for Umberto della Sala

Prior Agreement — Italian Law and National Contract

As of December 28, 2007, our arrangements with Mr. della.Sala, who serves as an executive officer, were
governed by a Jetter agreement between FWCE and him providing that he serves as a “Manager” under Italian law.
Substantially all terms of Mr. della Sala's employment were mandated by lialian law and the National Contract,
which is not specific to our company.

March 2008 Revisions

Effective March 1, 2008, we, FWCE and Mr. della Sala agreed to terminate the above-described letter
agreemenl and lo revise his employment arrangements as described below.,

Present Agreement — ltalian Law and National Contract

Mr. della Sala’s revised arrangements with FWCE, effective as of April 1, 2008, are as follows:

The arrangements are governed by a revised agreement providing that he serves as a “Manager™ under
ltalian law. His base salary with FWCE is €195,000 and the revised agreement expires by its own terms on
December 31, 2011. Substantially all terms of Mr. della Sala’s emptoyment with FWCE remain mandated by Italian
law and the National Contract, which is not specific to our company. Pursuant to the provisions of the National
Contract, Mr. della Sala:

s receives his yearly salary in 13 installments;

* s not subject to working time schedules or overtime rules;

s |5 entitled 10 29.2 working days of vacation per vear;

« for permissible reasons, is entitled 1o an unpaid leave period;

s in case of illness, is entitled to maintain his position for a consecutive period of up to 12 months,
during which he will receive his full salary (with the cost being fully borne by the employer);

s is entitled to insurance coverage for on- and off-duty accidents, including death; and

+ is entitled to indemnification for any civil liabilitics incurred by him in the performance of his
employment activities except in the case of gross negligence or willful misconduct. . '

Mr. della Sala has agreed to keep confidential ell non-public information regarding us that he receives
during the term of his employment. He also agreed that, upon termination for any reason, he will not, directly or
indirectly, provide services 1o any of our competitors for one year after termination. He has also agreed that, until
the second anniversary of his termination, he will not solicit any of gur empioyees or customers,

The National Contract also contains certain terms and benefits related to the termination of Mr. della Sala’s
employment, as described in “Termination and Change in Control Payments.”




Present Agreement — Employment Agreemeni with Fosier Wheeler Ltd,

Mr. della Sala’s new agreement with Foster Wheeler Lid., effective as of March 1, 2008, provides as
follows:

Mr. della Sala’s agreement terminates upon the earlier of December 31, 2011 or the occurrence of his death,
physical or mental disability, notice of termination for cause, resignation for good reason, termination without cause,
or voluntary resignation. Under the agreement, Mr. della Sala serves as our President and Chief Operating Officer.
Mr. deila Sala is entitled to a base salary of €346,000, 10 be increased to €391,000 on January 1, 2009 and to
thereafter be reviewed by us on each January 1 or another appropriate date when the salaries of executives at the
executive’s level are normally reviewed.

For purposes of the agreement, “cause” means (i} conviction of a felony, (ii) actual or attempted thefl or
embezzlement of our assets, (iii} use of illegal drugs, {iv) material breach of the employment agreement that has not
been cured within thirty days after we give written notice of the breach, (v) commission of an act of moral turpitude
that in our board’s judgment can reasonably be expected to have an adverse effect on our business, reputation or
financial situation or the ability to perform his duties, (vi) gross negligence or willful misconduct in performance of
his duties, (vii) breach of fiduciary duty to us, (viii} willful refusal 1o perform the dutics of his position, or {ix) a
material violation of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. *Good reason™ means a material negative change in
the employment relationship without Mr. della Sala’s consent as evidenced by among other things: (i) material
diminution in title, duties, responsibilities or authority, (ii) reduction of base salary and benefits except for across-
the-board changes for executives at his level, (iii}.cxclusion from executive benefit/compensation plans, (iv)
relocation of his principal business location of greater than fifty miles, (v) material breach of the employment
agreement, (vi) resignation in compliance with applicable law or rules of professional conduct or (vii) termination
without cause by FWCE of his employment agreement with FWCE, in each case subject to Mr. deila Sala having
given us notice of the event within 90 days of its occurrence and our having failed to cure same within the following
30 days.

Mr. della Sala's employment agreement provides for an annual short-term incentive compensation target of
120% of base salary up to a maximum of 240% of base salary based upon targeted business objectives as established
by our Board of Directors or Compensation Committee.

The agreement also provides for a grant of restricted share units having an economic value of €2,972,000
and of options having an economic value of €2,972,000, with the grant to be made during the first open trading
window subsequent to the effectiveness of the agreement. In March 2008, we granted Mr. della Sala 80,254
restricled share units and options to purchase an aggregate of 194,431 common shares as requircd under the
agreement. One-fourth of the units and options vest on each of December 31. 2008, December 31, 2009, December
31, 2010 and December 31, 2011. The options have a term of five years.

Mr. della Sala is also entitled to the following perquisites and benefits:

s 1o the extent he is or becomes eligible, those defined benefit, defined contribution, group insurance,
medical, dental, disability and other benefits plans as from time to time in effect and on a basis no less
favorable than any other executive at his level,

« annual financial planning services, up to $5,000 annually;

e reimbursement on a one-lime basis for expense associated with estate planning, up to $10,000 in the
aggregale;

* home office equipment, up 10 $5,000 annually; and
e an annual physica) examination.

Mr. della Sala will receive a €44,000 “make whole™ payment relating to the period between January 1, 2008
and the efTective dates of his new Italian and Foster Wheeler Lid, agreements,
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Mr. della Sala has agreed to keep confidential all information regarding us that he receives during the term
of his employment. He also agreed that, upon termination for any reason, he will not, directly or indirectly, provide
services to any of our competitors for one year afler termination; He has also agreed that, until the second
anniversary of his termination, he will not solicit any of our employees or customers.

In addition to any rights to indemnification to which Mr. della Sala is entitled under our charter and by-
laws, 10 the extent permitted by applicable taw, we will indemnify him at all times during and after the term of his
employment agreement, and, to the maximum extent permitted by law, will pay his expenses in connection with any
threatened or actua! action, suit or proceeding in relation to us.

Mr. della Sala’s employment agreement also contains certain terms and benefits related to the termination
of Mr. della Sala’s employment, as described in “Termination and Change in Control Payments.™

Emplaoyment Agreement for David Wardlaw

Foster Wheeler Energy Limited, or FWEL, one of our subsidiarics, entered into an employment agreement
with Mr. Wardlaw on November 28, 2002. Under the employment agreement, Mr. Wardlaw has agreed to perform
such duties as may be assigned to him by FWEL and as are consistem with his position, Mr. Wardlaw is entitled to
a base salary which will be reviewed annually. His current base salary is £152,348. [n addition, Mr. Wardlaw is
eligible to participate in the STI plan.

Except in the case of gross misconduct, FWEL has agreed to provide Mr. Wardlaw twelve months notice of
termination. Mr. Wardlaw has agreed lo provide FWEL with six months notice of termination by him. During the
notice period, Mr. Wardlaw has agreed to perform some or all of his duties, as determined by FWEL, and not to take
on other employment. FWEL is permitted 1o provide equivalent compensation to Mr. Wardlaw in licu of the
required notice period described above. ‘

FWEL is entitled to immediately terminate the employment agreement if Mr. Wardlaw (i) commits any act
of gross misconduct or repeats or continues any other serious breach of his obligations under the employment
agreement aflcr receiving a written warning, (i) is guilty of any conduct which in the reasonable opinion of the
board of directors of FWEL brings Mr. Wardlaw or FWEL into disrepute, (iii) is convicted of a criminal offense,
except for minor traffic offenses, (iv) is incapable of performing his duties as a result of the use of alcohol or drugs,
(v) fails to perform his duties in accordance with FWEL’s policies and procedures, (vi) commits an act of dishonesty
relating to FWEL, any of its employees or otherwise, (vii) becomes bankrupt or makes certain arrangements with his
creditors, or (viii) is unable for 26 consecutive weeks, or an aggregate of 26 weeks in a 52-week period, to perform
his duties as a result of sickness or injury. ‘

In addition, the employment agreement will terminate automatically (i) upon Mr. Wardlaw reaching his
60th birthday, unless he and FWEL agree otherwise, (i) if Mr. Wardlaw becomes prohibited by law from being a
director, (iii) if Mr. Wardlaw resigns his position, or (iv) if FWEL vacates Mr. Wardlaw’s position in its Articles of
Association,

Mr. Wardlaw is.entitled to an annual five-week paid vacation period, as. well as five additional service
related days. Upon termination of his employment, Mr. Wardlaw is entitled to receive compensation for unused
vacation lime, unless the termination results from gross misconduct. Mr. Wardlaw is also entitled to the following
perquisites and benefits:

+ participation in FWEL’s medical benefits, long-term disability and pension programs;

» an allowance fot an automobile;

« insurance coverage during working hours and work-related travel; and

» an annual physical examination.
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Mr. Wardlaw has agreed to keep confidential all non-public information regarding us and our affiliated
companies that he receives during the term of his employment. Mr. Wardlaw has also agreed not 1o be directly or
indirectly engaged or interested in any competitor of FWEL during his employment and for six months following
the termination of his employment and, for twelve months following the termination of his employment, not to
solicit certain of our employees or customers or the employees or customers of any of our affiliated companies.

Pursuant to the employment agreemeni, FWEL is entitled to make reasenable changes to the terms and
conditions of Mr. Wardlaw’s employment, subject to a notice requirement in the case of any significant changes.

Employment Agreement for John T. La Duc

Mr. La Duc entered into an employment agreement with us effective April 14, 2004, which was amended
on October 6, 2006 and January 30, 2007. As amended, the employment agreement expired with his retirement on
August 13, 2007. Mr. La Duc served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and performed
such duties consistent with the position. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, Mr. La Duc was entitled to a base
salary, which we reviewed on cach anniversary date or other appropriate date when the salarics of executives at the
executive’s level were normally reviewed. Mr. La Duc’s base salary was $489,798.

Mr. La Duc’s original employment agreement provided for an annual short-term incentive compensation
target equal to 60% of his base salary up to a maximum of 180% of his base salary based upon targeted business
objectives as established by the Chief Executive Officer. Mr. La Duc received a signing bonus in the amount of
$166,250 on April 14, 2004. On October 6, 2006, we and Mr, La Duc entered into an amendment to his
employment agreement. Pursuant to the amendment, Mr. La Duc’'s maximum annual short-term incentive
compensation targel was set at two times his Short-Term Incentive Target Percentage Opportunity, which is
described in more detail under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Short-Term Incentive Compensation.”

Pursuant to the January 30, 2007 amendment, effective January 1, 2007, Mr. La Duc’s annual short-term
incentive compensation target was changed to 70% of base salary up to a maximum of 140% of base salary, and the
amount was pro-rated based upon the number of days that he was employed by us in 2007.

The agreement also provided eligibility for annual stock option grants as determined by the Compensation
Committee, restricted shares upon consummation of the equity-for-debt exchange offer {an award of such restricted

stock was granted in 2004), and an annual five-week paid vacation period. Mr. La Duc was entitled to the following
perquisites and benefits:

o those defined benefit, defined contribution, group insurance, medical, dental, disability and other
benefits plans as from time to time in effect and on a basis no less favorable than any other executive
at his level;

e an allowance for an automcbile;

e annual financial planning services;

s reimbursement on a one-time basis for legal expense associated with estate planning;

« a facsimile machine for use at home; and

¢ an annual physical examination,

Mr, La Duc was also covered by a change in controt agreement as in effect from time to time for executives
at his level,

Mr. La Duc has agreed 1o keep confidential all non-public information regarding us that he received during
the term of his employment. He also agreed that he will not, directly or indirectly, provide services to any of our
competitors for one year after his termination. He has also agreed that, until the second anniversary of his
termination, he will not solicit any of our employees or customers.
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. In addition to any rights to indemnification to which Mr. La Duc is entitled under our charter and by-laws,
to the extent permitted by applicable law, we will indemnify him at all times during and after the term of his
employment agreement, and, to the maximum extent permitted by law, will pay his expenses in connection with any
threatened or actual action, suit or proceeding in relation to us.

Consulting Agreement with John T. La Duc

Effective September 1, 2007, we entered into a Consulting Agreement with Mr. La Duc, pursuant to which
Mr. La Duc provided consulting services to us primarily in the nature of the services he provided us when he was
our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. In consideration for his services, we paid Mr. La Duc a
base fee of $14,400 per month. The Consulting Agreement expired by its terms on February 29, 2008.




Outstanding Equity Awards as of December 28, 2007

The following table sets forth the outstznding equity awards for each of our named executive officers as of
December 28, 2007. All option and stock award information has been adjusted for the 1-for-20 reverse share split,
which was approved by our sharcholders on November 29, 2004, and the 2-for-1 share split, which was effected on

January 22, 2008.
Option Awards Stock A wards
Number of Numberof Number of Market Value
Securities Securities Shares or of Shares or
Underlying Underlying Units Units of
Unexercised Unexercised Option of Stock Stock
Options Options Exercise Optien That Have That Have
¥) # Price Expiration Nol Vested Not Vested
Name Exercisable Unexercisable (3) Date (#) (S)(”
Raymond J. Milchovich t30,000 . $  49.850 | 10/22/2011 - s .
186,694 in3se s 21735 |  sr2on - $ -
- - $ - - 165960 Y |s 12968114
so % . § 150625 |  4/26/2009 . s -
1o . S  56.875 17272011 . $ -
; 6338 P |s  25.0s0| 121317201 . [ -
- 4876 ® |s 28495 123102011 R 5 .
Franco Bascotlo ; 2.738 “::J $ 47660 | 12312000 - $ .
. 9,478 $ 70950 12/31/2012 . s .
. - s . - 2814 [ 219,886
- $ . . 2008 ® [s 163,938
- s . - e s 87,204
- . $ - . a070 "V ls 318,030
26,082 " - $ 14975 |  10/9/200% - $ -
- 33402 s 2s050f 121317200 - s -
Pcier). Ganz . 12800 "Y' fs 70950 ] 1273172012 . s .
. . 5 . - 14834 T |s 1,159,129
- . $ - - 5496 "' | s 429,457
200 ¥ . $  276.250 17212008 s -
500 . $  135.000 17412009 . $ .
300 © . $§  56.875 17212011 - s
Umberto della Sala 40,000 Y L $ 11600 8/7/2008 . 3 -
36,572 5 25050 | 123172010 . $ -
17692 M |s 284951 12312000 - $ .
$ . . 16200 M [s  1268994
- s - - 7614 M |s 594,958
200 Y . $  276.250 1/2/2008 . [ -
200 ¥ $  135.000 1/4/2009 . $ -
300 % $  50.000 11312010 . 5 .
David Wardiaw 300 @ . $  56.875 17212011 . $ .
7318 s 25050 | 123172010 . S -
. 3246 " s 70950 | 123112012 - $ -
- - $ . . 3248 7 | 253,799
- - $ - . 1,392 "7 {8 108,771
John T. La Duc 702 U $ 25050 | 81312010 $ -
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(1)
@

3

4

(3
(6)
(7}

(8)

®

{10)

(1)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(13)
(16)

Calculated using our closing share price of $78.14 on December 28, 2007.

Granted on October 22, 2001 as an inducement award as provided by Mr. Milchovich’s employment
agreement.

Granted on August 11, 2006 under the LTI Plan; one-third vested on August 11, 2007, one-third vests on
August 11, 2008 and one-third vests on August 11, 2009.

Granted on August |1, 2006 under the LTI Plan; one-half vests on August 11, 2008 and one-half vests on
August |1, 2009,

Granted on April 26, 1999 under the Foster Wheeler Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan.
Granted on January 2, 2001 under the Foster Wheeler Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan.

Granted on November 15, 2006 under the LTI Plan; one-third vested on December 31, 2007, one-third vests
on December 31, 2008 and one-third vests on December 31, 2009,

Granted on March 7, 2007 under the LTI Plan; one-third vested on December 31, 2007, one-third vests on
December 31, 2008 and one-third vests on December 31, 2009.

Granted on August 15, 2007 under the LTI Plan; one-third vested on December 31, 2007, onc-third vests on
December 31, 2008 and one-third vests on December 31, 2009

Granted on November 15, 2007 under the LT! Plan; one-third vests on December 31, 2008, one-third vests
on December 31, 2009 and one-third vests on December 31, 2010.

Granted on October 10, 2005 under the Foster Wheeler Ltd. 2004 Stock Option Plan.
Granted on January 2, 1998 under the Foster Wheeler Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan.
Granted on January 4, 1999 under the Foster Wheeler Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan.
Granted on August 8, 2005 under the Foster Wheeler Ltd. 2004 Stock Option Plan.
Granted on January 3, 2000 under the Foster Wheeler inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan.
Granted on November 15, 2006 under the LTI Plan.
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested for the Year Ended December 28, 2007

The following table seis forth the aggregate number of stock options exercised and restricted

share/restricted share unit awards that vested for each of our named executive officers during the year ended
December 28, 2007. The table also sets forth the value realized on the exercise of stock options (the difference
between our closing market common share price on the date of exercise and the option exercise price) and the
vesting of restricted shares or restricted share units {our closing market common share price on the date of vesting).
The stock options and restricted shares/restricted share units resulted from awards under the Foster Wheeler Inc.
1995 Stock Option Plan, the Foster Wheeler Ltd. 2004 Stack Option Plan, the Foster Wheeler Ltd. Management
Restricted Stock Plan, Foster Wheeler Ltd. Omnibus Incentive Plan or inducement. restricted stock grants. All
option and stock awards information has been adjusted for the 2-for-1 share split, which was effected on January 22,

Option Awards Stock A wards
Numberof . Numberof ]
Shares Value Shares Value
Acquired on Realized on Acquired on Realized on
Exercisc Exercise Vesting Vesting
Neme () ($) ) )
Raymond J. Milchovich 1,023,568 | $ 35,152,700 82,980 | S 4,280,108
Franco Bascotlo 27,402 | % 668,960 17,270 | § 454,934
Peter J. Genz 52,166 | § 2,311,781 23,222 | % 612,462
Umbertio della Sala 350,296 | § 7,956,404 136,168 | 8 3,591,322
David Werdlaw 40,942 [ § 830,001 27,526 | § 725,102
John T.Le Duc ‘" 207,272 | 8 8,399,844 144,556 1% 3,943,518

)

Includes 5,196 restricted share units that vested on the date Mr.
his retirement.

La Duc’s tenure ended with us as a result of




Pension Benefits for the Year Ended December 28, 2007

We have a number of qualified defired benefit pension plans for eligible employees. The Foster Wheeler
Inc. Salaried Employees Pension Plan provides for benefits determined under either a final average pay formula or a
cash balance accrual. Employees as of December 31, 1998 made a one-time election 1o either continue under the
final average pay plan that existed at such time or retain their final average pay accrued benefit as of December 31,
1998 and accrue benefits under the new cash balance formula. Employees hired after Decemnber 31,°1998, including
Mr. Milchovich, are covered under the cash balance formula only. On May 31, 2003, the Foster Wheeler Inc.
Salaried Employees Pension Plan was frozen and no further benefit accruals occurred afier that date.

The Foster Wheeler Energy Ltd. Pension Plan provides for benefits determined under a final average pay
formula. On January 1, 2003, Foster Wheeler Energy Lid. Pension Plan was closed to new entrants.

The following table sets forth the service and the value of the pension benefits payable at normal retirement
for our named executive officers.

- Nurrber Presenmt Payments
of Years Value of " During
Credited | Accunubited Last
Service Benefit " Focal Year
Name PFlan Nare (#) " (L))
Raynond J. Mikchovich | Foster Wheeker Inc. Slaried Employees Pension Pan 1{s 1539 “ s
Franco Baseotto - - s . $
Peter). Ghnz - - |5 - S .
Urrberto delh Sab . - |s - s -
Duvid Wardbw Foster Whecker Brergy Ltd. Pension Plan B1s  2mm . s .
John T. La Drc - - |8 - s -

(1) Determined using the same actuarial assumptions (except using an assumed relirement age of 65 for Mr.
Milchovich and age 60 for Mr. Wardlaw) used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.
For more information, refer to the following parts of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 28, 2007: Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Application of Critical Accounting Estimates,” and Note 8, “Pensions and Other
Postretirement Benefits” to our Consolidated Financial Statements included within Item 8, *Financial
Statermnents and Supplementary Data.”

(2) Mr. Milchovich’s accumulated benefit- is determined under a non-coniributory cash balance benefit
formula. The cash balance account is based on the annual pay credit equal to percentages-disclosed in the
chart below and interest credited each year is the 12-month average of the 30-year Treasury bond rate for
the preceding year. For Mr. Milchovich, the percentage in fiscal 2007 was 6.0%. The cash balance benefit
is the actuarial equivalent of the cash balance account at retirement.

Cash balance is based on annual pay credit equal to:

Age Last Birthday

as of End of Plan Year Percentage of Plan Earnings

Under 25 1.5%
25-29 20%

30-34 1.5%

35-39 3.0%
40-44 4.0%
45-49 5.0%

50+ 6.0%

(3) Mr. Wardlaw’s accumulated benefit is determined using a final salary formula based on an accrual rate of
1.85%. Mr. Wardiaw contributes to the plan at an accrual rate of 7% of base salary.
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Termination and Change in Control Payments
Employment Agreement for Raymond J. Milchovich

Pursuant to the terms of Mr. Milchovich's employment agreement dated August [ 1, 2006 {(and as thereafier
amended), upon termination of employment, we will pay to, provide to, or allow the retention by, Mr. Milchovich,
or his estate or beneficiary, as the case may be, (i) the base salary eamed through the date of such termination, (ii)
except for termination by us for cause or by Mr. Milchovich without good reason, any camed, but unpaid, annual
cash incentive or other incentive awards, (iii) a payment representing his accrued but unpaid vacation, (iv) any
vested but not forfeited benefits on the date of such termination under our employee benefit plans in accordance
with the terms of such plans, (v) the vested portion of his restricted shares and stock options and (vi) benefit
continuation and conversion rights to which he is entitled under our employee benefit plans and his employment
agreement.

In addition to those paymenis and benefits 1o be paid, provided or retained upon termination, if Mr.
Milchovich dies during the term of his employment agreement, the employment agreement will terminate and he
will not be entitled to any additional payments or benefits thereunder, except (i) we will make a lump sum cash
payment to his estate or beneficiary, as the case may be, within two months following such termination equal 10 one
year of the base salary on the date of such termination, (ii) continuing receipt of the medical benefits provided by us
during the twenty-four month period commencing on the date of such termination, and {iii) any granted but unvested
stock options or restricted shares granted pursuant to the terms of the employment agreement will become vested.

In addition to those payments and benefits to be paid, provided or retained upon termination, if during the
term of his employment agreement Mr. Milchovich becomes physically or mentally disabled, whether twotally or
pantially, such that he is unable 10 perform his principal services under the employment agreement for a peried of
not less than 180 consecutive days, we may at any time after the last day of such period terminate the employment
agreement and Mr. Milchovich will be entitled to no further payments or benefits under the agreement, except that
he will be entitled to receive such payments and benefits as he would have received upon his death, less any
payments made to him pursuant to a disability insurance plan maintained by us.

In addition to those payments and benefits to be paid, provided or retained upon terminalion, if we
terminate Mr. Milchovich’s employment for cause, the agreement will terminate immediately and {i) he will be
entitled to receive no further amounts or benefits under the agreement, except as required by law, (ii) al! unvested
stock options and restricted shares will be immediately forfeited and (iii) all vested stock options and restricted
shares granted pursuant (o the terms of the employment agreement will be forfeited on the date which is nincty days
following such termination. For purposes of this agreement, “cause” means Mr. Milchovich (i) being convicted of,
or pleading guilty or no contest to, a felony (except for motor vehicle violations), (ii) engaging in conduct that
constilutes gross misconduct or fraud in conneclion with the performance of his duties to us, or (iii) matenaliy
breaching the employment agreement and not curing such breach within thirty days after we provide written notice
of such breach to him. .

In addition 1o those payments and benefits to be paid, provided or retained upon termination, if Mr.
Milchovich voluntarily terminates his employment other than for good reason, the exercise period set forth in the
option ngreement for the stock options granted-on August 11, 2006 will be extended to allow him to exercise any
vested stock options through the later of (i) the 15th day of the third month following the date the siock options
would otherwise have expired or (ii) December 31st of the year in which the stock options would otherwise have
expired. Mr. Milchovich will not voluntarily terminate his employment without good reason prior to the date which
is thirty days following the date on which he provides written notice to us of such termination,
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In addition to those payments and benefits to be paid, provided or retained upon termination, if during the
term of the agreement we termiinate Mr. Milchovich’s employment without cause or if he terminates his employment
with good reason, the employment agreement will avtomatically terminate and he will be entitled to no further
payments under the employment agreement, except (i) we will make a lump sum cash payment te him within two
months following such termination equal to the sum of (a) 200% of his base salary on the date of such termination
and (b) 200% of his annual short-term incentive compensation at target, (i) continuing receipt of the medical
benefits provided by us during the twenty-four month period commencing on the date of such termination, (i) any
granted but unvested stock options or restricted shares granted pursuant to the terms of the employment agreement
will become vested and (iv) we will pay the reasonable costs of executive-leve! career assistance services by a firm
designated by him for a period of twelve months following such termination. For purposes of the employment
agreement, *‘good reason” will mean, without Mr. Milchovich's consent, the occurrence of any of the following
during the term of his employment agreement: (i) a material change in his position causing it to be of materially less
stature or responsibility, or a change in his reporting relationship, but in each case only if we do not cure such
change within thirty days after he provides written notice of such change to us, (ii) following a change of control,
the relocation of his principal place of employment by more than fifty miles, (iii} we materially breach the
employment agreement and de not cure such breach within thirty days after he gives us written notice of such breach
or (iv) he is not naminated for election to our Board of Directors or, if elected, is not named as its chairman, or if he
is not timely renominated for election to our Board of Directors or is involuntarily removed from the board under
circumstances that would not constitute cause or for reasons of his disability.

In addition 1o those payments and benefits to be paid, provided or retained upon termination, if during the
term of Mr. Milchovich’s employment agreement we terminate his employment without cause or he terminates his
employment with good rcason, in each case within the twenty-four month period following a change of control, or if
he terminates his employment for any reason within the thirty-day period commencing on the date which is twelve
months following a change of control, the employment agreement will automatically terminate and he will be
entitled to no further payments or benefits under the agreement, excepi (i) we will make a lump sum cash payment
to him equal to the sum of (a) 300% of his base salary in effect on the date of such termination and (b} 300% of his
annual short-term incentive compensation at target, (i) continuing receipt of the medical benefits provided by us
during the thirty-six month period commencing on the date of such termination, (iii) any granted but unvested stock
options or restricted shares granted pursuant to the terms of the employment agreement will become vested, (iv) we
will pay the reasonable cost of executive-level career assistance services for him by a firm designated by him for a
period of twelve months following such termination and (v) certain gross-up payments for excise taxes and
parachute paymenis.

If any of the payments due to Me. Milchovich as a result of his termination without cause, his resignation
with good reason, or his resignation for any reason following a change of control are deemed to be deferred
compensation under Intemal Revenue Code Section 409A, such payments will not commence until the first day
following the sixth month anniversary of his termination date.

Employment Agreements for Franco Baseotto
ltaliant Law and National Contract

The National Coniract regulates the benefits payable upon any termination of employment by the employer,
as generally described below:

« If there is a termination for “cause,” Mr. Baseotte would not be entitled to any notice period, but he
would be entitled to receive mandatory severance indemnity compensation based on seniority. Cause
would include events such as theft, certain criminal convictions and serious insubordination.

« Ifthere is a termination other than for cause, but for justified reasons, Mr. Baseotto would be entitled a

notice period or indemnity in lieu of notice, in addition 1o mandatory severance indemnity
compensation. Based on Mr. Baseotio's seniority, the notice period is 12 months.
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« If there is.a termination without either cause or justified reasons, an ltalian court could award Mr.

. Baseotto a supplementary indemnity for unjustified dismissal of up to a maximum amount of 27

months’ salary, in addition to his entitlement 10 indemnity in lieu of notice and mandatory severance
indemnity compensation,

In addition, the National Contract provides that following a change in ownership of the company, Mr.
Baseotto is entitled to resign without notice for six months from the date of the change in ownership and receive 4
months of base salary in addition to mandatory severance indemnity compensation.

Supplemental Employment Agreement

Under Mr. Baseotta’s supplemental agreement, in the event of termination of employment of Mr. Baseotto
by FWCE for cause or by Mr. Baseotto other than for good reason, FWCE will pay any mandatory scverance
indemnity required to be paid under Italian law and under Mr. Baseotto’s Htalian employment arrangements with
FWCE. Cause is as defined under ltalian law, and good reason is as defined under Italian law, plus (i) material
diminution in title, duties, responsibilities or authority, (ii) reduction of base salary and benefits except for across-
the-board changes for executives at his level, (iii} exclusion from executive benefivcompensation plans, (iv)
relocation of his principal business- location of greater than fifty miles, (v) material breach of the employment
agreement, of (vi) resignation in compliance with applicable law or rules of professional conduct.

In the event of termination of employment of Mr. Baseotto by FWCE without cause or by Mr. Baseotto for
good reason, we will, in addition to paying the mandatory severance indemnity required to be paid under ltalian law,
provide Mr. Baseotto the option of choosing between: (1) the payments due to him under the [talian law and the
National Contract or (2) all of the following benefits:

« the balance of any bonus (and/or other incentive awards) awarded by the Compensation Committee but
. yet unpaid; . , .

« benefit continuation and conversion rights under FWCE's employee benefit plans;

+ monthly payments, for twenty-four months after the date of termination occurs, of an amount equal to
1/12 of Mr. Baseotio’s base salary plus the relevant mandatory severance indemnity accrual required
under Italian law on such base salary, which we refer to as the base amount;

+ for (i) the calendar year that includes the date of termination, an amount equal to Mr. Baseotio’s shont-
term incentive target percentage opportunity for such calendar year, multiplied by Mr. Baseotto’s base
amount in effect on the date of termination multiplied by a multiplier reflecting our performance as
approved by the Compensation Committee for such calendar year and (ii) for the calendar year
immediately following the calendar year that includes Mr, Baseotto’s date of termination, an amount
equal to Mr. Baseotto’s short-term incentive larget percentage opportunity for the calendar year that
included Mr. Baseotto’s date of termination multiplied by Mr. Baseotto’s base amount in effect on his
date of termination, plus, in the case of both (i) and (ii), an additional amount equal to the mandatory
severance indemnity accrual that would have been made under Italian law on such amounts if Mr.
Baseotto had not been terminated;

« the amount corresponding to two years of social security contributions under Italian law based on Mr,
Bascotto’s base salary as of the date of termination; :

« removal of transfer and any other restrictions on all shares, of our capital stock registered in Mr.
Baseotto’s name and/or granted to Mr. Baseotto but not yet vested;

o full vesting of all vested and unvested stock options to purchase shares of our capital.stock; and

»  executive level career transition assistance services.




In consideration of the non-competition and non-solicitation provisions in Mr. Baseotto’s supplemental
agreement, and as necessary to satisfy ltalian law, Mr. Baseotto will be paid 30% of the base amount following Mr,
Baseotto’s date of termination of employment and 10% of the base amount on the first anniversary date of such

payment.

Change of Control Agreement ' :

On November 12, 2007, we and FWCE entered into a Change of Control Agreement with Mr. Bascotto,
Under the Change of Control Agreement, for a period of up to three years following a “change of control,” Mr.
Baseotto will be entitled to continue in our employment with a matenally commensurate position and
responsibilities and will be entitled to continue receiving generally the same compensation and benefits he was
entitled to before the change of contrel occurred. Further, if, within three years of a change of controi, we terminate
Mr. Baseotto’s employment other than for cause or disability, or if Mr. Baseotto terminates his employment for
good reason, we will, in addition to paying the mandatory severance indemnity required to be paid under Htalian law, -
provide Mr. Baseotto the option of choosing between (1) the payments due to him under Halizn law and the National
Contract or (2) a lump sum cash payment of the following amounis:

»  Mr. Baseotto's accrued but unpaid base amount through the date of termination;

»  aproportionate annual bonus amount for such termination year;

« unpaid deferred compensation and vacation pay, if any; - : '
+ anamount equal to three times the sum of Mr. Baseotto’s base amount and his highest annual bonus;

+  an amount ¢qual 1o the corresponding Italian social security contributions which would have been paid
had Mr, Baseotto continued his employment for three years from the date of termination; and

» payment for any shares of restricted stock to the extent such shares are tendered by Mr. Baseotto to the
Company.

[n addition, Mr. Baseotto will also be entitled to:
« five-year continuation of certain employee welfare benefits unless terminated eaclier due to Mr.
Baseotto's reemployment with another employer; - .

s outplacement services; and ) : ’ -

«  full vesting of all vested and unvested stock options to purchase shares of our capital stock.

In the event that Mr. Baseotto is terminated because of his death or for cause, or if Mr. Baseotto terminates
his employment without good reason, we will pay Mr. Baseotto (or his estate, as applicable) any mandatory
severance indemnity or other payments required under italian taw or under the supplementat agreement and accrued
but unpaid compensation and benefits, including a proportionate annual bonus amount for such termination year in
the case of death or termination by Mr. Baseotto without good reason. For purposes of Mr. Baseotto’s Change of
Contsol Agreement, each of “cause” and “good reason™ are defined by reference to the meanings of such terms
under Italian law. ) - R '

Employment Agreement for Peter J. Ganz

Mr. Ganz's employment agreement provides that in the event of any termination of Mr. Ganz's
employment, he will be entitled to receive the following amounts: (i) annual base salary through the date of
termination, (ii) a balance of any awarded but as yet unpaid annual short-term incentive compensation, (ifi) accrued
but unpaid vacation pay, (iv) any vested but not forfeited benefits 1o the date of termination under our employe
benefit plans, and (v) continuation of certain employee benefils pursuant to the terms of our employee benefit plansj




The employment agreement provides that in the event of termination of employment during the term by us
without cause, or by Mr. Ganz for good reason, we will provide to Mr. Ganz, in addition to those payments to be
paid or provided upon termination, (i) the base salary at the rate in effect on the date of termination payable on a
monthly basis for twenty four months, (i) an annual cash incentive for the calendar year of termination and the
following calendar year equal to a percentage of the base salary which is the average percentage of base salaries paid
as short-term incentive compensation 1o our executives at Mr. Ganz's level, (iii) continued employee health and
welfare benefit plan coverage for two years at active employee levels and costs, (iv) removal of all restrictions from
restricted stock, excepi as prohibited by law, and (v) carcer transition services not to excecd $8,000.

Pursuant 10 the terms of the October 6, 2006 amendment to his employment agreement, if Mr. Ganz
constitutes a “specificd employee” as defined in Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code, he will not receive any
payments of base salary and short-term incentive compensation upon termination until the first day following the
sixth month anniversary of his termination date.

Change of Control Agreement

We entered into a change of control agreement with Mr. Ganz on Qctober 10, 2005. The change of control
agreement provides that if, within three years of a “change of control,” as defined in the change of control
agreement, we terminate Mr. Ganz’ employment other than for “cause” {defined as failure to perform the ¢xecutive's
duties or engaging in illegal or gross misconduct) or disability or if the executive terminates employment for “good
reason” (defined as a diminution of duties or responsibilities, our failure to compensate the executive, a change in
workplace, our purported termination of the change of control agreement or failure to comply with the change of
control agreement or if Mr. Ganz terminates his employment for any reason within the thirty-day period
commencing on the first anniversary of a change of control}, Mr. Ganz will be entitled to receive a lump sum cash
payment of the following amounts: (i} his base salary through the date of termination, plus (ii) his proportionate
annual short-term incentive compensation, plus (iii) any unpaid deferred compensation and his vacation pay. Mr.
Ganz will also be entitled to receive a lump sum cash payment of three times the sum of his base salary and the
highest annual short-term incentive compensation.

The change of control agreement also provides for a five-year continuation of certain employee welfare
benefits and a lump sum payment equal o the actuarial value of the service credit under our qualified retirement
plans Mr. Ganz would have received if he had remained employed for three years afier the date of his termination,
We will also provide Mr. Ganz with outplacement services. Finally, Mr. Ganz may tender restricted stock (whether
vested or not) in exchange for cash. However, if any payments to Mr. Ganz, whether under the change of control
agreement or otherwise, would be subject to the “goiden parachute™ excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, we will make an additional payment to put Mr. Ganz in the same after-tax
position as if no excise tax had been imposed. Any legal fees and expenses arising in connection with any dispute
under the change of control agreement will be paid by us. In addition, this change of control agreement also
provides that afier termination of employment with us, Mr. Ganz will not, without our prior written consent, disclose
any secret or confidential information, knowledge or data relating to us to anyone other than us and persons
designated by us.

Employment Agreements for Umberto della Sala

Prior Agreement — ltafian Law and National Contract

As of December 28, 2007, our arrangements with Mr. della Sala were governed by a letter agreement
between FWCE and him providing that he serves as a “Manager” under lalian law. Substantially all terms of Mr.
della Sala’s employment were mandated by Italian law and the National Contract, which is not specific o our
company.

March 2008 Revisions

_ Effective March 1, 2008, we, FWCE and Mr. della Sala agreed Io terminate the above-described letier
agreement and to revise his termination and change of control arrangements as described below.
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Present Agreement — Italian Law and National Contract
Mr. della Sala’s revised termination and change of control armangements with FWCE are as follows:

Italian law regulates the benefits payable upon any termination of employment by the employer, FWCE, as
generally described below:

« If there is a termination for “cause,” Mr. della Sala would be entitled to receive mandatory severance
indemnity compensation based on seniority. Cause would include events such as theft, certain criminal
convictions and serious insubordination.

« If there is a termination without cause, an Italian court could award Mr, della Sala damages equal to
the compensation that would have been earned through the natural expiration of the contract term, in
addition to mandatory severance indemnity compensation.

If the revised arrangements expire by their own terms on December 31, 2011, Mr. della Sala is entitled to
only the mandatory severance indemnity compensation.

Finally, in consideration of the non-competition and non-solicitation provisions in Mr. della Sala’s revised
agreement, and as necessary 1o satisfy lalian law, Mr. della Sala will be paid 30% of his hialian base amount
following Mr. della Sala’s date of termination of employment and 10% of his Italian base amount on the first
anniversary date of such payment.

Present Agreement — Employment Agreement with Foster Wheeler Ltd,

Mr. della Sala’s present employment agreement with Foster Wheeler Lid. provides that in the event of any
termination of Mr. della Sala’s employment, he will be entitled to receive the following amounts: (i) annual base
salary through the date of termination, (ii) a balance of any awarded but as yet unpaid annual short-term incentive
compensation, (tii) accrued but unpaid vacation pay, (iv) any vested but not forfeited benefits to the date of
termination under our employee benefit plans, and (v) continuation of certain employee benefits pursuani to the
terms of our employee benefit plans.

The employment agreement provides that in the event of termination of employment during the term by us
without cause, or by Mr. della Sala for good reason, we will provide to Mr. della Sala, in addition to those payments
to be paid or provided upon any termination, (i) a lump sum payment in an amount representing 24 months of his
base salary at the rate in cffect on the date of termination payable, (i) a lump sum payment in an amount equal to
200% of his annual short-term incentive compensation at target, (iii) payments sufficient to allow him to continue
any health and welfare benefits at the active employee costs for twenty-four months, (iv) removal of all restrictions
from restricted stock, except as prohibited by law, (v) full vesting of all options, and (vi) career transition services
not to exceed $8,000. '

As 1o change of control, Mr. della Sala’s present employment agreement provides that if, within thirteen
months of a “change of control,” as defined in the agreement, we terminate Mr. della Sala’ employment other than
for “cause,” as defined in the agreement, or disability, or if the executive terminates employment for “good reason,”
as defined in the agreement (to include, among other things, Mr. della Sala’s termination of his employment for any
reason within the thirty-day period commencing on the first anniversary of the change of control), Mr. della Sala
will be entitled to receive a lump sum cash payment of the following amounts: (i) his base salary through the date of
termination, plus (ii) his proportionatc annual short-term incentive compensation, plus (iii) any unpaid deferred
compensation and his vacation pay. Mr. della Sala will also be entitled to receive a lump sum cash payment of three
times the sum of his base salary, €195,000, and the highest annual short-term incentive compensation. The
foregoing amounts would be reduced by any entitlements he receives under Italian law and the National Contract
related to the contemporancous termination of his employment with FWCE. The agreement also provides for
payments sufficient to allow him to continue his health and welfare benefits at the active employee costs for five
years and a lump sum payment equal lo the actuarial value of the service credit under our qualified retirement plans
M. della Sala would have recegived if he had remained emptoyed for three years afler the date of his termination:
We will also provide Mr. della Sala with outplacement services. Finally, Mr. della Sala may tender restricted stock
{whether vested or not) in exchange for cash.
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If any payments to Mr. detla Sala, whether related 10 a change of control or otherwise, would be subject to
the “golden parachute™ excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, we will
make an additional payment to put Mr. della Sala in the same after-tax position as if no excise tax had been imposed.
Any legal fees and expenses arising in connection with any dispute under the change of control agreement will be
paid by us. In addition, this change of conirol agreement also provides that after termination of employment with
us, Mr. della Sala will not, without our prior written consent, disclose any secret or confidential information,
knowledge or data relating 10 us to anyone other than us and persons designated by us.

If any of the payments due to Mr. della Sala are deemed to be deferred compensation under Internal
Revenue Code Section 409A, and to the extent required by Section 409A, such payments will not be made until the
first day following the sixth month anniversary of his termination date. The cash payments to facilitate post-
termination medical coverage are to be deemed exempt from Section 409A to the full extent permissible under
certain exemptions provided by the regulations related to Section 409A.

Other Change-in-Control Arrangements Applicable to Participating Executives

Under the LTI Plan following a change of control (as defined in the plan), unless otherwise specifically
prohibited under applicable law, or by rules and regulations of any govemning governmental agencies or national
securities exchanges: (i) all stock options granted will become immediately vested and exercisable, (ii) any period of
restriction and other restrictions imposed on restricted stock or restricted share units will lapse and such awards shall
become fully vested, and, (iii) if we were 10 grant awards in the future with performance-based vesting, unless
otherwise specified in an award agreement, the target payout opportunities attainable under all outstanding
performance-based awards will be deemed to have been camned as of the effective date of the change of control, and
payout shall be based on assumed achievement of the target payout level and the length of the performance period
that has elapsed before the change in control occurs.

Under the Foster Wheeler Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan, the executive has the right, following a Change of
Conmirol, to surrender his or her options to us and receive, in cash, the difference between the Change of Control
price of the shares covered by the options and the exercise price of the options. Under certain conditions, the
Change of Control Price could be higher than the fair market value of the shares on the day they are tendered by the
executive.

Potential Post-Employment Payments Table

The table below sets forth the potential payments to our named executive officers under various termination
scenarios including termination without cause, resignation for good reason, termination for cause, voluntary
termination, termination as a result of death or disability, termination as a result of retirement and termination as a
result of change in conwrol of Foster Wheeler, as per company policy and their respective employment and change of
control agreements, which are described above.

Except for Mr. La Duc, the potential payments represent the value transfer as a result of the termination
event, which we have assumed to occur as of the last day of our fiscal year (December 28, 2007). The potential
payments exclude base salary eamed but unpaid as of December 28, 2007, short-term incentive compensation for
fiscal year 2007, accrued but unpaid vacation as of December 28, 2007, which is available to all salaried employees,
and the continuation of certain employee benefits pursuant 10 the terms of the Foster Wheeler employee benefit
plans, which is available to all salaried employees. The value estimated to be realized upon the acceleration of
unvested restricted share awards and stock optiens assume a common share price of 378.14, which was the closing
market price on December 28, 2007 after adjustment for the 2-for-1 share split effected on January 22, 2008. Mr. La
Duc's amounts represent the estimated amounts due to him as a result of his retirement effective as of August 13,
2007,
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Raymond 1. France Peter J, Umberto David John T.
Potential Post-Employment Payments Milchovich Bascotie ! Ganz della Sala "' Wardbw * Ls Duc

Total n3suming temminated without cause or resigned for
good reason:

Annual base salary . s 1984500 ® 51312260 'Y {5 so2500 V' |szoes278 V' |5 asns0

Annua! incentive bonus 1.984.500 santie ™ | e2a7s0 | 2158060 "™ 1nss7r

Continaing health and welfare benefits 68z " - 27950 ‘' . ns02

Execulive carcerassistance goo0 ¥ . goop " . o

Value estimated to be renlized had the vesting of

restricied share awands and stock oplions been ’

aceclerated to December 28, 2007 34028981 9% | asi9212 M9 [ 3es30z0 P | asssgrs- Y 774200 'Y

Total $38,042,733 § 3,368,582 $5,007,130 $8927,316 § 1,344 868 N/A
Tenminated for cause or volunlarily terminated other
than for good reasan s - s w20 Y |s . s 218870 "¢ | - NIA
Terminaled as a resuh of disability: .

Annual base satary s waz2se Y7 [suanzee ' s - U Dsoomsamee ' s aszaso

Annuslincentive bonus - saniig ¥ . 2158060 " nssy 0

Continuing health and welfare beacfits . 682 " . .o . 2502 Y

Value estimated to be realized had the vesting of

restrcted shere awards and stock options been

accelkerated to December 28, 2007 34028951 | sie2ie Y| aasieze MM [ aesigrz YT E gmaome UM

Total : $35,057,983 $ 1,368,582 $3.453.930 . 58927316 $ 1,344,868 N/A
Terminated o3 # resuh of death:

Anpuslbase salary s w250 Y7 Is sasaez MU [s . 51075389 '™ |srasson 90

Anaunlincentive boous - 210,125 &n - 951,885 2! B

Continuing health and welfare benefits 36782 ¥ - . . .

Value estimated to be realized had the vesting of

restricted share awards snd stock options been

wccelernted to December 28, 2007 34028951 'Y | asi9212 " 3as3e0 Y'Y | assisme M 774209 ¥

Tora) $35,057,983 $22574% $ 3451930 $ 6,710,822 S 1932980 NA__
Terminated as a result of retirement:

Sevzrance payment s - $ w290 "V|s - 5 21810 Y |8 . s

Value estimated to be realizzd had the vesting of

restiicted share awards and stock opixons been

sccelerated to December 28, 2007 .o an - an - az - an - un $578,464 as

Total ] . s 24,290 s - s 278870 3 - $578.464

e

Terminated as a result of a change in control:

Anouzl base salary 52976750 ©Y |siam961s %M 1s1338750 ©V |sz0m5208 ' |s 432280 ¥

Annusl incentive bonus 2916750 " staaes B sma2se UV 25860 MY nssn "

Comtinuing health and welfare benefits 5,073 IV . 60.875 U . 5027 "

Executive carcer assisiance gooa soop V' soog . -

Value eslimated to be realized had the vesting of

reslricted share wwards and stock options been

sccelerated to December 28, 2007 34028951 ¥ | as19212 M| 3453930 YP| 4es3mis MY 174200 ¥

Gross up payment for excise 1axes paid - - 1419,100 " - -

Total 40,045,624 $3.720,022 $8.163.906 $5.927,316 3 1,344,868 N/A

(1

(2)
2007.

(3)
(4)

Represents two years of annual base szlary.

Conversion to U.S. dollars from euros is calculated using the exchange rate as of December 28, 2007.

Conversion to U.5. dollars from pounds sterling is calculated using the exchange rate as of December 28,

Represents mandatory severance indemnity compensation based on seniority, plus approximately 13

months of base salary for indemnity in lieu of notice, plus the maximum amount of 27 months of base
salary for indemnity as a result of unjustified dismissal for a termination without either cause or justified

reasons.

Upon a resignation with good reason, Mr. Baseotto would be entitled to receive mandatory

severance indemnity compensation based on seniority, plus two years of base salary and an amount
corresponding to two years of ltalian social security contributions, for a total of $927,840.
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(5

(6
)

(8)

9

Represents mandatory severance indemnity compensation based on seniority, plus approximately 13
months of base salary for indemnity in Yieu of notice, plus the maximum amount of 22 months of base
salary for indemnity as a result of unjustified dismissal for a termination without either cause or justified
reasons. Upon a resignation with good reason, Mr. della Sala would be entitled to receive mandatory
severance indemnity compensation based on seniority, plus appreximately 13 months of base salary for
indemnity in lieu of notice, for a total of $1,075,359.

As described under.“Employment Agreements for Umberto della Salla,” we and FWCE entered into new
employmen! arrangements with Mr. della Sala effective March |, 2008. Those arrangements provide that a
portion of Mr. della Sala's compensation and benefits will be paid by FWCE and a portion will be paid by
Foster Wheeler Ltd. Under these new arrangements, Mr. della Sala would be entitled to the following
payments in respect of his annual base salary upon termination:

a. Termination without cause or resignation for good reason — With respect to the annual base salary
paid to Mr. della Sala under his agreement with FWCE (currently €195,000), Mr. della Sala would
be entitled to mandatory severance indemnity compensation based on seniority, plus he could be
awarded damages equal to the base salary that would have been camed through the natural
ekpiration of 1the contractual term. In addition, with respect to the annual base salary paid to Mr.
della Sala under his agreement with Foster Wheeler Lid, (currently €346,000), Mr. della Sala
would be entitled to a lump sum payment in an amount representing 24 months of his base salary
at the rate in effect on the date of termination.

b. Termination as a result of disability - With respect to the annual base salary paid to Mr. della Sala
under his agreement with FWCE {currently €195,000), Mr. della Sala would be entitled to
mandalory severance indemnily compensation based on seniority. Mr. della Sala might also claim
under certain circumstances that he is entilled to seck to be awarded damages equal to his FWCE
base salary that would have been eamed from the date of termination through the natural
expiration of the contractual term. '

c.  Termination as a result of a change of control - Mr. della Sala would be entitled to a lump sum
cash payment in an amount representing three times the sum of his annual base salary under his
agreement with Foster Wheeler Ltd. (currently €346,600) and €195,000.

Represents one year of annual base salary plus the maximum amount of indemnity for unfair dismissal.

Represents two years of annual short-term incentive compensation, at stated target of 100% of annual base
salary.

Represents approximately 13 months of the three-year average annual short-term incentive compensation
for indemnity in licu of notice, plus the maximum amount of 27 months of the three-year average annual
short-term incentive compensation for indemnity as a result of unjustified dismissal for a termination
without either cause or justified reasons. Upon a resignation with good reason, Mr. Baseotto would be
entitled to receive two years of annual short-term incentive compensation, at target of 60% of annual base
salary, and an amount corresponding to two years of Italian social security contributions, for a total of
$542,130.

Represents two years of annual short-term incentive compensation, at target of 70% of annual base salary.
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Represents approximately 13 months of the three-year average annual short-term incentive compensation
for indemnity in liev of notice, plus the maximum amount of 22 months of the three-year average annual
short-term incentive compensation for indemnity as a resuft of unjustified dismissal for a termination
without either cause or justified reasons. Upon a resignation with good reason, Mr. della Sala would be
entitled to receive approximately 13 months of the three-year average annual .short-term incentive
compensation for indemnity in lieu of notice worth $951,585, . .

Pursuant to the terms of the new employment arrangements described in Note 5 above, Mr. della Sala
would be entitled to the following payments in respect of his annual short-term incentive upon termination:

a. Termination without cause or resignation for good reason — Mr. delia Sala would be entitled to a
lump sum payment in an amount equal to 200% of his annual short-term incentive compensation

at target.

b. Termination as a result of disability - with respect 1o Mr. de_llé Sala’s agreement with FWCE, no
annual short-term incenlive compensation is payable.

c. Termination as a result of a change of control - Mr. deila Sala would be entitled to a lump sum
cash payment in an amount representing three times his annua! short-term incentive compensation.

Represents one year of annual short-term incentive comperisation, at target of 40% of annual base salary.

Represents two years of continuing health and welfare benefits.
Represents one year of continuing health and welfare benefits.
Represents the cost-of executive career assistance.

Represents the value estimated to be realized had the vesling of restricted share awards and stock options
been accelerated to December 28, 2007. The value of restricted share awards was estimated by multiplying
the number of accelerated restricted share awards by a share price of $78.14, the closing market price on
December 28, 2007, The value of stock opttons was estimated by muitiplying the number of accelerated
“in-the-money™ stock options by the difference between a share price of $78.14 and the stated exercise
price of the stock option.

Pursuant to the terms of the new employment arrangements described in Note 5 above, in March 2008, Mr.
della Sala received a grant of restricted share units having an economic value of €2,972,000 and of stock
options having an economic value of €2,972,000. These restricted share units and stock options vest in full
upon Mr. délla Sala’s termination by us without cause or resignation for good reason and upon 2 change of
control.

+ . . .

Represents mandatory severance indemnity compensation based on sentonty.
Represents one year of annual base salary.

The named executive officer has elected to participate in our long-term disability insurance program, which
is available to all eligible employces. The disability insurance premiums are paid solely by the named
exccutive officer to an unrelated third-party insurance carrier. In the event of a named executive officer’s
disability, the insurer would be responsible for disability payments to him. Upon a termination based on
disability, we allow eligible employees, including the named executive officer, to continue participation in
our health benefits coverage at employee cost, which is subsidized by us.

Represents mandatory severance indemnity compensation based on semoruy. plus approximately 13
months of base salary for indemnity in liew ol notice.

Pursuant to the terms of the new employment arrangements with Mr. della Sala described in Note 5 above,
only the mandatory severance indemnity compensation would be paid and it would be determined based
upen the base salary paid by FWCE (currently €195,000). Mr. della Sala might also claim under certain
circumstances that he is entitled (0 seek to be awarded damages equal to his FWCE base salary that would
have been eamed from the date of termination through the natural expiration of the contractual term,
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Represents four years of annual base salary. -

Represents approximately 13 months of the three-year average annual short-term incentive compensation
for indemnity in licu of notice.

Pursuant to the terms of the new employment arrangements with Mr. della Sala described in Note 5 above,
this amount would no longer be payable to him because, among other things, his annual short-term
incentive compensation is paid through his agreement with Foster Wheeler Lid.

Named executive officer was not eligible to retire due to his age as of December 28, 2007 under the terms
of the plan and the award agreements.

Represents the value estimated to be realized upon the pro rata accelerated vesting of restricted share
awards and stock options as of August 13, 2007, which is the date that Mr. La Duc’s tenure as our
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer ended. The value of restricted share awards was
estimated by multiplying the number of pro rata accelerated restricted share awards by a common share
price of $51.58, the closing market price on August 13, 2007. The value of stock options was estimated by
multiplying the number of pro rata accelerated “in-the-money” stock options by the difference between a
common share price of $51.58 and the stated exercise price of the stock option.

Represents three years of annual base salary.

Represents mandatory severance indemnity compensation based on seniority, plus three years of annual
base salary and an amount equal to three years of ltalian social security contributions.

Represents three years of annual shon-term incentive compensation, at stated target of 100% of annual base
salary. ' :

Represents three years of annual short-term incentive compensation, at stated target of 60% of annual base
salary.

Represents three times the highest annual short-term incentive compensation awarded over the prior three
years,

Represents three years of continuing health and weifare benefits.
Represents five years of continuing health and welfare benefits.

Represents the gross up payment for excise laxes estimated to be incurred in accordance with Internal
Revenue Code Section 280G and Internal Revenue Code Section 4999. The gross up payment was
estimated using a 20% excise 1ax, 35% federal income tax, 8.97% state income tax and 1.45% Medicare
tax. intemnal Revenue Code Section 280G provides that "employment agreements” entered into within one
year of the date of a change in control ar¢ presumed to have been “contingent™ on the change in control,
absent clear and convincing evidence to the contrary. If the presumption is not rebutted, the full value of
the payments made under the employment agreements, as opposed to the lower, modified value otherwise
permiited under the Internal Revenue Code Section 280G, would be deemed to be change in control
payments. For the purpose of these calculations, we have assumed that we would be able to rebut the
presumption and that therefore only the lower, modified value would be deemed to be part of the change in
contro! payments. A contrary assumption could under certain circumstances result in higher taxes and
therefore an increase in termination payments being made upon a change in control.




Transactions with Related Persons, Promoters and Certain Control Persons

Our Board of Directors has adopted a wnitien policy and procedures under which our Audit Committee
shall evaluate and consider for approval and/or ratification transactions, arrangements and relationships that may
occur or exist between us, on the one hand, and directors, certain of our officers and certain persons or entities
associated with such persons on the other hand. Under the policy, any transaction involving more than $120,000,
including any financial transaction, arrangement, relationship, indebtedness or guaraniee between us and any related
party, including, without limitation, any transaction that is required to be disclosed by us in any of our filed periodic
reports or proxy statements, will be deemed to be a related party transaction. However, the following will not be
considered related party transactions: (1) executive compensation arising from a relationship or transaction that is
otherwise required to be reported by us such as salary, bonuses and equity granis; (2) compensation that would have
been required to be reporied had such person been an executive officer provided that such compensation was
approved or recommended to our Board of Directors for approval by our Compensation Committee; (3) a
transaction, relationship or arrangement where the applicable rates and charges were determined by competitive
bids; (4) a transection, relationship or arrangement involving services as a bank depositary of funds, transfer agent,
registrar, trustee under a trust indenture, or similar services; and (5) interests arising solely from the ownership of a
class of our equity sccurities, where all holders of that class of our equity securities received the same benefit on a
pro rata basis. Additionally, any relationship, transaction or arrangement that any director has with us or any other
person (directly or as a pariner, shareholder, director or officer of any entity or organization) which such director
believes could interfere with such director’s exercise of independent judgment in carmying out his or her
responsibilities as a director will also be subject to the policy.

To the extent practicable, related party transactions are presented to our Audit Committee prior to their
consunumnation. When reviewing and cvaluating a related party transaction, our Audit Committee may consider,
among other things, any effect a transaction may have upon a director's independence, whether the transaction
involves terms and conditions that are no less favorable to us than those that could be obtained in a transaction
between us and an unrelated third-party and the nature of any director's or officer’s involvement in the transaction.
Our management will notify our Audit Committee not less frequently than annually of new related party transactions
of which they are aware and any material changes to any previously approved, conditionally approved or ratified
related party transactions. We have adopted procedures to implement the foregoing policies,

During 2007, there were no reportable transactions between us and any related person.

In February 2007, our Audit Committee considered the fact that we will likely seek business from NRG
Energy, Inc. or one of its subsidiaries, al!l of which we refer to as NRG. NRG is a wholesale power generation
company and periodically purchases equipment and/or services from us. One of our directors is NRG's Executive
Vice. President and Chief Operating Officer. Our Audit Committee determined prospectively to approve all
transactions that take place between us and NRG so long as our directar has no significant direct involvement in the
transaction, the transaction is not material either 1o him or to NRG and the total of all transactions between us and
NRG in a reporting year involves payment to us of no more than $10,000,000. At least annually, we will present a
summary report 1o the Audit Committee of all NRG related transactions that, absent this approval, would otherwise
be reportable related party transactions.

Proposals of Shareholders for the 2009 Annual General Meeting

Under our Bye-laws, shareholders who wish to nominate persons for election to our Board of Directors
must submit their nominations to us by December 1, 2008, which date is 120 calendar days in advance of the
anniversary of the date that we commenced the mailing of our proxy statement for the previous year's annual general
meeting, to be considered at our annual general meeting of shareholders to be held in 2009. Nominations must
include certain information concerning the nominee and the proponent’s ownership of our common shares. SEC
rules provide that if we change the date of our annual general meeting of shareholders to be held in 2009 more than
30 days from the anniversary of the date of the 2008 Annual General Meeting, this deadline will instead be a
reasonable time before we begin to print and mail our proxy materials. Nominations not meeting these requirements
will not be entertained at the annual general meeting. The Secretary should be contacted in writing at Office of the
Secretary, Foster Wheeler Ltd., Perryville Corporate Park, Clinton, New Jersey 08809-4000 to submit a nomination
or to obtain additional information as to the proper form of 3 nomination.
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To include any proposal other than the nomination of directors in our 2009 proxy statement, it must be
received by December 1, 2008. A shareholder may otherwise propose business for consideration without seeking to
have the proposal included in our proxy statement. For business o be properly brought before our annual general
meeting of sharcholders to be held in 2009, a shureholder's notice in proper written form must be received by the
Secretary at our principal executive offices not later than February 15, 2009. A shareholder's notice to the Secretary
must contain the matters specified in our Bye-laws, a copy of which is filed as an exhibit to a Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on May 12, 2006. In addition, Bermuda law provides that shareholders holding at least 5% of the total
voting rights or 100 or more registered shareholders together may require a proposal to be submitted to an annual
general meeting if the proposal is deposited at our registered office not less than six weeks before the date of the
meeting, unless the meeting is subsequently called for a date six weeks or less after the notice has been deposited. If
timely notice is not given of a shareholder proposal, then the proxies named on the proxy cards distributed by us for
the ennual general meeling may use the discretionary voling authority granted them by the proxy cards if the
proposal is raised at the meeting, whether or not there is any discussion of the matter in the proxy statement.

Our Board of Directors is not aware of any matters that are expected to come before the Annual General

Meeting other than those described in this proxy statement. If other matters should properly come before the
meeting, the persons named in the proxy intend to vote the proxies in accordance with their best judgment.

By Order of the Board of Directors
PETER I. GANZ
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

April 1, 2008
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CORPORATE AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION

DIRECTORS
Raymond ). Milchovich
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Eugene D. Atkinson
Founder and Managing Partner, Atkinson Capital, LLC

Diane C. Creel
Chairman, Chief Executive Oficer and President
Ecovatian, Inc.

Steven J. Demetriou
Chairman and Chief Executive Olfficer
Aleris International, Inc.

Robert C. Flexon
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Cflicer
NRG Energy. Inc.

Jack A. Fusco
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (retired)
Texas Genco, Inc.

Edward G. Galante
Senior Vice President and Member of the Management
Committee (retired). ExxonMobil Corporation

Stephanie Hanbury-Brown
Managing Director, Golden Seeds. LLC

James D. Woods

Deputy Chairman of the Board

Chairman Emeritus and retired Chief Exaculive Ofticer
Baker Hughes Incorporated

OFFICERS
Raymond J. Milchovich
Chairman and Chiel Executive Officer

Umberlio della Sala
President and Chiet Operating Officer

Franco Baseotto
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Qfficer
and Treasurar

Peter J. Ganz
Executive Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary

Thierry Desmaris
Vice Presideni of Corporate Development

Rakesh Jindal
Vice President of Tax

W. Scott Lamb
Vice President of Invesior Relalions and
Corporate Communications

Peter D, Rose
Vice Presidant and Chief Corporate Compliance Officer

Lisa Z. Wood
Vice President and Conteoller

John A. Doyle, Jr.
Assistant Secretary

Registered Office

Foster Wheeler Lid.

2 Church Strest

Hamillon HM 11, Bermuda

Worldwide Operational Headquarters
Foster Wheeler Lid.

Perryvilte Corperate Park

Clinton, NJ 08809-4000

908-730-4000

www.lwe.com

Common Share Listing
The NASDAQ Stock Markel, LLC, Ticker Symbol: FWLT

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Florham Park, New Jersey

Transfer Agent, Registrar and Warrant Agent
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services

General inquiries about share ownership, transfer instructions,
change of address and account stalus:

Fosler Wheeler Ltd.

cfo BNY Mellon Shareowner Services
P.O. Box 358015

Pittsburgh, PA 15252

Requests for transactions involving share certificales:
Foster Wheeler Ltd.

clo BNY Mellon Shareowner Services

P.O. Box 358015

Pitisburgh, PA 15252

Telgphone inquiries:

800-358-2314 (for account ingquiries and requests for
assislance, including share transfers)

201-680-6578 (for foreign shareholders)
201-680-6610 (for hearing and speech impaired)

Shareholder services on the Internet:
You can view shareholder information and perform certain
Iransaclions at: www.bnymellon.comyshargowner/isd

Sharehclder Services
John A. Doyte, Jr.

Asgistant Secretary
908-730-4270

email: john_doyle@iwe.com

Investor Retations

W. Scott Lamb

Vice President, Investor Relaticns and Corporale Communications
908-730-4155

email: scoll_lamb@fwc.com

Request for Financial Intormation
Foster Wheeler Ltd.'s annual and quarterly reports and other
financial documents are available on our website at www.fwe.com.

To request paper copies of documenis filed with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission, including the company's
annual report on Form 10-K, please write lo either:

Office of the Secretary Assistant Secrelary

foster Wheeler Lid. Fosler Wheeler Ltd.
Perryville Corporate Park 2 Church Street

Clinton, NJ 08809-4000 Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda

Number of reglistered shareholders as of December 28, 2007
5,592

Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
May 6, 2008 - 9.00 a.m,

Foster Wheeler Lid.

Perryville Corporate Park

Clinton, NJ 088089-4000
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